1.0 Executive Summary of Tribal Circumstances and Impacts from the Lower Snake River Project

This report considers impacts on the Nez Perce Tribe, the Yakama Indian Nation, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and the Confederated Tribes of the Warms Springs Reservation of Oregon. Each of these tribes is a sovereign nation, and is unique in many ways. At the same time, these four tribes have retained close linkages over the years: through blood ties; in cooperative pursuit of salmon and other food; through religion; sharing of languages and similarity of treaties.

The Report also assesses impacts on the Shoshone-Bannock peoples, who live further upriver in the Snake River drainage, and who are more separated from the other four study tribes.

1.1 Present Circumstances of the Study Tribes

Viewed from the perspective of objective statistics, the peoples of the study tribes must today cope with overwhelming levels of poverty, unemployment that is between three and thirteen times higher than for the region's non-Indians, and age adjusted death rates from twenty percent higher to more than twice the death rate for residents of Washington, Oregon and Idaho as a whole. If located outside the United States, such conditions might fairly be described as "third world".

A Comparison of Present Wellbeing of the Study Tribes and their Non-Tribal Neighbors

		ung of the	Stady III	oob und in		110411 (01	51100115	
Indicator of Wellbeing Ne	ez Perce	Shoshone/ Bannock		<u>Umatilla</u>	Warm <u>Springs</u>	<u>Non-Tr</u> Idaho O		• •
Families in Poverty (%)	29.4	43.8	42.8	26.9	32.7	9.7	12.4	10.9
Unemployment (%) :In winter	19.8 62.0	26.5 80.0	23.4 73.0	20.4 21.0	19.3 45.0	6.1	6.2	5.7
Per Capita Income(\$'000)	8.7	4.6	5.7	7.9	4.3	11.5	14.9	13.4
Ratio of Tribal Death Rate to Non-Tribal Death Rate.	1.7	2.3	1.9	1.2	1.6			

*These data are from the US Bureau of the Census (1990), the US Bureau of Indian Affairs (1995) and the Indian Health Service, various years. See the tribe by tribe sections in the main report for further detail.

Х

A 1991 report by Central Washington University provides more graphic description.

xi

"The personal suffering and tragic lives of many (Indian) people are not revealed in the cold reports of tribal and federal governments. It can, however, be seen and felt in the towns and the countryside--in the eyes of men and the despair of mothers, with few options for change. When you can no longer do what your ancestors did; when your father or mother could not do these things either; when they or you found little meaning in and limited access to the ways of mainstream culture--the power of 70 percent winter time unemployment, and 46 percent of the population below the poverty level, is visible throughout the Nez Perce landscape."

Tribal spokespersons are uncomfortable with statistical treatment of their peoples – and the "blaming the victim" reaction such data sometimes elicits.

I don't much like this talk of unemployment and poverty. Before the white man came, we had no such thing as poverty. We lived off the land. We fished, we hunted, we gathered roots and berries. We worked hard all year round. We had no time for unemployment.

Poverty came with the Reservations. We were forced to live away from our salmon and our other resources. Our poverty is our lack of our Indian resources. These resources are being destroyed by the white man. That's what's causing our poverty.

(Nathan Jim, Sr., Warms Springs Fish Commissioner)

Whether considered through tribal or non-Indian eyes, the present extreme difficulties these circumstances cause for the peoples of the study tribes is inescapable.

1.2 Principal Causes of the Present Impoverishment of Peoples of the Study Tribes

1.2.1 Losing Tribal Salmon

Today, the study tribes have lost the greatest part of the salmon they protected in their treaties with the United States. The further up-river one goes, the greater the losses that have occurred. Above the four lower Snake River dams, tribal salmon are presently harvested at less than one percent of precontact levels (late 1700's /early 1800's). These impacts are summarized on the following page.

Estimated Tribal Fish Harvests - Traditional Times to the Present

Benchmark	Nez Perce	Shoshone/ <u>Bannock*</u> harvest i		<u>Umatilla</u> s of pounds	<u>Warm Springs</u> S
Est.Pre-Contact Harvest	2,800	2,500	5,600	3,500	3,400
Est. Harvest in mid-1800's	1,600	1,300	2,400	1,600	1,000
Current tribal harvest.	160	1	1,100	77 for	both tribes
Present vs Pre-Contact Harvests:					
Above lower Snake River D	ams: 0.6%	0.04%			
Below lower Snake River D	ams: 5.1%		9.4% for	three mid-C	olumbia tribes

* Shoshone Bannock estimates include harvests by Sho-Pai Duck Valley peoples.

** Refer to each subsequent tribal report section for derivation of these estimates.

Initially, these losses of salmon were principally caused by preemption by competing non-Indian harvesters, and obstruction or denial of access to usual and accustomed fishing places - sometimes fenced off by non-Indian property owners. Most of these actions were eventually challenged in court, and struck down as illegal. With each Court affirmation, the tribes looked forward to once again sustaining their people with the salmon.

But over time, when tribal people were once more able to return to the river, they have found the salmon were no longer there. For during the struggle to reaffirm the right to Treaty access to fishing, another tribally adverse process had been occurring - the transformation of the rivers to produce electricity, irrigation for agriculture, navigation services, and waste disposal. Increasingly, this transformation left no place for the salmon - and hence, little place for the tribes.

As each dam was constructed, the tribes objected, calling on the government to reconsider - pointing out that these actions were contrary to the Treaties the United States had signed with them, and predicting adverse consequences for the salmon – and for their tribal peoples. Each time, these tribal

xii

objections were ignored, given little weight, or actively opposed by some non-Indian interests – and tribal salmon harvests continued to decline.

1.2.2 Losing Tribal Lands

Today, the five study tribes control 2.6 million acres of their original Reservation lands - only 22 percent of the lands they reserved for themselves in their treaties with the United States. Nine million acres of original Treaty-protected tribal lands, together with the wealth those lands produce, are no longer in the hands of the tribes or their members. Primarily, these lands have been taken from the tribes by force; by "errors" in surveying reservation boundaries, made against Indian interest; by creation of "new" law, including post-facto legislation and pseudo-treaties to legalize prior illegal takings by non-Indians (i.e. the "steal treaty" with some Nez Perces in 1863); and by subsequent laws such as the Dawes Act of 1887, that facilitated the transfer of tribal assets and related wealth associated with Reservation lands into non-Indian hands.

Not only have the tribes lost substantial lands due to these actions, but non-Indians often hold the highest valued lands within Reservation boundaries. Further, Reservation lands held by Indians are often interspersed with lands held by non-Indians in a "checkerboard" - exacerbating difficulties for tribal resource protection and economic development.

Estimated Extent of Tribal "Own Lands" - Traditional Times to the Present					
		Shoshone			
Benchmark	Nez Perce	Bannock	Yakama	<u>Umatilla</u>	Warm Springs
		in	thousands	of acres	
Tribal lands ceded to the United States, by Treaty.	7,500	E-NQ	10,400	6,400	9,400
Retained Treaty lands (1855)	7,500		1,600	510	578
Umatilla land retained after boundary "survey error".				245	
Nez Perce land retained after "steal treaty" of 1863.	760				
Treaty of Fort Bridger (1868).		2,000			
Lands owned today - after Dawes Act "surplusing" and	93.5	544	1,126	158	658

xiii

sales/ right-of-way takings/ and other losses.					
Percent of Treaty Lands Owned today.	1.2	27.2	70.4	31.0	100+
*E-NQ = Extensi	ve, but not c	quantified.			

xiv

1.2.3 A Summary of the Principal Causes of Present Adverse Circumstances for the Study Tribes

From Treaty times to the present, non-Indians have taken most Treaty-protected assets of value from the tribes - particularly their lands, waters and salmon. The cumulative effects of these actions are evident throughout the tribal landscape.

Some non-Indians say; "All these things happened before I got here." But it was their forefathers who displaced the Indians - raped our mothers and daughters - who killed the children - and then forced us to go to different areas because of the precious metals - because they wanted the water - because they wanted the forests. These are the ugly histories they say do not pertain to them. Unfortunately some of us still carry the hurt and pain in our hearts.

(Hobby Hevewah, Shoshone-Bannock Councilor)

My heart cries for my people, cuz we are no more Indians....All our horses are gone. No more cattle. All the pastures, the land, the hillsides, taken up by the farmers, by the white man.... Every inch of tillable ground is taken up. Where our houses used to be, they tear that down, and they put wheat in there or peas right on every inch of the ground. And they've taken down all the fences, and they've plowed through there. These big farmers, they've got everything in the world. The (Indian) owners have nothing. And they've taken everything.

Like I say, they've taken our land, they've taken our rivers, they've taken our fish. I don't know what more they want.

(Carrie Sampson, CTUIR Elder)

When the United States began building power dams in the Pacific Northwest, construction crews ruined several burials in canyons along inland rivers, including the Snake River. Sometimes archaeologists working for the federal government raided Indian burials to preserve choice specimens for university collections before water from a new dam inundated the locations. ...The Yakama and their neighbors have faced a continued onslaught of ghouls, construction crews, and government agencies that disregard and discredit the spiritual beliefs of the Northwest Indians in reference to their dead. ...

vi

The reservation system of the United States destroyed the native standard of living and introduced a host of viruses and bacilli to the Indians living on the Yakama Reservation. The result was poverty, ill health and death among the Yakama people.

(Clifford Trafzer, in "Death Stalks the Yakama")

XV

1.3 The Continued Importance of Salmon for the Tribes

Despite the deprivations summarized previously, today, salmon remain connected to the core of tribal material and spiritual life. Faced with bleak present circumstances, and severely limited prospects for remedy, the tribal peoples still look first to the salmon with hope of a better future.

Traditional activities such as fishing, hunting and gathering roots, berries and medicinal plants build self-esteem for Nez Perce peoples - and this has the capacity to reduce the level of death by accident, violence and suicide affecting our people. When you engage in cultural activities you build pride. You are helped to understand "what it is to be a Nez Perce" - as opposed to trying to be someone who is not a Nez Perce. In this way, the salmon, the game, the roots, the berries and the plants are the pillars of our world.

(Leroy Seth, Nez Perce Elder)

The loss of the food and the salmon is monumental - and its all tied together. Food is a really big part of the Yakama culture - as it is elsewhere. Anywhere you look in the world, food carries culture. So if you lose your foods, you lose part of your culture - and it has a devastating effect on the psyche. You also lose the social interaction. When you fish, you spend time together - you share all the things that impact your life - and you plan together for the next year. Salmon is more important than just food.

In sum, there's a huge connection between salmon and tribal health. Restoring salmon restores a way of life. It restores physical activity. It restores mental health. It improves nutrition and thus restores physical health. It restores a traditional food source, which we know isn't everything - but its a big deal. It allows families to share time together and builds connections between family members. It passes on traditions that are being lost. If the salmon come back, these positive changes would start.

(Chris Walsh, Yakama Psycho-Social Nursing Specialist)

Salmon are the centerpiece of our culture, religion, spirit, and indeed, our very existence. As Indians, we speak solely for the salmon. We have no hidden agenda. We do not make decisions to appease special interest groups. We do not bow to the will of powerful economic interests. Our people's desire is simple--to preserve the fish, to preserve our way of life, now and for future generations.

(Donald Sampson, CTUIR)

xvi

1.4 Reservation of the Tribal Right to Harvest Salmon in the Treaties between the Study Tribes and the United States

The rights and responsibilities of the United States and the five study tribes are spelled out in the treaties made between them. The major treaties are:

Treaty	Signing Date	Present Tribal Organization
Treaty with the Yakima Tribe	June 8, 1855	Yakama Indian Nation
Treaty with the Umatilla Tribe	June 9, 1855	Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation
Treaty with the Nez Perce Tribe	June 11, 1855	Nez Perce Tribe
Treaty with the Tribes of Middle Oregon	June 25, 1855	Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon
Fort Bridger Treaty	July 3, 1868	Shoshone-Bannock Tribes

Historically, virtually all the original Indian bands now represented in the five study tribes moved through their respective territories, taking each traditional food at its right time and place. For ancestors of the Nez Perce, Yakamas, Umatillas and Warm Springs, **salmon was the most important food.** For the Shoshone Bannock, salmon took an important place alongside buffalo.

God created this country... He put the Indian on it. They were created here in this country, truly and honestly, and that was the time this river started to run. Then God created fish in this river and put deer in these mountains and made laws through which has come the increase in fish and game.... When we were created, we were given our ground to live on, and from that time these were our rights.

My strength is from the fish; my blood is from the fish, from the roots and the berries. The fish and game are the essence of my life. I was not brought from a foreign country and did not come here. I was put here by the Creator.

(Yakama Chief Meninock)

It's just that salmon are part of the country, they're part of the environment. They belong here as much as the Indians belong here. And in that way they complement each other. They've become a part of us because it's what we depend on to live.

(Antone Minthorn)

xvii

At certain times of the year, certain ceremonies would be held, like the first foods feast of the season.... And in these ceremonies water would be drunk first, and that would be recognizing the importance of water, you know, for sustaining life. And these other foods came in order after water - salmon, and deer meat, and the roots and the berries. And we say that the water was the same as the blood in our body. In relation to the Mother Earth, the water flows like blood in our veins along the various rivers and, you know, inside the earth. So that's how we related the water to our Earth and to our bodies.

(Alan Pinkham)

Our religious leaders told us that if we don't take care of the land, the water, the fish, the game, the roots and the berries we will not be around here long. We must have our salmon forever! (Delbert Frank, Sr.)

The five tribes ceded more than 40 million acres of land to the United States and agreed to move on to 12.2 million acres of Reservation lands. But tribal negotiators were careful to protect their rights to harvest salmon and the other key resources they depended on for survival in their treaties. The following explicit protection can be found in each of the treaties of the Nez Perce, Yakama, Umatilla and Warm Springs.

Article 3: The exclusive right of taking fish in all streams, where running through or bordering said reservations, is further secured to said confederated tribes and bands of Indians, as also the right of taking fish at usual and accustomed places in common with the citizens of the Territory, and of erecting temporary buildings for curing them; together with the privilege of hunting, gathering roots and berries, and pasturing their horses and cattle upon open and unclaimed lands. The Fort Bridger Treaty between the United States and the Shoshone-Bannock states:

Article 4: The Indians herein named...shall have the right to hunt on the unoccupied lands of the United States so long as the game may be found thereon, and as long as peace subsists among the whites and the Indians on the borders of the hunting districts.

And the Court in State of Idaho v Tinno stated that, in Article 4, "to hunt" also meant "to fish".

xviii

Court cases have affirmed that the Treaties between the five tribes and the United States cannot be overturned or contradicted by ordinary federal laws, by state laws, or by interagency agreements. The U.S. Supreme Court has further affirmed that:

In construing any treaty between the United States and an Indian tribe...the treaty must...be construed, not according to the technical meaning of its words to learned lawyers, but in the sense they would be naturally understood by the Indians.

These Supreme Court mandated Canons of Construction are of particular importance in establishing tribal entitlements, against which alternative actions affecting salmon on the Columbia and Snake River systems can be evaluated. It is clear that, while ceding immense expanses of land to the United States, the tribal treaty negotiators took care to protect their salmon and other "life-support" resources.

At Treaty times, **the salmon resource reserved by the tribes was the harvest from river systems that were biologically functional and fully productive**. If the tribal treaty negotiators had perceived that they were bargaining to reserve "only a small fraction" of the salmon available to harvest in the mid-1800's, the treaty negotiations would have been much different – if they had occurred at all.

The treaty signers, both tribal and non-tribal, were also clear that the Treaties were designed to take care of the needs of tribal peoples **into the future without limit**. Successive tribal leaders have reminded us of this intent. Consequently, there is no date in time, subsequent to 1855, that cuts off tribal Treaty entitlements.

In conclusion, the Treaty tribes are entitled to a fair share of the salmon harvest from all streams in their ceded area(s) – measured at the **fully functioning production levels** observed in the mid-1800's. This was the tribal entitlement at Treaty times. It is still so today, and into the future. **Declines in the**

salmon productivity of the river due to subsequent human action have not changed this entitlement.

Federal tribal trust responsibility includes, but is not limited to, treaty obligations. Its central thrust recognizes a federal duty to protect tribal lands, resources and the native way of life from the intrusions of the majority society. Each federal agency is bound by this trust responsibility.

1.5 Impacts of the Lower Snake River Dams on the Study Tribes

The four lower Snake River dams evaluated in this report have significant, but not sole responsibility for the desperate present circumstances of study tribes. Construction of these dams has transformed the production function of the lower Snake River. The dams destroyed substantial Treaty-protected salmon producing capability depended on by the tribes, preempted at least 8 million pounds of annual tribal harvest, and have left the tribes with miniscule present-day residual harvests – particularly above the dams.

At the same time, the lower Snake River dams have increased the wealth of non-Indians through enhanced production of electricity, agricultural products, transportation services, and other associated benefits. Tribal peoples have not shared in this increased wealth on a comensurate basis.

Construction of the four lower Snake River dams and reservoirs also inundated approximately 140 river miles of tribal usual and accustomed areas – flooding lands previously frequented by three of the study tribes – the Nez Perce Tribe, the Yakama Indian Nation and the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

Present Tribal Group	Original Tribal Groups in Lower Snake Territory	Associated Flooding by Lower Snake Reservoirs
Nez Perce Tribe	Nez Perce Indians living along the Clearwater River, and downstream along the lower Snake River to the Palouse River (north bank) and the Tucannon River (south bank).	Little Goose reservoir.
Yakama Indian Nation	Palouse peoples living at the confluence of the Snake and Palouse rivers, and downstream along the north bank. Possibly	Lower Monumental reservoir. Ice Harbor reservoir.

<u>The Relationship Between Present Tribal Groups and Pre-Treaty Tribal Groups -</u> Flooding of Lower Snake River Reservoir Areas

xix

	other bands near the mouth of the Snake.	
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.	Palouse peoples living at the confluence of the Snake and Palouse rivers, and downstream along the north bank. Walla Walla peoples living from the mouth of the Tucannon River downstream along the south bank of the Snake.	Lower Monumental reservoir. Ice Harbor reservoir.

XX

1.6 Present Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

The Lower Snake River Project considers selected future alternatives with respect to the four dams and their reservoirs, affecting about 140 miles along the lower Snake River and approximately four miles along the lower Clearwater River:

- * Ice Harbor Dam, near the confluence of the Snake River with the Columbia River;
- * Lower Monumental Dam, near Matthews, Washington;
- * Little Goose Dam, upstream of the Tucannon River;
- * Lower Granite Dam, whose reservoir effects extend about 4 miles upstream of the confluence of the Snake River and the Clearwater River.

The Lower Snake Project is considering three broad actions, and a variety of modifications to those actions. The three main alternative actions are evaluated here. They are:

- * Alternative A1 (Base Case): Continue present operation of the four lower Snake River dams, with supplemental flows for salmon per the 1995 National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) Biological Opinion.
- * Alternative A2 (Transportation): Actions under this alternative would be the same as A1, except for added measures to pass salmon by the dams and through the reservoirs. The dams would stay in place.
- * Alternative A3 (Drawdown): This alternative would breach the four dams, and eliminate their reservoirs, so that the lower Snake River flowed at near natural conditions.

1.7 Impacts from Project Alternatives

Summary of Impacts on Threatened Stocks and Treaty Harvests of Wild Salmon from The Snake River - Alternative Actions Affecting the Lower Snake River

Project Alternative	Probability of Delisting Spring/Summer Chinook -in percent after 48 yrs-	Tribal Ha <u>of Wild Sa</u> <u>At 30 yrs</u>	<u>lmonids</u> At 50 yrs	Tribal Harve <u>+ Hatchery</u> <u>At 30 yrs</u> 00 pounds	Salmonids At 50 yrs
A1: Status Quo	35-42	170	179	794	836
A2: Status Quo + Transportation	30-40	159	161	747	770
A3: Dam Breaching	80	396	426	1,906	2,013
					xxi

Summary of Tribal Flood-Related Impacts Associated with Lower Snake River Reservoirs

Impact	A1 Dams Remain+Biop.	A2 Dams+Added Fish Passage	A3 <u>Reservoirs Gone/Breach Dams</u>
Fishing places.	Access to many salmon fishing sites preempted. Some alternative sites available (principally, non-salmon).	Same as A1.	Would reestablish usual and accustomed fishing locations along 140+ miles of river.
Hunting/ gathering areas.	34,000 acres flooded.	34,000 acres flooded.	Up to 34,000 acres restored for tribal Treaty-based hunting and gathering of roots, berries and plants.
Tribal land base.	Eliminated 34,000 acres from tribal use.	Same as A1.	Provide added land based opportunities up to one-third the size of all present lands owned by the Nez, and up to one-fifth the size of all lands presently owned by CTUIR.

Cultural Floods more than 600- activities. 700 locations where cultural activities occurred.	Same as A1.	Would enable tribal peoples to reestablish contact and use of over 600-700 usual and accustomed locations.
Religious/ Floods numerous tribal Spiritual. graves. Involved violation and stealing of bodies of ancestors. Separates tribal peoples from their land, their rivers, and their sacred and ceremonial places.	Same as A1.	Would reunite tribal peoples with the land, the river and the creatures of the lower Snake. Would allow tribes to care for the graves of loved ones. Would restore access to sacred and ceremonial places.

xxii

1.7.1 The Preferred Alternative – A3.

From the perspective of both salmon recovery and the tribes, A3 is the preferred action alternative.

1.7.1.1 Impacts of A3 on Salmon and Steelhead

PATH and its Scientific Review Panel estimate an approximate 80 percent probability that spring and summer chinook would be removed from the Endangered Species List within 48 years under Alternative A3.

Tribal wild salmon and steelhead harvests from Snake River stocks would be substantially higher than under A1 or A2 – at 396,000 pounds after 30 years, and 426,000 pounds after 50 years. Tribal catches of both wild and hatchery Snake River salmon and steelhead could reach 1,906,000 pounds after 30 years, and 2,013,000 pounds after 50 years.

After 30 years, A3 could increase tribal ceremonial, subsistence and commercial harvests of wild and hatchery salmon and steelhead by 2.2 times, compared to low present-day total tribal catches of about 1.3 million pounds in the Columbia/Snake system. These estimated improvements in tribal catch are 3.3 times greater than for A1, and 3.7 times greater than for A2.

Due to deterioration in associated salmon survival conditions, recovery estimates for A3 are equivalent to only about 20 percent of estimated losses associated with initial construction and operation of the four lower Snake River dams at the 30 year benchmark. Nor would selection of A3 alone fully ameliorate the difficult economic conditions, ill health and suffering of the tribal peoples.

However, A3 represents the most significant action considered to date to reverse the cumulative trend toward destruction of tribal resources, the taking of tribal Treaty-protected assets by non-Indians, and the consequent damaging of tribal peoples. To paraphrase a statement from a nurse on the Yakama Reservation concerning tribal health and overall wellbeing, **'if the salmon begin to come back, positive changes will start'**.

1.7.1.2 Impacts of A3 on Reservoir Flooding of Lands

Alternative A3 (Drawdown) would permanently drain the four lower Snake River reservoirs, and create substantial benefits for affected tribes. It would allow tribal peoples to renew their close religious/spiritual connection with these innundated lands where their ancestors lived and are buried – and allow them to properly care for their grave sites. They could return to more than 600-700 locations where they were accustomed to live; fish; hunt; harvest plants, roots and berries; conduct cultural and religious ceremonies; and pursue other aspects of their normal traditional lives. These impacts are summarized in the preceding table. Their magnitude would depend on the level of following potential actions.

- and accustomed fishing places along
- 1. Restore Treaty-based tribal access rights to usual and accustomed fishing places along the restored river sides.
- 2. Restore Treaty-based tribal access rights to hunt and gather on ceded public lands alongside the restored river sides.
- 3. Return tribal individual allotment lands in the reservoir area, taken by the federal government when the reservoirs were built, to tribal hands.
- 4. Deed uncovered reservoir lands to appropriate tribes as partial compensation for prior damages caused by lower Snake River dams, or for other system damages.

1.7.2 Alternative A1 – Status Quo

PATH (1998) and its Scientific Review Panel indicate a probability of only 35 to 42 percent that these salmon would recover sufficiently to be removed from the Endangered Species List within 48 years under Alternative A1.

It has been estimated that this alternative could increase tribal harvests of Snake River wild

xxiii

salmon and steelhead to an estimated 170,000 pounds after 30 years, and 179,000 pounds after 50 years. Tribal harvests of both wild and hatchery Snake River stocks under this alternative are estimated at 794,000 pounds after 30 years, and 836,000 pounds after 50 years – a meager supplementation of present low levels of tribal catch.

However, the relatively low probabilities that Alternatives A1 and A2 will remove Snake River salmonids from the Endangered Species List within 48 years, PATH's failure to explicitly deal with adverse stock trends in their analysis, the estimates of harvest under A1 referenced in this report are contingent upon these Snake River stocks not going extinct.

In sum, Alternative A1 does not offer the probability of substantial renewal of Snake River salmon and steelhead stocks. Rather, A1 continues to risk Snake River stocks and the tribal peoples who depend on them, and is likely to perpetuate substantial adverse impacts upon tribal culture, economy and health, as described in this report.

Alternative A1 would also continue to flood the river sections and stream side lands under the reservoirs along the lower Snake River - inundating most substantial aspects of tribal cultural, spiritual and material life there – separating the peoples of the Nez Perce, CTUIR and Yakama from the grounds in which their ancestors are buried. The dams and their reservoirs prevent the subject tribes from holding religious and cultural ceremonies at these places - and "filter" the spiritual relationship between the tribes, their ancestors and their spiritual places through many feet of reservoir waters.

xxiv

The four reservoirs preempt 140+ miles of Treaty-protected tribal fishing, hunting, and harvesting of roots, plants and berries at usual and accustomed stream side locations. The surface areas of the four reservoirs measure almost 34,000 acres - an area approximately one-third the size of all remaining lands owned by the Nez Perce, and one-fifth the size of remaining lands owned by the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

Present tribal suffering stems, in large part, from the cumulative stripping away of tribal Treaty-protected resources to create wealth for non-Indians of the region. Selection of A1 will likely perpetuate and protect such prior actions and wealth transfers.

In earlier decades, bureaucrats working to convert the river to produce electricity, irrigate agriculture, carry commodities by river barge, and accommodate deposit of waste, asserted that "uncertainty regarding impacts on salmon could be managed" as the conversion of the river moved forward. Today, with transformation of the river system complete, some maintain that "no major action should be taken to restore salmon until results are certain" – and favor A1 on that account. This new "uncertainty adverse" attitude surrounding actions to save/restore salmon is contrary to that of earlier decades – and serves to perpetuate the redistribution of the rivers' wealth away from the tribes – and in favor of non-Indian residents of the region.

A coincident strategy which commits to "further study" and delay in enacting more substantial recovery measures also commits to continued suffering, ill health and premature death for the peoples of the study tribes – all at unconscionable levels.

The study tribes are unwilling to contemplate the continued levels of pain, suffering and death that waiting as long as 100 years into the future for salmon recovery would bring – and such distant benchmarks for salmon recovery are not discussed in this report.

For the tribes, evaluation of Alternative A1 is clear cut. Selection of A1 would continue the Treatybreaking actions that have been a feature of the last 144 years in the Columbia/ Snake River system.

1.7.3 Alternative A2 – Status Quo with Enhanced Transportation

PATH and its Scientific Review Panel estimate that selection of Alternative A2 would be the worst choice for spring and summer chinook salmon, and for steelhead, of all the alternatives considered - with only a 30 percent to 40 percent chance of removing the salmon from the Endangered Species List over 48 years. It is consequently also the worst choice for the tribes.

XXV

Projected tribal harvests of Snake River wild salmon and steelhead under A2 would be less than under A1, the status quo – 159,000 pounds after 30 years, and 161,000 pounds after 50 years. Counting both wild and hatchery Snake River stocks, tribal harvests of salmon and steelhead could be 747,000 pounds after 30 years, and 770,000 pounds after 50 years.

As with A1, risk of extinction cannot be discounted for some stocks – and the four lower Snake reservoirs would continue their inundation of tribal areas, culture and spiritual places.

1.8 Cumulative Tribal Impacts of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

Selection of Alternative A1 (Status Quo) or A2 (Status Quo + Transportation), by continuing the inundation of river side lands along the lower Snake River, and by failing to offer reasonable prospects for substantial restoration of tribal salmon fisheries for 48 years or more, will perpetuate prior transformations of the production function of the lower Snake river that have destroyed valuable Treaty-protected tribal assets. The tribes will continue to lose treaty-protected wealth - and benefits will continue to flow, disproportionately, into non-tribal hands.

Selection of Alternative A3 (Dam Breaching and Reservoir Drawdown to Natural River)

would remove flood waters presently covering some 140+ miles of important usual and accustomed locations along the lower Snake river. A3 also offers an 80 percent chance that salmon would recover and be delisted within 48 years - with the attendant prospect of renewed tribal fisheries.

From a cumulative policy perspective, selection of A3 would reverse an almost century and onehalf trend to cumulatively strip the tribes of their valued and treaty-protected assets - and would move toward "rebalancing" distributions of the wealth that the lower Snake River can produce, between the tribes and non-tribal peoples of the study area.

Such actions may not result in immediate improvements to tribal material wellbeing and health - but over future years, as the salmon stocks become stronger, so would the health and economic wellbeing of tribal members.

Our study conclusions with respect to the cumulative impact of lower Snake River Project alternatives on **distribution of wealth**, **tribal health and material wellbeing**, **tribal spiritual and religious wellbeing** and **tribal self-sufficiency and self-empowerment** follow.

xxvi

Tribal <u>Impact</u>	A1 Dams Remain+Biop.	A2 Dams +Added Fish Passage	A3 <u>Reservoirs Gone/Breach Dams</u>
Wealth distribution	Non-tribal interests continue to accumulate wealth. Tribal loss of valuable assets continues.	- Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	Begins rebalancing of the river's production function. Some wealth transfers from non-Indian interests back to the tribes begin, as stream sides are unflooded and salmon is restored.
Health and material	Will continue to preempt tribal		Will begin reversal of adverse cumulative nutrition

Summary of Cumulative Tribal Impacts from Lower Snake River A1, A2, and A3 Alternatives

wellbeing.	subsistence and economic activity. Will continue adverse effects on tribal nutrition and general health.	- Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	and health circumstances. Will reduce tribal poverty over time. Will broaden the base for tribal subsistence, and where appropriate, tribal economies.
Spiritual/ religious wellbeing.	Continues to endanger the salmon, one of the key elements that provide religious, spiritual and cultural definition for the study tribes.	- Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	Will remove salmon from endangerment. This will generate major benefits for key elements of tribal religion and spirituality - which will be removed from endangerment as well.
Tribal empower- ment.	Continues to discount the knowledge and recommendations of tribal peoples concerning survival of Snake River salmon - disempowering the tribes.	- Same as A1 -	Credits the knowledge and advice of tribal peoples on what is required for the Snake River salmon to survive. and recover. This would increase feelings of empowerment and self-worth among tribal peoples.

xxvii

1.9 Mitigation to Protect Tribal Sites and Resources

Prehistoric and historic village areas, gravesites, usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas and other areas/resources important to the culture of the tribes must receive adequate protection to ensure their wellbeing under all alternatives. These sites and resources provide tangible evidence of "who a people are". Adequately protected and managed, they provide ongoing opportunity for present-day tribal members to continue to practice their culture, now and in the future. These protection and management measures should be led and controlled by the affected tribes. They should include tribally controlled restoration of these areas and sites – and measures to assess and evaluate, protect and secure, and mitigate for any unavoidable impacts to such sites and resources. Past and current efforts have been inadequate – and future efforts need to be more extensive, and follow explicit tribally-approved plans.

1.10 A Summary Tribal Assessment of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

This summary comparison of project alternatives utilizes two overriding benchmarks.

- Impact on federal tribal Treaty obligations and tribal trust responsibilities;
- Impact on Environmental Justice, as defined by the Environmental Protection Agency.

The four lower Snake River dams do not have sole responsibility for devastation of **tribal Treaty harvests**, but they have played a significant role. This role continues through innundation of spawning areas and via passage losses in each present year. Beaty, Yuen, Meyer and Matylewich (1999) estimate contribution to losses of potential tribal harvests of salmon and steelhead by the four lower Snake River dams at between 8.4 and 14.3 million pounds annually.

PATH, and its Scientific Review Panel of independent experts, estimate that only Alternative A3 offers significant hope for delisting endangered Snake River salmonid species, and substantial restoration of depleted tribal harvests, within any reasonable time period.

The historic record identifies that biologists have often been too optimistic concerning their ability to protect and recover Columbia/Snake system salmon. Considering that historic tendency, the small harvest improvements forecast by PATH under either A1 or A2, and PATH's failure to explicitly consider downward historic trends for modelled stocks, there also appears to be a significant risk that, over time, tribal Treaty-protected salmon stocks could become extinct under selection of either A1 or A2.

Only selection of A3 – breaching the lower Snake dams – offers the Treaty tribes a significant probability of reversal of the cumulative trend of losses to Treaty-protected salmonid harvests, and the hope of substantial relief from the risk of extinction of Treaty-protected stocks.

xxviii

It is concluded that selection of either Alternative A1 or A2 does not meet federal Treaty or tribal trust obligations. Selection of A3 represents a significant step toward meeting these obligations.

The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines Environmental Justice (EJ) as:

The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations and policies. Fair treatment means no group of people, including racial, ethnic, or socioeconomic group should bear a disproportionate share of the negative environmental consequences from industrial, municipal and commercial operations or the execution of federal, state, local, and tribal programs and policies.

EPA's Environmental Justice criteria address two key issues:

- Does the affected community include minority or low-income populations?
- Are the environmental impacts likely to fall disproportionately on minority and/or low income members of the community and/or on tribal resources?

Tribal information from this report that is relevant to Environmental Justice issues is summarized on the two following pages, using assessment factors identified in EPA's EJ guidance.

xxix

Summary of Environmental Justice Effects for the Tribes From Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

EJ Factors Relative Effects on the Tribes Alternative A1 (Status Quo)/ Alternative A2 (Status Quo + Transportation:

Income Level/	: Tribal families are impoverished and unemployed at 3-4 times levels of
Health.	Washington/Oregon/Idaho residents as a whole. Winter-time tribal
	unemployment reaches as high as 80 percent.
	: Tribal members are dying at age adjusted rates that are 20 percent to 130

percent higher than non-Indian residents of the study area.

	Recent analyses describe tribal health and health care access as "poor".Implementation of A1 or A2 would have no discernible effect in remedying
	these cumulative adverse conditions.
Life-support resources.	 Extensive information in this report places salmon at the center of the study tribes' cultural, spiritual and material world. A prior table in this summary identifies that salmon guaranteed to the tribes by Treaty have been almost entirely lost. Tribal spokespersons and health experts cited throughout this report have identified the devastating effect these losses have had on tribal culture, health and material wellbeing. Beaty et.al (1999) identify that lower Snake River dams have contributed substantially to destruction of these life-support resources. Selection of A1 or A2 would not significantly change these cumulative conditions – and the pain, suffering and premature deaths of tribal peoples would continue for decades.
Economic base.	 The cumulative effects of dam construction have transferred potential wealth produced in the river basin from salmon assets on which the tribes depend to electricity production, irrigation of agriculture, water transport services and waste deposition – these latter primarily benefiting non-Indians. Such wealth transfers have been a significant contributor to gross poverty, income and health disparities between tribes and non-Indian neighbors. Selection of A1 or A2 would continue these conditions and disparities.
Inconsistent Standards.	: During construction of the dams, agencies confidently asserted that they could manage uncertainty concerning adverse impacts on salmon – and related adverse impacts to the tribes. Today, when considering more substantial remedial action to recover salmon, and improve the wellbeing of tribal peoples, some of the same agencies claim to be risk averse – and opt for further "study" and iterative "testing" of salmon recovery initiatives.
	Table Cont'd. on p. xxx
	Summary of Environmental Justice Effects for the Tribes From Lower Snake River Project Alternatives – Cont'd.
EJ Factors	Relative Effects on the Tribes
Alternative A3	(Dam Breaching):

Income Level/ : The estimated 13-fold increase in harvest of Snake River wild salmon under Health A3 will not be sufficient to fully restore tribal harvests to potential levels

before the Lower Snake River dams were built. But A3 is the only action being examined that will **substantially** improve opportunities for tribal fishing and for tribal consumption of salmon. Tribal spokespersons and experts cited in this report inform us that as salmon recovery occurs, tribal health would improve, tribal incomes would increase, and the cultures of the five tribes would be strengthened. : Cumulatively, as salmon recovery progressed, A3 could be expected to significantly reduce the differences between tribal and non-Indian material wellbeing that have been cited in this report. Life-support : Despite severe damage to most stocks, salmon and water remain the central elements of tribal culture, spiritual and material survival. Today, beset by a resources. narrow on-Reservation resource base, and still coping with racial prejudice and limited opportunity off-Reservation, the tribes continue to look first to the salmon as they seek to build a more secure future. : Selection of A3 would significantly reverse a 144 year post-Treaty cumulative trend that, to date, has taken and destroyed tribal assets, has resulted in endangerment of the salmon, and has endangered tribal peoples - while peoples as a whole in the region have prospered. Economic base. : Selection of A3 would provide significant restoration for salmon. The tribes have harvested and processed salmon from pre-contact times, and possess an economic comparative advantage respecting such activities. A3 would allow significantly more tribal harvesting and processing; would facilitate extended distribution of salmon as food through extended families and to elders; and would expand the fundamental economic base for tribal wellbeing. : The positive economic effects discussed here would be expected, over time, to significantly reduce the differentials in poverty and unemployment levels between tribal members and their non-Indian neighbors. Inconsistent : Selection of A3 would reduce more than a century of cumulative regional Standards. taking of the Treaty-protected assets of the tribes – and provide a step toward more equitable sharing of potential wealth from the Columbia/Snake

xxxi

It is clear from this report that the lower Snake River dams have benefited many regional citizens, while damaging the tribes severely – and represent a clear case of unjust action, as defined by EPA. Selection of either Alternative A1 or A2 would perpetuate this environmental injustice. Selection of A3 would represent a significant step toward redressing such Environmental Injustice to the tribes.

river basin between tribal and non-tribal peoples.

Comparison of Lower Snake River Proj	ect Alternatives with Respect to Tribal Treaty
Obligations, and En	vironmental Justice

	A1	A2	A3
	Dams Retained +	A1 + Added	Dams Breached/
Evaluative Criteria	Biological Opinion	Fish Passage	Reservoirs Gone
Meets tribal treaty & trust responsibilities.	No	No	Yes
Meets Environmental Justice criteria.	No	No	Yes

Bill Yallup, Chairperson of the Yakama Indian Nation, points out that this assessment process offers a clear choice with respect to how the salmon, and affected tribal peoples, will be treated in the Columbia and Snake River Basins.

Some of the people that have gone before made some big mistakes on this river. We tried to tell them, but they wouldn't listen. We now have an opportunity to fix those mistakes. Each generation of officials, bureaucrats, scientists and so on has a choice. We can become part of the problem – or part of the solution.

(Bill Yallup, Sr. - An Address to the Drawdown Regional Economic Workgroup, July 18, 1997) Tribal Circumstances and Impacts of the Lower Snake River Project on the Nez Perce, Yakama, Umatilla, Warm Springs and Shoshone Bannock Tribes

Developed for the:

Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission

Developed by:

Meyer Resources, Inc.

October, 1999

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 Executive Summary of Tribal Circumstances and Impacts from the Lower Snake River Project	i
2.0 Procedural Overview for Assessment of Tribal Impacts and Circumstances	1
2.1 Study Methodology	1
2.1.1 Federal Guidelines	1
2.1.1.1 Economic and Environmental Principles and Guidelines for Water and Related Land Resources Implementation Studies - 1983	1
2.1.1.2 Presidential and Executive Department Direction, Guidance and Policy	3
2.1.1.3 US Army Corps of Engineers Guidance Respecting Tribes	4
2.1.1.4 The Responsibility of the US Department of Commerce	5
2.1.1.5 EPA Guidelines with Respect to Environmental Justice	6
2.1.1.6 Court Findings with Respect to "Perspective" in Assessing Impacts on Treaty Trust Resources	7
2.1.2 Understanding Tribal Treaties	8
2.1.2.1 Treaties Related to this Analysis	8
2.1.2.2 Treaties as Negotiated Settlements	8
2.1.2.3 Relevance of Treaties for the Present Analysis	13
2.1.2.4 Tribal Trust Resources	15
2.1.2.5 A Summary of Other Selected Laws Relevant to Tribal Protection	17
2.1.3 Analytical Issues Affecting Assessment of Impacts on Tribes	17
2.1.3.1 Crediting What Tribes Say	19

Page

2.1.3.2 Tribal Culture is Modern and Evolutionary

TABLE OF CONTENTS – 2

	Page
2.1.3.3 Tribes View Themselves and Their Resources Holistically	20
2.1.4 Selecting Indicators of Tribal Circumstances and Potential Effects	21
2.1.4.1 Salmon and Access to Salmon Fishing	21
2.1.4.2 Hunting and Gathering Activities	23
2.1.4.3 Historic Villages, Grave Sites and Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas	23
2.1.4.4 Speaking Tribal Languages	23
2.1.5 Integration of Tribal Assessment with Non-Tribal Models for Assessing Circumstances and Potential Impacts on Tribes	25
2.1.5.1 A "Hierarchy of Needs" Model for Integration of Tribal and Non-Tribal Assessment Measures	25
2.1.5.2 Non-Tribal Indicators of Tribal Circumstances and Potential Impacts	28
2.1.5.2.1 Tribal Poverty	28
2.1.5.2.2 Tribal Unemployment	29
2.1.5.2.3 Tribal Per Capita Income	29
2.1.5.3 Tribal Health	29
2.1.5.4 Tribal Assets and the Associated Values They Produce	32
2.1.6 Differing Concepts of Value – A Cautionary Note	35
2.1.7 Assessing Tribal Circumstances and Benefits - A Summary of Method	37
3.0 Assessing Historic and Existing Tribal Circumstances Potentially	38

19

Affected by the Lower Snake River Project	
3.1 Linkages Between Lower Snake River Project Alternatives and Referent Tribes	38
3.1.1 Securing Tribal Assets TABLE OF CONTENTS – 3	38
	Page
3.1.2 Linkages between Tribal Fishing and the Lower Snake River Project	40
3.1.3 Linkages between Usual and Accustomed Tribal Areas and Project Reservoirs	41
4.0 Circumstances and Impacts on Nee-Me-Poo (Nez Perce)	46
4.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of Nee-Me-Poo	46
4.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Nee-Me-Poo Lands	50
4.3 Broader Perspective of Nez Perce Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times	52
4.4 Changes in Nee-Me-Poo Circumstances Due to the Treaties of 1855 and 1863	55
4.5 Further Allotment of Nez Perce Lands - To Tribal Members and to Whites	60
4.6 Nez Perce Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas	63
4.7 Changing the Production Function for Nez Perce Lands and Waters	64
4.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams	65
4.9 Post-Contact Nez Perce Tribal Health	70
4.10 Present Circumstances of the Nee-Me-Poo	72
4.10.1 Remaining Nez Perce Lands	72

4.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon	73
4.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Nez Perce Material Circumstance	74
4.10.4 Nez Perce Tribal Health	76
5.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the Shoshone and Bannock Bands	81
TABLE OF CONTENTS – 4	Page
5.1 Traditional Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of the Shoshone and Bannock Bands	81
5.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Areas of the Shoshone and Bannock Bands	86
5.3 A Broader Perspective of Shoshone-Bannock Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times	88
5.4 Changes in Shoshone and Bannock Circumstances - and the Fort Bridger Treaty of 1868	91
5.5 Further Allotment of Lands Reserved to the Shoshone and Bannock Peoples	96
5.6 Shoshone-Bannock Access to Traditional Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas	98
5.7 Post-Contact Shoshone-Bannock Health	101
5.8 Present Circumstances of the Shoshone and Bannock Peoples	103
5.8.1 Remaining Shoshone-Bannock Lands and Resources	103
5.8.2 A General Assessment of Present Shoshone-Bannock Material Circumstance	104
5.8.3 Shoshone-Bannock Tribal Health	106
6.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the People of the Yakama Indian Nation	110

6.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of the Peoples of the Yakama Indian Nation	110
6.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Yakama Lands and Resources	114
6.3 A Broader Perspective of the Living Circumstances of Yakama Peoples in Pre-Contact Times	115
6.4 Changes in Yakama Circumstances Following the Treaty of 1855	118
6.5 Allotment of Yakama Lands - To Tribal Members and to Whites TABLE OF CONTENTS – 5	120
	Page

6.6 Yakama Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering	122
6.7 Changing the Production Function for Yakama Natural Assets	124
6.7.1 Tribal Perspective Concerning Yakama Lands, Waters and Salmon	124
6.7.2 Economic Perspective Concerning Yakama Production Functions	128
6.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams	130
6.9 Post-Contact Yakama Tribal Health	131
6.10 Present Circumstances of the Yakama Indian Nation	136
6.10.1 Remaining Yakama Lands	136
6.10.1 Remaining Yakama Lands6.10.2 What Remains of the Yakama Salmon?	136 137
6.10.2 What Remains of the Yakama Salmon?	137
6.10.2 What Remains of the Yakama Salmon?6.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Yakama Material Circumstance	137 138
6.10.2 What Remains of the Yakama Salmon?6.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Yakama Material Circumstance6.10.4 Yakama Tribal Health	137 138 139

Indian Reservation

7.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Rounds of the CTUIR	144
7.2 Natural Assets and Annual Productive Yield of Original CTUIR Lands, Waters and Salmon	147
7.3 A Broader Perspective of CTUIR Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times	149
7.4 Umatilla, Walla Walla and Cayuse Circumstances, and the Treaty of 1855	152
7.5 Further Allotment of CTUIR Lands - To Tribal Members and to Whites	153
TABLE OF CONTENTS – 6	
	Page
7.6 CTUIR Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas	156
7.7 Changing the Production Function for CTUIR Lands, Waters and Salmon Producing Capability	158
7.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams	161
7.9 Post-Contact CTUIR Tribal Health	163
7.10 Present Circumstances of the CTUIR	165
7.10.1 Remaining CTUIR Lands	165
7.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon?	165
7.10.3 A General Assessment of Present CTUIR Material Circumstance	166
7.10.4 CTUIR Tribal Health	168
7.10.5 Languages of the CTUIR and Other Columbia/Snake River Tribes	170
8.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation	173

8.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Rounds of the Warm Springs Peoples	173
8.2 Natural Assets and Annual Productive Yield of the Original Lands of the Peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation	174
8.3 A Broader Perspective of Wasco, Warm Springs and Paiute Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times	176
8.4 Changes in Circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Due to the Treaty of 1855	178
8.5 Further Changes in Circumstances of the Peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation	180
8.6 Warm Springs Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas	181
TABLE OF CONTENTS – 7	
	Page
8.7 Changing the Production Function for Warm Springs Waters and Salmon Production Capabilities	182
8.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams	184
8.9 Post-Contact Warm Springs Tribal Health	184
8.10 Present Circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation	186
8.10.1 Remaining Lands of the Warm Springs Reservation	186
8.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon	187
8.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Warm Springs Material Circumstance	188
8.10.4 Warm Springs Tribal Health	191
9.0 A Summary of Historic and Present Circumstances for the Nez Perce Tribe, Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, Yakama Indian Nation, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs	195

Reservation of Oregon

9.1 Treaties Between the Five Study Tribes and the United States	195
9.2 Changes in Treaty-Protected Resource Assets and Activities of the Five Study Tribes from Treaty Times to the Present	197
9.2.1 Transfer of Tribal Assets in Treaty-Protected Lands to Non-Indians	197
9.2.2 Transfer of Treaty-Protected Tribal Assets of the Rivers to Non-Indians	199
9.2.3 Cumulative Effects from the Taking of Wealth from Study Tribes	202
9.3 Present Circumstances of the Study Tribes	203
9.4 The Effect of the Lower Snake Dams on Study Tribes	206
9.4.1 Impacts of the Lower Snake Dams on Salmon	207
9.4.2 Inundation Effects on the Tribes from the Four Lower Snake Dams	208
TABLE OF CONTENTS – 8	
	Page
10.0 Assessment of Tribal Impacts on the Nez Perce, Shoshone-Bannock,	210

Yakama, Umatilla and Warm Springs Tribes from Lower Snake Dams	
10.1 Project Alternatives Considered in this Analysis	210
10.2 Criteria for Assessment of Impacts from Project Alternatives on Study Tribes	211
10.2.1 General Assessment Criteria	211
10.2.2 Benchmark Criteria for Assessing Impacts on Salmon and Steelhead	211
10.2.2.1 Contribution to Reestablishment of Tribal Treaty Fisheries	211
10.2.2.2 Contribution to Diminishing Risk of Treaty Fisheries Extinction	213
10.2.3 Criteria for Assessing Impacts on Usual and Accustomed Tribal Living Areas and Sites Within the Boundaries of the Four Reservoirs	213

10.2.4 Reduction of the Pain and Suffering of Tribal Peoples	213
10.3 Estimates of Salmon Run Sizes and Tribal Harvests Under Each Alternative	214
10.4 Assessment of Tribal Impacts Associated with Tribally Important Riverside Areas from Lower Snake River Project Alternatives	219
10.4.1 Alternative A1: Present Operations with 1995 Biological Opinion	219
10.4.2 Alternative A2: Maintenance of the Four Lower Snake Dams at A1 Standard, with Added Facilities to Transport Salmon by the Dams	220
10.4.3 Alternative A3: Permanent Drawdown (Breaching) of the Four Lower Snake River Dams	221
10.5 Cumulative Impacts from Lower Snake River Project Alternatives	223
10.5.1 Cumulative Effects of Distribution of Wealth	223
10.5.2 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Health and Material Wellbeing	225
10.5.3 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Culture and Spiritual Wellbeing	227
TABLE OF CONTENTS – 9	
	Page
10.5.4 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Self-Sufficiency, Self-Control and Self-Empowerment	228
10.5.5 A Summary of Cumulative Impacts of Lower Snake Dams on the Study Tribes	228
10.6 Overall Summary Assessment of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives	230
10.6.1 Tribal Treaty and Trust Obligations	230
10.6.2 Environmental Justice for the Tribes	232
10.6.3 Final Conclusions Concerning Treaty/Trust Obligations and Environmental Justice	235

10.7 Mitigation Associated with the Four Lower Snake Dams	235
10.7.1 Mitigation Under Alternatives A1 and A2	235
10.7.2 Mitigation Under Alternative A3 - Breach of Lower Snake River Dams	236
11.0 References	238
Cultural Protection Appendices	250

2.0 Procedural Overview for Assessment of Tribal Impacts and Circumstances

2.1 Study Methodology

2.1.1 Federal Guidelines

This report is developed so as to be generally compatible with the following federal guidelines.

2.1.1.1 Economic and Environmental Principles and Guidelines for Water and Related Land Resources Implementation Studies - 1983.

The 1983 US Water Resources Council (WRC) Guidelines are the last in a guideline series developed to assist evaluation of federal water-related projects in the United States¹. While the Department of the Interior-based WRC no longer exists, evaluation manuals developed subsequently by individual federal agencies still treat this document as a basic source for guidance - as has the Drawdown Regional Economic Workgroup (DREW) responsible for the current overall Lower Snake Drawdown evaluation task².

The WRC Guidelines recommend evaluation of water-related projects by organizing assessment data in a series of accounts³. These are:

The National Economic Development (NED) Account; which "displays changes in the economic value of the national output of goods and services".

Assessment under this account has been a significant focus for DREW, and to the extent Tribal circumstances and information indicate it to be appropriate, Tribal NED information is included in this report.

The Environmental Quality (EQ) Account; which "displays nonmonetary effects on significant natural and cultural resources".

(1) The EQ account is a means of displaying and integrating into water resources planning that information on the effects of alternative plans on significant EQ resources and attributes of

¹US Water Resource Council, 1983. Economic and Environmental Principles and Guidelines for Water and Related Land Resources Implementation Studies. Washington, D.C.: Superintendent of Documents.

²DREW consists of group of economists and other professionals representing the US Army Corps of Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration, Northwest Power Planning Council, National Marine Fisheries Service, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission, Shoshone-Bannock Tribes and other potentially affected agencies/interests.

³US Water Resources Council, 1983. **Supra** at v.

the NEPA human environment, as defined in 40 CFR 1507.14, that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternative plans. *Significant* means likely to have a material bearing on the decision making process.

(2) Beneficial effects in the EQ account are favorable changes in the ecological, aesthetic, and cultural attributes of natural and cultural resources.

(3) Adverse effects in the EQ account are unfavorable changes in the ecological, aesthetic, and cultural attributes of natural and cultural resources. ...

Cultural attributes are evidence of past and present habitation that can be used to reconstruct or preserve human lifeways... $.^4$

WRC (1983) goes on to identify that:

Cultural attributes are found in the archaeological remains of prehistoric and historic aboriginal occupations; historic European and American areas of occupation and activities; and objects and places related to the beliefs, practices and products of existing folk or traditional communities and native American groups. Examples are campsites of prehistoric mammoth hunters, a 19th century farmstead, and a stream crossing in long- standing use by an Appalachian community for baptizing church members.⁵

Initial Tribal assessment processes conducted by federal agencies since WRC (1983) usually focused on that element of WRC (1983)'s EQ Guidelines concerning **"prehistoric and historic...objects and places"**, primarily through historic and archaeological analysis, and has often described such "objects and places" as **cultural resources**. Such assessment is important, but in confining itself to "historic objects and places", it too often failed to fully assess impacts on **existing Tribal communities and groups**, also identified under the WRC guidance. This issue was recognized in the 1995 Columbia River System Operation Review (SOR) Final EIS.

There is...more than one view of what constitutes cultural resources. The academic and legal definitions tend to focus on tangible evidence such as sites and artifacts. Native Americans find these definitions too narrow. They view their entire heritage, including beliefs, traditions, customs, and spiritual relationship to the earth and natural resources, as sacred cultural resources. The SOR agencies have attempted to incorporate the tribes' views in the impact analysis and will continue to consider them while developing mitigation plans.⁶

⁴Supra at 10-11.

⁵Supra at 103-104.

⁶US Army Corps of Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration and US Bureau of Reclamation, 1995. **Columbia River System Operation Review: Final Environmental Impact Statement**. Main Report. Portland, p. 2-21.
This present report section, written under Tribal supervision, continues the effort by SOR agencies to understand and properly incorporate Tribal circumstances and effects into the Lower Snake Drawdown assessment process.

The **Regional Economic Development (RED) Account**; "registers changes in the distribution of regional economic activity that result from each alternative plan. Two measures of the effects of the plan on regional economies are used in the account: Regional income and regional employment."⁷

The boundaries of Tribal Reservations and Tribal Ceded Areas do not conform to those countybased or state-based analyses that are usually utilized in the RED account. This analysis will develop information with respect to Tribal income and unemployment. Some of this may prove useful to RED assessors. However, the basic referent groups for this Tribal Effects assessment will be bounded by the Reservations and Ceded Areas of the Nez Perce Tribe, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Reservation, The Yakama Indian Nation, The Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation, and The Shoshone-Bannock Tribes.

The **Other Social Effects (OSE) Account**; "is a means of displaying and integrating into water resource planning information on alternative plan effects from perspectives that are not reflected in the other three accounts. The categories of effects in the OSE account include the following: Urban and community impacts; life, health and safety factors; displacement (of people, businesses and farms); long-term productivity; and energy requirements and energy conservation."⁸

This Tribal Effects section will contain some information identified in WRC (1983)'s OSE Account framework - particularly with respect to **Tribal health**, and the **displacement of Tribal peoples**.

2.1.1.2 Presidential and Executive Department Direction, Guidance and Policy

In 1994 the following Presidential directive was issued.

Each executive department and agency shall assess the impact of federal government plans, projects, programs and activities on tribal trust resources and assure that tribal government rights and concerns are considered during the development of such plans, projects, programs and activities.⁹

In 1993, a directive from The Secretary of the Interior stated:

⁷ US Water Resources Council, 1983. **Supra** at 11.

⁸ Supra at 12.

⁹ President Clinton,1994. Memorandum to Heads of Departments and Agencies. April 29.

The heads of bureaus and offices are responsible for being aware of the impact of their plans, projects, programs or activities on Indian trust resources. Bureaus and offices when engaged in the planning of any proposed project or action will ensure that any anticipated effects on Indian trust resources are explicitly addressed in the planning, decision and operational documents. These documents should clearly state the rationale for the recommended decision and explain how the decision will be consistent with the Department's trust responsibilities.¹⁰

2.1.1.3 US Army Corps of Engineers Guidance Respecting Tribes

US Army Corps of Engineers guidance respecting Tribes is contained in Lieutenant General Ballard's memorandum of February 18, 1998.

1. Our Nation has long recognized the sovereign status of Indian tribes. The United States Constitution specifically addresses Indian sovereignty by classing Indian treaties among the "supreme Law of the land," and established Indian affairs as a unique focus of federal concern. Principles outlined in the treaties, as well as those established by Federal laws, regulations and Executive Orders, continue to guide our national policy towards Indian Nations.

2. On 29 April 1994, President Clinton reaffirmed the United States' "unique legal relationship with Native American tribal governments." In recognition of the special considerations due to tribal interests, the President directed Federal agencies to operate within a government-to-government relationship with federally recognized Indian tribes; consult, to the greatest extent practicable and permitted by law, with Indian tribal governments; assess the impact of agency activities on tribal trust resources and assure that tribal interests are considered before the activities are undertaken; and remove procedural impediments to working directly with tribal governments on activities that effect trust property or governmental rights of the tribes....

3. ...I want to ensure that all Corps Commands adhere to principles of respect for Indian tribal governments and honor our Nation's trust responsibility. To this end I have enclosed <u>US Army</u> <u>Corps of Engineers Tribal Policy Principles</u>, for use as interim guidance until more detailed statements are developed. These Principles have been developed with the Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army (Civil Works) and are consistent with the President's goals and objectives.

TRIBAL SOVEREIGNTY - The US Army Corps of Engineers recognizes that Tribal governments are sovereign entities, with rights to set their own priorities, develop and manage Tribal and trust resources, and be involved in Federal decisions or activities which have the potential to affect these rights.

TRUST RESPONSIBILITY - The US Army Corps of Engineers will work to meet trust obligations, protect trust resources, and obtain Tribal views of trust and treaty responsibilities or

¹⁰ The Secretary of the Interior, 1993. **Order No. 3175**. November 8.

actions related to the Corps, in accordance with provisions of treaties, laws and Executive Orders as well as principles lodged in the Constitution of the United States.

GOVERNMENT-TO-GOVERNMENT RELATIONS - The US Army Corps of Engineers will ensure that Tribal Chairs/Leaders meet with Corps Commanders/Leaders and recognize that, as governments, Tribes have the right to be treated with appropriate respect and dignity, in accordance with principles of self-determination.

PRE-DECISIONAL AND HONEST CONSULTATION - The US Army Corps of Engineers will reach out...to involve tribes in collaborative processes designed to ensure information exchange, consideration of disparate viewpoints before and during decision making, and utilize fair and impartial dispute resolution mechanisms.

SELF RELIANCE, CAPACITY BUILDING AND GROWTH - The US Army Corps of Engineers will search for ways to involve Tribes in programs, projects and other activities that build economic capacity and foster abilities to manage Tribal resources while preserving cultural identities.

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES - The US Army Corps of Engineers will act to fulfill obligations to preserve and protect trust resources, comply with the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act, and ensure reasonable access to sacred sites in accordance with published and easily accessible guidance.¹¹

2.1.1.4 The Responsibility of the U.S. Department of Commerce

The U.S. Department of Commerce's Office of the Assistant Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere has recently asserted the following responsibility to Columbia River Treaty Tribes.

It is our policy that the recovery of salmonid populations must achieve two goals; 1) the recovery and delisting of salmonids listed under the provisions of ESA; 2) the restoration of salmonid populations, over time, to a level to provide a sustainable harvest sufficient to allow for the meaningful exercise of fishing rights....

Our statement of the twin goals for salmonid populations listed under the ESA recognizes that the United States, and all federal agencies, stand in a trust relationship with all federally recognized Indian tribes and of the responsibilities that flow from that relationship. The federal trust obligation to Indian tribes is independent of the statutory duties of the federal agencies and informs the way such statutory duties are to be implemented. The United States Supreme Court

¹¹ Ballard, Joe N., Lieutenant General, USA Commanding. US Army Corps of Engineers (Civil Works). Memorandum for Commanders, Major Subordinate Commands and District Commands: Policy Guidance Letter No. 57, Indian Sovereignty and Government-to-Government Relations with Indian Tribes. CECW-AG. February 18, 1998.

has described certain characteristics of the trust relationship and the lower courts have implemented the trust in specific situations. Hence, we understand the importance of the federal government's efforts to allocate the conservation burden for salmonids listed under the ESA in a way that, among other things, it does not discriminate against tribal fishing rights and is implemented in

the least restrictive manner. Accordingly, the tribes may reasonably expect, as a matter of policy, that tribal fishing rights will be given priority over the interests of other entities, federal and nonfederal, that do not stand in a trust relationship with the United States (our bolding).¹²

2.1.1.5 EPA Guidelines With Respect to Environmental Justice

In 1997, the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) issued its **Interim Final Guidance for Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analysis**.¹³ The Environmental Justice guidance results from President Clinton's 1994 Executive Order 12989¹⁴. The document defines environmental justice as follows.

The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations and policies. Fair treatment means that no group of people, including racial, ethnic, or socioeconomic group should bear a disproportionate share of the negative environmental consequences from industrial, municipal and commercial operations or the execution of federal, state, local, and tribal programs and policies.¹⁵

The EPA Guidance states it applies, as appropriate, to Native Americans, and directs analysts to identify and evaluate "disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects in minority communities and low-income communities".¹⁶

Cumulative impacts are a critical element in assessing impacts on tribes, and are defined as "the incremental impact(s) of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions".¹⁷

- ¹⁶Supra.
- ¹⁷Supra at 15.

¹² Garcia, Terry D., 1998. U.S. Department of Commerce, Office of The Assistant Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere. Letter, to Ted Strong, Executive Director, Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, July 21.

¹³US Environmental Protection Agency, 1997. Interim Final Guidance for Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analysis. Washington, D.C.: Office of Federal Activities, September 30.

¹⁴Supra at 4.

¹⁵Supra at 5.

US Environmental Protection Agency (1998) provides more specific guidance on treatment of environmental justice issues where tribal treaties and tribal trust responsibilities may be at issue.

Federal duties under the Environmental Justice E.O. ("Executive Order"), the Presidential directive on government-to-government relations, and the trust responsibility to Indian tribes may merge when the action proposed by a federal agency or EPA potentially affects the natural or physical environment of a tribe. The natural or physical environment of a tribe may include resources reserved by treaty or lands held in trust; sites of special cultural, religious or archaeological importance, such as sites protected under the National Historic Preservation Act or the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act; or areas reserved for hunting, fishing, and gathering (usual & accustomed), which may include "ceded" lands that are not within reservation boundaries. Potential effects of concern...may include ecological, cultural, human health, economic, or social impacts when those impacts are interrelated to impacts on the natural or physical environment.¹⁸

This Tribal Effects report is developed in a manner that is consistent with this recent Environmental Justice guidance from EPA.

2.1.1.6 Court Findings with Respect to "Perspective" in Assessing Impacts on Treaty Trust Resources

Discussion of key understandings with respect to **Tribal Treaties** and **Treaty Trust Resources** is provided in following Sections 2.1.2.1 and 2.1.2.2. It has already been identified in the prior citation from US Army Corps of Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration and US Bureau of Reclamation (1995) on page 2 of this report that Tribes and some non-tribal experts tend to view cultural impacts differently. It is therefore important in this initial federal guidance discussion to identify that US Courts have ruled on which interpretation should be employed, where Tribal Treaties and Tribal Treaty Trust Resources are at issue. These rulings were summarized by the US District Court in United States v. Washington.

In 1899 the United States Supreme Court in considering a similar situation said:

In construing any treaty between the United States and an Indian tribe...the treaty must...be construed, not according to the technical meaning of its words to learned lawyers, but in the sense in which they would naturally be understood by the Indians....

Each of the basic fact and law issues in this case must be considered and decided in accordance with the treaty language reserving fishing rights to the plaintiff tribes, interpreted in the spirit and manner directed in the above quoted language of the United States Supreme Court.^{19 20}

¹⁸US Environmental Protection Agency, 1998. Reviewing for Environmental Justice: EIS & Permitting Resources Guide. EPA Region 10 - Environmental Justice Office, p. 2.

¹⁹United States v. Washington. 1974. United States District Court, Western District of Washington. Reprint from 384 F.Supp. 312; 459 F.Supp. 1020; 476 F.Supp. 1405; and 626

More broadly;

In construing Indian treaties, the courts have required that treaties be liberally construed to favor Indians, that ambiguous expressions in treaties must be resolved in favor of the Indians, and that treaties should be construed as the Indians would have understood them.²¹

The present analysis retains the Tribal perspective directed by the Courts where analytical perspective concerning Tribal Treaties and Tribal Treaty Trust Resources might otherwise potentially differ.

2.1.2 Understanding Tribal Treaties

Federal guidelines identified in previous Section 2.1.1 make several references to **Tribal Treaties**. An understanding of relevant Tribal Treaties is essential to assessment of Tribal circumstances and impacts, and to compliance with cited Federal guidance.

2.1.2.1 Treaties Related to this Analysis

Each of the five Tribes considered in this analysis signed treaties with the United States. Principal among these treaties are:

- Treaty with the Yakama Tribe, June 8, 1855;
- Treaty with the Umatilla Tribe (June 9, 1855);
- Treaty with the Nez Perce Tribe, June 11, 1855;
- Treaty with the Tribes of Middle Oregon, June 25, 1855;
- Fort Bridger Treaty, July 3, 1868.

The United States government representative at negotiations associated with the first four treaties listed was Washington Territorial Governor Isaac I. Stevens - and these treaties, together with similar ones of Washington coastal tribes, have become known colloquially as "the Stevens Treaties". The particular circumstances and provisions associated with each Treaty will be related to the Lower Snake River Drawdown assessment task in individual tribe-by-tribe sections that follow. Understanding of key features common across these treaties - and important to our analysis - is discussed here.

F.Supp. 1405. St. Paul, Minn. West Publishing Co., pp. 330-331.

²⁰This perspective was sustained by the Court as early as 1905, when they stated: "This court will construe a treaty with Indians as they understood it and as justice and reason demand." (United States v. Winans, 198 US 371, 1905).

²¹Cohen, Felix S., Handbook of Federal Indian Law. 1982 Edition, p. 222.

2.1.2.2 Treaties as Negotiated Settlements

Webster defines an (Indian) treaty as:

"...a formal meeting between representatives of the US government and one or more Indian tribes designed to produce a settlement (as of issues in dispute).²²

In fact, the Treaties under consideration represent just such negotiated settlement of disputes. Historian Richard White provides a flavor of the "disputes" to be settled.

The (early 1800's) architects of removal (of Indians to west of the Mississippi) had imagined an Indian country where whites entered only with federal permission and under federal supervision and where the federal government mediated and kept the peace between Indian nations, each of which had its own clearly bounded territory. This Indian country fell victim to American expansionism. The assumption of federal policy makers that most of the land west of the Missouri River, not just Indian Territory proper in what is now Oklahoma, would remain Indian country began to collapse when Americans acquired Texas, California and Oregon....

The weakness of the policy of permanent Indian country was everywhere apparent in the 1840s and 1850s. Migrants encroached on Indian lands along the Missouri and crisscrossed them on their way to Oregon and California. The Trade and Intercourse Act proved incapable of maintaining the boundaries between Indians and whites or of controlling white access into Indian country. Whites crossing the plains inevitably caused resentment among the Indians. Travelers killed and drove away game, particularly along the Oregon and Mormon trails. ... The Indians, for their part, raided the trains for livestock and demanded payment for passage across their hunting lands....

In 1853, Congress sought to remedy its hastiness in promising the Indians possession of Kansas and Nebraska in perpetuity. Anglo American settlers were already encroaching on these Missouri borderlands, but the government had a second motive in seeking new treaties: it sought a route for a transcontinental railroad. When many Indians proved reluctant to cede lands that only a few years before the Americans had promised were theirs forever, the United States allowed its citizens to persuade the Indians to change their minds. A horde of speculators, settlers, and timber thieves flocked onto the Indians' lands with little federal interference. When Indians tried to protect their property themselves, intruding whites murdered them. Most Indians in eastern Kansas and Nebraska reluctantly decided that they had no choice but once again to cede their lands.

The chaos east of the Rocky Mountains also erupted elsewhere in the West. In California, Americans who flocked into the region with the Gold Rush ignored Indian land titles. And through the Oregon Donation Act of 1850 the United States, in violation of its own laws, allowed its citizens to claim lands in Washington and Oregon territories before the government had acquired title to them from the Indian owners. In Utah, too, the Mormons established residence on Indian lands

²² Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 1971. G. & C. Merriam Co., 2435.

without any federal acquisition of title. By 1850 the idea of a permanent Indian country with the separation of Indians and whites along an east-west axis was in shambles.²³

This was the situation faced by Indians in the Columbia-Snake region in the 1850s. Opposed by a superior military force; engaged with a nation which negotiated treaties, permitted its citizens to breach them, then consolidated such breaches via renegotiation; with little area to the west to flee, and no inclination to do so - some Tribal members believed that a final "last treaty" with the United States was the only way to survive. Others believed that the United States was asking too high a price in land - and could not agree. White again characterizes this period.

These treaties (in Washington and Oregon territories) established an extensive system of reservations in both territories, but they eliminated the objections of Oregonians by placing the new reservations farther away from the areas settled by whites. The Senate approved these treaties, but they did so in ignorance of real Indian discontent created by the tactics of the white negotiators.

The treaties were troublesome documents. In many cases both the "tribes" and the "chiefs" who had signed the treaties were the creations of the American negotiators.... Washington Governor Isaac Stevens proved particularly eager to rush through the treaties; he was more interested in getting land cessions than in obtaining real Indian consent. His treaties brought war in their wake while the reservations remained virtually uninhabited for years as Indians attempted to remain in their old villages.²⁴

Thus, treaty negotiators on both sides sought what they could get. United States negotiators sought Indian land, and the resources that went with it. They evidently believed that negotiating treaties would be more cost-effective than taking Indian land and resources by force - although as White has identified, lines between these alternatives were usually blurred through condonance of illegal acts by miners and settlers.

Allowing for difficulties in translation, the quandary in which this left Columbia- Snake area Indian Treaty negotiators is clearly evident in their own cited words. For example:

From what you have said I think you intend to win our country, or how is it to be? In one day the Americans become as numerous as the grass; this I have learned in California; I know that is not right. You have spoken in a round about way; speak straight. I have ears to hear you and here is my heart. ... Goods and Earth are not equal; goods are for using on the Earth. I do not know where they have given lands for goods.²⁵

²³White, Richard, 1991. "Its Your Misfortune and None of My Own"; A New History of the American West. Norman, Okla.: University of Oklahoma Press, pp. 89-91.

²⁴Supra at 93.

²⁵Pee-o-pee-mox-a-mox, Proceedings at the Council held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 2, 1855, in, Edward G. Swindell, 1942. Report on the Source, Nature and Extent of the Fishing, Hunting and Miscellaneous Related Rights of Certain Indian Tribes in

God named this land to us that is the reason I am afraid to say anything about this land. I am afraid of the laws of the Almighty, this is the reason I am afraid to speak of the land. I am afraid of the laws of the Almighty that is the reason of my hearts being sad: this is the reason I cannot give you an answer. I am afraid of the Almighty. Shall I steal this land and sell it? or what shall I do? this is the reason that my heart is sad.

My friends, God made our bodies from the earth as if they were different from the whites. What shall I do? Shall I give the lands that are part of my body and leave myself poor and destitute? Shall I say I will give you my lands? I cannot say. I am afraid of the Almighty.²⁶

A long time ago a Great Spirit spoke to my children. I am from the body of my parents and I set on a good place. The Great Spirit spoke to his children the Laws, will track on the ground straight and after that there have been tracks on my ground and after that the big Chief, the President, his ground was stepped on in the same way and for that reason I am not going there to trouble on his grounds and I do not expect anyone to tramp on mine.²⁷

Despite such concerns, threatened by superior force, and under pressure from Governor Stevens, some Indians joined in Treaty settlement negotiations. Where this occurred, Indian speakers **sought to retain enough land and associated resources to survive on into the future**. They particularly sought to retain enough land to live on, and the areas important for fishing, hunting and gathering during their seasonal rounds. For example:

The reason why we could not understand you was that you selected this country for us to live in without our having any voice in the matter. We will think slowly over the different streams that run through the country, we will expose the country and think over it slowly. I cannot take the whole country and throw it to you. If we can agree this country will furnish food for the whites and for us.... I will show you lands that I will give you, we will then take good care of each other.... I think the land where my forefathers are buried should be mine; that is the place that I am speaking for. We will talk about it, we shall then know, my brothers, that is what I have to show to you, that is what I love the place we get our roots to live upon (meaning the Grand Ronde). The Salmon comes up the stream--that is all.²⁸

Washington and Oregon, Together with Affidavits Showing Locations of a Number of Usual and Accustomed Fishing Grounds and Stations. US Department of the Interior, Office of Indian Affairs, Los Angeles, p. 410.

- ²⁶Owhi, Proceedings at the Council held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 7, 1855, in, Edward G. Swindell, 1942. **Supra** at 431-432.
- ²⁷Looking Glass, Proceedings at the Council held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 9, 1855, in, Edward R. Swindell, 1942. Supra at 445-446.
- ²⁸Young Chief, Proceedings at the Council Held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 7, 1855, in, Edward G. Swindell, 1942. Supra at 438-439.

Indian negotiators were partially successful in their efforts. In fact, Stevens recognized the desirability of protecting Indian access to fisheries in the Territories prior to negotiation of the "Stevens treaties".

The subject of the right of fisheries is one upon which legislation is demanded. It never could have been the intention of Congress that Indians should be excluded from their ancient fisheries.²⁹

Stevens provided reassurance to the Indians on these issues during Treaty negotiations.

We think they (the reservations) are large enough to furnish each man and each family with a farm, and grazing for all your animals. There is especially in winter grazing on each Reservation. There is plenty of Salmon on these Reservations, there are roots and berries. There is also some game. ...

We can better protect you from bad white men there. We can better prevent the trader and the preacher all in one man going there. We can better prevent bad men from telling you to dance, and cheating you with lies. We can better prevent the thief who comes to steal your horses. Your horses will be saved to you and there will be no thieves to throw into hell-fire.³⁰

This is a large Reservation. The best fisheries on the Snake river are on it; there are fisheries on the Grande Ronde river. There are fisheries on the Os-ker-wa-wee, and the other streams. There are cumesh grounds there at this place.³¹

You will be allowed to pasture your animals on land not claimed or occupied by settlers, white men. You will be allowed to go on the roads to take your things to market, your horses and cattle. You will be allowed to go to the usual fishing places and fish in common with the whites, and to get roots and berries and to kill game on land not occupied by the whites; all this outside the Reservation.³²

Swindell has summarized selected Articles of each of the "Stevens Treaties". With particular reference to the present analysis, these include:

Article 1

Cedes to the United States certain described lands occupied by said tribes in the Territory...

Article 2

Describes boundaries of tract of land within ceded territory to be reserved to the exclusive use of the said Indians,

²⁹Stevens, Isaac, 1854. Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1854. p. 246.

³⁰Stevens, Isaac. Proceedings at the Council held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 4, 1855, in, Edward G. Swindell, 1942. Supra at 417.

³¹Stevens, Isaac. Proceedings at the Council held at Camp Stevens, Walla Walla Valley, June 5, 1855, in, Edward G. Swindell, 1942. **Supra** at 419.

³²Supra at 420.

Provides no whites, excepting those employed in the Indian Department, shall be permitted to reside upon reserved area without permission of tribes and superintendent. ...

Article 3

The exclusive right of taking fish in all the streams, where running through or bordering said reservations, is further secured to said confederated tribes and bands of Indians, as also the right of taking fish at usual and accustomed places, in common with the citizens of the Territory, and of erecting temporary buildings for curing them; together with the privilege of hunting, gathering roots and berries, and pasturing their horses and cattle upon open and unclaimed land.³³

In the Treaty with the Nez Perces of 1863, the Nez Perce Tribe also reserved associated water rights to "springs and fountains".

The United States also agrees to reserve all springs and fountains not adjacent to, or directly connected with, the streams or rivers within the lands hereby relinquished, and to keep back from settlement or entry so much of the surrounding land as may be necessary to prevent the said springs or fountains being enclosed; and further, to preserve a perpetual right of way to and from the same, as watering places, for the use in common of both whites and Indians.³⁴

The Fort Bridger Treaty of 1868 defined a reservation for the Shoshone and Bannock Tribes, and confirmed "hunting" rights as follows.

ARTICLE 4: The Indians herein named agree, when the agency-house and other buildings shall be constructed on their reservations named, they will make said reservations their permanent home, and they will make no permanent settlement elsewhere; but they shall have the right to hunt on the unoccupied land of the United States so long as game may be found thereon, and as long as peace subsists among the whites and Indians on the borders of the hunting districts.³⁵

In 1972, in <u>State of Idaho v. Tinno</u>, the Idaho Supreme Court stated that the Shoshone word for "hunt" also included "to fish".³⁶

2.1.2.3 Relevance of Treaties for the Present Analysis

³³Swindell, Edward G., 1942. **Supra** at 471-472.

³⁴Treaty of the Nez Perces, 1863. In Article 8.

³⁵Fort Bridger Treaty, July 3, 1868. Article 4.

³⁶State of Idaho v Tinno, 94 Idaho (1972).

There are three important ways in which Treaties between the United States and referent Tribes affect the analysis to be conducted here.

1. Treaty-keeping sets a high standard for evaluation of federal project actions.

The Courts have confirmed and reaffirmed that Treaties between the United States and the Tribes cannot be set aside or ignored.³⁷ Contemporary Tribal leaders have reaffirmed the importance of the Tribal Treaties.

The length of time a fishery's planned is mentioned in the negotiations of the treaties. They ask our people, 'How long?' when we said 'we are going to cede certain lands to you, but we are going to reserve which is ours already. Nothing you're giving me, but we're going to reserve what's there already, which is the salmon.' They named all the foods areas and the water. "That we will reserve.' And they ask them, 'How long?' They said, 'Forever,' which is a very long, long time. 'And you're going to protect that for me as one of the treaty responsibilities. As a treaty responsibility you're going to protect that.' Its like, 'I'm the majority now and you the minor population at the time--the minor voice and minor power. But you're going to grow in time, and I'll be the minor group and you'll be the majority. But nevertheless, the law of the treaty's never going to change. You're going to still be responsible for protecting what I reserved as a part of the treaty agreement.' So that's a long time, and planning for 10, 15, 20, 30 years is not the question they had to answer. They said, 'You're going to be responsible forever, because that's my reserved right--something that I reserved.' Which was salmon; its the most important one. So there's no question there that the people hold you responsible forever to manage the salmon and all of the foods that they reserved. And that's a simple answer to the concern of how long do you manage. I understand that now some people say, 'Why the fisheries resources getting small, it's so minor now. It isn't worth planning for any longer.' The industrial and economic people saying, "Let us go another direction. To heck with the good rivers, clean rivers and salmon. Let's go another way.' And that is not the case. We're going to be there to say you're going to keep your promise. Forever!³⁸

In this analysis, an important criterion used to evaluate Lower Snake project alternatives will consequently be the "treaty keeping" capability of each alternative considered. More generally, if a

³⁷For discussion of such decisions, see, for example: Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, 1985. A Compilation of Indian Treaty Fishing Rights Cases. Portland./ and, Cohen, Fay G., 1986. Treaties on Trial: The Continuing Controversy over Northwest Indian Fishing Rights. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

³⁸Delbert Frank, Sr., at Warm Springs, October 6, 1982, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. The Importance of Salmon and Steelhead of the Columbia River to the Confederated Tribes of the Colville, Nez Perce, Umatilla, Warm Springs and Yakima Indian Reservations - with Particular Reference to Dams of the Mid-Columbia Area. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs. Davis, CA., p. 30.

proposed federal action will, or is likely to, have an effect on Treaty-secured tribal trust assets, analysis of that action must not solely involve an examination of relevant Congressionally-enacted statutes, such as the National Environmental Policy Act, the Clean Water Act, the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act, etc.. Compliance with Treaties and fulfillment of federal Trust Responsibility must be paramount factors in the analysis.

2. Historic fact or circumstances related to Treaties must be considered as Tribal peoples would have perceived them.

This issue has been previously discussed in Section 2.1.1.6. In the event that perceptions differ with respect to Treaty-related historic circumstances or fact, this report will rely on Tribal perception.

3. From an economic perspective, the Treaties enabled a trade of valuable Tribal assets, ceded <u>from</u> Tribes to the United States at Treaty times, in exchange for the guarantee by the United States <u>to</u> the Tribes of certain assets reserved by the Tribes, over future years in perpetuity.

The Treaties enabled transfer of Tribal assets and associated wealth to the United States (in the form of land and associated resources), and provide a baseline from which to identify any cumulative trends with respect to asset transfer between the parties over subsequent years.

In fact, for the "Stevens Treaties", Governor Stevens' principal objective was the transfer of wealth from the Tribes to the United States. Valuable assets **retained** by the Treaty Tribes included reservation lands and the right to fish, hunt and gather at usual and accustomed places throughout the lands they ceded to the United States.

In the Fort Bridger Treaty, the Shoshone-Bannock peoples also transferred valuable lands and other resources to the United States, in return for on-Reservation guarantees, retaining the right "to hunt" on unoccupied lands in their traditional areas.

Such consideration of transfers of **assets** and **wealth** fits well into both Tribal and non-Tribal perspective, and will be a major element of our subsequent analysis.

2.1.2.4 Tribal Trust Resources

The referent Tribes, through their various Treaties, reserved resources they considered sufficient to maintain their way of living. These represent the perpetual guarantees offered by the United States at Treaty times. Resources to be held in trust for the Tribes are described as **tribal trust resources**. The federal government is said to have a "trust responsibility" with respect to both Treaty and non-Treaty Tribes. Tribal trust resoluces are further defined in the following quotations.

The "trust responsibility" is one of the "primary cornerstones" of federal Indian law. Its central thrust recognizes a federal duty to protect tribal lands, resources, and the native way of life from the

intrusions of the majority society. As a doctrine that evolved judicially, the trust responsibility stands independent of treaties and inures to the benefit of all tribes, treaty and non-treaty alike.

The origin of the trust responsibility is best understood as a duty arising from the transfer of native lands to the federal government - whether by conquest, treaty, executive order, or congressional fiat. ...

Each federal agency is bound by this trust responsibility. Federal agencies must respond to the independent obligations the trust duty forms in carrying out statutory programs that affect tribes. Courts have often emphasized that federal agencies must deal with tribes according to the "most exacting fiduciary standards".³⁹

Further;

While the trust responsibility is relatively straightforward in the context of managing tribal lands and resources - a function largely performed by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) - the duty of protection is admittedly complex in the context of agency implementation of general environmental or land and resource management programs that have an impact on tribal property rights. Full adherence to the trust responsibility is vitally important in this context, however, as a tribe's way of life can be wholly destroyed by agency actions that impair the full use and enjoyment of tribal property or treaty rights. It is well settled that the trust responsibility applies to actions taken off the reservation that impact tribal lands. Moreover, many tribes retained in treaties the right to use certain resources in ceded areas off the reservation; such as water rights, fishing and hunting rights, and gathering rights are all tribal property rights to which the federal government owes a duty of protection.40

These conclusions respecting trust responsibility are confirmed by testimony of tribal spokespersons.

The United States trust responsibility toward American Indians is the unique legal and moral duty of the United States to assist Indians in the **protection** of their **property** and **rights**. Too often, the federal government has construed protection to mean control. ... In the spirit of the law, we seek federal assistance to **defend** against injury to our trust resources.⁴¹

As the record indicates, the federal courts have usually addressed trust resources in the context of water, money, land, timber, mineral or gas resources, and fish and wildlife. The CTUIR considers all

³⁹Wood, Mary C., 1995. "Fulfilling the Executive's Trust Responsibility Toward the Native Nations on Environmental Issues: A Partial Critique of the Clinton Administration's Promises and Performance", in, Environmental Law. Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 742-743. ⁴⁰Supra at 744.

⁴¹Strong, Ted, 1992. Executive Director, Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission. Hearings before the Columbia River Fisheries Task Force. Portland, October 28.

aspects of the natural environment to have some purpose in preserving and sustaining life and subject to the protection of the Treaty. The CTUIR has stated:

In the context of our present analysis, federal trust responsibilities to the Tribes provide the legal and analytical pathways linking Tribal Treaties to specific project impacts. These linkages include, but may not be limited to:

- 1. Potential project effects on salmon/ salmon fishing and on other Treaty fisheries.
- 2. Potential project effects on game/ game hunting.
- 3. Potential project effects on plants used for food and/or medicines.
- 4. Potential project effects on usual and accustomed places for fishing, hunting or gathering.
- 5. Potential project effects on the overall assets and wellbeing of the referent tribes.

2.1.2.5 A Summary of Other Selected Laws Relevant to Tribal Protection

Several other laws are important with respect to protection of tribal cultures, sites and resources. Among these are:

⁴²Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1995. Identification of Trust Resources: System Operation Review. Department of Natural Resources, April 27, pp. 7-8.

1. Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act, as amended (NAGPRA) P.L. 100-601.

NAGPRA provides for the protection of Native American graves and for the return and repatriation of human remains, burial artifacts, unassociated burial artifacts and sacred objects of cultural patrimony.

2. Archaeological Resources Protection Act (ARPA) 16 U.S.C. 470aa- 47011: 43 CFR 7.

ARPA prohibits the willful or knowing destruction and unauthorized collection of archaeological resources on federal lands - and establishes a permitting system for archaeological investigations taken thereon.

3. American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA) P.L. 95-41.

AIRFA protects and preserves for American Indians of their right of freedom to believe, express, and exercise the traditional religions of the American Indian, Eskimo, Aleut, and Native Hawaiians – including, but not limited to, access to sites, use and possession of sacred objects, and freedom to worship through ceremonial and traditional rights.

4. National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) of 1966.

NHPA created the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), and identifies that state and local interest, as well as national interest, may be considered in identifying historic places. NHPA also authorized creation of State Historic Preservation Offices (SHPOs). These are particularly important under Section 106 of NHPA – which requires the SHPO to review all projects involving federal money or licensing which may impact cultural resources.

2.1.3 Analytical Issues Affecting Assessment of Impacts on Tribes

Assessment of tribal impacts within the context of this largely non-Tribal federal process requires attention to several key issues that arise when carrying out analysis between cultures. Sue and Sue (1990) point out that failure to sensitize and validate analysis from the subject culture's perspective can lead to misinformation, and may actually damage the subject (i.e. tribal) culture. They term such failure **cultural encapsulation**.

...cultural encapsulation...refers specifically to (a) the substitution of model stereotypes for the real world, (b) the disregarding of cultural variations in a dogmatic adherence to some universal notion of truth, and (c) the use of a technique-oriented definition of...process.⁴³

Cultural encapsulation, the authors point out, is an ongoing problem for researchers.

⁴³Sue, Derald Wing and David Sue, 1990. Counseling the Culturally Different: Theory and Practice. New York: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 8-9.

As...professionals, we have a personal and professional responsibility to (a) confront, become aware of, and take actions in dealing with our biases, stereotypes, values, and assumptions about human behavior, (b) become aware of the culturally different client's world view, values, biases, and assumptions about human behavior, and (c) develop appropriate... structures that take into account the historical, cultural and environmental experiences/ influences of the culturally different client.⁴⁴

The problem of cultural encapsulation is particularly acute for economists and other social scientists who have traditionally been trained to apply rigorous non-Tribal analytical procedures, and to play a role of "assessor" from "outside" the subject culture. It is also a problem for bureaucrats following procedural "rule books". Cultural encapsulation can be oppressive, and lead to discrimination⁴⁵, blaming⁴⁶ and exploitation⁴⁷ against minorities. For example:

That exploitation occurs in...ethnic communities is exemplified in the Colville Indian reservation (Williams, 1974). An anthropologist, after gaining the trust and confidence of the Colville Indians in Washington, conducted a study of factionalism among the tribe. A subsequent study by another group of White researchers recommended that the best course of action for the Colville reservation was to liquidate its assets, including land, rather than consider economic development. Part of the justification for liquidation was based on the factionalism results of the first study, and termination of the reservation was recommended. There were several primary issues about the action that merit attention. First, the reservation was composed of 1.4 million acres of land that was rich in timber and minerals. There was strong pressure on the part of whites to obtain the land. Second, the problems of factionalism were actually created by a society that attempted to "civilize" the Indians via Christianity and by White businesses that offered promises of riches. Third, many of the Indians confided in the White researcher and were led to believe that the information obtained would not be released.

It is this type of study, as well as the continued portrayal of ethnic communities and groups as deviants, that makes minorities extremely distrustful about the motives of the White researcher. Whereas social scientists in the past have been able to enter ethnic communities and conduct their studies with only minimal justification to those studied, researchers are now being received with suspicion and overt hostility. Minorities are actively raising questions and issues regarding the values system of researchers and the outcome of their research.⁴⁸

Avoidance of cultural encapsulation is consistent with contemporary Corps of Engineers guidance (Note 11). Conversely, if analysis is unable to avoid cultural encapsulation, the concerns over environmental injustice, recently codified by EPA, will intensify.

⁴⁷Supra at 22.

⁴⁴Supra at 6.

⁴⁵Supra at 7.

⁴⁶Supra at 11.

⁴⁸Supra at 22-23.

Discussion of other key issues for inter-cultural analysis follows. Integration of these dual approaches will allow us to reach credible conclusions concerning the impact of Lower Snake River project alternatives on the referent Tribes.

2.1.3.1 Crediting What Tribes Say

Given the impossibility of one culture completely understanding the perspectives, values and life views of another, the least the non-tribal analyst can do is **listen carefully to Tribal statements and conclusions - and begin from the premise that <u>such statements are valid</u>, extant strong evidence to the contrary. In fact, this provides the kind of groundtruthing** that careful science demands, and protects the analyst from becoming "lost in his or her model", to the detriment of accuracy and evenhanded judgment. For example, Ridington notes:

The thoughtworld of anthropology is different from that of the Dunne-za. For the Dunne-za, knowledge and power comes to a person through direct experience of the world. They come through dreaming and through the instructions of a mythic reality that becomes biographical in the searing transformative experience of the vision quest. For anthropologists, knowledge and power come from books, from institutions, and perhaps only finally from the experience of fieldwork. Anthropological discourse assumes that its own written texts, and their institutionally situated authors, have a privileged authority. As a producer of such texts from within an institutional setting, I have been concerned and even apprehensive about their possible impact on a readership with whom I have no direct contact.

A relief from this apprehension, I believe, lies in the feedback between my texts and those of the Dunne-za.⁴⁹

The present analysis will incorporate direct commentary from Tribal members in order to present tribal perspective in tribal words, and to groundtruth our findings against Tribal perception and reality. In the event conclusions from non-Tribal analysis and Tribal direct statements differ, we will explore why these differences have occurred. Too often in the past, such differences have been left unexamined, with researchers ignoring Tribal perspective, where it is contrary to their (non-tribal) analytical findings.

2.1.3.2 Tribal Culture is Modern and Evolutionary

Tribal culture grows from a rich heritage of the past, but also lives in the present, and will evolve into the future. The National Park Service defines **culture** to mean:

...the traditions, beliefs, practices, lifeways, arts, crafts and social institutions of any community, be it an Indian tribe, a local ethnic group, or the people of the nation as a whole.⁵⁰

⁴⁹Ridington, Robin, 1990. Little Bit Know Something. Vancouver: Douglas & McIntyre, pp. xv-xvi.

⁵⁰Parker, Patricia L. and Thomas E. King. Guidelines for Evaluating and Documenting

From tribal perspective, culture and tradition are inextricably linked and inseparable. Chambers (1985) describes culture as:

...a group of people who share standards of behavior and have common ways of interpreting the circumstances of their lives.⁵¹

Fourlines (1991) notes:

Culture is what you do every day of your life--its constantly in change. Tradition is to always remember the knowledge of the first cup. You don't throw away your history. You don't throw away your experience.⁵²

A member of the Quinault Indian Nation illustrated the manner in which tradition and culture come together for Tribal peoples.

When you're down at the beach, you remind yourself of how your ancestors lived. When you're digging clams by moonlight I feel close to my great grandparents. I'm reminded of my grandmother. It reminds us that **we are just doing what our people have always done**. It reminds me that my ancestors live on through me, and it makes me more responsible.⁵³

Finally, it is important to distinguish between **culture** as defined here, and **cultural resources** as defined in many federal analyses. Federal "cultural resource analysis" often confines itself to "non-living" elements of Tribal culture - graves, historic artifacts, historic structures and so on - but often does not assess the circumstances of contemporary Tribal populations. Tribes think in a more integrated manner - and view **culture** and **cultural resources** as inseparable. These issues are discussed more extensively in Appendices 1 and 2.

This analysis employs the broader Tribal perspective of culture incorporating past traditions, present living circumstances and expectations for the future. We will incorporate narrower definitions of "tribal cultural resources" in our mitigative analysis where appropriate.

2.1.3.3 Tribes View Themselves and Their Resources Holistically

Traditional Cultural Properties. U.S. National Park Service. National Register Bulletin 38, pp. 1.

⁵¹Chambers, Erve, 1985. Applied Anthropology. Inglewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, p. 4.

⁵²Forlines, David. Personal communication, in, Central Washington University, 1991. Potential Effects of OCS Oil and Gas Exploration and Development on Pacific Northwest Indian Tribes: Final Technical Report. US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service OCS Study MMS 91-0056, p. 20.

⁵³Harp, Karen. Personal communication, in, Central Washington University, 1991. **Supra** at 116.

Non-Tribal analysis, particularly economic analysis, tends to narrowly delineate and separate out elements of lifestyle. Such analysis assists "numeric results" and better serves statistical manipulation of data. It is often enabled by two major simplifying assumptions - "**ceritus paribus**" (all other elements of lifeways remain unaffected), and "**marginal analysis**" (the basic character of the single element under analysis remains unchanged, save for a discrete and measurable increment or decrement). Tribal peoples are usually more holistic in their thinking,

viewing all elements of their lifeways in an integrated fashion. For example, Feinup-Riordan, talking about assessing impacts on Alaska natives, notes:

...it is critical in sociocultural systems description and analysis that categories true to the Native point of view be sought. Also, as categories of persons, objects and activities begin to emerge, it is the <u>relations</u> of these categories over time and at any one point in time that must be seen to characterize the sociocultural system. In other words, the exchange of goods and services that characterizes the spring distribution of seal meat on the one hand and the gift of seal meat to a close relative on the other cannot be seen as representative of two distinct domains of activity, e.g.. economic and social. Rather, the consideration of social, economic,

and political activities at any one point in time as well as the consideration of any particular kind of human activity through time will be seen as expressions of a common ideological structure which simultaneously connects and to some extent explains them. Thus, the analysis of sociocultural systems involves a relational world view.⁵⁴

Ridington affirms this view.

In the reality of Indian experience, each story contains every other. They circle one another like the seasons. They circle like the hunter and his game. They circle like the dreams that connect a child's visionary experience in the bush with those of the old person.⁵⁵

2.1.4 Selecting Indicators of Tribal Circumstances and Potential Effects

It is beyond the capabilities of contemporary non-Tribal analysis to build a fully explanatory model of the whole of Tribal circumstance, perspective and potential impacts from Lower Snake project alternatives. Rather, we will examine specific elements of Tribal circumstance that may fairly be considered as "indicators" for Tribal circumstance and wellbeing. An indicator approach to assessment of impacts on Tribes has been recently validated in federal court.⁵⁶

2.1.4.1 Salmon and Access to Salmon Fishing

⁵⁴Fienup-Riordan, A. Navarin Basin Sociological Systems Analysis. US Minerals Management Service. Alaska OCS Socioeconomic Program Technical Report No. 70, pp. 23-24.

⁵⁵Ridington, Robin, 1990. Supra at xvii.

⁵⁶United States of America et al. v State of Washington et al. (Dec. 20, 1994) <u>Memorandum</u> <u>Opinion and Order</u>. No. CV 9213, Sub-proceeding No. 89-3, pp. 50-52.

Salmon have been a central part of the lifeways of referent Tribes since time immemorial - and the right to continue to fish for salmon was specifically reserved by the Tribes in their Treaties with the United States.

God created this Indian country... He put the Indian on it. They were created here in this country, truly and honestly, and that was the time this river started to run. Then God created fish in this river and put deer in these mountains and made laws through which has come the increase in fish and game... When we were created, we were given our ground to live on, and from that time these were our rights.

My strength is from the fish; my blood is from the fish, from the roots and the berries. The fish and game are the essence of my life. I was not brought from a foreign country and did not come here. I was put here by the Creator.

Whenever the seasons open, I raise my heart in thanks to the Creator for his bounty that this food has come.⁵⁷

It's just that salmon are part of the country, they're part of the environment. They belong here as much as Indians belong here. And in that way they complement each other. They've become a part of us because it's what we depend on to live... You know, it becomes a part of the person's or people's culture. See, its the same way with these salmon. It's very important that the salmon survive or that they be brought back to this river. And Indians as I know them are always seeking salmon. ... That kind of a cultural relationship becomes a part of your world, your environment.⁵⁸

At certain times of the year, certain ceremonies would be held, like the first foods feast of the season.... And in these ceremonies water would be drunk first, and that would be recognizing the importance of water, you know, for sustaining life. And these other foods came in order after water. You know, in importance to the people--like salmon and deer meet and the roots and the berries. And we say that the water was the same as the blood in our body. In relation to the Mother Earth, the water flows like blood in our veins along the various rivers and, you know, inside the earth. So that's how we related the water to our Earth and to our bodies....

A young person was recognized for being able to provide salmon. And he would be brought up before the elders, and they would eat the meat or the fish that he had provided, and he was recognized as a fisherman or a huntsman. And of course, you know, when you're recognized for something you become more able and more willing to provide for your family. You know, all people aren't able to be good hunters or good root diggers. You know, there's varying degrees of

⁵⁷Chief Meninock (a Yakama Tribal Chief), in, Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, 1994. A Fish Consumption Survey of the Umatilla, Nez Perce, Yakama, and Warm Springs Tribes of the Columbia River Basin. Technical Report 94-3. Introduction.

⁵⁸Antone Minthorn. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 38.

expertise in whatever you may be doing. And so these strong points of individuals were brought out in this way. Also it became socially acceptable behavior, you know, in your family group, or in your tribal group. So this way it was perpetuated by recognizing these abilities of an individual and pointing out his strong points and saying, 'You're a good hunter', or "You're a good fisherman'. So it perpetuated the social structure of the Nez Perce tribe.⁵⁹

Our religious leaders told us that if we don't take care of the land, the water, the fish, the game, the roots and the berries we will not be around here long. We must have our salmon forever! ⁶⁰

Salmon are also at the center of the assessment of alternatives considered by the Lower Snake project. It consequently makes sense to give salmon and salmon fishing a central role in our analysis - from both Tribal and non-Tribal perspective. Such assessment will consider spiritual, sustenance and, as appropriate, commercial uses of salmon by each referent Tribe.

2.1.4.2 Hunting and Gathering Activities

As identified in Section 2.1.2.4, protection of hunting and gathering activities for the referent Tribes are federal trust responsibilities - and the importance of these activities has been referenced by Tribal spokespersons in the preceding section of this report. Should impacts on these activities be identified along the Lower Snake, we will provide corresponding impact analysis as part of our Tribal assessment.

2.1.4.3 Historic Villages, Grave Sites and Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas

These areas play at least two important cultural roles for Tribes. First, they provide tangible prehistoric and historic evidence of "who a people are" - reminding modern-day tribal persons of their history, of the experiences of their ancestors, and of lessons to be learned from their past.

Second, culture is also contemporary. Access to prehistoric and historic areas and resources provides important connections and opportunities to **maintain one's culture**. Such access allows tribal members to live and carry out present-day cultural activities in the places that ancestral experience taught the Tribes they needed to be carried out - and to learn, building human capital and strength from these experiences.

Dam breaching along the Lower Snake River will also expose some cultural areas. A careful assessment of potential beneficial and costly effects is consequently required.

2.1.4.4 Speaking Tribal Languages

⁵⁹Alan Pinkham. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 41-42.

⁶⁰Delbert Frank, Sr. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 53.

Hunn identifies that Tribal language differs from English, not just in using different sounds to describe common concepts, objects and transactions - but in describing a unique tribal world.

Learning a foreign language such as Sahaptin involves more than learning a strange set of sounds, getting used to unfamiliar grammatical patterns, and memorizing a new vocabulary. It also requires learning a new way of thinking and adopting a different perspective on reality. ... The hypothesis of linguistic relativity... was put strongly by Sapir when he asserted that people who grow up speaking different languages do not live in the same world with just the labels for things changed, but live in unique worlds.⁶¹

Further, because tribes place strong emphasis on experience, language not only illuminates culture, but also protects Tribal knowledge, and hence, Tribal power.

Human survival hinges on the outcome of such ecological events as finding food, eating, killing, escaping, meeting, mating, feeding and dying. With language we can describe, catalog, and analyze a very large number of such events as well as imagine, and perhaps create, new ecological realities. Language is thus not merely a means of self-expression but also a tool of survival more powerful than bow-and-arrow, net or plow. In language we construct our battle plan for our daily skirmish with hard reality. ...This knowledge must be acquired, remembered, and passed on. ⁶²

Knowledge, the elders say, enables a person to live in this world with intelligence and understanding. They recognize that knowledge is a distinctly human attribute. **They recognize that knowledge is a form of power**. (emphasis added)... A person with power reveals what he or she knows through the ongoing story of his or her life. A person with power does not disclose knowledge without a purpose. He or she may use power to heal relatives who are ill. He or she may use it to feed people. A person who "knows something" may even be obliged to use power to defend against an attack. These circumstances reveal the times and places in which power may be revealed. They define knowledge and power in terms of experience.⁶³

In 1995, Conservation International, Ecotrust and Pacific GIS selected "percent speaking own language" as their **tribal diversity indicator**, in their study of Pacific Rain Forests and their People.

The Rain Forests of Home reports the first results of an effort to assemble a portrait (of a bioregional community). It presents information on forest cover and indigenous languages as first proxies for forest integrity and cultural diversity throughout the entire North American coastal temperate rain forest bioregion... This report offers the first comprehensive picture of the rainforests of home, one that reconciles scientific definitions and administrative boundaries with the

⁶¹Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. Nch'i-Wana; "The Big River": Mid-Columbia Indians and their Land. Seattle: University of Washington Press, p. 78.

⁶²Supra at 81.

⁶³Ridington, Robin, 1990. **Supra** at xvii.

natural watershed boundaries of the coastal landscape. The holistic perspective that it provides can help identify opportunities and priorities for conservation-based development.⁶⁴

We conclude that the evolution of "own language speakers" between Treaty-time and the present is an important point of reference for referent Tribes. We are unsure to what degree we will be able to develop direct project-specific linkages with language in the present analysis.

Sections 2.1.4 through 2.1.4.4 have described the particular focal elements of assessment of Tribal circumstances and particular impacts. As noted, we will utilize this information, and other insights provided by the referent Tribes to assess overall potential effects on each Tribe associated with Lower Snake project alternatives.

2.1.5 Integration of Tribal Assessment with Non-Tribal Models for Assessing Circumstances and Potential Impacts on Tribes

While procedures consistent with Tribal viewpoints are essential to this analysis, it is also necessary to provide assessment of potential effects on tribes in conventional non-Tribal terms. Such assessment can be done without prejudice to Tribal interests by selecting additional procedures that will be considered reasonable by both Tribal and non-Tribal reviewers - and by developing an overall analytical construct that enables integration of selected non-Tribal and Tribal indicators of circumstance and potential impact into a comprehensive overview framework of logic.

This section will discuss one such overview framework, and will then go on to identify selected indicators that are common to non-Tribal analysts - and that will complement deployment of some of the Tribal indicators already discussed.

2.1.5.1 A "Hierarchy of Needs" Model for Integration of Tribal and Non-Tribal Assessment Measures

In the analysis presented here, a "hierarchy of needs" overview based on work by Maslow⁶⁵ may prove useful perspective for joint consideration of Tribal and non-Tribal indicators of circumstances and potential impact. Bachtold (1982), in work specific to damages to fisheries in the present referent area, has presented such an approach as "non-Tribal" in origin, but having properties "consistent with" Tribal circumstance and perspective.

According to Indian belief and practice, "the Creator made food for all creatures and it must be free for all". Consequently, they shared what they had with those in need. ...

⁶⁴Conservation International, Ecotrust and Pacific GIS, 1995. The Rain Forests of Home: An Atlas of People and Place: Part 1 - Natural Forests and Native Languages of the Coastal Temperate Rain Forest. Portland. p. i.

⁶⁵Maslow, A.H., 1968. Toward a Psychology of Being. Princeton, N.J.: Nostrand.

Assured of sustenance, tribal members could turn their attention to higher level needs, such as need for mastery or power, which was viewed by the Yurok as "excellence in doing something". ... All parts of the body and spirit--the whole person--were believed to be coordinated by mental power which kept body and spirit in harmony....

Unity of body and mind have also been expressed in Western contemporary psychology.... Whereas Indian belief often ascribed the motivation for human behavior to supernatural forces, Western psychologists constructed the unconscious. These psychologists explained that basic needs must be met before human-kind can be motivated to meet higher level needs. In order to be able to reach one's full potential as a person, everyone must have first succeeded in satisfying (a) physiological needs, (b) safety needs, (c) belongingness and love needs, and (d) self-esteem needs, all in this order. As Maslow explained, these "deficiency needs" form a hierarchy which underlies humankind's highest goal, "an increasing trend toward unity, integration, or synergy, within the person". Someone who is absorbed totally in fulfilling ongoing hunger needs, for example, will attend less to safety needs; and, a person whose security is constantly threatened will be less able to develop intimacy with others....

When people are found to be behaving in ways that clearly indicate that they are under stress, the question must be asked, "Where on the hierarchy of needs have they been blocked...?"

Regardless of the culture in which this growth occurs, all humans move through genetically determined stages which progress from the infant's learning to trust; the toddler's striving for autonomy; the young child's struggling for initiative; the older child's working for industry; the adolescent's straining for identity; the young adult's establishing of intimacy; the mature adult's achieving generativity; and, the attaining of integrity in old age. When normal development is distorted by an unfavorable environment, unhealthy traits characterize the developing organism, according to the stage of psycho-social growth, i.e., mistrust, shame and doubt, guilt, inferiority, identity diffusion, isolation, self-absorption and despair.⁶⁶

Meyer (1998) has recently employed this perspective to provide a framework for integration of native and non-native information in an assessment of native circumstances and effects in the State of Hawaii.⁶⁷ A schematic representation of the framework is provided in Figure 1.

⁶⁶Bachtold, L.M., 1982. "Destruction of Indian Fisheries and Impacts on Indian Peoples", in, Meyer-Zangri Associates, **The Historic and Economic Value of Salmon and Steelhead to Treaty Fisheries in 14 River Systems in Washington, Oregon and Idaho**. Vol. 1. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs. Davis, CA., pp. 17-21.

⁶⁷Meyer, Philip A., 1998. Niihau: Present Circumstances and Future Requirements in an Evolving Hawaiian Community. Niihau, HI: Hoomana Ia Iesu Church, pp. 147-151.

2.1.5.2 Non-Tribal Indicators of Tribal Circumstances and Potential Impacts

This section identifies five non-Tribal indicators that will be integrated with those discussed in earlier sections, to provide an overall assessment of Tribal circumstances and potential impacts. Use of the first four of these have been previously affirmed in federal court⁶⁸. The fifth involves use of a concept common in the economic profession - but which also has meaning for Tribes.

2.1.5.2.1 Tribal Poverty

The US Bureau of the Census provides data on the percentage of persons, and groups of persons, living below the poverty line. These data will be contrasted against percentages for state and national populations as a whole, and utilized as one indicator of Tribal circumstances.

Poverty statistics...are based on a definition developed by the Social Security Administration in 1964 and revised in 1969 and 1981 by interagency committees. This definition was established as the official definition of poverty for statistical use in all Executive departments by the Bureau of the

⁶⁸United States of America et al. v State of Washington et al. (Dec. 20, 1994). Supra.

Budget (in Circular No. A-46) and later by the Office of Management and Budget (in Statistical Directive No. 14).

The original poverty index provided a range of income cutoffs adjusted by such factors as family size, sex of family head, number of children under 18 years old, and farm-nonfarm residence. At the core of this definition of poverty was the economy food plan, the least costly of four nutritionally adequate food plans designed by the Department of Agriculture. It was determined by the Department of Agriculture's 1955 survey of food consumption that families of three or more persons spent approximately one-third of their income on food; the poverty level for these families was therefore set at three times the cost of the economy food plan. For smaller families and persons living alone, the cost of the relatively larger fixed expenses of these smaller households. Annual revisions of these SSA poverty cutoffs were based on price changes of the items in the economy food budget.

As a result of the deliberations of a Federal Interagency Committee in 1969, the following two modifications to the original SSA definition of poverty were recommended: (1) that the SSA thresholds for nonfarm families be retained for the base year 1963, but that annual adjustments to the levels be based on changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than on changes in the cost of food included in the food economy plan; and (2) that the farm thresholds be raised from 70 to 85 percent of the corresponding nonfarm levels. ...

In 1980, another interagency committee recommended three additional modifications that were implemented in the March 1982 CPS as well as in the 1980 census: (1) elimination of separate thresholds for farm families, (2) averaging of thresholds for female-householder and "all other" families, and (3) extension of the poverty matrix to families with nine or more members. ...

The poverty thresholds rise each year by the same percentage as the annual average Consumer Price Index. 69

The Bureau of the Census considers the terms "below the poverty line" and "poor" to be interchangeable.⁷⁰

The present study will utilize these data, and contrast them with historic narrative concerning Tribal circumstances, to determine cumulative effects, present poverty levels and potential future effects related to Lower Snake project alternatives.

2.1.5.2.2 Tribal Unemployment

⁶⁹US Bureau of the Census, 1991. **Poverty in the United States.** Current Population Reports Series P-60, No. 181, p. A-7.

⁷⁰Supra at vii.

The US Bureau of the Census and the US Bureau of Indian Affairs each provide estimates of unemployment among the Tribes⁷¹. The Census data is more rigorous, but overestimates employment for any work designation over one week. The BIA data provides numbers that are likely more indicative of Tribal circumstances, particularly over winter months - but these estimates lack statistical rigor. This analysis will consider both data sets to draw conclusions respecting Tribal unemployment - how it compares to Tribal circumstances at Treaty times - how it is related to unemployment levels for citizens in general at present - and how it may be affected by project alternatives.

2.1.5.2.3 Tribal Per Capita Income

Per capita income data is readily available from US Bureau of the Census sources for both tribal and non-tribal populations. The Census defines total income as follows.

'Total income' is the algebraic sum of the amounts reported separately for wage and salary income; net nonfarm self-employment income; net farm self-employment income; interest, dividend, or net rental or royalty income; Social Security or railroad retirement income; retirement or disability income; and all other income.⁷²

The income indicator is the narrowest employed in this analysis. Nonetheless, it is relatively easy to obtain and commonly used - and we will include it here.

2.1.5.3 Tribal Health

Bachtold suggests that health is indicative of a broad range of material, economic, social and psychological conditions experienced by individuals (Section 2.1.5.1). This perception is confirmed by a tribal spokesperson.

Ultimately, health and way of life cannot be separated.

(Armand Minthorn, CTUIR)

Further, comparison of health and health services between Tribal members and non-Tribal residents was accepted as valid indicator information by the Court in the <u>US v Washington</u> case cited earlier. In this study, we:

1. Gather data from cited sources to develop a baseline health and health services comparison between Tribes and non-Tribal residents of Washington, Oregon, Idaho and the United States as a whole.

⁷¹See for example, US Bureau of the Census, 1990. **Special Tribal Run from the 1990 Census**; US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1991. **Indian Service Population and Labor Force Estimates**.

⁷²US Bureau of the Census, 1990. Census of Population and Housing - Summary Social, Economic and Housing Characteristics - Washington. CPH-5-49, p. B-15.

- 2. Utilize historic information to contrast Tribal health today with that in earlier times.
- 3. Consult with health professionals at referent tribes to validate or invalidate a hypothesis recently discussed by Trafzer (1997), involving analysis of death certificates for Yakamas living on their reservation between the years 1888 and 1964.

The theoretical framework used in the presentation of Yakama death data is derived from work by Abdel R. Omran and Barry Popkin. Omran offers the theory and provides a model that informs us about Yakama epidemiological transitions. He argues that in the United States, there was an historical shift in the nineteenth century from "pandemics of infectious diseases to the degenerative and man-made diseases which are now the chief forms of illness and causes of death."...

Omran argues that generally "mortality patterns distinguish three major successive stages of epidemiological transition including the Age of Pestilence and Famine, the Age of Receding Pandemics and the Age of Degenerative and Man-Made Diseases...." Yakama people began to enter the Age of Pestilence as Euro-American traders introduced infectious diseases to Native Americans living along the coast of the Pacific Northwest. Thus, throughout the entire nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, the Yakama lived in the Age of Pestilence, facing the scourge of many contagious diseases.... The Age of Pestilence and the Age of Receding Pandemics merged during the 1920s, giving way to the Age of Degenerative and Man-Made Diseases....

In their ground-breaking study, **Fatal Years: Child Mortality in Late Nineteenth-Century America**, Samuel H. Preston and Michael R. Haines maintain that child mortality in 1900 was not linked to food because food was abundant and cheap. Their statement pertained to America as a whole, but it surely did not apply to most Native Americans, particularly those living on the Yakama Reservation. Certainly, as Popkin has suggested, the destruction of native food resources had some impact on the health of the people, especially when the people lost their native foods and received no supplements to replace them in their diets. ... Also, traditional native foods were (and are) far more than items to consume, for they were part of the sacred creation and were eaten ceremoniously during the year as part of religious ritual. ... This is not to argue that the loss of native foods was the only factor influencing death on the Yakama Reservation or that it was the most important condition surrounding death. It was one of many factors that influenced mortality on the reservation, factors born of policies and actions out of the control of native peoples.

All the elements surrounding mortality on the Yakama Reservation. including the destruction of food resources, are difficult to quantify, but we know they influenced mortality on the reservation throughout the twentieth century. As a result of the destruction of food resources, white invasion, treaty making, the Plateau Indian War, political subjugation, Christian conversions, forced removal, relocation, and the reservation system, Indians living on the

Yakama Reservation suffered a social anomie or depression that contributed to ill health and death....

After 1859, when the United States ratified the Yakama Treaty, the confederated tribes of the Yakama Nation lived under the thumb of agents, ministers, and pro-government Native American factions. They witnessed Western expansion first hand as ranchers, farmers, lumber companies, miners, merchants, and other "settlers" overran their former lands. They lost hunting, grazing, fishing and root grounds. They lost their seasonal rounds by which they obtained their livelihood, and they slipped into a communal depression that weakened their minds and bodies, making them more susceptible to viruses and bacilli.

This is a condition that cannot be quantified or measured scientifically, but anyone- native or non-native - familiar with Native Americans living within the early reservation system will attest to its existence. It surely had some effect on Indian health and one's vulnerability to disease. It is known that Yakama people lived in abject poverty with substandard housing, inadequate food, poor water, few sewer facilities, insufficient health care, little economic opportunity, and limited political power.... People lived to die and to die young. Still, Yakama people survived and did not vanish from the face of the earth.⁷³

To gather further information concerning this hypothesis, expert health officials at each subject reservation, including Yakama, were asked the following questions.

* Is it your judgment that the hypothesis that the causal factors listed by Trafzer contributed significantly to Tribal ill health and death historically valid for your Tribe?

* Have the present health circumstances on this reservation changed? If so, in what way?

- 4. Finally, during the study the same panel of experts on Tribal health were asked:
 - * Would continued loss of fisheries be expected to have any health effects on Tribal members? Can you categorize the effects that would be expected?
 - * Would restoration of Lower Snake River salmon be expected to have any health effects on Tribal members? Can you categorize the effects that would be expected?
 2.1.5.4 Tribal Assets and the Associated Values they Produce

A final indicator parameter focuses attention on the values produced from Tribal assets. **The value of** early Tribal assets lay in The Land - interpreted broadly to include the land, water, salmon, animals, plants, minerals, and all that resided in the Land or upon it. Tribal perspective with

⁷³Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. Death Stalks the Yakama: Epidemiological Transitions and Mortality on the Yakama Indian Reservation, 1888-1964. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University Press, pp. 1-9.

respect to these Tribal Trust Assets is evident in many of the citations provided earlier - and in the words of (then) CTUIR chairman Donald Sampson in a 1994 memorandum.

Trust Assets are property in which Indians hold and maintain legal interests, and which are held in trust by the United States for tribes and individuals. They include, but are not limited to, lands, water, fish, wildlife, plants, minerals--essentially, everything necessary to preserve and maintain a way of life.⁷⁴

Similarly, interest in the wealth of Tribal Lands was the principal motivation of the United States in seeking to make treaties (citation at Note 24) - and little difference exists between the words on asset valuation offered by Mr. Sampson (Note 74) and by conventional economic definition.

(An asset is) an entity possessing market or exchange value, and forming part of the wealth or property of the owner.⁷⁵

The Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) economic dictionary goes on to point out:

In economics an important distinction is made between 'real' assets, which are tangible resources like plant, buildings and land yielding services in production or directly to consumers; and financial assets, which include money, bonds and equities.⁷⁶

Anything which has a market value and can be exchanged for money or goods can be regarded as **wealth**. It can include physical goods and assets, financial assets and personal skills which can generate an income.... All wealth has the basic property of being able to generate income, which is the return on wealth. Thus, whereas wealth is a stock, income is a flow concept. The present value of this income flow constitutes the value of the stock of wealth.⁷⁷

Tribal and non-tribal persons may discount income flows received over time due to consumer impatience, to take advantage of loanable funds, or for other reasons. But economists do not claim that persons discount the value of **assets** over time – unless those assets depreciate or become obsolete. More particularly, the tribes do not discount **treaty trust assets, such as tribal lands, salmon and wildlife** over time – nor do they consider them exchangeable for money or other goods and services. Tribes continuously assert that: **"Treaty Assets** are assured in Treaty agreements with the United States, retain their value in perpetuity, and are **"not for sale"**.

⁷⁴Sampson, Donald G., Chairman, CTUIR Board of Trustees, 1994. CTUIR's Comments on the System Operation Review Draft Environmental Impact Statement. Memorandum to Bonneville Power Administration et al., December 15, p. 13.

⁷⁵Pearce, David W., 1992. The MIT Dictionary of Modern Economics. Cambridge, Mass.: The MIT Press, p. 18.

⁷⁶Supra at 18-19.

⁷⁷Supra at 460.

We would like to see it (salmon) preserved for our future children. Maybe 100, 200 years-forever--I would say forever. Forever and ever. As long as there'll be an Indian on this earth.⁷⁸

We've got to stand up for our rights, you know, that we had, not only fishing but hunting rights. We've got to preserve them one way or another, regardless. As long as it ever exists. You know, let our youngsters live with them too.⁷⁹

And to repeat part of an earlier citation from Delbert Frank Sr.;

So there's no question that the people hold you responsible forever to manage the salmon and all of the foods that they reserved. And that's a simple answer to the concern of how long do you manage. I understand that now some people say, 'Why the fisheries resources getting small, it's so minor now. It isn't worth planning for any longer.' The industrial and economic people saying, 'Let's go another direction. To heck with the good rivers, clean rivers and the salmon. Let's go another way.' That's a question coming pretty close I understand. And that is not the case. We're going to be there to say you're going to keep your promise. Forever!⁸⁰

The details of tribal insistence on protection of Treaty assets will vary with the unique characteristics of each Treaty. However, preference for permanence of valued assets can be generally found in both tribal and non-tribal societies.

(Tribal) behavior is similar to other collectives that set out to establish and protect unchangeable and enduring assets of wealth, ranging from The Capital, through abbeys and cathedrals, to state buildings, boulevards, monuments and cemetries. At the same time, states and groups set aside parks, reserves, viewpoints, national forests, ecosystems, and so on. Less tangibly, collectives create a constitution, set up jurusdictions, and draw national boundary frontiers. Less collectively, they enforce private laws of property which enable individuals to decide whether to continue to hold land and structures in a particular condition, or change them or transfer them. The public trust, the private trust, the treaty, the consitution, the land registry, the courts are all important facilitative institutions here. Many of these assets, public and private, tangible and intangible, man made and natural, are made durable, permanent, everlasting, in part or entirely because of the statement they make and the values and traditions of which they remind persons or groups.

It is not unusual for collectives to designate an asset as permanent, to intend that it will continue to serve its functions and symbolism forever, and to refuse to "discount" its future. Those tribes who select such permanent assets and commitments are not thereby revealing a profound cultural difference. Others do so too.⁸¹

⁷⁸Hazel Miller, 1982. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 29.

⁷⁹Alan Moody, 1982. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 29.

⁸⁰Delbert Frank, Sr., 1982. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 30.

⁸¹Scott, Anthony, 1999. "Comments on Final Tribal Circumstances Draft, May 10", Memorandum to P. Meyer,

Since the tribes do not devalue their tribal trust assets over time, this assessment will not discount the future value of Tribal Trust Assets, compared with their value today.

Economists and Tribes have always agreed that **Tribal Lands are of high value**. In fact, it is the struggle for this Land, including the resources upon it and the waters flowing through it, that has colored relations between non-Indian citizens of the region and the Tribes from contact times to the present. Consequently, the concept of "Tribal assets" provides a framework useful to the Tribes and to non-Tribal analysts as well.

As Scott identifies (Note 81), treatment of Treaty-protected waters, salmon, tribal land and wildlife as undiscounted permanent tribal trust collective assets is not inconsistent with discounting of other elements in the DREW analysis where appropriate.

Where annual income flows are subject to consumer impatience or interest opportunity cost, economists use a **discount rate** to progressively reduce the weighting given to benefits and costs incurred in future years, relative to present years. The Drawdown Regional Economic Workgroup intends to discount such future benefits and costs at 4.75% (the discount rate preferred by BPA); and 7.275% (the discount rate preferred by the US Army Corps of Engineers). They will also display results without discounting. If one assumes a \$1,000 impact will occur each year for 100 years, the practical effect of each of these rates of discount can be displayed in Table 1.

Actual Benefits or Costs Counted Each Year, Per \$1,000 Impact						
- At Selected Discount Rates and Future Time Periods -						
Discount						
Rate		Years Into the Future				
-%-	10 years	25 years	50 years	75 years	<u>100 years</u>	
		annual value in dollars				
	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	
4.75	629	313	10	3	1	
7.25	497	174	3	1		

Table 1

It can be observed that, as increasingly large positive discount rates are used, economic analysis becomes less and less concerned with any impacts that do not occur almost immediately. In the Lower Snake Drawdown circumstances where project implementation costs will be incurred at the outset, and salmon recovery benefits under any PATH are not expected for several years - the

influence of selected positive economic discount rate assumptions upon conclusions reached may be particularly significant.⁸²

In sum, our approach to valuation of tribal assets in this report will be:

- 1. Identify trends in the availability to the tribes of Tribal Trust Assets (particularly, land, water, fish and wildlife) from contact times to the present.
- 2. Relate tends in the availability of these Asset, and the annual benefits flowing from them, to present **material** and **cultural** values provided annually to each referent Tribe. This assessment will consider the range of indicators discussed previously.
- 3. Examine the effect, if any, of Lower Snake project alternatives on Tribal Assets, and consequently, on the annual stream of values they produce at benchmark time periods.

2.1.6 Differing Concepts of Value – a Cautionary Note

Economic analysis usually distinguishes between "value in use" and "value in exchange".

Since the time of Aristotle onwards it has been traditional to separate the concepts of use value and value in exchange. Value in use is not an intrinsic quality of a commodity, but its capacity to satisfy human wants. Value in exchange is the worth of a commodity in terms of its capacity to be exchanged for another commodity.⁸³

Webster variously defines "intrinsic" as:

For a further applied discussion of technical issues associated with discounting, see: Meyer, Philip A., Richard Lichtkoppler, Robert A. Hamilton, David Harpman, Charles L. Borda and Paula M. Engel, 1995. **Elwha River Restoration Project: Economic Analysis: Final Technical Report**. A Report to The National Park Service, The US Bureau of Reclamation and the Lower Elwha S'Klallam Tribe. Davis, CA, pp. 1- 10.

⁸³Pearce, David W., 1992. Supra at 446.

⁸²Leading economic experts on discounting have identified that where a positive interest rate is required, a real rate approximating 2 percent may be more appropriate - and that the GAO and CBO sensitize such a rate by also discounting at 0 and 4 percent. They also point out that discounting is not likely to be useful where intergenerational fairness is an issue. (See special issue on discounting, in, **Journal of Environmental Economics and Management**, 18, 1990.) Intergenerational fairness is a central concern of the referent Tribes.

Private, secret: belonging to the innermost constitution or essential nature of a thing: being good in itself or irreducible.⁸⁴

Since the late nineteenth century, economic models have principally addressed exchange values associated with the "allocation of scarce resources to specific uses rather than searching for intrinsic value"⁸⁵ - and that has been the mainstream focus of work within the Lower Snake Drawdown Regional Economic Workgroup (DREW).

From the perspective of affected tribal cultures, analytical constructs of value must differ somewhat. Even in contact times, Tribes also had a well developed system of exchange values, although these were not initially very understandable to non-Indians.

One of the most erroneous conceptions perpetrated by the whites is that the aboriginal Indian had no sense of values. ...(T)he earliest white traders were delightfully shocked at the amazing "bargains" they were able to make with the natives....

The whites, of course, judged the situation solely on the basis of their own tradition of values that had evolved in a utilitarian world of the age of metal and glass. Viewed objectively, the aboriginal reaction to first contacts with European trade goods was not particularly strange at all. From a practical standpoint, the first iron tool obtained by a village was worth more to the inhabitants than any number of furs. Furs could be replenished by their own efforts at any time, but an object of iron, never. In this sense, native-white contact was a meeting of opposites. Each valued highly what the other possessed, and neither much valued what the other desired. However, as soon as the Coastal Indians became aware of the quantity and variety of goods that the whites had at their command, and the great value that the whites ascribed to furs, they took advantage of the situation--advantage, that is, from their own point of view.

Naturally enough, the natives bargained in terms of the traditional values of their cultures. And fortunately for the profits of the fur trade, these cultural values were nonutilitarian in many respects....

The Indians, then, not only possessed different sets of values than the white man, but in many instances clung to these tenaciously, long after the <u>raison d'etre</u> had ceased to exist.⁸⁶

Even today, where the tribes participate in "white man's market exchanges" voluntarily - or where such participation is sometimes forced - differing value perceptions based on differing culture still exist. In

⁸⁴Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 1971. Chicago. p. 1186.

⁸⁵Pearce, David W., 1992. **Supra** at 447.

⁸⁶Griswold, Gillet, 1954. Aboriginal Patterns of Trade Between the Columbia Basin and the Northern Plains. Masters Thesis, Montana State University, pp. 29-32.

particular, tribal cultures share a strong concern for intrinsic values - both use and nonuse related - with economists of the previous century.

What kind of foods did God set aside for you, reserve for you (non-Indians)? Like salmon and deer meat and the roots and berries were set aside for us. That's what we still obtain yet. We still go out and get it. And that's what we eat today. And that's what we use for communion with God.⁸⁷

It's just that salmon are part of the country, they're part of the environment. They belong here as much as Indians belong here. And in that way they complement each other. They've become part of us because it's what we depend on to live... You know, it becomes a part of the person's or peoples' culture.⁸⁸

These differences in perception of value pose strong risks that economists may culturally encapsulate project impacts on tribes. Too often in the past, economic valuation models have misrepresented tribal effects and damaged tribal interests. Alternatively, tribal values have not been treated substantively - and such values have been marginalized and appendicized in related reports⁸⁹. This has been damaging to reasonable consideration of tribal effects.

Our present report attempts to improve on this adverse record - combining economic construct from both historic and contemporary economic reasoning - and merging it with value constructs considered relevant by the five subject tribes.

2.1.7 Assessing Tribal Circumstances and Benefits - A Summary of Method

Following the discussion of this section, the procedure used here will:

- 1. Identify changes in Tribal material and cultural circumstances from pre-treaty to present times for each referent Tribe. Particular attention will be paid to the terms of each Tribe's Treaty (s) as they relate to assessment issues for Lower Snake project alternatives.
- 2. Identify Tribal Trust Assets that may be affected under Lower Snake project alternatives. These trust assets are the pathways which connect impacts of the Lower Snake project to its effects on the five referent Tribes. Tribal Trust assets assessed will include salmon - and other wildlife and plants where impacts may be identified. Each project alternative's potential impact on "the overall wellbeing of the study Tribes" will be considered.

⁸⁷Hazel Miller, 1982, in, Meyer Resources, Inc. **Supra** at 38.

⁸⁸Antone Minthorn, 1982, in, Meyer Resources, Inc. **Supra** at 38.

⁸⁹i.e. US Army Corps of Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration and US Bureau of Reclamation, 1995. **Supra**.
- 3. Develop **cultural and material indicators** of Tribal wellbeing to assess Tribal circumstances and potential project-related impacts. These indicators will consider the cultural, nutritional and material role of salmon, and if possible, of wildlife, of roots and berries; traditional Tribal settlement and use areas; and Tribal language. They will also assess Tribal poverty, unemployment and income. Contemporary circumstances and potential project impacts related to Tribal health will be examined, using a hypothesis developed during assessment of Yakama on-reservation deaths between 1888 and 1964.
- 4. Consider these indicators of Tribal circumstances and potential project effects using a "hierarchy of needs" framework that bounds the interrelationship between land, water, natural resources, beneficial activities - and the physiological, social and personal wellbeing of the Tribes and their members.

3.0 Assessing Potential Tribal Effects of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

Tribal perspective and EPA guidance are congruent in considering historic causal trends important to description and comprehension of existing circumstances - and to assessment of cumulative effects (see previous). In this section, discussion of the evolution of each Tribe to its present condition is provided. Particular attention will be paid to changes in the indicator characteristics identified in prior methodological discussion.

3.1 Linkages Between Lower Snake River Project Alternatives and Referent Tribes

The principal effects of the Lower Snake River Project alternatives will relate to effects on fish (primarily salmon), on traditional Tribal villages and other culturally important locations, and on usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas (recall Section 2.1.2.2). Potentially, these direct effects will relate to the levels of food available under each project alternative, to villages, burial sites and/or to fishing/hunting/gathering areas uncovered should the four project reservoirs be drawn down⁹⁰.

3.1.1 Securing Tribal Assets

In order to understand linkages between potential project actions and Tribal assets, one must first understand the manner in which the Tribes secured and used the resources they depended on. Both in historic times and today, the Tribes of the Columbia/Snake basin have depended on two interrelated land areas: a "home territory" area where they established (usually permanent) winter villages - and "usual and accustomed" fishing, hunting and gathering areas which were partly inside the Tribes' home territory and partly outside it. Traditionally, groups within each present-day Tribe selected a home base within their territory to provide shelter from the extremes of winter weather, for proximity to winter food

⁹⁰While Tribal hunting and gathering sites will also be potentially affected by the Lower Snake River Project, consideration of fishing linkages are considered sufficient to determine "which Tribes will be affected" as the four lower Snake River reservoirs are drawn down.

sources (such as some forms of game), and for security from attack from any potentially hostile outsiders.

Each Tribal group went forth in the spring from these base areas to its usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas - visiting each when the fish were running, the game were available and the roots and the berries were ready for taking. These visits made up the **seasonal round** for each tribal group. They were determined by where and when each resource was available, and by the mobility of each Tribal group to move in time from harvest area to harvest area, and to return to their base at the onset of winter. Detail for each Tribe will follow. The point to understand at the outset is **it was the interaction between base areas and those areas**

essential to each Tribal group's seasonal round that provided for the material survival needs of the Tribes.

...nothing could be more stable than the repetition, year after year, of the same shifts of residence from winter village to a round of summer fishing camps, invariably at the same sites and in the same sequence. ⁹¹

All base areas and many of the usual and accustomed harvest places were within the territories considered "to belong" to each particular Tribe. But some "usual and accustomed" harvest places were not. Relationships between tribes in the referent area were generally characterized by cooperation and friendship, save for some adjacent areas between the Nez Perce and Bannock peoples. For example:

...people like the Nez Perce accepted friendly visitors into their territory and freely shared access to their resources. Chalfant notes:

The Nez Perce invited many tribes to share the harvest of their (camas) grounds on Camas Prairie and at Weippe, Idaho. These groups included: Cayuse, Umatilla, Yakima, Flathead, and even Crow, Spokane, and Colville Indians.... The Umatilla, Cayuse and Yakima used to fish along the Wallowa River in summer...⁹²

Similarly, the Nez Perce regularly fished at Celilo and other sites within the territory of downriver tribes. Lane, Lane and Nash have summarized these relationships.

⁹¹Hewes, quoted in, Walker, Deward E., 1967. Mutual Cross-Utilization of Economic Resources in the Plateau: An Example from Aboriginal Nez Perce Fishing Practices. Washington State University Laboratory of Anthropology. Report of Investigations No. 41. Pullman, WA., pp. 13-14.

⁹²Chalfant, quoted in, Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981a. The Clearwater River Indian Fisheries and Lewiston Dam. Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs, p. 10.

While there was considerable freedom in use of fishing places in widely dispersed locations, it is important to understand the aboriginal tenure system. Like other Plateau people, the Sahaptans had clear concepts of territoriality. These included the right to live in the territory and the right to use the resources of that territory according to accepted rules and precedents. These rights were recognized and respected by others.

The missionary Asa Smith, writing of the Nez Perce and Cayuse in 1840 ...noted that respect for ownership rights in resources was vital because of the limited carrying capacity of the local environments. At the time he observed that because of the uneven distribution of certain kinds of resources, it was advantageous for bands to share particularly favorable resource areas.

Within their own territories, people had special rights to particular places based on customary occupation and use. These rights were most clearly defined with respect to living sites and major fishing places. With respect to fishing places, rights of primary use and responsibility for regulating activities relating to the fishery rested with the recognized owners.

Visitors wishing to use a fishing place in the territory of another group generally were expected to obtain permission from the owners unless such permissive use had become established as customary through habitual use over time. Permissive use might be solicited by indirect request; often an invitation was proffered by the owners....

Sharing enabled people to cope with the ever present problem of recurrent local shortages. It also provided means to more efficient and more equitable resource use by providing access for large numbers of people to particularly favorable resource areas. ...

One of the results of these patterns was that **a group might have usual and accustomed fishing places** <u>outside</u> **as well as inside their own territory**. (our bolding and underlining)⁹³

In fact, this is precisely the case for the Nez Perce, Umatilla, Yakama and Warm Springs tribes, who carefully protected their "usual and accustomed" harvest places in each of their Treaties.

The Shoshone and Bannocks were known as "roaming tribes", and also sought to retain access to offreservation "hunting" areas upon which they had always depended.

3.1.2 Linkages between Tribal Fishing and the Lower Snake River Project

Some of the "usual and accustomed places" of the Nez Perce, Yakama and Umatilla tribes fall within the lower Snake River corridor. Some are located above it. Some are below it. The Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation (at least) fish for Snake River salmon runs in the

⁹³Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981a. **Supra** at 61.

mainstem Columbia River. Consequently, all four tribes will be affected by project-related changes in levels of lower Snake River salmon, steelhead and sturgeon. This will, in turn, increase or diminish Tribal assets, and affect the material and cultural wellbeing of the four CRITFC Tribes. The Treaty rights of the tribes stand undiminished, but the degree of consistency between federal action and federal responsibility will similarly be affected by selection of alternatives currently being considered along the lower Snake River.

Traditional fishing places of the **Shoshone-Bannock Tribes** are protected by the Fort Bridger Treaty, as interpreted in <u>State of Idaho v Tinno</u>. While there was some communication between Shoshone-Bannock with the tribes to the north and the west, sharing of traditional fishing places between these groups was not the norm. Lane & Lane Associates and Nash again quote Chalfant.

Permission to use their (Nez Perce) lands was never granted to the Shoshonean tribes to their south. That the Shoshoni, Paiute and Bannocks were traditional enemies and in a state of war with the Nez Perce from time immemorial to late historic times is well known.⁹⁴

Consequently, potential linkage between alternative project actions on the lower Snake River and the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes must depend on whether affected salmon, steelhead and sturgeon stocks proceed sufficiently far upriver to reach traditional harvest places of the Shoshone-Bannock peoples. This question is easily resolved. While the area of primary interaction between Nez Perce and Shoshone-Bannock peoples has been periodically contested, scholars have identified significant Shoshone-Bannock historic presence throughout the area of the upper Salmon River, its southern tributaries - and thoughout most of the Weiser River drainage⁹⁵.

Fish constituted an important part of Northern Shoshone and Bannock subsistence. Trout, perch and other fish were found in streams throughout the region, but the most important fish, the salmon, was restricted to the Snake River below Shoshone Falls, to the lower Boise and Weiser rivers, and to the southern tributaries of the Salmon River, including the Lemhi.⁹⁶

Leaving the issue of exact determination of boundaries to others, we can safely conclude that Snake River salmon, steelhead and sturgeon potentially affected by Lower Snake River Project alternatives swim upstream into Shoshone-Bannock traditional territory and are potentially accessible at Shoshone-Bannock traditional fishing areas. This conclusion holds for time periods prior to construction of the dams of the Middle Snake, and for periods thereafter.

3.1.3 Linkages between Usual and Accustomed Tribal Areas and Project Reservoirs

⁹⁴Chalfant, in, Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981. **Supra** at 11.

⁹⁵Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. "Northern Shoshone and Bannock", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin. Volume 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, p. 286.

⁹⁶Supra at 285.

Finally, we turn to the issue of **tribal presence within** the lower Snake River reservoir areas. The reservoir influence of the Lower Snake River Project goes from about four miles above Lewiston on the Snake and Clearwater Rivers downstream to the area of Ice Harbor Dam, near the confluence of the Snake and Columbia Rivers.

Lane, Lane and Nash have identified the importance that water courses held for the tribes.

The Nez Perce were organized and linked to territories in named winter villages which were usually located where tributary streams entered mainstreams. In turn, all the villages along a mainstream or a section thereof were linked, more or less as a watershed unit. Often the name of the watershed, the group of villages, and the most important village on the watershed had variants of the same name.

In addition to these named local groups, there were larger units which, whether or not they had political or isolating social structure, did have geographic coherence. There may have been six such units (along the Snake below the Clearwater, on the Grande Ronde, on the Salmon, and on the Snake above the Clearwater).⁹⁷

Thus, along many stream sides, Tribal fishing sites and Tribal villages were congruent.

Nez Perce villages and fisheries extended down the Snake on both banks to the vicinity of the mouth of the Tucannon River. Beyond this, there were other groups of people along the Snake and the Columbia most of whose descendants retain treaty fishing rights. ...

The <u>Palouse</u> lived on the north bank of the Snake River below Nez Perce territory. These people were Sahaptin speakers and they were closely related to the people living in the villages farther down the north bank of the Snake River. Chalfant, who investigated them for the Department of Justice during the Indian Claims Commission hearings said: "...the Palus no longer exist as an identifiable group..."

The Palouse today are also represented in the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Reservation although they are not formally recognized. The Palouse were supposed to be included in the Yakima Treaty of 1855. There were Palouse present at the signing of the treaty but some of the Palouse people were uninterested in or hostile to the treaty making. Between 1855 and 1858 they joined with Kamiakin in hostilities against the U.S. Defeated at the end of this period, they ceased to exist as an identifiable group and dispersed as landless refugees. Many drifted about the country refusing to settle on a reservation. Others settled with friends and kin on the Colville, Yakima, Umatilla and other reservations.

⁹⁷Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash. 1981a. **Supra** at 9.

The territory of the Palouse centered about the lower Palouse River and their major village was at its mouth....

The <u>Walla Walla</u>, sometimes called the Wallula, lived along the Walla Walla River, along the Columbia near the mouth of the Walla Walla, and a short distance downstream along the Columbia. They also occupied territory downstream from the Nez Perce on the south bank of the Snake River and perhaps on the north bank as well. Perhaps because of the importance of fishing in their lives, they seem not to have moved about a great deal....They occupied the same territory from when they were first encountered by Whites until they were removed to the Umatilla Reservation. Even after the treaty of 1855, a very large number remained scattered along the Columbia at their traditional fishing sites. ...

The people living downstream from the Palouse along the north bank of the Snake to its juncture with the Columbia have been variously named and identified. Some writers include them with the Palouse. Others linked them to or included them with the Walla Walla. Some writers set them apart with other names. Considering those who treat them as a separate group, three names are used by one authority or another. These are Wanapam, Wauyukma, and Walula.

...the juncture of the Snake and the Columbia was the location of major fisheries which were used by many surrounding peoples....

The <u>Cayuse</u> had access to the Clearwater anadromous fish runs although they did not fish along the Snake and the Columbia to the same extent as their Sahaptin neighbors. At the time of European contact, they were living in and around the northern part of the Blue Mountains, close to but not on the Columbia River. They were in close and friendly contact with their Sahaptin neighbors, particularly the Nez Perce... .

Evidently Lewis and Clark met them on the Snake River. They called them the Ye-let-po and placed them on We-ar-cum (Asotin?) Creek.

The <u>Umatilla</u> ...seem to have occupied lands about the mouth of the Umatilla River and along the south bank of the Columbia, from above the mouth of the Umatilla, down to the vicinity of Willow Creek (Oregon). Ray places them on the north bank of the Columbia as well....

The term <u>Yakima</u> had been known (to non-Indians) since the early nineteenth century. ... Cox stated that:

The Yackamans are a numerous tribe, who inhabit the lands on the northern banks of the Columbia, from its junction above Lewis' River (the Snake) until some distance above a river which flows from the northward, and is called after the name of the tribe. ...

The <u>Tenino</u> were people who shared a common Sahaptin dialect and lived, in part, along the Columbia from Celilo Falls upstream. On the south bank, they occupied at least the downstream

watersheds of the Deschutes and John Day rivers. On the north bank, they occupied an indefinite span of country upstream from Celilo Falls. ...

The <u>Wishram</u> and the <u>Wasco</u> were closely related people living at the Dalles. The Wishram lived on the north (Washington) side and the Wasco lived on the south side of the Columbia:

These Indians, most of whom are now on the Yakima Reservation, Washington, ...are known by their Yakima and Klickitat neighbors (tribes of the Sahaptin stock) as Wu'cxam, which, in its anglicized form of Wishram, or Wishham, is their common appellation today.

The <u>Klikitat</u> were the westernmost Sahaptins speaking a dialect closely related to that of the Kittitas (Upper Yakima) and Yakima.⁹⁸

At Treaty times, discussion with these individual tribes was not pursued on a "group by group" basis. Nor were tribes' "home territories" universally respected by US treaty negotiators. Rather, the US government - backed by its military, and the hostility of non-Indian residents - "consolidated" the tribes identified in the immediately preceding citation into four main Reservation groups. These "consolidated Tribal groups" incorporated Indians from previously existing bands and tribes - and afforded "treaty status" to four such groups, called - The Nez Perce Tribe, the Confederated Tribes of the Yakama Indian Nation, The Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, and the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon⁹⁹. Many original bands were included and/or forced into these groups. Other bands were left out - intentionally or otherwise. Table 2 provides an outline relating contemporary Treaty Tribal organization for the CRITFC tribes to preexisting Tribal bands and groups - based on information from Kappler.¹⁰⁰

Table 2

The Relationship Between Present Tribal Treaty Organization and Pre-Contact Tribal Groupings			
in the Lower Snake Reservoir Area			
		Other Tribal Groups	
Present Tribal Treaty Organization	Original Tribal Groups Included	Present/ Not Present	
The Nez Perce Tribe	Nez Perce Indians living in	The Wallowa bands of Nez	
	Idaho and downstream along	Perce were forced from	
	the Snake River.	their lands in 1863. After	
		the Nez Perce War, some of	

⁹⁸Supra at 12-27.

⁹⁹This general statement also applies to the present day Shoshone-Bannock treaty tribes.

¹⁰⁰Kappler, C.J. (ed), 1972. **Indian Treaties: 1778-1883**. New York: Interland Publishing, pp. 694, 698 and 714.

these Indians returned to the Nez Perce Reservation, some were exiled to the Colville Reservation, some returned to the Wallowa country and some died in the East or disappeared.

The Yakama Indian Nation. Yakima. Other original tribal groups Palouse. were also included at Pisquouse Yakama. Wenatshapam Klikitat Today, Palus also reside on Klinquit the Umatilla Reservation and on the Colville Kow-was-say-ee Reservation. Li-ay-was Skin-pah Wishram Shyiks Ochechotes Kah-milt-pah Se-ap-cat The Confederated Tribes of the Palus also reside on this Walla Walla. Umatilla Indian Reservation. Cayuse. Reservation. Umatilla. The Confederated Tribes of the 4 bands of Walla Wallas Warm Springs Reservation of (Taih, Wyam, Tenino & Oregon. Doc-spus). 3 bands of Wascos (Ki-gal-twal-la, Dalles &

In sum, the evidence considered here suggests the following.

1. Ancestors of at least three of the CRITFC Tribes were **accustomed** to living in fishing villages and **had fishing territories** within the range of influence of the four Lower Snake reservoirs.

Dog River.)

Nez Perce villages and home fishing territory extended downstream on the Snake River to the confluence of the Tucannon and Snake Rivers - an area presently influenced by the reservoirs of **Lower Granite, Little Goose** and **Lower Monumental dams**.

The **Walla Wallas**, now part of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, occupied territory and fished on the south side of the Snake River, downstream from Nez Perce territory - and may have fished on the north side of the river as well. These areas are presently influenced by the reservoirs of **Lower Monumental** and **Ice Harbor dams**.

The **Palouse** (or Palus) home territory was centered at the confluence of the Snake and Palouse Rivers. Palouse peoples are one of the listed tribes and bands of the Yakama Indian Nation, and also live on the Umatilla Reservation today. Their original territory is within the range of influence of the reservoirs of **Lower Monumental** and **Ice Harbor dams**.

- 2. Tribes now associated with the Nez Perce Tribe, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Nation (CTUIR), the Yakama Indian Nation and the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs of Oregon cooperate in their fishing and did so in ancient times. It was consequently **usual** for these tribes to fish in each others' territory and they were **accustomed** to doing so. It is reasonable to assume that such cooperation included their fisheries of the Lower Snake River. In addition, the **Cayuse**, now part of the CTUIR, were accustomed to fish with the Nez Perce on the Clearwater River. These joint fishing areas may also be within the influence of the reservoir associated with Lower Granite Dam. Consequently, it can be reasonably concluded that the **usual and accustomed fishing villages and fishing places** of the four CRITFC tribes are distributed throughout the approximately 140 miles of river presently inundated by Lower Snake reservoirs.
- 3. Some tribal groups were scattered during the mid-1880's treaty making process and reliance on ethnicity and kinship lines would identify a broader geographic distribution of persons whose tribal relatives "once lived on the Lower Snake". Some of these peoples will be represented in this analysis through association with study tribes. Others will not be.

Finally, while there are some oral reports of particular Shoshone-Bannocks and Nez Perce fishing cooperatively, we have found no specific citation confirming that Shoshone-Bannock regularly fished within the confluence of the four Lower Snake reservoirs that are the subject of this report. Given this lack of evidence, documentation of the less-than-cooperative overall relationship between the Shoshone-Bannock and the Nez Perce, and the distance from the Salmon River country to the Snake River below Lewiston, it is considered unlikely that the Shoshones or Bannocks maintained villages or traditional fishing places within the reservoir areas of the four Lower Snake River dams discussed here.

4.0 Circumstances and Impacts on Nee-Me-Poo (Nez Perce)

EPA guidance defines cumulative impacts as effects of a project, when added to the impacts of other past, present and reasonably foreseeable future actions (at Note 17). This section provides information

on past impacts and related present circumstances on Nee-Me-Poo (We, the People), the first two elements of three required for cumulative effects assessment. Reasonably expected future effects on Nee-Me-Poo will be discussed in a following project impacts chapter of the report.

4.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of Nee-Me-Poo

At contact times, the Nez Perce occupied a home territory that covered parts of Idaho, Oregon and Washington, and has been estimated between 13 million¹⁰¹ and 17 million acres¹⁰². They exploited resources over a far greater area, conservatively estimated at 147 million acres.

(The Nez Perce) customarily exploited a much larger territory conservatively set at 230,000 square miles. They ranged from Kettle Falls in the north to Burnt River and American Falls in the south and from Willamette Falls in the west well out into the Plains, certainly as far as the territory of the Crow, and probably much farther.¹⁰³

Tribal historian Allen P. Slickpoo and Deward Walker talk of Nee-Me-Poo as follows:

Aboriginal Nez Perce (home) territory has been estimated at 13,204,000 acres. We probably were the largest group in aboriginal Idaho and our settlements ranged from thirty to 200 individuals, depending on the season and the type of social group. We were divided into the upper and lower Nez Perces, primarily on the basis of dialect differences. The upper Nez Perces were somewhat more oriented toward a Great Plains life style. ...

Along with their travels, that included parts of southern Idaho, eastern Oregon and Washington, as well as down into the Columbia River, the Great Plains soon became a welltraveled area, although their permanent home became the northcentral part of what is now the State of Idaho. ...

Nez Perce territory spanned the Clearwater River and extended to the south and middle forks of the Salmon River drainage basins. The deep canyons cut by the Clearwater, Salmon and Snake rivers brought about extensive seasonal migrations for food.¹⁰⁴

The Nez Perce traveled through their usual and accustomed territories in search of food, taking each resource in its appropriate time and place. Salmon was the mainstay of their existence.

¹⁰¹Slickpoo, Allen P., Sr. and Deward Walker. **Noon Nee-Me-Poo: Culture and History of the Nez Perces**. Nez Perce Tribe, p. 29.

 ¹⁰²Walker, Deward E., 1967. Mutual Cross-Utilization of Economic Resources in the Plateau: An Example from Aboriginal Nez Perce Fishing Practices. Pullman: Washington State University, Laboratory of Anthropology, Report of Investigations No. 41, p. 1.
¹⁰³Supra.

¹⁰⁴Slickpoo, Allen P., Sr. and Deward Walker. **Supra** at 29-30.

(T)he Nez Perces were impressively dependent on aquatic foods in the aboriginal period.... For example the Nez Perces regularly took the following types of fish: chinook, silver, dog and blueback varieties of salmon; Dolly Varden, cut throat, brook, lake, rainbow, and steelhead varieties of trout; several kinds of suckers and white fish, sturgeon, squaw fish, lampreys, and an unidentified but numerous minnow.... The four types of salmon mentioned were the most important and best liked fish....

Given the size of this (salmon) catch and its consequent importance for the Nez Perce diet, it is not difficult to understand why downward fluctuations in the size of runs were critical. As we have seen for the Plateau generally, such fluctuations were one of the primary reasons for Nez Perce fishing in other parts of the Plateau as well as for other Plateau groups fishing in Nez Perce streams. As we have seen, also, such normal fluctuations were one of the primary stimulants of trade and travel in the aboriginal Plateau. Accumulating evidence suggests that this is a very ancient pattern, long antedating the appearance of the horse.¹⁰⁵

The Indian Claims Commission, in 1967, concluded:

The Principal fish (of the Nez Perce) was salmon. This was a very important food item.¹⁰⁶

...the (Nez Perce) economic cycle can generally be summarized as ten months of salmon fishing and two months of berry picking, with hunting most of the year; that the principal items of food in the diet of the Nez Perce were roots, salmon and other fish and game...¹⁰⁷

Lane, Lane and Nash (1981a) note:

Fishing was so important to the Nez Perce that all villages were located at fisheries. Spinden, who made the first comprehensive study of Nez Perce culture, writes:

...As remarked before, they (villages) were situated on the banks of streams or on islands in the streams. A favorite location was near a riffle where salmon could be caught.... In the uplands the Nez Perces never built permanent villages, though in a few places, where camas and kouse were abundant, they constructed temporary summer camps.¹⁰⁸

The Nez Perce also took other resources, each in its appropriate time and place. Historian Slickpoo and Deward Walker provide a flavor of the gathering of roots and berries.

¹⁰⁵Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 24-26.

¹⁰⁶United States Indian Claims Commission, 1967. The Nez Perce Tribe of Indians v. The United States of America. Findings of Fact, Preliminary Statement. Docket No. 175, March 21, p 96.

¹⁰⁷Supra.

¹⁰⁸Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981a. **Supra** at 71.

The various roots we gathered ripened in the early spring in the lower elevations of the Lewiston area, but roots in areas such as Oo-yipe (Weippe) sometimes did not ripen until mid- August. Our basic (root) foods were kehm-mes (camas) bulb, the thlee-tahn (bitterroot), khouse, tsa-weetkh (wild carrot), and keh-kheet (wild onion). Fruits gathered included serviceberries, gooseberries, hawthornberries, thornberries, huckleberries, currants and chokecherries. Pine nuts, sunflower seeds, black moss, and pine bark were also eaten.

We made our life according to the seasons which we named as follows: El-weht (Spring); Ta-yum (Summer); Sehk-nihm (Fall); A-nihm (Winter).¹⁰⁹

The Nez Perce calendar reflects this seasonal round of activities. The calendar displayed in Table 3 is based on information from Slickpoo and Walker (pp. 30-31), supplemented by a calendar provided by Leroy Seth, a Nez Perce elder. Spellings differ, one from the other, as authors attempt to convey the phonics of the Nez Perce language.

¹⁰⁹Slickpoo, Allen P. and Deward Walker. **Supra** at 30.

Table 3

Nimiipum Inmitwit: Nez Perce Year of Seasons

Nez Perce Period of the Year Approx. Non-Tribal Period Characteristics of the Period

WEWXP	Spring	
Lah-te-tahl	March	New life begins. Flowers and plants begin to blossom.
Keh-khee-tahl	April	First harvest of keh-kheet roots.
Ah-pah-ahl	May	High rivers from melting snow. Move to higher ground to harvest roots. Bake Up-pa (a loaf) from Khouse.
<u>TAYAM</u>	Summer	
Toose-te-ma-sah-tahl	June	Continue to dig roots. Blueback salmon begin to show up.
Khoy-tsahl	July	Blueback salmon returns.
Tah-ya-ahl	August	Salmon reach the upper streams to spawn. Weather is hot.
<u>SEXNI'M</u>	Fall	spawn. weather is not.
Pe-khoon-mai-kahl	September	Fall salmon runs go up river. Finger- lings go down-river to the ocean.
TT 11		
Hope-lul	October	Colder weather. Tamarack needles are shedding and trees turning color. Buck deer are running.

<u>ENI'M</u>	Winter	Large animals mating.
Ha-oo-khoy	December	Doe carries her young. No hunting of female game.
We-lu-poop	January	Cold weather. Snow.
Ah-la-tah-mahl	February	Hard to build a fire. Freezing weather.

4.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Nee-Me-Poo Lands

Viewed from either tribal or non-tribal perspective, the lands and waters of the Nez Perce traditional territory represented the "natural capital" which allowed tribal peoples to survive and prosper. In economic terms, the fish, game, roots, berries and other lifeway materials produced and sustained by the Land can be viewed as the annual produce or yield from Nez Perce natural assets. As noted in the prior section, salmon was the key element of this annual produce. Several authors have estimated the amount of salmon that may have been taken, on average, by the Nez Perce in pre-contact times. These estimates have been based: (i) on salmon's likely role in fulfilling nutritional requirements of individual Nez Perce; and, (ii) on observations of tribal catch at various fishing stations.

Hewes¹¹⁰ assumed an average person living in the Columbia/Snake region in pre-contact times would have required 2,000 calories per day to survive. He further judged that this intake would be supplied daily by approximately two pounds of food - chiefly salmon, supplemented by game - as most other foods had relatively low fuel values¹¹¹. Finally, he conservatively assumed that "somewhat less than one half of the caloric requirement of the average native consumer" would come from salmon - and estimated a per capita annual consumption of 365 pounds for the area¹¹². Craig and Hacker (1940) similarly estimated average annual per capita consumption of salmon by native peoples in the area at one pound per day¹¹³ Hewes arbitrarily adjusted his estimate downward to 300 pounds per capita per year for the Nez Perce - based on his assumption that they were less intensive salmon fishers than the tribes of the mid-Columbia¹¹⁴.

 ¹¹⁰Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. Aboriginal Use of Fishery Resources in Northwestern North America. Phd. Dissertation. Berkeley: University of California, p. 213. Hewes' pre-contact estimates of salmon consumption are approximately based on the period up to 1780.
¹¹¹Supra at 214.

¹¹²Supra.

 ¹¹³Craig, Joseph A. and Robert Hacker, 1940. The History and Development of the Fisheries of the Columbia River. Washington, D.C: US Bureau of Fisheries, Bulletin No. 32, p. 142.

¹¹⁴Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. **Supra** at 223-227.

Walker identifies additional native uses of salmon, for example for fuel, and concludes that Hewes' estimates of consumption are low. Walker estimates a range of possible annual per capita consumption between 365 and 800 pounds for Plateau tribes - and suggests the median of that range, 583 pounds per capita¹¹⁵.

Finally, Swindell (1942) identifies that tribes of the mid-Columbia area caught fish for trade, as well as for own consumption. A respondent indicated that each family, having taken care of their own needs, would catch more than a third more additional salmon for trading purposes¹¹⁶.

For this analysis, we will incorporate conclusions from each of these earlier authorities. We select Walker's median estimate of 583 pounds per capita for annual consumption of salmon in the mid-Columbia/Snake area in the early 1800's and before. Noting that "lower river" Nez Perce had full access to their own bountiful fisheries on the Snake, the Clearwater, the Salmon and other rivers - as well as to the abundant mid-Columbia fisheries - and that "upper river" Nez Perce incorporated a somewhat greater element of Plains lifestyle - we follow Hewes, and reduce our Nez Perce annual per capita consumption estimate by 18 percent, to 479 pounds. Finally, we consider the information on additional catch of salmon for trade on the mid-Columbia to be somewhat conditioned by the substantial abundances offered in those fisheries - and increase our "for own use" estimate for Nez Perce by 16.65 percent, half of the mid-Columbia "for trade" figure reported by Swindell. In this manner, we arrive at a per capita estimate of annual Nez Perce catch of salmon in the early 1800's of 559 pounds. Utilizing a Nez Perce pre-contact population estimate of 5,000 persons from Walker¹¹⁷, this results in an estimated early 1800's annual Nez Perce salmon catch of 2.8 million pounds. If a later (1863) population estimate¹¹⁸ of 2,800 persons is referenced, resulting Nez Perce annual salmon catch would be 1.6 million pounds.

While salmon was the Nez Perces' key survival resource, the tribe also depended on a rich array of game, roots, berries, native vegetables and medicinal plants, each taken in its own appropriate time and season (see previous). These resources were provided by the land of the Nez Perce traditional areas - but no set of data exists to enable direct estimates of the annual magnitude of pre- contact harvest in these other areas - for food, for other own use, for trade or for personal enjoyment. Nevertheless, some inferential estimate of the potential magnitude of such harvest is useful to our analysis. We will develop inferential estimates in the following way.

1. We utilize data from Lane, Lane and Nash (1981), estimating Nez Perce fish use at 40 percent of total food consumption¹¹⁹, and our own judgement that consumption of fish "for food" only by the Nez Perce may have approximated 480 pounds per capita in pre-contact times, to estimate total annual food consumption by the Nez Perce at 6 million pounds.

¹¹⁵Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 19.

¹¹⁶Swindell, Edward G., 1942. **Supra** at 165.

¹¹⁷Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 25.

¹¹⁸"Mooney", in, Lane & Lane and D. Nash, 1981a. Supra at 44.

¹¹⁹Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981a. **Supra** at 79.

Salmon was the most important, but not the only fish utilized by the Nez Perce. Consequently, this procedure may produce an underestimate. By about 1865, declines in Nez Perce population, primarily due to epidemics, would have reduced estimated total food consumption to 3.4 million pounds.

2. Contemporary procedure by the US Bureau of the Census estimates that families on an economy budget spend approximately one third of their income on food¹²⁰. We will employ that convention here - and assume that the Nez Perce in pre-contact times obtained annual produce of both food and nonfood items from their usual and accustomed lands and waters "equivalent to" 18 million pounds of food. By 1865, due to the ravages of epidemics on the Nez Perce population, this "equivalence" estimate is reduced to 10 million pounds.

As noted, this estimate is inferential. Recent discussion suggests that the ratio of food costs to total income may have been falling for Americans over recent time. On the other hand, the Bureau of the Census estimates apply to families on a low-cost food budget, while the Nez Perce of the early 1800's considered themselves well off - with extensive herds of horses, firs, dentalium ornaments and other valued possessions. For example:

The principal wealth of the Nez Perce was horses, and individuals possessed as many as 50 to 100 head.¹²¹

Wealth in horses was highly respected and our leaders and their families had large herds, some as large as several hundred horses. Horses were exchanged as gifts, sold, and acquired through raids. We had elaborate horse trappings made of rawhide, horse hair, bone and antler, and decorated with dyes, porcupine quills, and beads. Different saddles were made for men and women and for packing.¹²²

4.3 A Broader Perspective of Nez Perce Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times

Possessed of adequate food and other resources, tribal health in the pre-contact times has been viewed in comparatively positive light by subsequent commentators. Trafzer, writing of the Yakama, and referring to neighbor tribes as well, notes:

Prior to their contact with whites, the Yakama suffered severe eye ailments and they died from many causes, but few from communicable diseases such as smallpox, measles, typhoid, typhus, tuberculosis, influenza, or pneumonia. Although the Indians of the Columbia Plateau did not live a utopian life before white contact, their standard of living was relatively high due to diet, climate, housing, and the availability of resources.¹²³

¹²⁰Recall Note 69.

¹²¹Griswold, Gillett, 1954. Supra at 63.

¹²²Slickpoo, Allen P. and D. Walker. **Supra** at 31-32.

¹²³Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. **Supra** at 71-72.

The interconnectedness of Nez Perce traditional lifeways are summarized by Caroline James.

The Nez Perce depended on the land of their ancestors for their food, shelter, clothing, and comfort of spirit. To the Nez Perce, land was and is the everlasting source of life. The cyclic nature of the weather dictated the patterns of their lives. In the summer, they moved up to the mountains to escape the heat and also to hunt, gather, and collect plants and berries as they ripened in different elevations. From spring through fall roots were gathered, and in the winter, steelhead, salmon and white fish were caught and cooked over fires. People's lives revolved around the land; their livelihood came from nature. ¹²⁴

Taken together, the evidence presented in preceding quotations indicates that, in pre-contact times, the Nez Perce peoples substantially achieved the hierarchical requirements for a satisfactory life identified by Maslow, and cited by Bachtold.

In order to reach one's full potential as a person, everyone must have succeeded in satisfying (a) physiological needs, (b) safety needs, (c) belongingness and love needs, and (d) self-esteem needs, all in this order.... Fully functioning people are those who have been able to fulfill basic needs in a secure environment, where their interaction with others includes

mutually caring relationships, and they view themselves and are viewed by others as persons of value. 125

This "fully functional" Nez Perce society establishes the baseline from which to assess subsequent **cumulative effects** in our report (Figure 2).

¹²⁴James, Caroline, 1996. Nez Perce Women in Transition: 1877-1990. Moscow, Idaho: University of Idaho Press, p.6.

¹²⁵Bachtold, L.M., 1982. Supra at 19.

4.4 Changes in Nee-Me-Poo Circumstances Due to the Treaties of 1855 and 1863

By the 1850's, movement of settlers, miners and others into the Nez Perce territory exacerbated relations with the Nez Perce - and Governor Issac Stevens was commissioned to draft treaties with the Nez Perce and other northwest tribes. The objective of the United States was straightforward - to obtain tribal lands without an outright war. The response of the Nez Perce and other tribes was mixed. Some tribal reaction was hostile - preferring to fight the United States rather than lose the lands of their ancestors. For many, particularly those led by older chiefs, initial response to treaty overtures was noncommittal. Other tribal persons, possibly fearing inundation by lawless settlers and miners, felt that what the United States offered "was all they could get"- and basically agreed to the US treaty offer. It was this last "agreeable" group of Indians that Governor Stevens asserted to be Nez Perce "chiefs" and "leaders", as he signed them up in only a few days in 1855.¹²⁶

¹²⁶For further discussion of these dealings, see for example, Slickpoo, Allen P. and Deward

Irrespective of how the Treaty with the Nez Perces of 1855 was arrived at, it has remained a basis for legal decision making by US courts to the present day. For the purposes of this analysis, the principal salient results of the 1855 Treaty were:

- 1. The United States obtained title to over 6 million acres of former Nez Perce territory, together with a commitment from Nez Perce signatories that the Nez Perce would live in peace on their remaining approximately 7.5 million acres of Nez Perce lands.
- 2. The Nez Perce retained title and the rights of exclusive use to 7.5 million acres of their homeland, **and** retained the right to travel around to fish, hunt and gather roots, berries and plants at their usual and accustomed places in the 6+ million acres they had just **ceded** to the United States.

The Nez Perce had given up major portions of their homeland - at substantial material and emotional cost. Yet the Nez Perce signatories had kept half their territory, together with all their usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas - and it must have seemed to them that their people could at least continue their seasonal rounds and maintain their supplies of food. On this basis, they may have thought that, while less wealthy, the Nez Perce could still sustain a "reasonable" standard of living - while peacefully sharing their traditional territory with the whites.

The Nez Perce soon discovered this was not to be. Immediately following the Treaty of 1855, gold was discovered in Idaho, and whites spilled onto the reserved Nez Perce lands. Allen Slickpoo, Nez Perce historian, has combined prior research with his own knowledge.

Gold was discovered in the neighborhood of Fort Colville and Pierce, Idaho, and the announcement of it was made about the time of the holding of the council. As was usual on such occasions, hundreds of whites came flocking to the gold districts. The rush commenced soon after the close of the council. As the routes of the whites led through our country, the new intruders committed excesses and outrages of the grossest nature upon us. They were not satisfied with stealing our horses and cattle, but they claimed the privilege of ravishing Indian women and maidens at their liberty.

In 1861 there were no less than 10,000 miners in the Nez Perce country prospecting for gold. To attempt to restrain these miners was like attempting to stop a cyclone. Treaty stipulations were disregarded and trampled under foot. The superintendents with the aid of loyal chiefs restrained us from hostile action. But within our heart was growing a feeling of distrust, disrespect, and hatred which was to well up into a mighty, unquenchable burst of passionate flame....

In the fall of 1860 our reservation was so overrun with settlers rushing to the mines, that, to avoid conflict, an agreement was entered into (between some Nez Perce and the United States) ...that that

portion of the reserve lying north of the Snake and Clearwater Rivers, the South Fork of the Clearwater, and the trail from said South Fork by the "Weipe root ground" across the BitterRoot Mountains was opened to the whites in common with the Indians for mining purposes. In defiance of the law, and despite the protestations of the Indian agent, a town-site was laid off in October, 1861 on the reservation and Lewiston, with a population of twelve hundred, sprang into existence....

It was recommended that further negotiations be entered into with the Nez Perce tribe with a view to the purchase of that portion of their reservation containing the gold. This region had been represented as rugged, barren and mountainous - unfit for civilization - and therefore of little use or no value to the Indian.

The Treaty of 1863 was concluded in the valley of Lapwai,...on the ninth day of June, 1863. It was signed only by those of us referred to as the Upper Nez Perce group....

The Upper Nez Perces...occupied primarily the Lapwai region. The Lower Nez Perces... occupied the Wallowa region....

Those who actually signed the treaties had no authority to commit the (Nez Perce) nation as a whole. This fact has been steadfastly maintained by the Wallowa or "non-treaty" Indians from the last words of Old Joseph - that he "signed no papers" - to the present time. The fact is further substantiated by a Court decision made in 1901.¹²⁷

Peterson (1995) confirms many of these observations.

Each day (in the early 1860's) more prospectors streamed into the country. In open violation of the law, many ventured south of the Clearwater into Salmon River country. Soon infringements became flagrant, none more so than the establishment of Lewiston, a town that boomed into a thriving trading center at the confluence of the Snake and Clearwater rivers, smack in the heart of sacred Nez Perce land....

Soon (1863) government officials began pressing the Nez Perce for access to even more land, hoping to legitimize the trespasses at Lewiston and in the mining regions.¹²⁸

A letter by Many Wounds, great grandson of the legendary Nez Perce chief Red Grizzly Bear, to the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs provides further information.

¹²⁷Supra at 144-147.

¹²⁸Peterson, Keith C., 1995. River of Life, Channel of Death: Fish and Dams on the Lower Snake. Lewiston: Confluence Press. p. 63.

Their (the US 1863 treaty negotiators) treacherous scheme was to execute a new treaty, under color of legality or under a sham agreement to execute such a new Treaty, the purpose of which was to limit the reservation of the Nez Perce People as to permit the miners to hold on to the goldbearing lands. The Indians did not wish to give up their Salmon River rights, any more than Chief Joseph desired to yield up his Wallowa country. They therefore had to devise ways and means for getting such a new treaty into existence as would dispossess the Indians of the gold lands and thus oblige the U.S. Government to confine the Indians to their restricted confines which it was their wicked design to hem them inside of. Pursuant to these ideas, these mischievous and unscrupulous factors got together a few Indians whom they styled "head men", all of whom were of the upper Nez Perces, lived tributary to the Christian Missionary region about Spalding, Idaho, and many of whom were styled "head men" for the special occasion; and dealing with the un-representative make-believe chiefs, they purported to have made a Treaty with the whole Nez Perce People, and by it - the false and graft contract called the Treaty of 1863 - they pretended to have bought from the whole Nez Perce People, their homes and hunting and fishing grounds.¹²⁹

Liljeblad (1972) confirms this observation.

The Nez Perce scrupulously kept their treaty obligations and made far-reaching concessions to the white intruders, but Indian conciliation could not keep pace with the influx of white settlers who became increasingly provocative. By utilizing the rivalry and state of disagreement between leaders of the different bands, the government commissioners in 1863 succeeded in negotiating a new treaty signed by a minority group and reducing the reservation to a fraction of its former size, thus forcing the majority of the Indians to give up their lands, village sites, and camping places.¹³⁰

McWhorter adds:

We shall not dwell on the mock proceedings of this treaty, a travesty on national honor. Suffice it to say that for the meager sum of \$262,500 an empire was wrested from its rightful owners.¹³¹

Finally, Beckam (1998) notes:

Although relatively isolated from Euro-Americans until the opening of the region east of the Cascades to settlement in 1859, the Indians of the Plateau were subjected to repeated trespass and carving up of their reserved lands.¹³²

¹³¹L.V. McWhorter, quoted in, Evans, Steven R., 1996. Voice of the Old Wolf: Lucullus Virgil McWhorter and the Nez Perce Indians. Pullman: Washington State Univ. Press, p. 175.

¹²⁹In, Slickpoo, Allen P. and D. Walker. **Supra** at 149.

¹³⁰Lileblad, Sven, 1972. The Idaho Indians in Transition: 1805-1960. Pocatello: A Special Publication of the Idaho State University Museum, p. 27.

¹³² Beckham, Steven D., 1998. "History Since 1846", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau. Vol.12. Washington, D.C.: The Smithsonian Institution, p. 156.

The 1863 "treaty" reduced the Nez Perce reservation lands from 7.5 million acres to 760,000 acres - so that, within a time span of 8 years, the Nez Perce lost almost 90 percent of their home territory, some 12 million acres. The US "promise" of tribal access to usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas was not affected by the 1863 "treaty" - and the right of access to springs and fountains in their ceded areas was added. However, for those Nez Perce that had hoped the 1855 Treaty would allow them to live reasonably, and at peace with the whites, events in the following years - and the 1863 "treaty" itself - must have disabused them of such ideas.

In 1873, a limited area was reserved for the Wallowa Nez Perce in the Wallowa Valley by executive order - but the clamor from whites in Oregon became so great that the President rescinded this order two years later¹³³. As a result of the 1863 "treaty" and the rescinding of Nez Perce reserved land in 1875, the Wallowa Nez Perce, led by Looking Glass and Young Joseph, became engaged in the conflict sometimes termed "Chief Joseph's War". The Nez Perce loss of land resulting from the Treaty of 1855 and that of 1863 are illustrated in Figure 3.

¹³³Supra at 27-28.

Attempts by US citizens to gain more tribal lands and resources at Nez Perce, and elsewhere among Northwest treaty tribes, did not stop after the 1850's and 60's. As Hunn notes:

The settlers' demands for more and more land led to the passage of the Dawes' Severalty Act (a.k.a., General Allotment Act) by Congress in 1887. The pious justification of this abrogation of treaty guarantees was that it would encourage the Indians' transition to a civilized way of life by virtue of the alleged moral force of private property ownership, a powerful element of the "liberal" political ideology of the day. The hidden agenda was clearly otherwise. All reservation lands remaining after each enrolled tribal member received his or her 80 acres of farmland or 160 acres of grazing or timber land was to be declared *surplus*. The government was then authorized to buy this from the tribes for distribution by sale or homestead title to the citizenry at large. Furthermore, the Indians' allotted acres - after a period of up to twenty-five years in trust status - could be converted to *fee patent* ownership, that is, their lands could be freely bought and sold.¹³⁴

Nez Perce tribal historian Slickpoo confirms these observations.

During the 1880's a growing hostility toward the reservation system kept growing. Whites objected to reservations largely because they blocked off large land areas from white exploitation. In time Congress yielded to the white pressures and in 1887 passed the Dawes Act. Under this act, the president could, whenever he saw fit, divide up a reservation, and give each member of the tribe on that reservation a certain number of acres. Upon making a choice (of land) the individual was to receive a fee patent which stipulated in part that the land would be held in trust by the United States government for twenty-five years. It was felt that twenty-five years was all that was necessary for Indians to learn how to live more like whites, to adopt white customs, and in short, to become "responsible citizens".¹³⁵

However, the whites were not prepared to wait 25 years to obtain more tribal lands.

The Burke act in 1906 again amended the Dawes act. This act provided that the Indian holding an allotment would not become a citizen, nor fall under (the protection of) the civil and criminal laws of state or territory until his trust patent had been exchanged for a fee patent. However, the mandatory twenty-five year waiting period was removed and the new act stipulated that any time the Secretary of the Interior felt that an individual was capable of taking up the responsibilities of citizenship, the trust patent could be exchanged for a fee patent....

Many of our people lost the trust status of their allotments because of the "forced patent" clause. Even today it is questionable whether such lands were taken from us by voluntary or involuntary methods.¹³⁶

¹³⁴Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 278.

¹³⁵Slickpoo, Allen P. Sr., and D. Walker. Supra at 219.

¹³⁶Supra at 220.

The Dawes Severalty Act of 1887 became the means for the most significant assault on tribal land tenure of any measure since the ratification of treaties and cession of aboriginal homelands in the 1850s and 1860s. Allotment was another variant of the scheme of consolidating Indians, reducing their land base, and increasing government control and oversight over their activities.¹³⁷

In 1893, the US government obtained 542,000 acres of Nez Perce "so called" surplus tribal land¹³⁸ - reducing Nez Perce ownership of the lands within their Reservation boundaries to less than one million acres.

On November 8, 1895, President Grover Cleveland declared the Agreement of 1893 to be in effect and ten days later the unallotted lands were opened to white settlement. The subsequent rush for homesteads could be described as somewhat similar to the Oklahoma land rush when the Indian Territory was opened to homesteading.¹³⁹

The adverse effects of the Dawes Act upon the Nez Perce continued well into the present century. Non-Indians continued to obtain Nez Perce land from fee patent holders, until, by 1976, they held the greatest part of the lands within the 1863 boundaries of the Nez Perce reservation (Figure 3).

As of 1976, the Nez Perce owned only 175,000 acres¹⁴⁰ within their Reservation boundaries - **approximately one percent of their traditional homeland**. Further, due to the Dawes Act, these lands were discontinuous, and checkerboarded within the 1863 reservation boundaries (Figure 4). This further impaired the ability of the Nez Perce to initiate resource protection programs and economic development projects that might benefit Nee-Me-Poo.

We conclude that cumulatively, over the period from 1855 to the early 1980's, **virtually all of the wealth associated with lands of the Nez Perce home territory has been transferred to non-Indian residents of the region**. Even using the reduced area under the 1855 Treaty as a basing point, by the early 1980's, only 2 percent of these lands remained in Nez Perce hands. These transfers of assets from the Nez Perce to non-tribal citizens of Idaho, Oregon and Washington have been variously effected through Treaty negotiation, by unilateral action of the US Congress, by misrepresentation and subterfuge, by breaking promises to the Nez Perce, and by the outright application of threat and force. They have enabled non-Indians to develop vast agricultural areas, to generate extensive amounts of cheap electricity and have supported lucrative forest and minerals based enterprises. They have left the Nez Perce peoples destitute.

¹³⁷Beckham, 1998. **Supra** at 166.

¹³⁸Slickpoo, Allen P. Sr., and D. Walker. **Supra** at 225.

¹³⁹Supra at 226.

¹⁴⁰This figure includes land reserved in trust, tribally owned land and Nez Perce allotted land.

4.6 Nez Perce Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas

The Treaty of 1855 guaranteed Nee-Me-Poo both exclusive use of their reservation lands, and the right to fish, hunt and gather at usual and accustomed places outside their reservation boundaries. Prior sections identify how exclusive use guarantees were breached by US miners and settlers. Over the time following the Treaty, Nez Perce access to usual and accustomed tribal resources outside their reservation were similarly "cut off" - by white settlements, use of public land for grazing, fencing, and general harassment of Indians whenever they left the reservation - if, in fact, they were permitted to leave at all. Often, these actions were supported by local and state government. This result was not surprising - for US policy was not only to wrest as much land as possible from the tribes - but also to confine the tribes on what little tribal land they had left.

Anglo Americans in the West thought the Indian's fate was the price of progress; it was the Indian's problem and none of their own. They expected their government to take land from the Indians and give it to the whites. They expected, too, more indirect aid in reallocating resources, as when federal troops protected buffalo hunters who slaughtered buffalo for market and, in the process, made it impossible for nomads to continue their accustomed way of life.¹⁴¹

Throughout the latter part of the 19th Century, and much of the 20th Century, the Nez Perce (and other Stevens treaties tribes) have fought a losing battle to preserve access to the off-reservation survival resources that were assured in the Treaty of 1855.

(Following 1877) the Nez Perce attempted to adjust to their rapidly changing world. The rich pastures and fisheries of the Wallowa were closed to them. They continued to fish the Salmon river drainage but they were increasingly cut off by settlement from old camp grounds and fishing sites.¹⁴²

These cutoffs increased the importance of remaining tribal mainstem fishing sites¹⁴³. In this sense, had they been able, the Nez Perce would have needed to take much more than their estimated treaty times catch of 1.6 million pounds of salmon from these remaining sites, to compensate for preemption of harvests of fish, game, roots and berries at other usual and accustomed sites that were lost. Yet even at

¹⁴¹White, Richard, 1991, p. 237.

¹⁴²Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981a. **Supra** at 51.

¹⁴³Supra.

mainstem sites the northwest tribes needed to repeatedly refer to the courts to beat back attempts to preempt their treaty resource-access guarantees¹⁴⁴.

4.7 Changing the Production Function for Nez Perce Lands and Waters

Economists describe the manner in which the output of a good or service and the inputs of capital and labor required to make it are combined as a **production function**. In early times, the Nez Perce combined their own efforts with their natural assets - their lands, waters, fish, game, roots, berries – to "produce" the foods and other material incomes that provided the annual basis for their survival as a people.

As the 20th century progressed, not only has Nez Perce access to traditional fishing, hunting and gathering grounds been greatly diminished, but where access was secured, non-Indians had often changed **the production function** for lands and waters upon which Nez Perce Treaty guarantees depended. Increasingly over time, when Nez Perce came to the meager number of usual and accustomed places they had left to exercise their Treaty-protected right to fish, hunt or gather, **they found the salmon and other resources were no longer there!** Rather, the land and waters of the Nez Perce traditional territory have been employed in new productive combinations that grow agricultural cash crops, support commercial logging and produce electricity - but that have severe adverse consequences for salmon, game, roots, berries and tribal medicinal plants.

By 1975, available chinook salmon habitat in the Columbia basin had been reduced to less than half of its original amount¹⁴⁵- and associated annual salmon catches by all fisher groups had fallen to only 1.4 million salmon over the 1987-1991 period¹⁴⁶. Conversely, by the end of the 1970's, over 7 million acres of irrigated agriculture had been developed in the Columbia Basin¹⁴⁷ - and an extensive network of dams to produce hydroelectric energy has been developed.

This transformation of Nez Perce lands and waters has been achieved over the objections of the Nez Perce Tribe. It has enriched the non-tribal peoples of the basin - at the expense of the Treaty-based resource assets, particularly in river's capability to produce salmon for the

¹⁴⁴See, Cohen, Fay G., 1986. Treaties on Trial: The Continuing Controversy over Northwest Indian Fishing Rights. Seattle: University of Washington Press, pp. 54-60.

¹⁴⁵The Independent Scientific Group, 1996. Return to the River: Restoration of Salmonid Fishes in the Columbia River Ecosystem. A Report to the Northwest Power Planning Council, p. 353.

¹⁴⁶Bonneville Power Administration, US Army Corps of Engineers and US Department of the Interior, 1995. Columbia River System Operation Review: Final Environmental Impact Statement. Appendix O: Economic and Social Impact, p. 3-23.

¹⁴⁷Supra at 355.

tribe, that the Nez Perce believed they had assured to themselves in the Treaty of 1855. This arbitrary transformation of Nez Perce Treaty-protected wealth and associated income must be added to the other actions responsible for impoverishment of the Nez Perce people¹⁴⁸.

In sum, the assets available to the Nee-Me-Poo from Nez Perce lands has been reduced to a very small portion of that which existed in 1855 and before. Tribal usual and accustomed harvests from Nez Perce fisheries have also been greatly diminished. Restriction of tribal access to usual and accustomed harvest locations and continuing harassment by some non-Indians have contributed significantly to this reduction. Transformation by non-Indians of the Treaty-protected production functions that assured Nez Perce peoples their guaranteed fishing opportunities have reduced the Treaty-based assets and related income of the Nez Perce yet again. These actions have had the cumulative effect of transferring extensive wealth associated with Nez Perce Treaty-protected lands, waters and associated activities from Tribal to non-Tribal residents of the region.

4.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams

Four run-of-the-river hydroelectric dams were built on the Lower Snake River between 1962 and 1975. These dams effectively impounded the Lower Snake River from the Ice Harbor Dam near the confluence of the Snake and the Columbia to a point approximately four miles upriver of the confluence of the Snake and the Clearwater rivers near Lewiston, Idaho. Construction of these dams - and their predecessors - was not without contestation or controversy.

A myth has developed about the callous attitude of early Army Engineers in the Pacific Northwest toward the preservation of anadromous fish runs. Specifically, the myth claims that the Corps did not seek fish-passage facilities at Bonneville Dam, the lower Columbia's first great multipurpose project; that only after unrelenting public pressure did they compromise. The myth is wrong....

In fact, the Corps' initial design, submitted to Congress in 1933, included fish-passage facilities. Facing pressure from the federal government to get unemployed people working immediately at Bonneville, the Corps had no time to develop detailed fish passage plans. Yet the original budget included \$640,000 for fishways. (F)ish passage - once the Engineers completed final planning - cost over \$7 million.... It is inaccurate to say the Corps showed indifference toward fish. Forced to act quickly during the project's initial planning stages, the Corps subsequently cooperated with state and federal fishery agencies and commercial fishing interests.....

The effort seemed to pay off, for at first Bonneville appeared to be a success. ...

Even in the midst of this success some remained skeptical. All Bonneville actually proved, they claimed, was that most strong upstream and downstream migrants could overcome one large dam. While praising Bonneville's success, the Interior Department's Bureau of Fisheries also warned that the cumulative effects of more dams might doom anadromous fish. As early as 1938 biologists

¹⁴⁸Recall pp. 55-62.

realized that some fish died attempting to pass the dam. Later studies showed mortality rates for downstream migrants to be as high as 15 percent. Lose that many fish at each dam and the string of federal projects proposed from Bonneville to Lewiston could exterminate Idaho's anadromous fish. Fishery people could live with Bonneville, but they would fight to prevent dams on the lower Snake, the gateway to some of the most significant salmon and steelhead spawning grounds in America.¹⁴⁹

By 1937, controversy with respect to proposed Lower Snake dams was evident - with representatives of the Inland Empire Waterways Association (IEWA) in support, and fishery agencies expressing concern¹⁵⁰. Initially, IEWA attempted to work with fishery interests, but:

The alliance between fishery agencies and the IEWA would be short-lived as the agencies stridently fought lower Snake dams. In 1945 an Oregon chapter of the chamber of commerce urged the IEWA to "adopt measures to effectively combat" the "highly organized" opposition to dams by fish and wildlife agencies.¹⁵¹

By this time, the Corps of Engineers had been unable to avoid the tide of special interest ebbing and flowing through the Lower Snake dams debate.

Even the Corps' Assistant Chief of Engineers Thomas Robins, a man generally sympathetic to fishery concerns during his tour of duty in the Pacific Northwest, grew exasperated with the increasing animosity of fishery advocates. Testifying before Congress in 1941 he noted that Bonneville fishways had been eminently successful and claimed he had every reason to believe fish could safely pass in both directions over Snake River dams fitted with similar facilities. The dams' turbines were "absolutely incapable of hurting the fish. If you could put a mule through there, and keep him from drowning he would go through without being hurt. Before we put the wheels in, we carried on experiments with fish, and proved conclusively that the pressure of the turbines will not injure fish." It was a broad statement.

Actually, the turbines at Bonneville and other Columbia River dams did kill fish, although researchers eventually found that the barriers also created numerous other, more serious difficulties for the migrants unrelated to turbine mortality. Dams, in other words, killed fish in a variety of ways. Still, Robins' comment provided fuel for advocacy groups like the IEWA and became almost a soundbite, a sort of shorthand, knee-jerk defensive mechanism: "since turbines don't kill, dams are safe."¹⁵²

The tribes knew that these dams threatened the salmon. But if their counsel was sought, it was not listened to. This period of conflict between dam advocates on the one hand, and fishery agencies on the other continued into the 1950's. Again, Peterson summarizes.

¹⁴⁹Peterson, Keith C., 1995. **Supra** at 108-109.

¹⁵⁰Supra at 109.

¹⁵¹Supra at 110.

¹⁵²Supra.

(A)nother myth has developed concerning fish and dams along the Columbia/Snake waterway, this one perpetuated by the Corps of Engineers, the Bonneville Power Administration, and hydropower advocates. This myth states that in the 1930's and 1940's, when the Engineers began construction Northwest dams, fishery biologists worried only about passing adult fish and expressed no concern about getting juveniles to the sea. "When hydroelectric dams were originally constructed in the Northwest it was believed that providing adequate upstream passage over the dam was sufficient to sustain salmon and steelhead runs." reads a publication of the Northwest Power Planning Council, a statement frequently repeated by employees of the Corps and hydropower advocates in public meetings and during conversations. It is a convenient myth, for it absolves the Corps and BPA of much of the blame for the extreme losses of juvenile fish the dams would eventually cause, losses that would lead to exterminating or endangering several species. "We just didn't know," becomes a familiar refrain. But the Corps did know. So did the Bonneville Power Administration.

It is true that biologists now know much more about the problems dams cause downstreammigrating juveniles than they did in the 1930s, 1940s, and 1950s. ... But it is more a deception of recent political convenience than a statement of facts known at the time to say the Corps was unaware of the difficulties its river work caused smolts. ...

As early as 1934 the Bureau of Reclamation recognized the difficulty of attempting to get juvenile fish past a major dam. Largely because of this vexing problem, the Bureau chose to provide no fish passage at Grand Coulee, and that dam forever blocked the upper Columbia to anadromous fish. In 1947 biologist Harlan Holmes began studying juvenile mortalities at dams and discovered some turbines could be "literal sausage grinders." In 1952, when Holmes estimated that Bonneville Dam killed 15 percent of juveniles passing through, the Corps refused to publicize his report. In 1948 the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service stated of the proposed lower Snake dams specifically, "Adequate facilities can be provided for the upstream passage of fish... The potential loss of downstreammigrating fingerlings presents a more serious problem. ... The lower Snake River dams collectively present the greatest threat to the maintenance of the Columbia River salmon population of any project heretofore constructed or authorized."¹⁵³

Fishery agencies were successful in pressing their concerns over the proposed lower Snake dams into the mid-1950's, so Herb West of the IEWA switched his strategy.

Having had little luck persuading Congress of the dams' safety, West sought other causes for the Northwest's decreased fish runs. His bogeymen became those who fished the rivers. Greedy Indian, commercial and sport fishers, not dams, were primarily responsible for declining returns. It was an argument that would be repeated often by dam builders and power producers in the decades to follow. And it had some merit.

Beginning with the advent of the Columbia River's commercial canning industry in the 1860s, commercial fishers had taken a severe toll, as had, to a lesser extent, Indians and sport fishers.

¹⁵³Supra at 112-113.

However, due to a variety of new laws and seasons, runs had largely stabilized by the 1930s. When federal dams came, fish faced yet another obstacle, and runs of wild salmon and steelhead again plummeted. Unless the debate's focus could be shifted from dams to other fish-kill causes, the lower Snake might never get its development. So the Corps of Engineers joined West in making the case against commercial fish operations.... The North Pacific Division had formed their office primarily to construct McNary and the four lower Snake dams. (By 1955) They had completed McNary. If Congress continued to refuse funding for Ice Harbor there might well be no reason for the District to exist. So the District attempted some persuasion of its own, despite the agency's rhetoric that it never lobbies, instead doing only as Congress wishes. After a year of observing fish passage at McNary, like West, the Corps announced a scientific victory. Results there, the Corps asserted, "discount considerably the claims of the fish industries that dams on the river are a hindrance to the anadromous hordes;" enough fish had eluded the real culprits, "the commercial fishermen's nets and sportsmen's lures," to insure survival.¹⁵⁴

The mythical hypotheses of the 1930s, 1940s and early 1950s that "dams don't kill fish" were refuted with finality by the death of millions of Columbia River salmon. The following myth that "its someone else's fault" was also refuted when, despite increasingly strict regulation of fisheries - millions more of the salmon stocks that had survived initial impacts, died also. These results are evident from Snake River run size estimates of the Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority (CBFWA) (Table 4).

Species	Historic <u>Run Size</u> nu	Run Size: <u>1954-69</u> mbers of saln	Late 1980	CBFWA Comment re. Effect <u>'s of Lower Snake Dams</u>
Spring Chinook	100,000+	40,000	18,000	Stocks depressed due to L. Snake & Columbia mainstem dams.
Summer Chinook	1,000,000+	51,000	5,000	Stocks depressed. due primarily to hydroelectric system.
Bright Fall Chinook		33,000 (1954 high)	2,000	Stocks depressed - due to dams, habitat loss & fishing.
Summer Steelhead (1940)	233,000	80,000 due primarily	77,000 to dams.	Stocks generally healthy. Reductions
Grande Ronde Sockeye	e 700,000		0	Stock extinct. Restoration limited

Table 4

Characterization of the Condition of Snake River Salmon and Steelhead at the End of the 1980's

¹⁵⁴Supra at 117.

	(approx.)			by Snake & Columbia dams.
Salmon River Sockeye	-signif	1,000	2	Stocks depressed/decreasing - due primarily to Sunbeam Dam & Columbia & Snake River dams.
Clearwater Coho	-signif		0	Extinct - due to mixed stock fishing & Columbia/Snake River dams.
Grande Ronde Coho	-signif		0	Extinct - due to mixed stock fishing & Columbia/Snake dams.

Source: Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority, 1990. Integrated System Plan for Salmon and Steelhead Production in the Columbia River Basin, pp. 25 to 121.

In recent years, these hypotheses have been reborn. The Corps of Engineers (and others) once again turn their attention to "technological breakthroughs" that offer hope of assisting salmon to safely pass dams. And some bureaucrats, seemingly forgetting the conclusion of the US Fish and Wildlife Service in 1948 (Note 152), still assert uncertainty that removing the Snake River dams will help the salmon substantially - and urge less stringent adjustments to the status quo, and further study of a wide range of elements in the river and the ocean that might affect the way restoration turns out. This opinion has less credence with publication of latest PATH findings¹⁵⁵, and their review by a panel of independent experts, but it is still argued by some.

Tribal elders, leaders and scientists are skeptical of such arguments. They have experienced more than 50 years of claimed scientific breakthroughs at the dams. But these "breakthroughs" have an empirical record of failure - and the salmon have continued to decline.

The same empirical record clearly shows the major role of the Lower Snake dams as killers of salmon - and the tribes find statements that "we're not sure and need to do more work to see if dam removal would significantly help salmon" devoid of either a sense of the history of the river, or of sound empirical justification. They also believe that such "status quo and study" responses are contrary to the direction of the federal district court of Oregon¹⁵⁶ - and worry that these assertions are less indicative of the limits of science than, to use Petersen's earlier terminology, "a deception of recent political convenience".

¹⁵⁵PATH Scientific Review Panel, 1998. Conclusions and Recommendations from the PATH Weight of Evidence Workshop. September 8-10. Vancouver, Canada.

¹⁵⁶See, Blumm, Michael C., M.A. Schloessler and R.C. Beckwith, 1997. "Beyond the Parity Promise: Struggling to Save Columbia River Salmon in the mid-1990's", in, Environmental Law. 27:21, p. 23.

Most importantly, the Tribes worry that if the salmon once again have to die to refute these new claims - there will be no salmon left in the Snake River.

This history of institutional interface with the Columbia/Snake river and its salmon is important to an assessment of the effects of project alternatives at lower Snake River on cumulative trends affecting tribal peoples and their resource assets. Of particular importance is the insight it provides concerning how river managers have dealt with uncertainty with respect to impacts on salmon - as uncertainty continues to be a major issue at both biological and social scientific levels in the Feasibility Study. As the information in this section illustrates, throughout much of the twentieth century, river managers were willing to accept significant levels of risk to the salmon of the Columbia and Snake rivers as they developed their in-river projects and initiatives. Their philosophy with respect to the salmon seemed to be, "we don't know much about the salmon, but we are confident we can use technology to maintain significant stock levels in the system". This risk-insensitive approach facilitated transformation of the production function of the rivers to produce vast wealth for electrical consumers, irrigated agriculture, navigation enterprises and other (primarily) non-Indian interests.

In the 1990's, as salmon stocks have become threatened and endangered, salmon recovery projects have become a focus for feasibility analysis - as they are here. However, **as the focus for in-river project action has switched from development of electricity, irrigated agriculture, navigation services, etc. to restoring salmon, <u>treatment of risk to salmon by key management entities has switched completely as well</u>. Now, where action to save and restore salmon is the issue, some of the same river managers are claiming "they need to be highly certain of salmon results" before they can act. In technical terms, they are demonstrated to be far more risk adverse with respect to uncertainty when the issue is saving the salmon, than when the issue was developing the river for other uses.**

From an economic perspective, this inconsistency with respect to how river managers and their technicians have treated uncertainty regarding salmon has two complementary effects. During much of the 20th century, it facilitated an arbitrary transfer of theTreaty-protected wealth-creating capabilities of the Columbia and Snake rivers from the tribes to non-tribal citizens, who enjoy the greatest portion of benefits associated with power production, irrigated agriculture, navigation and so on. In recent years, the "switch" to avoid uncertainty where salmon recovery is concerned is delaying and/or negating remedial action - and preempts rebalancing transfers of Treaty wealth back to the tribes.

The effect of these inconsistent policies, and of the lower Snake River dams, on the peoples of the Nez Perce is clear. As noted earlier, Nez Perce villages and traditional use areas extend down the Lower Snake River on both banks to at least the vicinity of the mouth of the Tucannon River. The lower Snake River dams have directly inundated these areas - as well as usual and accustomed fishing locations the Nez Perce shared with tribal peoples living downriver from there to the confluence with the Columbia (recall Table 2). Consequently, substantial numbers of Nez Perce village areas, usual and accustomed fishing areas, burial areas and spiritual areas were drowned when these four dams were put in.

Lower Snake River dams, together with dams on the mainstem Columbia, contributed significantly to the destruction of Nez Perce Treaty-reserved salmon, steelhead, sturgeon, eulechon - as well as flooding areas Nez Perce peoples were accustomed to go to gather roots, berries and medicinal plants - and are consequently major contributors to destruction of Treaty assets assured to the Tribe in the Treaty of 1855, and to the present adverse circumstances of the Nez Perce peoples.

As we have noted, from an economic perspective, the "dams don't kill fish" and "its somebody else's fault" hypotheses facilitated massive transformation of the production function of the lower Snake River - and with it, a massive transfer of Treaty-protected Nez Perce wealth, from the Nez Perce Tribe to non-Indian residents of the region. And today, the "new science can fix the dams/ we need more testing and study" hypotheses effectively protect against redistribution of any significant portion of "taken Tribal Treaty assets" back into Nez Perce hands.

4.9 Post-Contact Nez Perce Tribal Health

The population of the Nez Perce peoples plummeted after initial contact due to pestilence brought by early white explorers and trappers. Hunn, talking of the Columbia River tribes, notes:

The new life promised by the coming of the whites and widely prophesied brought a very high price. As far as can be ascertained at present the first bill came due about 1775. Robert Boyd believes, based on a meticulous survey of early documents, that the first wave of smallpox might have come from the west about 1775 from ships exploring for furs along the north Pacific coast... .

Smallpox again ravaged along the Columbia in 1801, attacking a new generation of susceptibles grown up since the first visitation. This likely carried off another 10 to 20 percent, reducing the original population to about half by the time of Lewis and Clark's exploration. In their journals Lewis and Clark describe old men with pockmarked faces among the Upper Chinooks of the Lower Columbia River and were told the disease had struck a generation before. Smith documents its ravages among the Nez Perce at about the same time.

(T)he Plateau people next found themselves in the path of thousands of immigrants crossing the continent over the Oregon Trail....With the immigrants came a potpourri of diseases against which the Indians had no resistance. In 1844 there was scarlet fever and whooping cough, in 1846 more scarlet fever, and so forth. Many white settlers saw this mortality of the Indians as an act of God, clearing the rich bottomlands...for Christian settlement.¹⁵⁷

Accordingly, Nez Perce population plummeted from pre-contact times to the end of WW II. The estimates in Table 5 are from Walker (1967) and Lane & Lane and Nash (1981).

Table 5

¹⁵⁷Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 27-32.

Year(s)	Population
Pre-contact (approx. 1780's)	5,000
1863	2,800
1893	2,009
1910	1,433
1940	1,469

Estimated Historic Population of the Nez Perce Tribe - Selected Years

Trafzer(1997) estimates that pestilences among Columbia/Snake tribes predominated into the 1920's and 30's when modern preventative medicine began to reach the reservations¹⁵⁸. Speaking of the Yakama, but generalizing with respect to neighbor tribes, Trafzer hypothesized that by the 1950's, degenerative and man-made disease had become a principal focus for tribal mortality - and that loss of traditional diet from native foods, the pressures of white invasion and violence, dislocation to reservations, loss of autonomy and control over their lives, high poverty and low medical services all affected tribal mortality adversely.¹⁵⁹ Again, these observations are congruent with the devastation of the Nez Perce resource base, with the violation of Nez Perce peoples discussed in earlier sections of this report and with the findings by Bachtold.

4.10 Present Circumstances of the Nee-Me-Poo

Having reviewed the cumulative devastation to Nez Perce Treaty-based and other resource assets, the attendant abuses suffered by Nez Perce peoples, and the continuing and cumulative transfers of wealth from the Nez Perce to non-tribal residents of the Columbia/Snake area from Treaty times through much of the 20th century - it is appropriate to determine whether significant recent changes have occurred and to assess the present circumstances of the Nez Perce peoples.

4.10.1 Remaining Nez Perce Lands

Enrolled Nez Perce tribal membership currently stands at approximately 3,000 persons¹⁶⁰ - a little more then double the level of the 1930's and 40's. Yet Nez Perce lands, held in tribal trust, in individual trust, or in fee simple, have again declined, from a level of 175,000 acres in 1976, to a present level of

¹⁵⁸Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. **Supra** at 3.

¹⁵⁹Supra at 3-6.

¹⁶⁰Nez Perce Tribal Administration.

94,000 acres¹⁶¹. This latter acreage represents 1.2 percent of the lands the Nez Perce believed they had secured for their own use in the Treaty of 1855.

Today the Nez Perce people hold fragments of land scattered in the canyon breaks and plateau areas of the Clearwater Drainage. The land is a remnant of the former holdings and rings with hollow treaty language which promised no white man would ever live there without consent of the tribe. ...

The land and what it held was valuable to non-Indians. Gold, grass, grain and timber combined with governmental policies and practices transformed the Nez Perce Reservation into a landscape mostly owned by non-Indians. The General Allotment Act of 1887 and the Indian Apportionment Act of 1894 opened the reservation and flooded the lives of Indian people in new and confusing ways. The game was depleted, the roots were depleted, the fish were going quickly--the verdant landscape remade into field and farm, harvested timberlands, small towns, amid a small patchwork of "Indian Land". The sons of hunters, fishermen and warriors needed a job and there were few to be had. If one theme stands clear in the economic and social matrix of the Nez Perce it is loss of land and the mining of the remaining land for anything of cash value.¹⁶²

4.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon

The status of fisheries - particularly salmon - upon which the Nez Perce depend, is similarly desperate. While salmon stocks continue at dire risk, federal agencies seek solutions whose results are certain - and which will minimize or have no adverse effects on entrenched (non-salmon) economic interests. Federal judicial opinion has judged such "status quo" approaches ineffective.

Two landmark judicial opinions called attention to the ineffectiveness of salmon restoration efforts in 1994. Both the Ninth Circuit and the federal district court of Oregon characterized the plans promulgated by the Northwest Power Planning Council (Council) under the Northwest Power Act and the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) under the ESA as substantively inadequate. The Ninth Circuit faulted the Council's plan for failing to give proper deference to the views of fisheries agencies and for adopting river flow measures advocated by power interests, despite what the court considered "an overwhelming consensus among (fishery) agencies and tribes in favor of higher flows and more scientifically-based biological objectives." The district court struck down NMFS's 1993 biological opinion (BiOp) on Columbia Basin hydroelectric operations because it was "too heavily geared toward a **status quo** that has allowed all forms of river activity to proceed in a deficit

¹⁶¹Nez Perce Office of Legal Counsel, 1999.

¹⁶²Central Washington University, 1991. Potential Effects of OCS Oil and Gas Exploration and Development on Pacific Northwest Indian Tribes: Final Technical Report. US Minerals Management Service OCS Study MMS-91-0056, pp. 256-257.

situation", resulting in "relatively small steps, minor improvements and adjustments - when the situation literally cries out for a major overhaul." (our bolding)¹⁶³

In recent years, some agencies have rationalized failure to restore the Snake River salmon by claiming they are "uncertain about what to do". Substantial uncertainty exists with respect to the effects of dams on salmon - but this did not impede action to build the dams in the first place.

From a Tribal perspective, uncertainty is not the problem. Rather, economic interests who, as noted earlier in this report, have obtained substantial amounts of wealth via negotiation, by changing the laws, and by illegal destruction and/or taking of Nez Perce Treaty assets - and who have unilaterally transformed the land and waters of the Columbia Snake system to obtain still more wealth at Tribal expense - are understandably reluctant to see any significant portion of that wealth redistributed back to the Nez Perce Tribe. From this perspective, "claims of uncertainty about what to do" are viewed as substantially influenced by "status quo" distributions of wealth - and to Tribal ears, sound the same as claims that the Dawes Act "was good for the Indians" - as some of its backers prepared to steal away more of the Nez Perce tribal wealth in earlier times.

This situation is exacerbated by what the Tribes view as an overly optimistic view by some federal agencies of the salmon restoration potentials associated with discrete structural changes at Columbia/Snake dams, despite decades of evidence to the contrary - and too often, a refusal to seriously consider contrary Tribal information, advice and counsel.

While biologists studied and debated, Indians, living by the river, saw fish quality decline and sea gulls eating dead smolts out of dam spillways. More often than not, Indian concern and counsel was ignored.¹⁶⁴

It is these wealth transfer concerns that likely underlie attempts to establish two conditions for Snake River salmon restoration that, given present circumstance, may be inconsistent with recovery of the stocks: no substantial income redistribution (complete mitigation) for some economic sectors; and, high certainty before action is taken. The tribes are concerned that such insistence in the face of the perilous condition of Snake River salmon will likely ensure that, race by race, the salmon of the Snake River continue to dwindle toward extinction.

And while the arguments raged, the salmon continued to decline. Recent (1995-1996) run size estimates for many Columbia Basin stocks are the lowest in recorded history.¹⁶⁵

As a result of this devastation, Nez Perce catches are now very small. Tribal fish managers estimate an annual average Nez Perce Zone 6 commercial catch of approximately 105,000 pounds for chinook, steelhead, sturgeon, coho and sockeye combined for the period 1990-1993. Tribal Snake River catch is for Ceremonial and Subsistence (C&S) purposes only - and is more limited - with a chinook salmon

¹⁶³Blumm, Michael C., M.A. Schloessler and R.C. Beckwith, 1997. Supra at 23-24.

¹⁶⁴Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 72.

¹⁶⁵Blumm, Michael C., M.A. Schloessler and R.C. Beckwith, 1997. **Supra** at 28.
take estimated of approximately 55,000 pounds in 1997¹⁶⁶. Using these estimates, **Nez Perce present** harvest approximates 10 percent of the fish we estimate was taken by the Nez Perce around Treaty times.

4.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Nez Perce Material Circumstance

Henry Penney summarized the general material predicament of the Nez Perce Tribe in 1982.

Well, I think that looking at our depleted resources that you can see what we had before was about 14 million acres of area, probably even greater than that if you consider when the Nez Perce went to Montana and the Dakotas for buffalo. You know, there's a vast amount of resources out there that's not available to us now. And each treaty and agreement since 1855 has gradually taken away a lot of our resources.... How do we get the tribal members back on par with the dominant society? We have very limited resources now.¹⁶⁷

The magnitude of the present Nez Perce resource predicament can be illustrated by reference to our earlier approximation that Nez Perce lands and waters in pre-contact times produced annual benefits equivalent to more than 18 million pounds of food (p. 51). Applying the direct salmon losses discussed here - and using our estimates of loss of Nez Perce lands as a proxy for loss of non-salmon traditional production - we can conclude that the Nez Perce peoples today obtain from their Treaty-based resources production equivalent to less than 500,000 pounds of food per year - **approximately 2 percent of the value their lands originally produced**.

This difficult Tribal economic situation stood little changed through the mid-1990's. Nez Perce peoples continue to obtain limited revenue from timber, limestone and convenience store sales and from other small business initiatives¹⁶⁸ - as well as lease revenue from some fee lands. Data from the US Bureau of the Census and from the Bureau of Indian Affairs translate the overall effect of these initiatives into non-Indian statistical terms (Table 6).

Table 6

Comparative Data Showing the Relative Circumstances of the Nez Perce Tribe - 1989-91				
Economic Indicator	Nez Perce Tribe	<u>Idaho</u>	Washington	Oregon
Families in Poverty (%)	29.4	9.7	10.9	12.4

¹⁶⁶Based on data from the Nez Perce Department of Fishery Management, and assuming an average size per Chinook of 18 pounds.

¹⁶⁷Henry Penney, in, Meyer Resources, Inc., 1983. **Supra** at 45.

¹⁶⁸Nez Perce Tribe, 1997. Nez Perce Tribe Overall Economic Development Plan: 1997-1998. pp. 18-27.

Unemployment: US Census (%)	19.8	6.1	5.7	6.2
: BIA	62.0*			
Per Capita Income (\$'000)	8.7	11.5	14.9	13.4

*The US Bureau of the Census employs a relatively liberal "employment" standard. BIA's employment measure requires employment over a longer time period to qualify. The higher BIA unemployment estimate is judged to better reflect the degree of material difficulty the Nez Perce experience - particularly in winter months.

Source: US Bureau of the Census - 1990 Census Data. US Bureau of Indian Affairs - 1995 Indian Population and Labor Force Estimates..

By 1996 the Nez Perce Tribe had identified one economic activity that offered a measure of economic hope for its people. In the fall of that year, the Tribe opened Clearwater River Casino. By 1997, the Tribe estimated that this casino, and one at Kamiah was employing some 240 persons - 95% of them tribal¹⁶⁹ - with an estimated annual payroll of some \$2.8 million¹⁷⁰. This single initiative is insufficient, by itself, to return Nez Perce peoples to even a moderate level of material wellbeing - but it offers hope for significant material improvement. The Nez Perce gaming operation is in its infancy, and more time is needed to confidently assess any long term role it may play in the Nez Perce economy. Further, some Idaho politicians, having again "found wealth" on Nez Perce lands, proposed to enact laws to transfer significant portions of potential tribal gaming revenues to non-Indian residents of the region¹⁷¹. Prior sections of their regional predecessors. Such "anti-Indian" gaming initiatives continue to contribute to the uncertainty of the material future of the Nez Perce Tribe. The overall importance of Tribal gaming employment in providing some measure of economic relief for the Nez Perce Tribe is illustrated in Table 7.

Table 7

Estimated Number of Employees in	Nez Perce Tribal Enterprises: 1997
Enterprise/Activity	Estimated Employment Full Time Part Time
Gaming enterprises	240

¹⁶⁹Supra at D-1.

¹⁷⁰Developed from information in: Nez Perce Executive Committee, 1997. State Challenges Nez Perce Gaming. Office of Legal Counsel, Lapwai, Idaho, p. 1.

¹⁷¹Supra at 3.

Tribal government	178	
Convenience stores	16	4
Limestone enterprise	4	25-30
Forest Products enterprise	6	22
Land Commission (agriculture)	5	
Arts and Crafts	2	2

Source: Nez Perce Tribe Overall Economic Development Plan: 1997-1998, Appendix D-1.

4.10.4 Nez Perce Tribal Health

Nez Perce tribal health is coincident with the difficulties already described. The Northern Idaho Service Unit of the Indian Health Service covers Nez Perce, Lewis, Clearwater, Idaho, Latah and Boundary counties - and principally services Nez Perce tribal members¹⁷². Indian Health Service (1994) reports that the 1989-1991 age-adjusted death rate for Indians in the Northern Idaho Service Area exceeded that for "all other races" by 1.7 times¹⁷³. Table 8 provides comparative statistics for the five leading causes of tribal death.

Table 8

Leading Causes of Tribal Death - Northern Idaho Service Area: 1989-1991

¹⁷²More recently, Nee Poo Health Center.

¹⁷³US Indian Health Service, 1994b. American Indian and Alaska Native Mortality: Idaho, Oregon and Washington, 1989-1991, p. 24.

Cause of Death	<u>Native American</u> deaths I	<u>All Other Races</u> per 100,000 popul	
Heart disease	80.8	89.2	0.9
Motor vehicle accidents	69.3	17.3	4.0
Cerebrovascular disorders	73.1	24.2	3.0
Malignant Neoplasms	59.5	113.2	0.5
All Other Accidents	37.1	15.9	2.3

Source: US Indian Health Service, 1994. Supra at 55.

Diabetes mellitus and musculoskeletal problems are also significant causes of death - accounting for 6.5% of total deaths each¹⁷⁴.

High accident-related death rates for the Nez Perce are consistent with Bachtold's hypothesis relating loss of foods, poverty and loss of a meaningful activity environment to mistrust and despair¹⁷⁵ - and with Trafzer's hypothesis relating native mortality to man-made pressures and events¹⁷⁶. Experts on Nez Perce health were also concerned about linkage between loss of traditional Nez Perce foods, particularly salmon, and the high rates of diabetes evident among the Tribe¹⁷⁷.

Diabetes stems from many factors. But increasing salmon content in present-day Nez Perce diets would definitely reduce diabetes-related mortalities for the Tribe. Salmon replace saturated fats with Omega 3 fatty acids in the diet, bringing body weight and blood sugar down. The exercise involved in harvesting salmon and other native foods also acts to reduce body weight and improve health. As a result, incidence of diabetes would be reduced, and better control of the disease among Nez Perce would be achieved.¹⁷⁸

¹⁷⁴Supra at 56.

¹⁷⁵At Note 66.

¹⁷⁶At Note 73.

¹⁷⁷The Nez Perce expert group included: Leroy Seth, Nez Perce Elder and Patient Advocate; Vanda Osborn, Nez Perce Community Health Director; Karen Carter, Director, Nee-Me-Poo Health Clinic; Julie Keller, Dietitian; Susie Ellenwood, Maternal Child Health Nurse; and Irene Kipp, Community Health Educator.

¹⁷⁸Julie Keller, Nez Perce Dietitian. **Personal communication** at Lapwai, May 6, 1998.

The Nez Perce health group echoed Bachtold in also emphasizing the positive role that traditional fishing, hunting and gathering plays in building the self-esteem of tribal members.

Traditional activities such as fishing, hunting and gathering roots, berries and medicinal plants also build self-esteem for Nez Perce peoples - and this has the capability to reduce the level of death by accident, violence and suicide affecting our people. When you engage in cultural activities you build pride. You are helped to understand "what it is to be a Nez Perce" - as opposed to trying to be someone who is not a Nez Perce. In this way, the salmon, the game, the roots, the berries and the plants are pillars of our world.¹⁷⁹

The Nez Perce health group noted that opportunities to practice traditional fishing, hunting and gathering pursuits are increasingly limited in the present day - and that Nez Perce members are still often threatened and harassed as they try to pursue such activities.

Sometimes I feel like I'm looking for the last fishing spot that's left - fishing for the last fish that's left. How will I go and get it? Will I get beat up if I go?¹⁸⁰

Yet the Nez Perce health group was unanimous that salmon remained a key to Nez Perce cultural survival - and that removal of the Lower Snake reservoirs and restoration of tribal salmon would benefit tribal health and lifeways.

Our traditional activities are being buried deeper and deeper. We need to restore them, not just talk about it. As long as there is one fish - as long as there is game - as long as we keep our language - we will not die.¹⁸¹

Reservoir removal would restore Nez Perce fisheries, it would provide more opportunity to hunt game, it would provide more gathering places. It would bring the land to life.¹⁸²

The difficulties of the Nez Perce people have also been confirmed by an outside commentator.

The personal suffering and tragic lives of many (Nez Perce) people are not revealed in the cold reports of tribal and federal governments. It can, however, be seen and felt in the towns and the countryside--in the eyes of men and the despair of mothers with few or no options for change. When you can no longer do what your ancestors did; when your father or mother could not do those things either; when they or you found little meaning in and limited access to the ways of

¹⁷⁹Leroy Seth, Nez Perce Elder and Health Advocate. Personal communication at Lapwai, May 6, 1998.

¹⁸⁰A Nez Perce woman during the Health Group meeting at Lapwai on May 6, 1998.

¹⁸¹Leroy Seth, **Supra**.

¹⁸²Nez Perce Health Group, **Personal communication** at Lapwai. May 6, 1998.

mainstream culture--the power of 70 percent winter time unemployment, and 46 percent of the population below poverty level, is visible throughout the Nez Perce landscape.¹⁸³

Finally, the key role that **language** plays in protecting the health of a culture was discussed in earlier methodological sections of this report. Through the 19th century, it is safe to say that all Nez Perce were able to speak in their native language(s). Today, beset by loss of traditional opportunities and attendant economic and social impoverishment, it is estimated that only about 32 percent of Nez Perce retain the capability to speak in their own tongue at home¹⁸⁴.

Again employing a Maslow-based framework, present overall circumstances of the Nez Perce Tribe are outlined in Figure 5.

¹⁸³Central Washington University, 1991. **Supra** at 258.

¹⁸⁴US Bureau of the Census, 1990 CP-2-1A, p. 38.

5.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the Shoshone and Bannock Bands

This section provides information on past impacts and related present circumstances of the peoples of the Shoshone and Bannock Bands of Indians.

5.1 Traditional Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of the Shoshone and Bannock Bands

This report refers to the Shoshone and Bannock peoples who principally lived in what is now the State of Idaho.

The Northern Shoshone and Bannock Indians occupied an area roughly coincidental with the political boundaries of the state of Idaho, south of the Salmon River. The names Northern Shoshone and Bannock do not refer to discrete political or social entities. The term Northern Shoshone has arisen in anthropological usage only as a general means of distinguishing Shoshones of the upper Columbia drainage from the Western Shoshone of Nevada and Utah and the Eastern Shoshone of western Wyoming. The Western Shoshones differed from both the eastern and northern populations in lack of horses and access to the buffalo hunting areas of the Plains... .The Eastern and Northern Shoshones are less easily distinguished from each other. The conventional division made between them rests primarily upon their separate locales and the importance of salmon fishing to the Northern Shoshone diet. The Indians themselves made no recognition of the Eastern, Northern and Western distinction; and actual social units among the Northern Shoshone varied in type from composite, mounted bands to isolated families or small clusters of families uninvolved in larger political units. Consistent with this variety and fragmentation, there are no clear cultural boundaries, and the Northern Shoshone blended into and merged with the other Shoshone to the south and the east.

The distinctiveness of the Bannock rested on a basis different than that of the Northern Shoshone. The Bannock were Northern Paiute speakers who had migrated from Oregon into the general area of the Snake River plains, where they lived among Shoshone speakers in peaceful cooperation. The Bannock became differentiated from their fellow Northern Paiutes to the west through the acquisition of the horse and participation in organized buffalo hunts, but the populations continued to interact socially, and the separation was not deep enough or long enough to result in substantial linguistic divergence.¹⁸⁵

Initially speakers of distinct languages, the close living arrangements of what Murphy and Murphy term the "Northern Shoshone and Bannock" peoples enabled a relatively rapid movement toward intercultural understanding and intelligibility between these two peoples.

A.L. Kroeber (1907) was the first to report that they (the Shoshone and Bannock) spoke separate and mutually unintelligible languages. ...

(But) the spread of the Numic languages in the Great Basin, with the consequent separation between Western and Central Numic, was recent enough so that Bannock and Shoshone remain quite similar languages, and there was considerable Bannock-Shoshone bilingualism among both groups in southern Idaho.... Among the consequences of the regency of the spread of the Numic languages is the absence of major dialect differences, whose development was retarded by continued contacts among the highly mobile seminomadic groups (Liljeblad 1957). This is a most important point, for one of the characteristics of Shoshone and Bannock groups was their openness, their interchangeability of members, and the continual move and flux of people. This tended to minimize dialect differentiation, just as it did cultural separation. On both the linguistic and cultural levels, the Shoshone and Northern Paiute, including the Bannock, evidenced small and incremental change from area to area. The absence of sharp discontinuities was a function of their social life.¹⁸⁶

Thus, at its broadest, Shoshone and Paiute speakers extended west into Oregon, south into Utah and Nevada, and eastward as far as Wyoming - with no firm boundaries between resident or migratory groups. This study - dealing with cumulative losses of salmon to tribal populations, and subsequent salmon restoration activities in the Lower Snake River area - provides a narrower focus for Shoshone-Bannock analysis - namely, **those Shoshone and Bannock groups who would be directly affected by salmon abundances during their subsistence rounds**.

The locations where salmon that passed through the Lower Snake River were harvested by Shoshone and Bannock peoples can be generally identified.

Fish constituted an important part of Northern Shoshone and Bannock subsistence. Trout, perch and other fish were found in streams throughout the region, but the most important fish, the salmon, was restricted to the Snake River below Shoshone Falls, to the lower Boise and Weiser rivers, and to the southern tributaries of the Salmon River, including the Lemhi.¹⁸⁷

The range of the salmon defines an area that follows the Snake River and its tributaries through much of south-central Idaho. To the north, it includes much of the Salmon River basin, including the Lemhi River

¹⁸⁵Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. Supra at 284.

¹⁸⁶Supra at 284-285.

¹⁸⁷Supra at 285.

and other southern tributaries. To the west, it extends to the Oregon border and into the Owayhee, Malheur and Burnt Rivers of Oregon. Turning east, its follows the Snake River through southern Idaho to Shoshone Falls - which is sufficiently proximate to substantial Shoshone-Bannock populations using the Fort Hall area to include them in our affected study referent group. In sum, our assessment in this study will generally be bounded by the map provided by Murphy and Murphy in their Smithsonian Institution article¹⁸⁸ - focusing on Shoshone-Bannock populations dependent on areas roughly outlined by present boundaries of the State of Idaho to the west, east and south - inclusive of descendants of fishing peoples now resident on the Duck Valley Reservation on the Idaho/Nevada border - and to the aforementioned areas of the Salmon River drainage to the north. This focus recognizes and will account for seasonal migrations of some Shoshone and Bannock peoples further eastward in search of buffalo. It also recognizes that reports exist of some cooperative fishing for salmon to the north and west of these approximate boundaries¹⁸⁹. However, for the purposes of identifying primary linkage between potential actions at Lower Snake River dams and the wellbeing of Shoshone-Bannock peoples, this study focus is considered reasonable and sufficient¹⁹⁰.

Shoshone-Bannock peoples did not confine themselves to single locations - so they depended broadly on the fish, game, roots, berries and other plants available within the areas they lived in and traversed - and cannot be defined as dependent on only one resource or one resource area.

According to an indigenous Shoshonean tradition...people who remained for a shorter or longer time in a certain region, and had their subsistence more or less temporarily from a particular kind of food procurable in this locality, were often named after this food. Thus, families joining a buffalohunting expedition to the Plains proudly called themselves <u>kutsundeka'a</u>, which means "buffalo eaters"; at other times, individuals of the same subgroup might have been called <u>agaideka'a</u> or "salmon eaters". Small groups of Shoshoni, when hunting in the mountain districts of central Idaho, were often called <u>tukudeka'a</u>, which means "mountain sheep eaters" (in local English usage corrupted to "Sheepeaters"); but the same Indians, when wintering on the Lemhi River, were called "salmon eaters". Various Shoshoni groups foraging north and south of the present state border between Idaho and Utah were sometimes called "rabbit eaters", at other times "seed eaters", or, when visiting the pinon groves in northern Utah, "pine-nut eaters". There are several dozen such "food-named groups" on record... . To interpret them as native terms for culturally distinct or politically independent units or "tribes", as has frequently been done in the literature, is utterly wrong.¹⁹¹

¹⁸⁸Supra at 286.

¹⁸⁹e.g.. Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. The Rivers and Fisheries of the Shoshone-Bannock Peoples. University of Utah: American West Center, pp. 5, 70.

¹⁹⁰In adopting this convention, our present report reserves commentary on any broader issues that may be associated with Shoshone-Bannock traditional harvest areas.

¹⁹¹Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. The Idaho Indians in Transition: 1805-1960. Pocatello: Idaho State University Museum. p. 18.

Rather, the Shoshone and Bannock people traveled across the lands they depended on - taking each food resource in its appropriate place and season.

During the 1700s and into the reservation era, the Shoshone-Bannock tribes followed a pattern of land use based on the availability of resources in specific areas of their domain. Their lifestyle was dependent upon the land, what the land could provide, and when it could provide it. In the winter months the primary food was dried meat taken from the fall hunts of buffalo, elk and deer, as well as roots and berries that could be found within the region of the winter camp. For the Bannocks, this camp was usually made on the Snake River above Idaho falls at the mouth of Henry's Fork. Mule deer and cottontail rabbits which also wintered in this area provided the Bannocks with an additional source of subsistence. Historically the Shoshones wintered apart from the Bannocks in a region which offered them more protection from their enemies. They tended to spend the winter on the Portneuf River between Pocatello and McCammon, Idaho, and occasionally farther south at Malad City, Idaho. As with the Bannocks, the Shoshones relied on dried buffalo meat from the fall hunt and whatever game could be hunted in their winter encampment.

Spring found both the Bannocks and the Shoshones broken into smaller groups for hunting and in the late spring and summer traveling to fisheries for salmon. Salmon was the main food source in the spring and summer, along with various roots such as that of camas and other plants which could be collected. During the midsummer and fall, the primary activity was the hunt for buffalo and other game animals. At this time of year, roots and plants were collected. Although they were involved in a pattern of cyclical land use, the Shoshones and Bannocks followed their food sources and so they did not have set locations to visit at all times of the year. While plants and to a slightly lesser extent fish, were relatively dependable, larger game was not and thus the Indians had to follow the game to wherever that might lead.¹⁹².

While salmon was an important element in the diet of virtually all Shoshones and Bannocks, seasonal rounds varied between groups - and salmon was most important for those whose seasonal rounds were closest to the salmon bearing rivers.

Most of the subsistence patterns of Shoshone and Bannock bands involved seasonal cycles with different but nonetheless wide ranging migratory movements. There was yet another pattern associated primarily with the Shoshone and Bannock bands who wintered and remained much of the year along the lower and middle reaches of the Snake River and its tributaries.¹⁹³

It should be noted that careful reading of authorities such as Albers et al. (1998) indicate that their geographic definition of "lower" and "middle" Snake River seems to differ from the "Lower Snake"

¹⁹²O'Neil, Floyd A., A. Freedman and G.E. Smoak, 1995. The Land Use Practices and Patterns of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes 1804-1870. Mimeo. September 21. pp. 1-3.

¹⁹³Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. **Supra** at 55.

definition used in the DREW analysis. DREW defines the "Lower Snake" area as extending from approximately Lewiston, Idaho downriver to approximately the confluence with the Columbia River. Albers et al. describe the "lower" Snake River as downstream of the mouth of the Brunei River, and mention the Boise, Payette and Weiser rivers and their sister tributaries, the Owayhee, Malheur and Burnt rivers as being part of this "lower Snake River" territory¹⁹⁴. Much of the Salmon River basin, including the Lemhi and other southern tributaries should also be clearly included in this definition - but as we have identified earlier, there is no reference to regular Shoshone-Bannock subsistence rounds "lower down" on the Snake River between Lewiston and the Snake River mouth at the Columbia. Albers et al. define the "middle" Snake River as extending downstream from Shoshone Falls to the mouth of the Bruneau River¹⁹⁵. For the area they define as the "Lower Snake", Albers et al. note:

The region was rich in food resources. As Julian Steward wrote, "The rivers afforded salmon, the meadows had roots, especially camas, and pasturage for horses, and the low altitude produced mild winters". Indeed, the resources of this region were so abundant that the population who wintered here did not have to move far afield to make their livelihood. And in the salmon season, from the late spring through early fall, it supported an even larger population as the banks of the rivers became filled with Shoshones and Bannocks from the mountainous regions to the north, from the desert highlands to the south and west, and from the upper Snake River plains....Salmon and other fishes were a major part of local diets....

This portion of the Snake River was a major crossroads, where the riparian trails of six major waterways came together. This was a location where Shoshone and Paiute speakers intermingled, where they traded, intermarried, celebrated together, and collaborated in common subsistence pursuits like fishing, and where they also joined ranks in times of conflict and war.¹⁹⁶

Similarly, for the area they describe as the "Middle Snake River", Albers et al. note:

Further upstream from the mouth of the Bruneau to Shoshone Falls, the middle reaches of the Snake also supported a local population who wintered in the area, and during the salmon runs, it hosted peoples from many other locations as well. According to Julian Stewart, the "main economic life" of the groups who wintered on the middle Snake "centered around fishing and seed and root gathering". Like some of the populations who stayed in the river valleys farther west, they wintered at various valley locations near their salmon caches and for protection from the raids of predatory bands. Many of them traveled north to Camas Prairie to dig roots in the early spring and to the mountains north and south of the river to hunt in the fall.

The groups who drew much of their subsistence from this area were identified by several different terms, including Taza Agaitika, "Summer Salmon Eaters", Pia Agaitika, "Big Salmon Eaters",

¹⁹⁴Supra at 55-59.

¹⁹⁵Supra at 59.

¹⁹⁶Supra at 56-58.

Koa'agaitika, "Fish-trap Salmon Eaters", and Yahandika, "Ground Hog Eaters", the last two names also applied to people on the lower Snake....

Although salmon and other fish were the main subsistence pursuit of those who wintered along the middle reaches of the Snake, a variety of insects and roots were also important in local diets. Hunting was not a significant subsistence pursuit in this area.^{197 198}

Considering the information presented here, we reach the following conclusions.

- 1. The Shoshone and Bannock peoples ranged over a vast territory, taking various foods each in its appropriate place and season and depending on the particular areas and circumstances in which each group found themselves.
- 2. The salmon of the Snake River were a significant element of these seasonal rounds for virtually all Shoshone-Bannock peoples and were the principal element of diet for peoples who wintered along the Salmon drainage, and along the Snake River and its tributaries upriver to Shoshone Falls.

5.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Areas of the Shoshone and Bannock Bands

In this section we draw an inferential baseline concerning the lands and waters in the area through which the Shoshones and Bannocks roamed - the "natural capital" that allowed these tribal peoples to survive. In economic terms, the fish, buffalo, other game, roots, berries and additional lifeway materials can be viewed as the natural assets of the Shoshone-Bannock, producing annual material and revenue returns for their people. Tribal and non-tribal peoples often value the annual produce of lands and waters of the Shoshone-Bannock differently - but as our earlier historical section showed, both tribal and non-tribal interests understood that these lands and waters were of great value to those who could gain access to them and utilize them.

As salmon provides the direct linkage between actions at the four Lower Snake dams/reservoirs and Shoshone-Bannock peoples, our estimates will focus there. Hewes (1947) estimated that Bannock, Northern Paiute and Northern Shoshone peoples consumed 50 pounds of salmon per capita per year in pre-contact times¹⁹⁹. This figure may be reasonable for Shoshone-Bannock peoples who wintered at some distance from the "salmon rivers", and only visited them during particular salmon runs. The figure is clearly too low, however, for Shoshone-Bannocks who spent most of the year in close proximity to these rivers (recall previous section 5.1) - particularly when compared to the 583 pounds per capita

¹⁹⁷Supra at 59-61.

¹⁹⁸The Camas Prairie referred to in this quotation is an important resource for all "lower" and "middle" Snake Shoshone and Bannock Indians. It is different from, and south of, the "Camas Prairie" referred to in earlier discussion of Nez Perce seasonal rounds.

¹⁹⁹Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. **Supra** at 227.

median estimate Walker attributed to the Nez Perce²⁰⁰, and up to 500 pounds per capita Hewes attributed to tribes fishing on the mid-Columbia²⁰¹. Given this conclusion, we will employ the following protocol.

- 1. Utilize Hewes' annual estimate of 50 pounds of salmon per capita for Shoshone-Bannock wintering and spending much of their time away from "salmon rivers".
- 2. Apply Walkers' annual estimate of 583 pounds of salmon per capita for tribes immediately to the north to Shoshone-Bannock peoples spending most of their year close to the "salmon rivers" and, following general procedure for other study tribes, adjust this upward by 25 percent (to 729 annual pounds per capita) to allow for harvest taken for trading purposes.
- 3. Utilize population estimates in Murphy and Murphy (1986), adjusted by data from Clemmer and Stewart (1986) and Leland (1986), to distinguish between these two groups.

Murphy and Murphy, citing Stewart, estimate a Shoshone-Bannock population of 3,000 persons during the 1860's²⁰². It is unclear to what degree this estimate accounts for Shoshone and Paiute fishers of the Bruneau and Owyhee drainages, however. Clemmer and Stewart (1986) estimate that about 300 such people agreed to settle at Duck Valley between 1882 and 1886²⁰³. We consequently utilize an 1860's base population estimate of 3,300 persons. Populations of Shoshone and Bannock bands were much higher at contact times – but epidemics ravaged Indian tribes following contact with the Whites. Leland (1986) suggests a depopulation observed in the 20th century²⁰⁴. Applying this ratio to an estimated Shoshone-Bannock population low of 1,688 persons in 1930²⁰⁵ - adjusted upward by 200 Indians at Duck Valley - we obtain a pre-contact (late 1700's) population estimate of 6,400 persons for our Shoshone-Bannock study referent group.

Finally, Murphy and Murphy's estimates break out subpopulations in the Shoshone-Bannock area as follows (Table 9).

Table 9

Estimated Shoshone-Bannock Populations in the 1860's

²⁰⁰Walker, Deward E., 1967. Supra at 19.

²⁰¹Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. **Supra** at 227.

²⁰²Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. **Supra** at 289.

²⁰³Clemmer, Richard O. and Omer C. Stewart, 1986. "Treaties, Reservations, and Claims", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, p. 531.

²⁰⁴Leland, Joy, 1986. "Population", in, The Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin. Vol. 11, Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, p. 609.

²⁰⁵Supra at 612.

Area	Estimated Population	
Fort Hall	1,200	
Lemhi (incl. Shoshone, Banno & Sheepeaters)	ck 1,200	
Boise Shoshone	245	
Bruneau Shoshone	355	

Source: Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. Supra at 289.

The Boise and Bruneau Shoshone clearly would be categorized as fish eaters. Further, some of the Shoshone-Bannocks counted (after resettlment) at the Fort Hall and Lemhi reservations would also fit into the fish eater category - as would many Shoshone-Bannocks settling at Duck Valley. For this calculation, we will categorize 50 percent of Shoshone-Bannocks as salmon eaters, and 50 percent of Shoshone-Bannocks as less frequent users of salmon. On this basis, and utilizing the calculating protocol outlined on the previous page, we arrive at an overall annual per capita salmon consumption estimate for Shoshone-Bannocks of 389 pounds - and a total annual consumption estimate of 2.5 million pounds in the pre-contact period. If we consider the lower human population estimates from the 1860's, our procedures produce an annual fish consumption estimate of 1.3 million pounds for the referent Shoshones and Bannocks.

Finally, using the same procedure as for other study tribes, we expand the Shoshone-Bannock salmon consumption estimate, first to estimate "total food consumption" in historic times - and second to derive a minimum estimate of total produce from Shoshone-Bannock natural resources, expressed in "food equivalents".

We have been unable to identify a direct estimate of the proportionate role that salmon played in the Shoshone-Bannock food cycle. Rather, we assume that the average overall food requirements for the Shoshone-Bannock would have been about the same as for adjacent northern tribes - and follow Lane, Lane and Nash (1981a) in estimating that fish consumption amounted to about 40 percent of total diet for Indians living near the river (Note 118). On this basis, we reach an inferential conclusion that salmon provided an average of about 28 percent of the Shoshone-Bannock diet for all Shoshone-Bannock peoples considered together - wherever they were located²⁰⁶. Proceeding as with other study tribes, this produces an annual "all foods" estimate of Shoshone-Bannock consumption in pre-contact times of approximately 6.0 million pounds - and of 3.1 million pounds in the 1860's.

²⁰⁶Recalling previous discussion, this figure would be substantially higher for Shoshone-Bannock "fish eaters", and lower for Shoshone-Bannock's spending less time along the "salmon rivers".

Again employing a contemporary procedure used by the US Bureau of the Census - which estimates that food accounts for one third of the income requirements of an economy budget for a average family (recall Note 69) - we can infer that the Shoshone and Bannock peoples must have annually obtained both food and non-food items from their usual and accustomed lands and waters "equivalent to" approximately 18 million pounds of food in pre-contact times, and equivalent to 9.3 million pounds of food in the 1860's.

5.3 A Broader Perspective of Shoshone-Bannock Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times

We have already cited information provided by Albers et al.(1998), respecting the resource-rich environment historically available to those Shoshone and Bannock peoples to be found along "salmon streams". More broadly:

Before the era of treaty-making, which began in 1863, the predecessors of the Shoshone and Bannock bands who would later become members of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribe of Idaho ranged over a wide area which extended from the Sweetwater River in Wyoming in the east to the Deschutes River of Oregon in the west and from the Missouri River in the north to the Humboldt River in the south. ... In subsistence, the heart of their range was the Snake River, its tributaries and its sister rivers, the Salmon to the north and the Bear to the south....

These riparian corridors were the routes by which the Shoshone and Bannock bands not only traveled to procure subsistence and engage their trade with neighboring peoples, but they were also the locations of their encampments. The corridors were rich in fish, game and plant resources the Shoshone and Bannocks depended upon for their livelihood. Productive salmon fisheries were located along the Snake River below Shoshone Falls and along the Salmon River to its head waters. These two rivers and the others the Shoshone and Bannocks traveled contained a variety of non-anadromous species which were regularly harvested as well. The banks of the rivers and their affluents held abundant plant grounds where many nutritious roots were dug, an assortment of berries were picked, and a wide range of seeds, grasses and leaves were gathered for food, medicine and other purposes. The valleys supported large and varied animal populations, which included the bison and antelope plains of the upper Snake River, the elk and moose grounds in the Bear River drainage, and the beaver and bighorn trails in the Salmon River basin.²⁰⁷

Considering this and earlier citations, together with additional information contained in identified references, we conclude that while not all Shoshone and Bannock peoples may have matched the affluence of some other tribes, in historic times they seldom lacked subsistence foods - which represented the essential material elements of their existence. While information is limited, it is also reasonable to conclude that, in the sense identified by Bachtold²⁰⁸, the Shoshone and Bannock bands were "fully functional" - able to provide for their own physiological and safety needs, speaking their own

²⁰⁷Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. Supra at 19-20.

²⁰⁸Recall Section 2.1.5.1.

languages, sure of "where they belonged", and viewing themselves as worthwhile members of Shoshone-Bannock society (Figure 6).

Autochthonous Indian trade profited by the arrival of Canadian fur traders and trappers who moved in strong brigades through the Snake River country in the 1820's and 1830's, and by the simultaneous activity of their American competitors who held their summer rendezvous on the Green River in Wyoming. From 1825, when the first great rendezvous took place, and for fifteen years thereafter, not only the nearby Shoshoni and Ute participated in these events; mounted bands of Flathead and Nez Perce, each one counting hundreds of men, women and children, moved for weeks through Shoshoni territory to exchange their peltry and other products for the goods which the American pack trains had brought from St. Louis to the mountains. It was a time of prosperity and mutual amity between Indians and whites.²⁰⁹

This period of amity soon began to change, however.

The discovery of gold in 1860 and the resultant beginning of permanent white settlement brought about a conflict between two divergent cultural forms, the primitive civilization of nomadic hunters, and the commercialized one of settled miners, cattlemen, farmers, and industrialists. ...

In the knotty web of evils which changed the short "period of pleasant contact" into a prolonged period of mutual suspicion there are, first of all, two things to be noted: the disregard of the white immigrants for the need of the natives to exploit resources essential for survival under primitive conditions, and the lack of efficient and impartial control by a superior administrative authority in regulating disputes during the initial and most crucial stage of contact.²¹⁰

Permanent white settlement of Shoshoni territory in Idaho began in 1860 in the Bear River Valley. Contrary to the policy of the United States that the occupation of Indian land could be authorized only after the Indian title to the land had been extinguished by treaty and compensation, the immigration on Bear River proceeded with uncontrolled appropriation of the wintering grounds of the local Shoshoni population. The fertile valley had once been the range center of several numerically strong bands, but extensive trapping operations by white men in the 1820's had been a disturbing moment. In 1863, the major part of the remaining native population, presumably about three hundred individuals who had congregated in their winter village near the town of Franklin, was massacred by a military command under the pretext of executing a punitive action in retaliation of formerly committed depredations.²¹¹

When white men came to stay in the country of the people, they came suddenly and by the thousands; and they took possession of the land without formal relinquishment by its old occupants. With the discovery of gold in the early 1860's on John Day River in Oregon and in the Boise Basin and on Jordan Creek in Idaho, boom towns sprang up almost overnight, and prospectors

²⁰⁹Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. Supra at 20-21.

²¹⁰Supra at 23.

²¹¹Supra at 30.

penetrated every part of the territory. In the wake of the miners, many white settlers brought in livestock which caused rapid destruction of the food plants upon which the Indians depended. Living at a bare subsistence level to begin with and seeing their existence threatened by foreigners who possessed inconceivable resources, the people aimed their flint- pointed arrows at the "white buffaloes", as they called the cattle grazing among the seed patches on the old food-gathering grounds which the newcomers now called their ranches. The unexpected consequences were not long in presenting themselves to the people. Raids by parties of white volunteers organized by miners and settlers on defenseless Shoshoni and Paiute camps became increasingly common. Confounded by fear, the people did not know which way to turn.... The concentration of the native population for mutual protection and the fear of moving about freely made foraging extremely difficult and raids on the white settlements more common. The people soon found themselves hemmed in by a chain of forts and camps, most of the troops being massed in the Boise military district. Detachments continually took the field, scouting southwestern Idaho and southeastern Oregon in search of Indians who, wherever found, were mercilessly slaughtered regardless of sex or age.

In the face of a public opinion favoring extermination of the Indians at any price, the governor of Idaho Territory had meanwhile established contact with the Shoshoni occupying the Boise Valley and with some of the scattered groups south of the Snake River. In 1864 and 1866, he concluded separate treaties with these Indians, who in their own interest consented to go to reservations at the discretion of the United States Government. These treaties were never ratified. However, all Indians still to be found in this corner of Idaho were gradually rounded up by the soldiers and brought into custody near Boise.²¹²

Shoshone and Bannock bands to the north and east, who generally traveled by horseback, faired better during this period.

The principal bands of mounted Shoshoni and Bannock had the good luck to be left to themselves until finally approached by the United States Government for treaty negotiation. By that time, they were well prepared to meet the challenge. On their annual journey of a thousand miles or more from their headquarters on the Snake and Lemhi Rivers to the Camas Prairie in the west and to the far-off buffalo country in the east, they had developed a certain amount of band solidarity - at least in times of distress - and had learned to submit to a more or less temporary leadership of entrusted men who knew how to negotiate with the whites. They were well armed, and had fought the hostile Plains Indians for generations, and they felt that they were perfectly capable of taking care of themselves as long as they were free to come and go where they pleased. Their chiefs claimed that they had always been on friendly terms with the white people they had met so far.²¹³

²¹²Supra at 32-33.

²¹³Supra at 31.

A series of abortive treaty discussions followed. Finally, in 1868, the Fort Bridger Treaty established a reservation of some 1,800,000 acres at Fort Hall, Idaho²¹⁴. This Treaty did not initially include the so-called Lemhi group of Shoshone - who, in 1875, moved to a small reservation created for them by Executive Order, where they continued to live until 1907²¹⁵. Also:

Between 1882 and 1886, about 300 people under Bruneau John, Big Jim and Panguitch consented to locate permanently at Duck Valley under threat of being sent to the Yakima Reservation.²¹⁶

Assignment of a homeland within specific boundaries must have been a difficult concept for the Shoshone and Bannock bands, who roamed over far more extensive areas during their seasonal rounds - and whose culture did not treat land as "owned". In fact, Shoshone and Bannock leaders were very careful that the Fort Bridger Treaty stipulated that they could continue to conduct their seasonal rounds, going to each area and in each season where they knew food would be available. Albers et al. (1999) report:

The Fort Bridger treaty of July 3, 1868 guaranteed the Shoshones and Bannocks reservations, as well as,

...the right to hunt on the unoccupied lands of the United States so long as the game may be found thereon, and as long as peace subsists among the whites and the Indians on the borders of the hunting districts.

There can be little doubt that the (Shoshone-Bannocks) understood fishing as part of this general hunting right. There is no distinction in the Shoshone and Bannock languages between the verbs "to hunt" and "to fish".^{217 218}

The perception by the Shoshone-Bannock of "salmon fishers as hunters" continues today.

NOTICE SHOSHONE-BANNOCK SALMON HUNTERS

The Business Council hereby provides notice to Tribal hunters, salmon monitors, and game wardens..."²¹⁹

"

²¹⁴Supra at 34.

²¹⁵Supra at 37.

²¹⁶Clemmer, Richard O. and O.C. Stewart, 1986. **Supra** at 531.

²¹⁷Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. Supra at 114-115.

²¹⁸This conclusion respecting the symmetry of "to hunt" and "to fish" in Shoshone and Bannock languages was stated by the Court in <u>State of Idaho v. Tinno</u>, Supreme Court of Idaho, 1970.

²¹⁹Fort Hall Business Council, 1998. Preamble to **Fishery Management Notice**. Various dates.

The importance of Shoshone-Bannock off-reservation harvest areas has been further stated in testimony to the U.S. Congress.

The Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, like many other Indian tribes, possess extensive off- reservation federal treaty rights to use federal lands... . The Shoshone-Bannock use rights include hunting, fishing, trapping, gathering of wild foods, grazing of livestock, and cutting of timber... . Exercise of these traditional use rights...reaches to the essence of the Shoshone-Bannock culture and subsistence economy. These traditional activities remain sacred to the Shoshone-Bannock today, just as they were at least 6,000 years before the birth of Christ. ... The history and nature of these treaty rights must be understood. Overriding federal law and the honor of this Nation as well as the states demands no less.²²⁰

Shoshone and Bannock bands removed to the Fort Hall reservation over following years. However, where white settlers saw wealth could be acquired, they paid little or no attention to the Fort Bridger Treaty - or its protections afforded the Shoshones and Bannocks.

White encroachment on the reserved Indian land occurred as usual. Wealthy stockmen who kept cattle grazing on Indian land and even took up residence within the reservation limits, and against whom the (Indian) agent was powerless, could not see how fifteen hundred Indians who had neither cattle nor plows nor any permanent structures of any kind could possibly make use of so much land.²²¹

The circumstances of the Shoshones and Bannocks at Fort Hall were further exacerbated by the fact that neither their prior hunting and fishing experience, nor the resources available to them at Fort Hall, were sufficient to sustain even a moderate level of survival solely on the reservation.

The true establishment of the Fort Hall Reservation began with the arrival of the Boise and Bruneau Shoshones in the spring of 1869, and from the beginning it was clear that survival on the underfunded and undersupplied reservation was going to be a struggle. White officials had no choice but to accept, and indeed encourage, the continuation of traditional subsistence practices. On the one hand, the Shoshones and Bannocks had no desire to give up their traditional life ways. In his first monthly report from Fort Hall, Captain Powell blamed the Indians' "disposition to roam" for their lack of interest in agriculture. He added, "away they went in pursuit of game and fish". Idaho's superintendent of Indian affairs Colonel Lancey Floyd-Jones also recognized that,

They will, very naturally, ask to be permitted to visit when practicable, their hunting and fishing grounds - the Bannocks to hunt the Buffalo, in the vicinity of the Wind River mountains and the Shoshones the fisheries and hunting grounds about the head waters of

²²⁰Testimony by Echohawk, before the U.S. House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, Subcommittee on Mines and Mining, November 22, 1980, in, Johnson, Edward C., 1986.
"Issues: The Indian Perspective", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, p. 593.

²²¹Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. Supra at 34.

the Malad River, which embraces the Kamas grounds of the district, rich in the various roots of which they are exceedingly fond.

On the other, the government never provided an adequate subsistence for the Indians on the reservation. In 1871, Fort Hall Agent Montgomery Berry lamented;

I am not at all astonished at the action of my predecessors in giving the Indians long permits of absence from the reservation, having been obliged to do precisely as they did, viz, push the Indians out on fishing and hunting excursions for the purposes of economy.

Thus, whether pulled by cultural traditions or pushed by hunger, traditional subsistence practices remained crucial for the Indians at Fort Hall.²²²

The agent at Fort Hall was aware of the risk involved each time his protégés took their departure. He urged them to keep at a respectable distance from white settlements and - as he put it himself - from "going any place that might cause a conflict". The Indians gathered their staple food, the camas bulb, in large quantities west of the Big Wood River in the vicinity of the present town of Fairfield, an area generally called "The Camas Prairie". The region was referred to in the Fort Bridger Treaty as "Kansas Prairie", apparently in consequence of the understandable ignorance of the clerk who had couched the text of the treaty. The second article of this treaty explicitly states that "reasonable portions" of the area were to be reserved for the unrestricted use of the Indians. White settlers were nevertheless permitted to move in and use the camas for hog food.²²³

Thus, an undetermined further area of Camas Prairie, assured to the Shoshones and Bannocks in the Treaty of Fort Bridger - but either "taken in error", or "illegally taken because of an error" - were never formally credited as treaty lands - and most of these protected assets were effectively transferred into non-Indian hands. It would seem that this correction of this "error", together with accounting for the "Lemhi reservation" lands, taken back in 1907, would put Shoshone-Bannock original treaty-assured lands at at least two million acres.

As with other study tribes, loss of traditional Shoshone-Bannock assets did not stop with treaty signing.

The first major encroachment on the (Fort Hall) reservation came with the building of the Union Pacific Railroad from Ogden, Utah, through the reservation to the mines of western Montana in 1877, followed two years later by the extension of the railroad to Oregon. As a result of the railroad cessions, and the growth of the city of Pocatello as a transportation hub and center for White

²²²Albers, Patricia, J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. Supra at 116-117.

²²³Liljeblad, Sven, 1973. Supra at 35.

squatters, the boundaries were renegotiated in 1881; by 1900 the reservation acreage was halved. $^{\rm 224\ 225}$

Given the desperate material circumstances of the Shoshone and Bannock peoples, and the threats of violence from Whites, it is not clear that the term "negotiated", contained in the preceding citation, is appropriate. Nonetheless, by whatever means, within approximately twenty years, the Shoshone and Bannock peoples had lost approximately half of the lands they believed they had reserved for themselves in the Fort Bridger Treaty - to the Union Pacific, to Pocatello, and to other White purposes. During this period, preemption by Whites of traditional tribal fishing activities also continued with little or no abatement. For example:

Throughout the 1860s and 1870s, white-owned fish traps which all but prevented runs from ascending the Lemhi River were a source of friction between the Indians and white settlers.²²⁶

Confined to an ever diminishing land area, threatened and abused by white settlers when they attempted to go to their usual and accustomed harvest areas, often finding resources had been preempted or destroyed if they reached those areas - whatever sustaining conditions the Shoshone and Bannock peoples had hoped to achieve by the Fort Bridger Treaty - they found little to sustain themselves in the decades that immediately followed.

5.5 Further Allotment of Lands Reserved to the Shoshone and Bannock Peoples

The Dawes Act of 1887, and the amending Burke Act of 1906, was represented by some proponents as a measure to facilitate entry of tribal peoples into mainstream society - by "allotting" small acreages to individual families, with the proviso that these parcels could subsequently be sold to anyone. In fact, the actual effect of these Acts, and similar measures, was to separate the Indian from still more of his wealth in land.

Beginning...in 1869, there was an attempt to streamline the administration of Indian matters and to apply a uniform policy to all reservations. The purpose of this policy was to de- Indianize the Indians; to make them into rural farmers of Christian faith, literate in English (and preferably speaking no other language), "unfettered" by ancient traditions and customs, and skilled in blue-collar professions that would turn Indian communities into approximations of rural American towns. The cornerstones of this policy were: a resident agent for each reservation; one or more Christian missions for each community; establishment of farming as the dominant economic strategy, regardless of the pre-existing expertise of their inhabitants; removal of all Indians to reservations or creation of reservations around them; and implementation of behavioral codes meant to encourage acculturation. Between 1890 and 1929, the effort to "stamp out nativism" was particularly acute.

²²⁴Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. Supra at 303.

²²⁵The term "White squatters" refers to the fact that the area that is now Pocatello was originally part of the Fort Hall reservation, under the Bridger Treaty.

²²⁶Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1999. Supra at 125.

The effort aimed at banning religious ceremonies, prohibiting Native doctoring, and mandating sectarian Christian instruction in government-operated schools. Those who defied the bans and prohibitions were punished, often with imprisonment for weeks or months. ...

The "pan-reservation" policy must be judged a failure on nearly all counts. First, it should be noted that fewer than 60 percent of all Great Basin Indians were actually on reservations. Even for well settled reservation groups several factors intervened between the implementation and accomplishments of the government goals. One factor was the significant resistance to acculturation and domination, ranging from the Bannock War of 1878 to institution of the Ghost Dance, Cry, and Sun Dance in many communities. A second fact was that most reservations were only marginally suited to agriculture: many lacked adequate water or had water usurped by non-Indian users up-stream. Those that did have adequate water were far removed from transportation facilities and had precariously short growing seasons. Third, local non-Indian interests often worked against the goals of reservation administrators, hoping either to dislodge Indians from desirable lands or to divert water or mineral resources from Indian control. In many cases, administrators and Indians were powerless to halt outright encroachment....

Another reason for failure was the variability in length of contact and reservation-based experiences among (tribal) groups. Mere placement of several different ethnic groups on one reservation did not automatically melt away differences or fuse the groups into a single reservation community.... Finally, the ostensible attempt to create reservation communities of farmers was predicated on a dependency model that set up the agent and his staff as wholesalers of seeds and farming implements, marketers of agricultural products, and caretakers of Indian financial affairs.... At the same time, the world in which Indians were expected to operate was based on a capitalistic model that assumed a primary drive on the part of all human beings to acquire and accumulate wealth naturally and to affix a monetary value to all goods and services. Often, both the dependency and capitalistic models violated Indian systems of ethics and social relationships. Such contradictions resulted in patronized and beleaguered communities that were anything but self-sufficient.²²⁷

With specific reference to the reservation at Fort Hall:

Further shrinkage of (Shoshone-Bannock) reservation lands was brought about by the Dawes Severalty Act of 1887 and the allotment of reservation lands to individual Indian families during the years 1911 to 1916. Aridity and poverty of soil made small holdings infeasible, and the program was largely a failure. Allotment in severalty was terminated by the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934, and as of 1956, there were 277,900 acres of (Shoshone-Bannock) land in allotment, 204,600 acres in tribal ownership, and 41,400 acres in government holdings. The land problems were exacerbated by lack of irrigation water and the fact that the Fort Hall Irrigation Project of 1912 and subsequent water developments mainly benefited White farmers. Add to this the flooding of the Snake River bottomlands by the American Falls Reservoir, the inroads of timber and

²²⁷Clemmer, Richard O. and O.C. Stewart, 1986. Supra at pp. 539-541.

phosphate mining interests, and further cessions for highway and other rights-of-way, and it becomes clear that the integrity of the Fort Hall Reservation has been seriously compromised.²²⁸

Clemmer and Stewart identify the following alienations of tribal Treaty lands of the Shoshone-Bannock, subsequent to 1868 (Table 10).

Table 10

Alienation of Shoshone-Bannock Treaty Lands Subsequent to 1868

Alienating Action	Year	<u>Acreage</u>
Taken by Union Pacific Railroad.	1888	1,840
Taken by Marsh Valley Homesteaders.	1889	297,000
Taken by Congress for homesteading, the city of Pocatello and mining under the Dawes Act.	1900	418,000
Taken by BIA for Lemhi Indians.	1907	325,000
Lemhi Reservation taken for homesteading.	1907	64,000
Taken by Congress for American Falls Reservoir.	1924	28,000
Takings n.e.s.	1950-1971	864

Source: Clemmer, Richard O. and O.C. Stewart, 1986. Supra at 544.

As a result of these policies and actions, by 1956, the Shoshone and Bannock peoples at Fort Hall had only 524,000 acres of marginally productive land left from the approximately two million acres that US

²²⁸Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. **Supra** at 303.

government negotiators told them at the Fort Bridger treaty talks would secure their future²²⁹. The Indians living on the Duck Valley Reservation were not subjected to the allotment procedures²³⁰.

5.6 Shoshone-Bannock Access to Traditional Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas

While the Shoshone-Bannock peoples now living at Fort Hall had lost approximately 74 percent of their Treaty lands by the 1950s, this was not the most serious economic or cultural impediment they have had to deal with. It will be recalled that the Shoshone and Bannock were "roaming" peoples - going to each traditional area at the appropriate time to harvest their natural food sources. It was this seasonal round that assured their survival. And it has been White actions to "corral the Indians off" from such widely dispersed Treaty food sources, or to destroy these sources altogether, that has had the most devastating effect on Shoshone-Bannock wellbeing.

From 1868 through 1877, the hostility of settlers and inadequate facilities of Fort Hall made life virtually impossible for the Bannocks and Snake River Shoshones that had been targeted for relocation to the reservation. For one thing, the reservation had been illegally settled by homesteaders, and the town of Pocatello had become entrenched. For another thing, although Bannocks and Shoshones had been guaranteed access to traditional hunting, gathering and fishing areas the hostility of settlers off the reservation was as great as those encroaching on Fort Hall, and many Indians were so fearful of reprisals that they did not leave the reservation to gather foodstuffs for the winter. Inadequate rations at various times forced the Indians to either starve on the reservation or to risk punishment for leaving to gather food.²³¹

Resistance by non-Indians to tribal use of usual and accustomed harvest places - and action against Indian interest to protect the wealth acquired by non-Indians - has continued through the 20th century. For example, commenting on a tribal vote in the 1930's concerning the Indian Reorganization Act - an Act to provide more empowerment to tribes, Liljeblad (1972) notes:

Rejections were caused in the main by campaigns on a local level from those people, mostly white, who feared that they would lose advantages of one kind or another through the application of a new policy. In his annual report, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs made the following comment:

Joining hands in this campaign of misrepresentation were stockmen who feared that the Indians would run their own stock on the land hitherto leased to white interests; traders who were afraid of losing their business through the competition of Indian consumers' cooperatives; merchants and politicians in white communities on the edge of the reservations; a few missionaries who resented the extension of the constitutional guarantee of religious liberty and freedom of

²²⁹In 1968, the Indian Claims Commission awarded the Eastern Shoshone and Northern Shoshone-Bannock \$15.7 million in compensation for lands taken in southeastern Idaho and Utah. This did not include takings on the Boise River, or on Camas Prairie.

²³⁰Clemmer, Richard O. and O.C. Stewart, 1986. **Supra** at 543.

²³¹Clemmer, Richard O. and O.C. Stewart, 1986. **Supra** at 530-531.

conscience to Indians...; lumber interests which did not want to see Indian tribes exploit their own forest resources.²³²

Even when tribes can secure access to traditional harvest areas, anticipated food resources are often no longer found there. Beginning in contact times with destruction of camas grounds by settlers' pigs, and preemption of tribal salmon catches by non-Indian downstream weirs, a range of activities have progressively acted to change the way in which land and water in Shoshone- Bannock country is combined - to produce electricity, irrigation, minerals and other products of value to the non-Indian - rather than fish to feed the Shoshone-Bannock peoples. Albers, et al. (1999) follow a modern "coyote story" with the following comment.

This newer version of a story where Coyote creates structures along the Snake River is an apocryphal tale, a foreshadowing of the modern era when the building of great concrete dams diminished the salmon runs on the Snake River and confined them largely to locations below the Hell's Canyon Dam. When the older version of this story was told by generations of Neme long past, anadromous species of fish were still abundant along the Snake River below Salmon Falls and throughout the Salmon River basin. ...

Mining was one of the first industrial developments to impact Idaho's water and its fisheries. ...(G)old strikes took place among many watercourses in the heart of the Neme's territorial range. The Boise Basin and the Yankee Fork of the Salmon River were among the locations where the food procurement sites were damaged by mining and where the local Neme were displaced as a result....

Dams, created to harness the hydroelectric power of the Columbia River and to store water for agricultural use, also degraded local fisheries. Dams were constructed on the Columbia and its tributaries until 1975 and scientific studies indicate these dams contributed substantially to the endangerment and extinction of several species of salmon. This took place throughout the salmon's range but it was especially pronounced along the Snake where some of the Neme's richest and most productive fisheries were located in historic times.

More recently, agricultural pesticides have had deleterious effects on riparian environments in the greater Northwest as well.... Whether singly or in combination with one another, agriculture, dams and mining irreversibly changed Idaho's riparian environments; and in the process, they forever altered the Neme's access to many of the traditional fisheries guaranteed them under the Fort Bridger Treaty of 1868.²³³

These actions have seen a Snake River salmon and steelhead all-species historic run size estimated at 2 million+ fish decline by 90 percent, to an estimated 200,000 fish in the mid- twentieth century - and

²³²Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. Supra at 71.

²³³Albers, Patricia C., J. Lowry and G. Smoak, 1998. Supra at 220-222.

decline by half again to about 100,000 salmon and steelhead by the late 1980's.²³⁴ In tribal eyes, these impacts extended well beyond counting fish.

My grandfather explained to me how the elk, as it grows up, eats plants that have nutrition and medicine in them. It stores these things in its body as it grows - and carries the medicine with it. One day, at the right time, we go and hunt it. Often we put it away for the winter, when we need the protein. Same with the salmon.

When the willows turn a certain color, the old people tell us, "it's time to go fish" - when it turns a little yellower, "the summer run's coming". We don't see that anymore. Once you put the dams in, those willows are gone - that identify the time to go fishing. Its the whole river system - the gravels, the sage - it all adds up.

It takes a long time to learn these things - sometimes a whole lifetime to learn about the river - sometimes a whole lifetime to learn to talk Indian - that's what I always tell the kids. You have your whole lifetime to speak Indian - don't give up because someone blasts you.

And that also applies to the salmon. Our people have always talked to the salmon - to the animals. For they also have a spirit. You can't get away from it.²³⁵

The tribes were never consulted when they were building the dams. There are sacred sites all along where they built the dams. That's the places where our people used to go to get the fish and to pray. Today we can't do that because the dams destroyed these places - and in that way, they've destroyed our customs and traditions.

Not only that - but today we have no fish. Water quality is way below where it should be. I don't believe in "EPA standards". We need to consider that "pristine means pristine" - and not try to depend on just what the scientist thinks.

When they base all their decisions on human consumption, they forget to look at the fish. They forget to look at the resources that grow along the river. They forget to look at the alkali that's with the system - the gravel - the land. It's all part of the river.²³⁶

Some non-Indians say; "All these bad things happened before I got here." But it was their forefathers who displaced the Indians - who raped our mothers and our daughters - who killed the children - and then forced us to go to different areas because of precious metals - because they wanted the water - because they wanted the forests. These are the ugly histories they say do not

²³⁴Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority, 1990. Integrated System Plan for Salmon and Steelhead Production in the Columbia River Basin. Portland, pp. 25-121.

²³⁵Hobby Hevewah, Shoshone-Bannock Councilor, at Fort Hall, July 17, 1998. Personal communication.

²³⁶Supra.

pertain to them - yet unfortunately some of us still carry the hurt and pain within our hearts. Some of that old history will hopefully be remembered some day - because they did it to us. They need to know it was their forefathers.

One way of correcting that is to recognize our Treaty. Too many times the non-Indian complains: "Why do the Indians come here?" "Why do they get a fish free?" Now you know why! Because of their forefathers! And one way of correcting that is by going back and recognizing what they did. It's Ugly! Totally Ugly! ²³⁷

5.7 Post-Contact Shoshone-Bannock Health

The Shoshone and Bannock peoples considered in this study were also adversely affected by contact with new "white man's diseases" against which they had no immunity - and by 1873 their population is estimated at just under 2,000 persons²³⁸. Leland (1986) provides estimated Shoshone and Bannock populations from that date forward until 1950 (Table 11).

Estimated Historic Populations of the No Year(s)	rthern Shoshone and Bannock Peoples - Selected Years Population
Pre-contact	3,000
1873	1,937
1890	1,925
1910	1,699
1930	1,688

Table	1	1
-------	---	---

²³⁷Supra.

²³⁸Leland, Joy, 1986. **Supra** at 609.

Sources: Murphy, Robert F. and Y. Murphy, 1986. **Supra** at 289. Leland, Joy, 1986. **Supra** at 609-612.

1950

By 1950, Shoshone-Bannock populations were recovering. However, information from Knack (1986) makes clear that the **linkages suggested by Bachtold and Trafzer between poverty and ill health were evident among Shoshone and Bannock peoples in the recent past.**

2.292

(In 1963) (t)he average cash income per employed worker (at the Fort Hall Reservation) was \$1,780, or \$540 per capita.... Over 12 percent of the population earned less than \$100, and 42 percent earned less than \$300 per year.... In 1950, the income of Idaho non-Indians was 36 percent greater than the average at Fort Hall, and in 1967, it was more than twice the Indian average.

The social consequences of this economic situation were plain... Only 5 percent of Fort Hall housing was rated as comparable to that of surrounding rural non-Indians.... Fort Hall houses were small, substandard and crowded....

The Fort Hall study documented another social result of the economic situation, its effect on the health of the people. While, like Indians generally, they had lower than state and national rates of death due to cancer and heart disease, many other categories were disproportionately high - 3.66 times the Idaho rate for accidents, 4.25 times the influenza and pneumonia, 15.5 times the tuberculosis, 89 times the dysentery, 29 times the meningitis, and 29 times the deaths due to measles. All these categories can be attributed to poor and uninsulated housing, unsanitary water sources and waste disposal, and inadequate and untimely health care. In short, "the single worst factor found in relation to diseases at Fort Hall is the general living conditions of the people".²³⁹

5.8 Present Circumstances of the Shoshone and Bannock Peoples

Previous sections have reviewed the cumulative adverse effects on the Shoshone and Bannock peoples from progressive destruction of their Treaty-based and other resource assets - and the transfer of benefits from those resources to non-Indians. This section considers whether any significant recent changes have occurred with respect to these adverse trends - and assess the present circumstances of the Shoshone-Bannock peoples.

5.8.1 Remaining Shoshone-Bannock Lands and Resources

²³⁹Knack, Martha C., 1986. "Indian Economies, 1950-1980", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 575-576.

In 1996, the Native American population in and adjacent to the Fort Hall reservation stood at approximately 3,700 persons²⁴⁰ - up somewhat from our pre-contact estimate. In addition, 1,003 Native Americans were reported resident on the Duck Valley Reservation by the 1990 Census²⁴¹. Lands of the Shoshone-Bannock Reservation have increased slightly from levels of the 1950's, to approximately 544,000 acres - with about 3 percent of these lands held in fee simple²⁴². Thus, the Shoshone-Bannock today exist on approximately 27 percent of the Reservation lands they believed they had secured in 1868. From an economic perspective, much of this land is marginal. The Duck Valley Reservation consists of 293,700 acres - virtually all in tribal ownership²⁴³.

Contrary to the Fort Bridger Treaty with the United States, the Shoshone-Bannock peoples were also deprived of access to most of their off-Reservation subsistence resources - the lifeblood of their traditional way of living - well before the modern era. While attempts to fish, hunt and gather off-reservation continue, success is now low. The extensive trade in salmon and game once conducted by the Shoshones and Bannocks has now disappeared - with such meager harvests as can be obtained retained for subsistence purposes. Even more adverse, where access to such resources is obtained by the Shoshone-Bannock, they often find that their traditional resource assets have been destroyed - for example, above Hells Canyon, and at Duck Valley, where the salmon that used to swim up the Bruneau and Owyhee Rivers are gone. This conversion of the land and water of the Shoshone-Bannock treaty territory to non-Treaty uses has a long history - starting with the destruction of camas grounds at Camas Prairie in the 1800's, continuing through the shutting off of salmon from extensive areas of Shoshone-Bannock fishing territory in the 1950s and 60s, and incorporating extensive use of waters - depended on by Shoshone-Bannock - as waste depositaries for agriculture and industry in the present day.

The Pacific Northwest River Basins Commission (1974) reported that "as many as 17,000 fall chinook and 10,000 steelhead were recorded as once having migrated annually into and through the Hell's Canyon reach of the Snake River"²⁴⁴. These runs are now gone - and the run size for Snake River salmon and steelhead was reported down to 5 percent of its historical levels by the 1980's²⁴⁵. The runs are lower still today. Shoshone-Bannock members harvested approximately

2,000 pounds of salmon in 1997 - and only for subsistence purposes²⁴⁶. For the ten year period 1989-1998, Shoshone-Bannock salmon harvests have averaged 795 pounds annually. **This figure is less than one-tenth of one percent of estimated Shoshone Bannock harvest near Treaty times.** It is approximately one-third of one percent of estimated pre-contact Shoshone-Bannock harvests.

²⁴⁰Shoshone-Bannock Tribes. 1998.

²⁴¹US Bureau of the Census, 1990. CP-2-1a, p. 5.

²⁴²Office of Legal Counsel, Shoshone-Bannock Tribes. Personal communication, 1998.

²⁴³Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. **Supra** at 52.

 ²⁴⁴Pacific Northwest River Basins Commission, 1974. Anatomy of a River. Portland, p. 85.
 ²⁴⁵See Table 4.

²⁴⁶Shoshone-Bannock Department of Fisheries, 1998. Draft 1998 Shoshone-Bannock Tribes Anadromous Fish Recovery and Management Plan. May 15.

But even these stark statistics understate the impact of these resource losses as seen through Shoshone Bannock eyes.

The tribes have looked at the river as a system, a life giving entity that provided for our needs. My grandfather was a medicine man. One day he showed me a spring out here. He talked to the water and said, "Your soul and the water's soul can communicate." The water had religious as well as life-giving properties. Now there are no more medicine men. Up on the Salmon River, my grandfather walked on the backs of salmon. That's something that was once ours. I wish we had it today. A lot of things have been lost. How you pray has pretty much been lost. Now we hire engineers and identify and quantify our "needs" for water. Mankind invented dams and pipes and sprinklers and all these wonderful things and spent a lot of money screwing up the river. Now, no one will spend the money to correct the problems. Now we dam the river and hold the water hostage.²⁴⁷

5.8.2 A General Assessment of Present Shoshone-Bannock Material Circumstance

Present-day Shoshone-Bannock circumstances caused by this cumulative destruction of tribal trust resources and transfer of tribal wealth to non-Indians can also be seen in contemporary statistical data. Table 12 compares the relative economic circumstances of the Shoshone-Bannock peoples with peoples in Idaho and Oregon as a whole.

Table 12

Comparative Data Showing the Relative Circumstances of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes

Economic Indicator Shoshone-Bannock Idaho Oregon

²⁴⁷Arnold Appenay, Shoshone-Bannock Council Member, in, Palmer, Tim, 1991. The Snake River: Window to the West. Washington, D.C: Island Press, p. 42.

Families in Poverty(%)	43.8	9.7	12.4
Unemployment: US Census (%) : BIA	26.5 80.0*	6.1	6.2
Per Capita Income (\$'000)	4.6	11.5	13.4

*The US Bureau of the Census employs a relatively liberal "employment" standard. BIA's employment measure requires employment over a longer period of time to qualify. The higher BIA unemployment figure is judged to better reflect the degree of material difficulty the Shoshone-Bannock experience - particularly in winter months.

Source: US Bureau of the Census - 1990 Census of Population: Social and Economic Characteristics - American Indian and Alaska Native Areas. 1990 CP-2-1A.
: US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1995. Indian Service Population and Labor Force Estimates.

At present, Shoshone-Bannock employment at Fort Hall depends principally on phosphate-related industrial activity, tribal governance, gaming and a cluster of small businesses near the highway - consisting of a trading post, clothing store, restaurant and truck stop - as well as a tribal farm. Principal employment of Fort Hall Shoshone-Bannock members is identified in Table 13.

Table 13

Principal Employment of Shoshone-Bannock Members

Activity	No. Employed
Phosphate industry	500
Governance	290
Gaming	139
Tribal enterprises	85

Source: TERO Office. Shoshone-Bannock Tribe. June, 1998.

In summer, an additional approximately 150 jobs may be obtained in construction²⁴⁸. These figures are slightly improved from levels of 1995, chiefly due to an expanded tribal gaming business²⁴⁹. However,

²⁴⁸TERO Office. Shoshone-Bannock Tribe. June, 1998.

this improvement still leaves approximately 68 percent of the Shoshone-Bannock potential work force unemployed in summer - and unemployment rises to an estimated 72 percent in winter months. Further, some Idaho politicians, in a manner fully consistent with their historic predecessors, have been attempting, under cover of law, to capture substantial portions of Shoshone-Bannock gaming revenue for non-tribal interests - thus putting the modest employment gains Shoshone-Bannocks have been able to achieve over the past few years at risk.

The economy at Duck Valley is similarly bleak, with the 1990 Census reporting 35 percent of Indian families living below the poverty line and 25 percent unemployment²⁵⁰. The US Bureau of Indian Affairs reports 48 percent unemployment on the Idaho portion of the Duck Valley Reservation in 1995²⁵¹.

5.8.3 Shoshone-Bannock Tribal Health

Shoshone-Bannock tribal health indicators reflect the adverse conditions previously described. The Fort Hall Service Unit of the Indian Health Service serves Bannock, Bingham, Caribou, Lemhi and Power counties. Indian Health Service (1994) reports that the age-adjusted death rate for Indians in the Fort Hall Service Area exceeded that for "all other races" by 2.3 times²⁵². Table 14 provides comparative data for the 6 leading causes of tribal death.

Table 14	Table 14
----------	----------

Leading Causes of Tribal Death - Fort Hall Service Area: 1989-1991			
Cause of Death	<u>Native American</u> deaths p	All Other Races per 100,000 popul	
Heart Disease	338.8	121.5	2.8
All Other Accidents	104.6	20.3	5.2
Malignant Neoplasms	112.9	108.9	1.0
Cirrhosis of the Liver	56.3	6.5	8.7
Diabetes Mellitus	69.9	11.9	5.9

Source: US Indian Health Service, 1994. Supra at 47.

²⁴⁹Office of Legal Counsel. Shoshone-Bannock Tribe.

²⁵⁰US Bureau of the Census, 1990. 1990 CP-2-1A, pp. 58 & 84.

²⁵¹US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1995. Indian Service Population and Labor Force Estimates. p.14.

²⁵²US Indian Health Service, 1994b. Supra at 24.

Motor vehicle accidents are also a significant killer of Shoshone-Bannock peoples, accounting for 5.9 percent of deaths in the 1989-1991 period²⁵³.

A 1996 "Community Needs Assessment", conducted on the Fort Hall Reservation by the Shoshone-Bannock Health and Human Services Department, in collaboration with Centers for Disease Control (Atlanta, GA), confirms the problematic nature of Shoshone-Bannock health²⁵⁴. In its Executive Summary, that report notes:

Despite great improvements in recent decades, the health of Native Americans continues to lag behind that of the overall United States population. For the period 1989-1991, life expectancy was still about three years shorter for Indians than for the U.S. white population. Most of the major causes of death that are considerably more prevalent among Indians than among other Americans are related to individual behaviors, especially alcoholism, diabetes and intentional and unintentional injuries. Thus, any efforts aimed at substantially reducing mortality and improving health among Native Americans must recognize the importance of the behavior of individuals and not be limited to the provision of medical care.²⁵⁵

As Bachtold (Note 66) and Trafzer (Note 73) point out, when peoples are denied the opportunity for meaningful activity, separated from essential elements of their very "Indianness" and treated unjustly at almost every turn, such unacceptable levels of adverse health can be predicted.

Significant improvements in Tribal health services continue to be made on the Fort Hall Reservation²⁵⁶. But many of the health problems already cited remain.

A lot of our people suffer from diabetes, high blood pressure, alarmingly high triglyceride levels. We have a lot of overweight kids, low levels of immunization - we have a lot of people with low hemoglobins, who suffer from anemia. In our present existence, high calorie/low nutrient foods are characteristic of diets on the reservation.²⁵⁷

Many of our accidental deaths involve drugs or alcohol. Generally, this does not involve kids who are brought up in traditional ways.²⁵⁸

²⁵³Supra at 46.

²⁵⁴Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 1997. Community Needs Assessment. Health and Human Services Department, in collaboration with Centers for Disease Control (CDC).

²⁵⁵Supra at 1.

²⁵⁶Allison Blacksmith, Nutritionist. Fort Hall Tribal Clinic. Personal communication. July 16, 1998.

²⁵⁷Supra.

²⁵⁸Jim Cutler, Director of Tribal Health. Shoshone-Bannock Tribes. **Personal communication**. July 16, 1998.

According to Shoshone-Bannock leaders and experts, the health of the salmon and the health of tribal peoples are interrelated.

When you're at a young age and catch your first salmon, he had what the white man calls "a ceremony". He first experiences the enjoyment of the catch. Then he says a prayer that he'll be able to catch another one. It is the same when we cut a tree. We talk to the tree, and tell it what we are going to use it for. In this way, the young person broadens his senses - understands more about who he is.

The biggest step is to give his catch to someone. That puts him on the right trail - it ties him to the land and to the people. And somehow, after you've done that, its easier to hunt for your fish and game. You know where to go - what to see - what to smell - what to look for.

It all adds up, and it all comes back to being Indian. That's when you earn respect from your people - it ties you to the earth. When you go through that, you appreciate your father's and your peoples' teaching.²⁵⁹

This quote from a Tribal leader gives definition to some of the requirements that Bachtold identifies to be requisite for development of the healthy personality. More clinically:

Loss of the salmon is one of the significant reasons for the health problems our people have. Fish would be a good preventative tool for many of the complications our young people are facing today - such as obesity, which turns to diabetes, kidney disease and so on. Salmon contain high levels of omega-3 fatty acids, and its consumption benefits the diabetic. These fatty acids also reduce blood pressure, assist prevention of arthritis, lower cholesterol and triglyceride levels, and provide other health benefits. It has also been reported that such fatty acids are important for brain development and function - which has particular relevance for our young people. Fishing also provides exercise - which is important for health.

Hunting and fishing is an effective health preventative. In addition to the other benefits I have mentioned, it also provides mentorship and self-esteem²⁶⁰.

Finally, in historic times, every Shoshone or Bannock person spoke their own language. Today, according to US Bureau of the Census data, only 34 percent of people at Fort Hall speak their "own language" in their home²⁶¹. Even at the more isolated Duck Valley Reservation, only 38 percent of Shoshone-Bannock peoples are estimated to speak their own language²⁶².

²⁵⁹Hobby Hevewah. **Supra**.

²⁶⁰Allison Blacksmith. **Supra**.

²⁶¹US Bureau of the Census, 1990. CP-1-1A, p. 34.

²⁶²Supra at 33.

As with other study tribes, present circumstances of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes are also characterized by the type of Maslow hierarchy diagram suggested by Bachtold (Figure 7).
6.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the People of the Yakama Indian Nation

This section provides information on past and related present circumstances of the fourteen tribal peoples who now form the Yakama Indian Nation (Table 2)²⁶³. Expected effects of Lower Snake project options will be discussed in the later project impacts section of this report.

6.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Harvest Rounds of the Peoples of the Yakama Indian Nation

In pre-contact times the peoples now living together as the Yakama Indian Nation (YIN) ranged over 12 million acres²⁶⁴, from the confluence of the Columbia and Methow Rivers southwesterly along the Columbia to the Cascade Range²⁶⁵. This territory included Mount Adams in the Cascades and the north side of the Snake River, downstream of the confluence of the Palouse²⁶⁶. From this territory, traveling parties of the peoples now described as the Yakama also fished, hunted and/or traded westward as far as the rivers flowing into Puget Sound, and eastward as far as the buffalo country. Above all, the Yakama were people of the land.

In the beginning, our Creator spoke the word and the earth was created. He spoke the word again and all living things were put on earth. And then He said the word and we, the people, were created and planted here on this earth.

We are like the plants on this earth. Our food was put here as plants to feed us; just like when we plant a garden. That is the way our earth was in the beginning.

²⁶³Yakama is the present spelling utilized by the Yakama Indian Nation. In earlier written references, <u>Yakima</u> was the spelling most often used.

²⁶⁴Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation, 1977. The Land of The Yakimas. Toppenish, p. 10.

²⁶⁵Selam, Leroy B., 1975. The Yakima Indians: Study and Analysis of the Yakima Water Rights. Masters Thesis. Oregon State University. Corvallis, p.23.

²⁶⁶Lane & Lane and D. Nash, 1981a. Supra at 21.

There were salmon, deer, elk, and all kinds of birds. It is as if our bodies are the very end of the earth, still growing while our ancestors are all buried in the ground.

He named everything he created. He put water on this earth. He made it flow into the rivers and lakes to water this great garden and to quench the thirst of the people, the animals, plants, birds and fish.

He took the feet of the people and made them walk on the earth. He created the horse; which is like a human being. He put the horse and the people together to help one another.

All the land where we live and where our ancestors lived was created for the [Indian] people.²⁶⁷

...the Yakima today still live on the same land that has been a part of their traditional territory for thousands of years. Their roots are deeply sunk into the earth. Their sense of identity is clear. As a result, many of the Yakima's cherished traditions still live, imparting a sense of the wisdom that sustained the people in the past and enabled them to survive into the present.²⁶⁸

The land don't belong to the Indian; the Indian belongs to the land.²⁶⁹

As did their neighbors, the Yakama peoples of the pre-contact era lived with the land - following seasonal rounds of fishing, hunting and gathering - in each usual and accustomed location at the appropriate time and season.

The Yakima derived their subsistence primarily by fishing and by gathering wild plants, but they supplemented their supply by hunting. In order to obtain as much food as possible, they traveled to wherever plants or wildlife were most plentiful during a specific time of year. Although the camps they established at these sites were temporary, they had an air of permanence because people tended to return to the same areas year after year.²⁷⁰

A general sense of these seasonal rounds is provided in Table 15.

²⁶⁷Excerpted from "The Way It Was: Anaku Iwacha, Yakima Indian Legends", in, Schuster, Helen H., 1990. The Yakima. New York: Chelsea House Publishers, p. 13.

²⁶⁸Schuster, Helen H., 1990. Supra at 19.

²⁶⁹Robert Jim, 1972, in, Schuster, Helen H., 1990. Supra at p. 21.

²⁷⁰Schuster, Helen H., 1990. Supra at 21.

Table 15

A General Profile of the Seasonal Rounds of the Yakama Peoples

Time of Year	Characteristics of the Period
February.	Snow begins to melt - and Yakamas begin to break winter camps in the Valley bottoms. Before leaving these camps they harvested the first plant food of the new year - a wild celery called khasija.
Late February	The Yakama arrived at fishing stations on the Columbia, Lower Snake and
& into March.	Yakima rivers, and their tributaries. These rivers teemed with early run salmon (nusukh), including chinook, silver, sockeye and chum. The Yakama also fished for steelhead, resident trout, sturgeon, suckers and lampreys.
Late April.	Harvests from fishing sites declined, and the Yakama moved to root-digging grounds - where the women gathered more than 20 varieties of roots, and the men hunted for deer, and other wildlife such as elk, bear, wolves, foxes, mountain sheep and goats, and birds.
June.	Families returned to fishing sites to harvest the second salmon run of the season.
July.	Families moved to cooler higher elevations, where the men hunted and the women gathered wild plants.

August.	Many Yakama families traveled south to the Klikitat territory to gather roots. They traded with other Indian groups and fished for trout.			
	In mid-month, women and girls, guarded by an older man or a boy, went into the mountains to pick huckleberries.			
Early Fall.	Families began to return to the river valleys for the fall fish runs. Often, these fishing centers were also places for extensive trade between tribal groups. Families gathered and stored the supplies they would need for winter, and some men went into the mountains to hunt deer and elk.			
Mid-November.	Families returned to their winter camps in the valley bottoms, which were protected from severe winter weather. They repaired their homes for winter, made tools and needed clothing during this quiet time. They remained there until snow-melt, socializing, and living on the roots, berries, salmon, venison and other foods they had gathered in previous months. Sometimes, the men ventured out to do limited hunting during this winter period.			

Source: Developed from, Schuster, Helen H., 1990. The Yakima. pp. 21-25.

Of the resources of the "land" which the Yakama depended on, water was first, salmon was second, and the other food sources were also required, each in its season.

Since immemorial days we have had great prophets to guide our laws that had been established for us to follow and which we do so at the present knowing the living God still exists; first, the water; second, the salmon; third, the big game; fourth, the roots; and fifth, the berries. All of which we used each year to give thanks to our living God, which when first taken are new to us each year, in other words "communion" with our living God through the water and the food he provides us with each year.²⁷¹

We were talking about the essence of the teaching as our Creator handed down to our people, which has been handed down through centuries or through generations. And I always sing that song before we eat and when I'm coming back from services. That's at the Longhouse with the Seven Drum religion. And this song does explain the three promises God made to mankind, not just to Indian people, to mankind: that the food would always be plentiful if it's carefully been kept, and used in care and respect for the food itself. The first food is salmon to us; that's our first food. And we recognize that, as such, without it our life would not have its full potential as far as our existence is concerned.... (T)he salmon goes and then comes back. The old ones give up their life for the new

²⁷¹Martin Hannigan, Chairman, Yakima Tribal Council, Letter, to K.R.L. Simmons, Yakima Tribal Attorney, Billings Montana. August 9, 1949.

ones, just like the mother gives birth to young. That is what we're taught -- to show respect and have empathy for the salmon.²⁷²

Since the beginning of time -- since time immemorial the people of the YAKIMA NATION have been told the history of our ancestors and their ancestors before them by our tribal elders. History and legends are kept and handed from one generation to the next generation.

Ranking first is our Creator's most precious gifts of water, and land -- Mother Earth. These he gave us for our daily use, our sustenance, our survival. He blessed the waters and instructed our First Peoples to take care of the water because it is there for a reason. For without water nothing can survive. There would be no rivers, streams or creeks for our salmon, trout, eels; No trees (forests), plants, roots (edible and medicinal) berries. There would be no animal life - no life at all.

It has been this way since our Creator placed us in this part of the world and instructed our First Peoples in the care, and the gathering of all fish, game, fowl, roots and berries. Creator chose certain men and women of the First Peoples to be teachers and showed them what fishes, animals and fowls that were allowed to give up their lives to sustain ours; what plants, roots and berries we could use to keep our bodies healthy and strong. He taught our Old Ones which trees and grasses we could use for shelter, for processing and storage of our foods. Nothing is to be wasted, and so Creator taught us how to replenish all that He provided for our sustenance. Our Creator taught us how to survive on what he provided.

The Old Ones say the Creator told them to follow his path, a path of religion that would be in gratitude to Him for all that is provided for our sustenance and our life. Our religion begins all meals with His first blessing -- water, followed by Salmon, the deer/elk, first roots and berries. All meals conclude with water as we were instructed by the Creator.

Creator's second gift of life to the Yakima Indians is the Salmon. Salmon was placed in the Columbia and in its tributaries for us to harvest as the Creator said the salmon was to help nurture and sustain us. In return for the gift -- we are to care for the waters that sustain the salmon.²⁷³

Outside experts have reached similar conclusions with respect to the role of fishing in Yakama traditional life.

Fishing was a major economic activity for the Yakima. Some early writers referred to salmon as the "main staple" and "chief food resource"; and as a single item it probably was.²⁷⁴ ²⁷⁵

- ²⁷³Aguilar, Florence L., 1995. Yakama Indian Nation, Cultural Resources Program. Memorandum to Johnson Meninick. May 29.
- ²⁷⁴Schuster, Helen H., 1975. Yakima Indian Traditionalism: A Study in Continuity and Change. Phd. Dissertation. University of Washington, Seattle, pp. 69-70.

 ²⁷²Tom Eli, at Toppenish, October 22, 1982. Oral Testimony, in, Meyer Resources, 1983.
Supra at 39-40.

6.2 Natural Capital and Annual Productive Yield of Original Yakama Lands and Other Resource Assets

In economic terms, the lands, waters and salmon producing capacity of the traditional territories of the Yakama peoples represented the "natural capital" upon which they depended. This natural capital produced the annual harvests of salmon and other fishes, of game, and of roots, berries and plants that allowed the peoples who are now called the Yakama to survive and prosper. As noted earlier, salmon was the key element of this annual produce.

Hewes estimated that the Yakima, Klikitat, Palus and Wanapum peoples would have consumed approximately 400 pounds of salmon per person per year in pre-contact times (approx. 1780), based on caloric requirements²⁷⁶. Walker identified additional uses of salmon, for example, for fuel, and suggested a median consumption of salmon per capita of 583 pounds for Plateau tribes²⁷⁷. Swindell identified that tribes of the mid-Columbia caught salmon for trade as well as for their own consumption - with one respondent indicating that a family on the river would catch a third more additional salmon for trading purposes.

Allowing for Hewes' differentiation between consumption rates for downriver tribes and his average rates for the Plateau (+9.6%), adjusting to coincide with Walker's median estimate, and increasing harvest by a further 25 percent as a discounted adjustment for Swindell's trade observation, we estimate an annual per capita salmon catch for the peoples now known as the

Yakama Indian Nation of approximately 800 pounds in pre-contact times. This also coincides with the upper range of Walker's average estimate for all Plateau tribes²⁷⁸.

Schuster estimates that, prior to contact in about 1805, and ensuing epidemics, the population of Upper and Lower Yakima bands was approximately 7,000 persons²⁷⁹. Estimates of the population of Yakima bands at Treaty times (1855) vary from 2,000 persons (Schuster²⁸⁰ and Selam²⁸¹), to approximately 3,000 persons (McWhorter²⁸²), and to 3,500 persons (Fitch²⁸³).

²⁷⁵See also, Smith, Courtland L., 1979. Salmon Fishers of the Columbia. Corvallis: Oregon State University Press, pp. 6-7.

²⁷⁶Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. **Supra** at 237.

²⁷⁷Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 19.

²⁷⁸Supra.

 ²⁷⁹Schuster, Helen H. The Yakimas: A Critical Bibliography. American Indian Bibliographical Series. Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press, p. 22.

²⁸⁰Supra.

²⁸¹Selam, Leroy B. **Supra** at 30.

²⁸²McWhorter, Lucullus V., 1913. The Crime Against the Yakimas. Yakima: Republic Print, p. 5.

²⁸³Fitch, James B., 1974. Economic Development in a Minority Enclave: The Case of the

Using the middle 1855 estimate of 3,000 persons, and our per capita annual harvest estimate of 800 pounds - we estimate that peoples of what is now the Yakama Indian Nation likely harvested approximately 5.6 million pounds of salmon annually prior to contact, and approximately 2.4 million pounds of salmon in the mid-1800's.

Lane, Lane and Nash estimated that Yakima fish consumption in pre-contact times amounted to approximately 40 percent of total food consumption, based on estimates from the nearby Umatilla peoples²⁸⁴. On this basis, and using the extrapolations discussed previously for other tribes, total annual food consumption by Yakama bands is estimated at 9.2 million pounds in pre-contact times, and at 3.9 million pounds in 1855.

Finally, use of the US Bureau of the Census estimate that contemporary families on an economy budget spend one third of their income on food²⁸⁵, would result in an estimate that Yakama bands gathered both food and non-food items from their usual and accustomed lands and waters equivalent to 28 million pounds of food in pre-contact times, and equivalent to 12 million pounds of food in 1855.

6.3 A Broader Perspective of the Living Circumstances of Yakama Peoples in Pre-Contact Times

Expert assessment suggests that the Yakama peoples were generally well off in pre-contact times.

The rich environment of the Yakima homeland allowed prehistoric peoples to prosper there.²⁸⁶ Throughout this vast primeval (Yakama) expanse the accumulated wealth of millions of years was deep buried or heaped upon the land. Other wealth swam in the seldom silent rivers, congested at the fisheries along the Columbia or winged low above the marshes.²⁸⁷

In these times, Yakama wellbeing extended across material and spiritual lifeways.

The People's survival from year to year, generation to generation, was assured. Their way of life was in rhythm with nature. Earth and life were sacred. The land taught material and spiritual values.²⁸⁸

The relationship of the Yakama to the earth, animals, and plants was far more than economic. It was a spiritual relationship that originated at the beginning of time. This axiom is at the heart of

Yakima Indian Nation, Washington. Phd. Dissertation. Stanford University, p. 75.

²⁸⁴Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981b. **The White Salmon River Indian Fisheries**

and Condit Dam. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs, Portland, p. 68.

²⁸⁵Recall Note 69.

²⁸⁶Schuster, Helen H., 1990. **Supra** at 16.

²⁸⁷Relander, Click, 1962. **Strangers on the Land**. Yakima, WA: Franklin Press, p. 5.

²⁸⁸Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation, 1977. Supra at 3.

Yakama tradition, culture, and history, and without an appreciation of the significance of the earth and spiritual beliefs, there is little understanding of any aspect of Yakama history.²⁸⁹

Although the Indians of the Columbia Plateau did not live a utopian life before white contact, their standard of living was relatively high due to diet, climate, housing, and availability of resources. Most tribes, even those from other language families, coexisted in relative peace, sharing food resources, geography, and ceremonies.... Yakama people "knew what to expect as causes of death. Predictability is of course, a staple of human existence."²⁹⁰

It was as Wa-tum-nah said in his predictions, "We are a happy people - but it would not always remain so".²⁹¹

As with other neighbor tribes, pre-contact Yakama peoples exhibited the physiological, safety, belongingness and love, and self-esteem characteristics required for a fully functional society, outlined by Maslow, and cited in Bachtold²⁹² (Figure 8).

²⁸⁹Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. **Supra** at 23-24.

²⁹⁰Supra at 71-72.

²⁹¹Selam, Leroy B., 1975. Supra at 23-24.

²⁹²Bachtold, L.M., 1982. Supra at 19.

6.4 Changes in Yakama Circumstances Following the Treaty of 1855

As with neighbor tribes, the coming of the white man resulted in great changes for the Yakama peoples.

Life changed for us forever on the morning of October 17, 1805. On this date the Lewis and Clark Expedition arrived at the confluence of the Taptette (Yakima) and the Ench-wana (Columbia) Rivers....

After Lewis and Clark came other explorers, fur trappers and traders. These strangers were welcomed as guests, and as tradition required, were extended our hand in friendship....

America's growing population was moving west. They came along the trails through our Valley urged on by the discovery of gold and the desire for land.... Our people watched these events with growing concern....

In 1850 Congress enacted the Donation Act which invited settlers to occupy the Pacific Northwest Lands. No longer was the white man a visitor. He began to live on our land, and he now wanted to divide it up and own it privately for himself. Our People could not conceive of buying and selling land, of owning a part of Nature for oneself. We stood in awe of Nature.

"My Mother is the earth, my Father the light, when I die, my body returns to my Mother and my spirit to my Father"...

The Yakimas feared the rising, irresistible tide of people with ideas about private property that threatened to deprive them of their land. These strangers brought diseases to which the Indians had no resistance. Tribes in the Willamette and Grand Ronde Valleys and along the Columbia were wiped out in appalling numbers....

Eager to clear the land for white settlement, the (federal) government began hurried preparations for the making of treaties which would establish federal title to the land. Governor Stevens began a series of negotiations with the Tribes along the coast of Washington Territory and then moved inland. In the summer of 1855 the Walla Walla Valley was the site selected for negotiations that would lead to a treaty with the inland Tribes of the Walla Wallas, Cayuse, Umatillas, Nez Perce and the Tribes and Bands of the Yakimas.²⁹³

These Treaty negotiations troubled tribal peoples. This is evident in the words of Yakima Chief Kamiakin.

We wish to be left alone in the lands of our forefathers, whose bones lie in the sand hills and along the trails, but a pale face stranger has come from a distant land and sent words to us that we must give up our country, as he wants it for the white man. Where can we go? There is no place left.

Only a single mountain now separates us from the big salt water of the setting sun. Our fathers from the hunting grounds of the other world are looking down on us today. Let us not make them ashamed! My people, the Great Spirit has his eyes upon us. He will be angry if, like cowardly dogs, we give up our lands to the whites. Better to die like brave warriors on the battlefield, than live

²⁹³Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation, 1977. Supra at 5-8.

among our vanquishers, despised. Our young men and women would speedily become debauched by their fire water and we should perish as a race.²⁹⁴

At the same time, dialogue from Governor Stevens included substantial threats.

In the summer of 1854, Governor Issac Stevens met with Ow-hi, leader of the Upper Yakimas. Governor Stevens told Ow-hi that he wanted to make a treaty with the Indians of Eastern Washington and Oregon concerning purchase of Indian lands. Ow-hi advanced the position of no sale lands. It was at this time that the threat of genocide was made by Governor Stevens. He asked that Ow-hi deliver a message to the leaders of the tribes indicating that a council be gathered and that if the tribes did not make a treaty, the white people would take the land, anyhow. He further stated that in addition to the land grab by the European descendants, the soldiers would come and "wipe them off the face of the earth...".²⁹⁵

The Indians were called in council, including the Nez Perces, Yakimas, Cayuses, Palouses, and Walla Wallas. Several days were occupied in feasting and talking, but apparently making no progress in the aim of the meeting, finally the Governor getting out of patience, recapitulated all that had been said and offered, and concluded by saying:

"If you do not accept the terms offered and sign this paper (holding up the paper) you will walk in blood knee deep."²⁹⁶

Given this "incentive":

All the chiefs signed, Kamiakin was the last, as he turned to take his seat, the priest punched me and whispered, "Look at Kamiakin, we will all be killed." He was in such a rage that he bit his lips that they bled profusely.²⁹⁷

The Yakima Treaty was subsequently ratified by the US Senate in 1859. The Yakima Treaty required that 14 different tribes and bands live together on 1.2 million acres, later referred to as the Yakima Reservation - approximately 10 percent of their original home territory²⁹⁸. As with other "Stevens treaties", ability to move from food source to food source, harvesting each

resource in its appropriate time and place, was critical to the peoples who are now described as the Yakama - and they retained the right:

²⁹⁴Chief Kamiakin, 1854, in, Yakima Indian Nation, 1978. 1855 Yakima Treaty Chronicles, p.4.

²⁹⁵Selam, Leroy B., 1974. **Supra** at 25-26.

 ²⁹⁶Pambrun, Andrew D., 1855. Interpreter at the Walla Walla Treaty Council, in, Yakima Indian Nation, 1978. 1855 Yakima Treaty Chronicles. p. 17.

²⁹⁷Supra.

²⁹⁸Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation, 1977. Supra at 10.

6.5 Allotment of Yakama Lands - To Tribal Members and to Whites

Non-Indian efforts to obtain Yakama land did not stop with the Treaty of 1855. The principal means for further alienation of Yakama land was the Dawes' Severalty Act of 1887 (also known as the Allotment Act) - and as subsequently amended.

...the Allotment Act...ended common ownership of the entire Reserve and brought the members of the Tribe closer to the white man's ideas of dividing the land and owning individual plots. The results of this Act were momentous. It led to non-Indian ownership of much of the most valuable flat land and made the Yakimas a minority on their own Reservation.

The Allotment Act provided for the allotting of tracts of this tribally owned land to individual Indians. Reluctant at first, but forced by government pressure to divide up the Reservation, a majority of tribal members finally agreed to accept the new plan whereby individuals received tracts in various sizes up to 160 acres.

...This Act allowed allotments to be given along the Columbia and Wenatchee Rivers. Members could retain in this way their traditional fishing sites. Allotments were also made at good water or good grazing locations. This explains how a number of Yakimas made their homes on the ancient sites inhabited by their ancestors but not located within the boundaries of the Reservation.

...With the granting of allotments, the Indian owners were allowed to request and obtain fee patents removing the trust restrictions from their land. They were then free to dispose of the lands to any buyer they chose. Land sales became frequent to land hungry whites with the result that much of the valuable irrigated land went out of Indian ownership very quickly. Towns on the reservation, such as Toppenish and Wapato, were founded during this period through purchases of fee patent land from Indian owners and through special bills enacted by Congress.

As many individual Indians were persuaded to sell their land, most of the flat fertile land in the northeastern part of the Reservation became rich ranches owned by whites. Today (1977) non-Indian ownership amounts to 253,280 acres, leaving 1,118,638 under Indian ownership – mostly mountain timberland and dry foothills good for stock grazing. Today (1977) 80% of the 27,000 people living within the boundaries of our Reservation are non-Indian.

The allotment Act undermined the treaty handed down by our ancestors.³⁰⁰

²⁹⁹Yakima Indian Nation, 1978. Supra at 23.

³⁰⁰Yakima Indian Nation, 1977. Supra at 18-19.

Non-Yakama reviewers have been similarly critical.

The beginnings of new times and changed days commenced with explorations, forerunner years to military occupation and land settlement. Wrongs imposed during this era by others stronger and powerful enough to do so have never been denied. Yet these intolerances have never been rectified through just compensation or by full use of an element upon which no monetary evaluation can be placed. ...

The earth did not know the strangers in the way it knew its children, the First People.

The strangers came.

They took more and more country, squeezing the First People with an ever tightening force. Whether they were explorers, missionaries, miners or land settlers they seemed determined to exterminate a culture older than the Pyramids. Modified in hundreds of ways this determination carried through the settlement and upbuilding years has never relaxed. Nor is it likely to ease as long as there is Indian-owned land, and while a multitude of friends keep their tongues silent.

Always the land seizures have been defended on the thin pretext of "progress". Yet here were people whose masses of population existed in contentment without knowledge of gold and silver currency. They took their wealth as it was offered, from the earth.³⁰¹

The majority of Yakima Indians were reluctant to accept allotments. ...

The Yakima's fight against allotment of reservation land failed, however. To enforce its policy, the government informed all resisters that if they did not claim their allotments, the land would be opened to non-Indian homesteaders. Eventually most Yakima reluctantly accepted allotments.

As the Yakimas were assigned tracts and issued fee patents, non-Indians began to infiltrate their land. Many promoted fraudulent land deals, often with the assistance of bootleg whiskey. The Indians' rights were ignored, and Indian-white relations worsened....

As allotment continued, Yakima country soon became like a checkerboard, as non-Indians established holdings among the Indian-owned allotments....

By 1914, when allotment of the Yakima Reservation ended, 4,506 tribal members had received a total of 440,000 acres, leaving 780,000 acres still tribally owned. Today (1990), non-Indians own about 253,280 acres, more than half of the Indian land originally allotted.³⁰²

³⁰¹Relander, Click, 1962. Supra at 6.

³⁰²Schuster, Helen H., 1990. Supra at 81-83.

De-watering of Treaty lands also created difficulties for the Yakama peoples.

With the opening of the reservation, many existing problems escalated. Large-scale irrigation projects were developed both on and bordering the reservation. Political and legal battles quickly raged over who had the rights to the irrigation water. The irrigation projects drew water to off-reservation lands, diminishing the supply that was needed for reservation irrigation and for the Indians' livestock.^{303 304}

Checkerboarding of tribal and non-tribal ownership within Reservation boundaries further exacerbates difficulties for tribal governments, by severely limiting Tribal jurisdiction over non-Indians living on-Reservation^{305 306}.

In 1900, the federal government corrected an "error" associated with the original survey of the reservation, returning an additional 357,879 acres to the Reservation³⁰⁷. Recent YIN Reservation acreages under control of Yakama peoples are identified in Table 16.

Table 16

Present Yakama Land Holdings Within the Yakama Reservation

Type of Ownership	Acreage
Yakama in Trust	866,445
Yakama Individual Fee Ownership	260,000
Non-Indian Total Reservation Acreage	<u>253,280</u> 1,379,725

Source: Schuster, Helen H., 1990. Supra at 83-84.

6.6 Yakama Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering

³⁰³Supra at 84.

³⁰⁴For a further discussion of shady practices with respect to diversion of Yakama water, see, for example: McWhorter, Lucullus, L., 1913. **Supra** at 5-14.

³⁰⁵For example: <u>Brendale</u> v. <u>Yakima Indian Nation</u>, 106 L.Ed 2d 343 (1989); and <u>Duro v. Reina</u>, 109 L.Ed. 2nd 693 (1990).

³⁰⁶ "Checkerboarding" describes the random dispersal of Yakama (trust and fee) and non-Yakama land holdings within the reservation.

³⁰⁷Schuster, Helen H., 1990. **Supra** at 83-84.

The 1855 Treaty guaranteed the peoples of the Yakama Indian Nation (YIN) the right to fish, hunt and gather at usual and accustomed places within and outside their reservation boundaries. Given that their homeland was reduced to one-tenth of its former size by the Treaty, and that the peoples of the YIN traditionally harvested over a more extensive area, this guarantee was essential to their material and cultural survival. But subsequent to the Treaty, the access of YIN peoples to usual and accustomed harvest places was progressively reduced. In part, this was due to the spread of white settlement over YIN traditional areas - as YIN rights to hunt and gather were conditioned in the Treaty by the availability of public lands. With respect to hunting and gathering, this adverse effect was partially mitigated by the Yakama retention of extensive upland areas within their 1855 Treaty Reservation boundaries - and, in fact, today, about one third of their Reservation is "closed" to non-Yakamas, and extensive traditional gathering and ceremonial activities are still undertaken by tribal members in this area.

Usual and accustomed fishing resources of the Yakama have not fared well, due to attempts to preempt Tribal access to these resources in early years, and to the progressive transformation of the land and water upon which the salmon depend. On balance, these actions have eliminated Yakama Treaty assets, and created wealth for other interests, at Yakama expense.

Irrigation dams prevented salmon from making their regular spawning runs, prompting more controversies involving fishing rights. In addition, small salmon, or fingerlings, were often caught in lateral irrigation canals. Unable to reach the rivers, they perished by the millions.... White fishermen on the Columbia added to the problem by using fish wheels. ...

The Yakama's right to fish at their traditional sites was also threatened. White homesteaders on lands adjoining the fisheries sometimes refused to allow the Indians to cross their lands in order to reach these stations. In 1905, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the Indians' right to use their ancient and accustomed fisheries in *U.S. v. Winans*, a case brought against a white settler whose homestead blocked Indian access to these sites. The Court also ruled that the treaties the Indians had made with the United States were to be interpreted in the way the Indians had understood them. It stated that "a treaty was not a grant of rights *to* Indians but a grant of rights *from* them".

However, non-Indian fishermen often ignored the ruling. Eight years later, U.S. Attorney Francis Garrecht was called to defend Yakima Nation fishing rights in *U.S. v. the State of Washington*, a case involving two principal Yakima chiefs, George Meninock and Jim Wallahee. Meninock presented the following speech as part of the tribal testimony:

God created this Indian country and it was like He spread out a big blanket. He put the Indians on it... Then God created the fish in this river and put deer in these mountains and made laws through which has come the increase of fish and game. ...For the women, God made roots and berries to gather, and the Indians grew and multiplied as a people. When we were created we were given our ground to live on, and from that time these were our rights. This is all true. We had the fish before the missionaries came. ...This was the food on which we lived.. ...My strength is from the fish; my blood is from the fish, from the roots and the berries. The fish and the game are the essence of my life. ...We never thought we would be troubled about these things, and I tell my people, and I believe it, it is not wrong for us to get this food. Whenever the seasons open, I raise my heart in thanks to the Creator for his bounty that this food has come.

Through the years, the Yakama Indian Nation was fairly successful in defending its treaty rights in the federal courts, but the abuses against them continued. For instance, the Yakima's traditional Indian fishing grounds at the Long Narrows and Great Cascades were flooded in 1938 when the government constructed Bonneville Dam on the Columbia River. Congress passed legislation promising that the salmon and steelhead that had been destroyed would be replaced by hatchery fish. However, this act was implemented by establishing almost all of the hatcheries downriver from Bonneville Dam, where only non-Indians fished, instead of upriver in the tribal fishing areas. Similar problems arose in 1941 when Grand Coulee Dam was built on the Columbia and blocked miles of spawning grounds.

The late 19th and early 20th centuries brought the Yakima into conflict with both white settlers and government officials as the tribe tried to hold on to the land and resources that were legally theirs. These years were only a prelude to the battles the Yakima Nation would be forced to fight in the last decades of the 20th century.³⁰⁸

6.7 Changing the Production Function for Yakama Natural Assets

6.7.1 Tribal Perspective Concerning Yakama Lands, Waters and Salmon

The previous section identifies that the production function for the Columbia/Snake basin - defined as the manner in which residents of the area Basin combine lands, waters and associated assets such as salmon productive capability to create annual benefits - has changed over time; and in a manner that has increased the wellbeing of non-Indians in the region while reducing tribal peoples to poverty. Cheap electricity to support modern industries, millions of acres of irrigated agriculture, use of rivers and reservoirs as waterways and as depositories for waste, and the demise of available salmon harvests are particular features of this change. The Northwest Power Planning Council captured the essence of this wealth transfer in 1982.

Three generations ago, when the Columbia River and its many tributaries ran free to the sea and the fish and wildlife flourished, the people of our region were presented an unmatched opportunity. To the credit of their vision, skill and courage, they harnessed this mighty river system into a seemingly boundless supply of low-cost electricity. Thanks to their visions of the time, we have all benefited immensely.

³⁰⁸Supra at 84-87.

But this achievement, like all great achievements, had a price. The development of the Columbia River System's hydro-electric projects dramatically changed the natural fish and wildlife habitat, especially that of the prized Pacific salmon and steelhead. The fish runs were nearly destroyed. It falls to the next generation to rebuild these natural resources which thrived before we came.³⁰⁹

Tribal peoples did little sharing in the benefits described by NPPC - and it was the Yakama Indian Nation and other basin tribes who have paid much of the price referred to in the previous citation. Understandably, as the tribes watched the center of their lifeways being destroyed, they raised their concerns and objections.

My name is Watson Totus, member of the Yakima Tribal Council. I am a direct descendent of the Columbia River tribes and chiefs who signed the Yakima Treaty of 1855.

I am protesting the construction of the Dalles Dam. It should never have been authorized by the United States Congress in 1950 and the 82nd Congress never should have appropriated \$4,000,000 and let the contract for construction in 1952.

I make this statement because the proposed dam violates the Yakima Treaty and threatens to abolish and destroy one of the most historical and scenic natural monuments in the United States. The dam would do irreparable damage to Celilo Falls fisheries, tribal traditions, and religion.

My people fished at Celilo and many other tribal fishing places, both above and below the falls. Even yet, many Indians fish here to supplement their subsistence and livelihood. ...

I teach my people that (1) water is blessed by God; (2) salmon is blessed by God, and it is the first food that we partake of in the "Washeat" church ceremonies on Sunday, fresh-root festivals and "first salmon-catch" festivals.

I am now asking Congress to change its mind and not construct the Dalles Dam. It will make the spirits of my dead chief of long past rejoice and will build confidence in my present and future people that our treaties of 1855 are sacred and shall not be abrogated by Congress of the strongest and most religious country of the world, the United States of America.

The spirits of my past chiefs cannot plead for justice. I can only pray, save Celilo Falls and all it represents. May the Great Spirit bless you all. I have spoken for my people.³¹⁰

³⁰⁹Northwest Power Planning Council, 1982. Letter to the People of the Pacific Northwest, in, Draft Fish and Wildlife Program. Portland.

³¹⁰Watson Totus, 1952, in, a **Presentation on Behalf of the Yakima Tribe**, to the U.S. Senate Sub-Committee on Civil Functions of the Army, May 12. Printed Hearings, pp. 434-435.

As you come up the river, dam by dam by dam, every dam we look at and talk about has done some damage to the Indian culture and the Indian tradition, has taken away something every time a dam is built. And if you want to talk about Bonneville Dam then you go back to the very first dam, and it took away Cascade Rapids from the Indian people. It took away a big fishery. And as you come up, the Dalles Dam probably did the greatest damage of all, because it inundated the ancient fishing ground of Celilo and the rocks, and all of Spearfish and Tenino. The Dalles Dam also inundated an ancient burial ground....The John Day Dam inundated John Day Rapids and inundated Blalock Rapids all the way up to what is usually known as Patterson. And there was a great Indian fishing village in that area. Used to be a big rapids in that area. Naturally the dams were built on places that were shallowest, and those places were the places where Indians fished, in the rapids. McNary Dam, I don't know how much damage that did, but I suppose it did a lot of damage to spawning areas.... Priest Rapids has done a great deal of damage. It's ruined major spawning beds, and big, big fishing area, what we used to call Wannapum, Priest Rapids, Whitebluffs, all through that area.³¹¹

Evidence found throughout this manuscript suggest that many of the regions' residents, intent on creating wealth for themselves, had limited or no regard for the adverse impacts they were creating for the Yakama and other tribal peoples - terming such impacts the "price of progress"³¹². From the perspective of distributive economics, and recognizing that non-Indians reaped benefits while Indian peoples paid the "price", such a conclusion is not surprising.

In some cases, scientists and bureaucrats responsible for managing the salmon claimed "to know better" than tribal peoples.

That's one thing you can't tell the biologist. They think they know more about it than the first people. Like last fall, they got the twelve hour season down there. They caught 70-some thousand fish. I looked at the television screen and saw that fish they were bringing out--pure black. That's fish that's been in the river a long time. When they first coming in from the ocean they got to be chrome, silver. They weren't that. I told them guys down at the meeting those fish were held back purposely. The way they do that is with electric fence impulse. You see some of that fish that gets down in there burnt. They got spots on them. The biologists didn't want to admit nothing. They said they come out of the ocean. No, they did not. They'd been in the river for a long time--I know.³¹³

I can tell you. The fish used to be really bright. ... When the Dalles Dam came in and then John Day Dam, they became very poor. Like he says, they fall apart.... The last fish I caught on the Yakima was up near what they call "Upper Dam", the last dam that began there. I was up there fishing and I caught a salmon. ...I gave it to the old man that lives there.... While he was sitting there talking, he said, "See out that window. It's changed since they put Dalles Dam in. I noticed the change in the

³¹¹Rudy Saluskin, at Toppenish, October 22, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 60-61. ³¹²i.e. Note 301.

³¹³Dave SoHappy, at Toppenish, October 21, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 69.

creek." He says, "I've fished here a long time. And the fish at that time used to be able to jump and reach the top of the dam. But today they jump, they barely reach halfway up." So it has taken away. ...They have become weak, like he says. And I'm thinking about that, and it seems to have lost a great deal of their constitution, what keeps them solid.³¹⁴

The hatchery fish live in a tube, and when they're released, they don't know how to camouflage themselves. When they hit the stream they jump around at the surface, and kind of bundle up together - and the birds come and pick them off. They have trouble now acclimatizing to the river. We didn't ever agree to let them make dummies out of our fish.³¹⁵

In other cases, biologists claimed "not to know enough" to save the salmon. The following quote, written some fifteen years ago, and referencing Indian certainty concerning the adverse effects of dams on salmon, is similar to some aspects of current debate.

Indian people have been consistently conservative in risking fisheries for other water-related development. Indian people correctly predicted the deleterious effects that dams and their associated mitigative measures would have on the salmon and steelhead of the Columbia River. While biologists studied and debated, Indians, living on the river, saw fish quality decline and sea gulls eating dead smolts out of dam spillways. More often than not, Indian concern and counsel was ignored. (Our bolding)

It would appear that Indian people, with their extensive knowledge of the salmon, its characteristics and requirements, can provide valuable information for ongoing decision- making on the river....(T)heir advice on safety margins needed by salmon during flow, fish passage and other river-related decisions, their ability to quickly observe whether programs are working or not, and their basic common sense concerning the salmon resources of the river could be invaluable to any upper river restorative effort.³¹⁶

Other non-Indians and their agencies are reported to have simply not told the truth, and buried salmon killed by dams at night.

On these ladders they're talking about, I was one of those boys that went around to the farmers over in Nickleson area and Horsehaven area. Talked to the farmers about this (in 1956-57): We should have, its like a river, a channel, like a canal, somewhere above or down where the fish would go up. Well, the farmers went along. They had a big list of people signing that petition to have the dam fixed up. Well the Corps of Engineers agreed to it. They said, "We'll do it." But when the dam went up there was no channel.³¹⁷

³¹⁴Tom Eli, at Celilo, October 28, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 67.

³¹⁵Bill Yallup, at Toppenish, October 3, 1997. Personal communication.

³¹⁶Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 71-72.

³¹⁷Warner Jim, at Celilo, October 28, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 58.

She's angry about when they took the Falls from the people that were here....She says, "What good would it do to speak up?"...Like the promises that they made to the Indians that we get free electricity from the dam. I think it was three months they got it. The next thing, the people were getting light bills and they were getting water bills.³¹⁸

I've got something to say to comment on the fishing. I know four people who were lucky to get jobs at the dams, and these are the things that they come back and tell me. I won't mention names, you know, because...I don't want to say my name, all right? These people work at the dams. They usually help clean the ladders out, fish ladders. And they hauled out tons of fish that were found under the steel grating that's under the fish ladders. A lot of them were dead or they were damaged pretty bad. These guys were working there and they had to clean the ladders out, you know, help. Well, they used to come home and they'd tell me about it. And they'd say they'd haul them out by the pick-up load. You know, these pick-ups they use at the dam. Cuz the guys that work there, they tell me, "Oh, we were cleaning fish ladders. And they took these fish out, and they dug holes, and they burned this fish. And then they buried them. To hide the evidence. And then they turn around and blame the Indians, that the Indians are catching all the fish.

A lot of these things happened right when John Day Dam came up. They worked on the dam from '66, '67, '68. Then I think the last year they worked, since they quit hiring Indians out there, see. A long time ago they made a promise to the Indians that there would be ten percent Indians working on the dams. I don't think there's one Indian working on any dam now.³¹⁹

Some officials compounded folly with attempts at intimidation and with arrogance. The following statement is from a US Army Corps of Engineers official, during a 1954 meeting with representatives of the Yakama Indian Nation.

(I)t is noted...that the Yakima Tribe contend that the \$23,000,000.00 represents only 85% of the total value of the Celilo fishery because of the alleged losses that occurred during the year 1947 to 1951, due to the construction of the Bonneville Dam. This office does not admit that there is any loss of the Columbia River fish due to the construction of Bonneville Dam. In fact, we categorically deny that there is a loss due to this reason. ...

Mis-information sometimes attributed to the press, but for the most part disseminated by word of mouth, has created a false public opinion, especially among the Indians, that the fish runs at Bonneville have decreased in recent years due to the construction of Bonneville Dam. The actual

³¹⁸Warner Jim on behalf of an identified Yakama woman at Celilo, October 28, 1982: in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 58. The woman was afraid to identify herself because on the previous day a car had stopped on Hwy. 84 and a man had shot at her and her daughters as they fished on the Columbia River.

³¹⁹Unidentified Yakama woman, at Celilo, October 28, 1982: in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 68-69. This is the same woman referred to in the previous citation.

fact is that the runs have increased since 1938 and the convincing figures which are briefly stated above must be admitted as facts and taken into account if the contention that there is a loss due to Bonneville Dam is considered objectively and with unbiased honesty.³²⁰

Whether because the "price was right", because biologists were unsure, because tribal knowledge was ignored, because of unintended or forgotten promises, or due to arrogance and disingenuous behavior - the number of salmon that survive in the Columbia/Snake system has steadily declined. For the Yakama people, the human toll resulting from these wealth transfers along the river has been substantial. Where such destructive action has been accompanied by intent or deceit, reaction by some Yakamas has been one of anger and despair.

I don't know what we would call such a policy. Genocide? Yes, I think perhaps that is the word.³²¹

6.7.2 Economic Perspective Concerning Yakama Production Functions

Fitch (1974), in his Phd. dissertation at Stanford University, provides an economist's perspective of Yakama circumstances during the late 19th and early 20th centuries.

The picture which emerges during the period after the opening of the Reservation (to whites) is one of stagnation of Indian economic activity. Downward trends in farming and livestock are evident... A series of legal battles over Indian fishing rights had not been successful in re-establishing viable salmon fishing on the Columbia River for the Yakimas during this period. Access continued to be a problem, and the fish wheels were not eliminated from the river until 1926.³²²

Summing up from a later (1974) perspective, and discussing Yakama adaptive efforts, Fitch continues:

The historical analysis makes a number of points quite clear. First of all, a large portion of the impact of the various modern activities which have been introduced to the Reservation has come in the form of payments for the use or purchase of resources to the Yakimas--that is, land rentals, timber sales and so forth. While recent improvements in Indian employment are encouraging,...the employment status of the Yakima is still deplorable.

...While the entry of outside factors to the Reservation economy may have greatly increased the returns to the Yakimas' natural resources, this has acted to limit returns to their human resources or labor, and in the long run to depress human capital formation applicable to modern production. ...

³²⁰Othus, P.M., 1954. US Army Corps of Engineers. Statement to a Yakima Indian Tribal Committee during compensation discussions associated with construction of the Dalles Dam. Meeting Minutes. Portland, Oregon, April 22, 1954, pp. 18-20.

³²¹Tom Eli, at Celilo, October 29, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 62.

³²²Fitch, James B., 1974. Economic Development in a Minority Enclave: The Case of the Yakima Indian Nation, Washington. Phd. Dissertation. Stanford University, p. 93.

With the opening of the (Reservation) land market...there was a decrease in Indian production and an increase in land rentals. This response was probably reinforced...by discrimination against Indians in water project administration and in the government regulation of the use of individual Indian monies, tending to cause inadequate capital formation. Discrimination and a generally hostile reservation environment for Indians also contributed to stagnation in human capital formation. Given these unfavorable circumstances for participation in modern activities, together with renewed possibilities for fishing and the production of cattle, in the low-wage depression era the Yakimas returned to these two largely traditional activities. Note, however, that this switch was a joint result of (the lack of)

economic incentives, the existence of traditional preferences and alternatives, and possibly discrimination--not due to any one of these factors alone.³²³

Meyer Resources (1983), writing eight years later, provides a more quantitative glimpse of Yakama circumstances.

While the Yakimas are relatively better off than many tribes of the Columbia River, they cannot be considered wealthy by non-Indian standards. In 1975, per capita income was \$2,100, compared to \$5,827 in Yakima County and \$6,284 in Washington State. Unemployment among Indians (1978) was estimated at 30 percent, compared to a 10 percent rate in the county. In 1982, unemployment was estimated at 72 percent of the employable Tribal labor force.³²⁴

6.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams

As identified previously, peoples who now form the Yakama Indian Nation had usual and accustomed fishing stations and villages throughout the mid-Columbia area. They fished Snake River salmon stocks along the Columbia river - and the impacts of the four Lower Snake dams being assessed under this project directly affect Yakama fisheries and Yakama peoples.

The Palouse peoples had their principal village at the confluence of the Palouse and Snake Rivers - and their home territories and fishing areas also extended along the north bank of the Snake, from Nez Perce territory to its confluence with the Columbia³²⁵. The Palouse peoples were included in discussion at the Treaty with the Yakamas - and today descendants live on the Yakama and Umatilla Reservations³²⁶. In addition, they fished cooperatively with the Nez Perce at several upstream locations along the Lower Snake River (Section 3.1.3).

Consequently, in addition to the existence of usual and accustomed fishing areas along the Lower Snake River, and downstream on the Columbia River, an extensive array of villages, fishing sites, hunting and gathering areas, burial sites and other resources important to the culture and lifeways of the peoples of

³²³Supra at 153-154.

³²⁴Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 27-28.

³²⁵Lane & Lane and D. Nash, 1981a. **Supra** at 9.

³²⁶Supra.

the Yakama Indian Nation are currently inundated by the reservoirs created by **Lower Monumental** and **Ice Harbor** dams. These Yakama areas and resources will most likely be found - but not exclusively - along the north bank of the original Lower Snake River.

It was earlier identified that the initial "allotment" legislation enabled Yakama peoples to receive title to some traditional sites that were off reservation³²⁷. Yakamas report that some of these sites were along the Lower Snake River, and have been affected by the dams.

I no longer have any fishing sites, the Palouse peoples' fishing sites were destroyed by Ice Harbor Dam; the Corps of Engineers told us that we can fish below Ice Harbor dam, but I, nor the rest of the Palouse people utilize the fishing site... I have not received full compensation for my loss, the loss of my birthplace, birth rights, and my rights to fishing; for I no longer enjoy my God's gift, the first food of my people, as well as the rest of the Columbia River Indian people.

I want to know if my fishing site and my fishing right still exists. My fishing site is now below Ice Harbor dam, both sides of the Snake River. I have proof. I have in my possession a photo of a fisherman and his grandson.

That area is my father's birthplace, and that now belongs to white people. I did not, nor my father, give any type of consent to let white people own that land. We did not receive any monetary compensation, nor did we receive any exchange of any land. So I want someone to do right by that crime committed to me and my Palouse people. Give me my food back. Give me my birthplace and birth right back.³²⁸

My maternal grandmother was Palouse. She owned an allotment that is now inundated by Ice Harbor Dam. When it came time to build the dam, a Corps man named Ed Markley approached me and my brother to take money for this property. We refused. So he determined that other Indians had a 51% ownership and did a deal with them. I did not have access to a lawyer at the time to fight this injustice, but I have never agreed to sell my grandmother's allotment - and have never been compensated for it.³²⁹

Finally, the Yakama, as with other study tribes, have suffered adverse impact - first as river managers risked Snake River salmon stocks in order to transform the river for power, navigation and irrigation purposes, and today as those same managers set far higher standards for predictive certainty before taking action to restore Treaty-protected fisheries³³⁰.

6.9 Post-Contact Yakama Tribal Health

³²⁷At Note 300.

³²⁸Mary Chapman, at Toppenish, October 22, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 57.

³²⁹Johnson Meninick, at Toppenish, July 22, 1998. Personal communication.

³³⁰Also recall discussion in Section 4.4.8.

In pre-contact times the peoples now known as the Yakama Indian Nation had a relatively good standard of living based on diet, climate, housing, an available resource base, and a satisfying and predictable rhythm of living³³¹. During this period:

Yakama (native) doctors were practitioners, holy people, pharmacists, shamans, and psychologists, and they recognized no division between mind and body.³³²

Selam (1975) notes that Yakamas living in the pre-contact period had a happy life - but that it was not to remain so³³³.

From a health perspective, erosion of traditional lifeways followed fast after the coming of the whites.

Indian doctors and Yakama people suffered several epidemics before the introduction of the reservation system, but they were largely powerless to prevent the waves of death that swept across the Columbia Plateau in the nineteenth century and those that struck the native population in the twentieth century.

Smallpox was the first disease to strike Northwestern Indians. The first epidemic started in 1775, the result of sailors from trading vessels off the Northwest coast introducing it to native peoples. Another smallpox epidemic traveled up the Missouri River in 1873, but its effect upon the Plateau is unknown. In 1801, still another smallpox epidemic spread among the native people of the Northwest, reducing the original population to about one half by the time of Lewis and Clark's expedition in 1805. In 1824-25, and in 1853, smallpox likely killed more Indians. In 1830, "fever and ague" broke out at Fort Vancouver, infecting native people for four years. The epidemic may well have been malaria, although it was linked to an outbreak of influenza, and the "mortality directly or indirectly attributable to this scourge...is 90%". The malaria outbreak in 1830 reportedly did not spread much above The Dalles, and Plateau Indians probably died instead from influenza, although the number of deaths is not known. In 1844, scarlet fever and whooping cough spread across the Columbia Plateau, and scarlet fever struck again in 1846. In 1847, measles moved across the Plateau, taking the lives of many Indians and sparking the killings of Marcus and Narcissa Whitman and others at the Whitman Mission which, in turn, triggered the Cayuse Indian War of 1848. These epidemics and the new diseases that followed killed numerous Yakama and their neighbors. Diseases depopulated the native peoples and strained the social, cultural, and spiritual fabric of Yakama society whose *twati* could not undo the horrors of white diseases.³³⁴

By 1865, the ravages of these diseases had more than halved the 7,000 Yakama pre-contact population estimated by Schuster³³⁵. Table 17 arrays Yakama population estimates between 1865 and

³³¹See Note 288.

³³²Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. Supra at 40.

³³³At Note 291.

³³⁴Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. **Supra** at 41.

³³⁵At Note 280.

1972 from Lane & Lane and Nash (1981b, p. 43). That publication should be referenced for original sources.

Year	Population
1865	3,400
1892	2,700
1899	1,909
1910	2,679
1923	2,939
1928	3,000
1940	2,904
1950	3,598
1960	4,844
1972	7,480

Table 17

Selected Population Estimates for Yakama Peoples, 1865 through 1972

Yakama ill health and death during this period did not stem from epidemics alone.

For approximately thirty years, roughly from 1870 to 1900, native people living on the Yakama Reservation witnessed a radical cultural, social, and economic transformation of their native lands as white ranchers, farmers, politicians, bureaucrats, ministers, bankers, road builders, and a host of other whites invaded their country, altering nearly every aspect of traditional Indian life. The process accelerated in the twentieth century as hunting, root, berry, and grazing areas declined or were destroyed. Indians living on the reservation lost their native foods which were closely tied to their spiritual beliefs. They lost more than their economy, for they lost important threads of their social fabric. Indians living on the Yakama Reservation faced a social and cultural calamity by 1900, a communal depression that corresponded with a serious rise of infectious diseases, particularly tubercular infection. Between 1900 and 1940, the Yakama population suffered greatly from tuberculosis, pneumonia, and gastrointestinal disorders, bacterial infections that preyed on a Yakama host seriously injured by government Indian policies and the reservation system.³³⁶

It can be observed from this information that from the contact with the whites in the 1800's, through much of the 20th century, death - often from causes that the Yakamas could neither predict nor control - "stalked the Yakama". Trafzer suggests that principal causes of Yakama death during this period

³³⁶Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. Supra at 70.

evolved - from an age dominated by "Pestilence and Famine" (contact through the early 20th Century) to an "Age of Receding Pandemics" featuring death from bacterial infections (from early century to the 1920's - 30's)³³⁷.

By the 1930's, Trafzer concludes that causes of Yakama death had evolved still further, entering an "Age of Man-Made and Degenerative Diseases" that continues to the present.

During the late twentieth century, alcohol-related deaths, diabetes, murders, and suicides rose significantly as accidental deaths and pneumonia continued to plague Yakama people..... Barry Popkin has argued that part of this transition to man-made disease is a predictable product of nutrition related to "modernization". He is correct in terms of Yakama people who had lost nearly all of their traditional foods by the 1940's....³³⁸

Trafzer notes that loss of traditional foods, while important, is not a sole cause of Yakama mortality.

Resettlement of the Columbia Plateau by whites, the building of dams, and the destruction of the natural foods familiar to the Yakama brought about a change in lifestyle and housing. Whites farmed, ranched, and logged many regions of the Columbia Plateau, modifying the environment, which was detrimental to Indians. Rather than moving about for a good portion of the year, the Yakama became confined to the reservation... The health of the Yakama people suffered from inadequate sanitation, absence of clean ground water, polluted rivers from insecticides, and complete lack of any means of treating sewage. The change of housing among the Yakama contributed to their ill health, and as a consequence, the people became ill and died.³³⁹

Too often, death of Yakama and other tribal members has been following by post-mortem abuse.

Before the early twentieth century, the Yakama and their neighbors usually wrapped the body in tule mats and placed it in crevices of hills and mountains. They also buried their dead in designated cemeteries, where they interred a number of people from the same area, village, or family. These cemeteries were and are sacred places to Yakama who revere the remains of their loved ones - long past and recent past. They respect the dead of their own people as well as the dead of other nations, believing that it was and is sacrilege to disturb burials of any people. Many believe that the spirits of the dead cannot rest if their bones are taken out of the earth or generally disturbed by contractors, pot hunters, etc.³⁴⁰

A white rancher who hated (Yakama Chief) Kamiakin had led a scientist to the grave and had helped the "scholar" cut off Kamiakin's head with a shovel. The scientist tore off Kamiakin's head,

³³⁷Supra at 2-3.

³³⁸Supra at 71.

³³⁹Supra at 75.

³⁴⁰Supra at 51.

placed it in a gunny sack, and took it to his lab for analysis. When the family found that Kamiakin's remains had been disturbed, they cleaned the remaining bones and reburied them on lands belonging to a friendly white rancher in eastern Washington territory. Members of the family knew the location of the grave, and they returned periodically to pray for the spirit of the famous chief. Kamiakin's head has never been recovered, and the associated grave goods buried with him have not been repatriated. However, some members of the Indian and non-Indian communities continue to search for Kamiakin's head so that it can be repatriated and reburied in the heart of the Columbia Plateau. The desecration of this grave is just one example of many that have occurred in the Pacific Northwest.³⁴¹

When the United States began building power dams in the Pacific Northwest, construction crews ruined several burials in canyons along inland rivers, **including the Snake River**. Sometimes archaeologists working for the federal government raided Indian burials to preserve choice specimens for university collections before water from a new dam inundated the locations.

Mary Jim, a Palouse elder living today on the Yakama Reservation, still laments the theft of her grandfather from the family's cemetery on an island in the Snake River. She remembers the night in the 1960's when an amphibious vehicle came up the Snake River and moved onto the island. While white men dug up the grave, Mary's cousin, Charlie Jim, paddled out to chase the whites away. "They took our grandpa," Mary reported years later, "they took him. They went across. And they took that grave. They dug a hole and we hollered at them. Charlie Jim went out to tell them to stop. We waved red flags at them, telling them to stop. Then the car went through the water and on the ground too. We didn't know how to chase them or where they went. And we reported this to the agency but they never helped us." Unfortunately, the Palouse were not able to prevent the "scholars" from stealing the canoe coffin that contained the remains of Mary and Charlie's grandfather.³⁴² (Our bolding)

The Yakama and their neighbors have faced a continual onslaught by ghouls, construction crews, and government agencies that disregard and discredit the spiritual beliefs of the Northwest Indians in reference to their dead. Many Indians believe that when the graves of

their ancestors are desecrated, the souls of the dead are also disturbed, unable to rest until they are placed back into the bosom of the earth.³⁴³

White disease killed thousands of Yakama and their neighbor tribes in the 1800's and early 20th century. Violated by disease and in other ways in life, some of these persons have been violated again in death - through actions perpetrated by some, and permitted by others. Not only can the souls of these

³⁴¹Supra at 57.

³⁴²Supra at 51-52.

³⁴³Supra at 57.

"violated" not rest, but many of their descendants, living today, cannot rest either until desecration of Indian graves stops - and the violated dead are returned to rest in the earth.

Trafzer concludes that, from the late 1800's though the mid-1900's:

The reservation system of the United States destroyed the native standard of living and introduced a host of viruses and bacilli to the Indians living on the Yakama Reservation. The result was poverty, ill health and death among Yakama people. Once the United States had destroyed much of Indian culture, they failed to enrich it in accordance with trust and treaty responsibilities by providing minimal health care for native people living on the Yakama Reservation.³⁴⁴

Bachtold, writing with respect to Northwest tribes, concurs:

It appears that Native Americans, as a group, have been blocked on the hierarchy of needs at basic levels. Many are dealing with survival - trying to resolve physiological and safety needs. This condition often leaves belongingness and self-esteem needs essentially unmet. Movement through developmental stages has been perilous, beginning with birth itself, increasing with entry into school, and peaking in excessive stress for young adults, who should be entering the productive years of life and in control of their environment.

Alleviation of poverty conditions are clearly indicated as essential, for as Pareek emphasized, "Poverty is causally related to behavior, producing a series of behavioral patterns relevant to the conditions of poverty. ...

Gloster...identified economics as potentially the key to improvement for Native Americans. He further maintained it is essential that they control their land and water. On this point he is congruent with the psychological prerequisite for a healthy personality outlined in this section - if Indian people are to obtain a greater level of achievement and satisfaction in their lives, and regardless of respective goals, it will be essential that they achieve a greater level of control over their psychological, social and economic environment.³⁴⁵

6.10 Present Circumstances of the Yakama Indian Nation

Having reviewed the cumulative pattern of abuse and impoverishment through distruction of Treaty assets and transfers of wealth to non-Indians that the Yakama peoples were subject to, this section

³⁴⁴Supra at 153.

³⁴⁵Bachtold, L.M., 1982. Supra 31-33.

considers any recent changes in tribal opportunities and lifeways - and profiles present-day circumstances of the peoples of the Yakama Indian Nation.

6.10.1 Remaining Yakama Lands

Yakama tribal membership presently stands at 9,601 persons, a substantial recovery from earlier years of this century.³⁴⁶

Since losing approximately 90 percent of their homeland in the Treaty of 1855, the Yakama Indian Nation has been somewhat successful in holding onto the Treaty lands they retained. The ravages of the Dawes Act have facilitated the loss to the Yakama of a further almost 20 percent of lands within Reservation boundaries (253,280 acres) - but about 70 percent of Treaty lands are still in Yakama hands - 866,000 acres held in trust, and 260,000+ in fee simple ownership. The fact that significant portions of this land is forested, and that approximately one third of Reservation lands, in the western portion of the Reservation, are closed to non-Yakamas has allowed the YIN to retain and expand benefits for its people.

Commercial timber harvest has been a particular strong point for the YIN (Table 18).

Table 18

Volume and Value of Timber Harvested Under Yakama Sales Program - 1943 to 1992YearVolume in MBMValue in Thousands of Dollars1943-449,17223.6195029,906361.7196070.8921.922.3

1943-44	9,172	23.6
1950	29,906	361.7
1960	70,892	1,922.3
1970	116,271	4,406.7
1980	172,686	23,755.5
1990	93,523	19,749.9
1991	99,134	23,819.7
1992	93,688	28,513.3

Source: Yakima Indian Nation, 1993. Yakama Indian Reservation Forest Management Plan: 1993-2002. with, US Bureau of Indian Affairs, p. VII-3.

³⁴⁶Recall Table 17.

These forest activities employ approximately 137 Yakama Indians³⁴⁷, generate important revenue for YIN infrastructure, and yield annual "dividend" payments that amounted to \$1,753 per Yakama member in 1992³⁴⁸. The YIN has, for some years, been examining "adding value" earned from tribal timber harvest by establishing a timber processing facility - but such a facility has not been established to date.

Conversely, as we noted previously, much of the acreage the Yakamas have lost because of the Dawes Act is located in fertile valley areas of the Reservation - and YIN agriculture-based revenues have been substantially limited as a result. Meyer Resources (1983) reported that the Indian share of revenue from crops in the irrigated portion of the Reservation in 1981 was \$2.7 million, out of total revenue of \$79.5 million³⁴⁹. In 1990, the value of irrigated lands within the Reservation exceeded \$200 million³⁵⁰ - but we have no indication that the Yakama share of this revenue has increased substantially.

A number of additional economic initiatives are in the planning stage³⁵¹, but timber, agriculture, rental income from lessees of tribal land and fishing continue to be the sustaining features of the Yakama economy.

6.10.2 What Remains of the Yakama Salmon?

Protection and renewal of salmon in the Yakima River basin has been one of the principal efforts of the Northwest Power Planning Council's Fish and Wildlife Program. In 1997, the four tribes of the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission (CRITFC) initiated a "direct commercial sales" program for some Zone 6 catches. This program has approximately doubled revenue received by participating tribal fishermen - and expanded the opportunity available to tribal members for involvement in traditional fishing and processing activities. Despite these promising developments, Yakama catches of salmon for the 1993-1997 period averaged less than half of tribal harvests at Treaty times (Table 19).

³⁴⁷Yakama Indian Nation, 1993. Yakima Indian Reservation Forest Management Plan: 1993 to 2002. with US Bureau of Indian Affairs, p. VII-3.

³⁴⁸Supra at VII-5.

³⁴⁹Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 26-27.

³⁵⁰Yakama Indian Nation, 1996. **1996 OEDP Report**. Toppenish, p. 8.

³⁵¹Supra.

Table 19

Estimated Commercial, Ceremonial and Subsistence Harvests of Salmon and Steelhead of the Yakama Indian Nation: 1993 to 1997

Year	Chinook	<u>Steelhead</u> in thou	Sockeye sands of po	<u>Coho</u> ounds	All Species
1993	832.5	251.5	22.2	8.7	1,114.9
1994	696.7	174.5	2.7	22.5	896.2
1995	674.4	170.6	1.4	4.8	851.2
1996	1,181.3	173.5	4.3	4.4	1,363.5
1997	1,199.4	207.7	6.2	4.0	1,199.4
Five Year Average				1,128.7	

Source: Developed from data provided by the Yakama Indian Nation, Department of Fisheries.

6.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Yakama Material Circumstance

The material wellbeing of members of the Yakama Indian Nation, relative to citizens of Washington State as a whole, is illustrated in Table 20.

Table 20

Comparative Data Showing the Relative Material Circumstances of the Yakama Indian Nation

Economic Indicator	Yakama Nation	Washington State
Families in Poverty (%)	42.8	10.9
Unemployment: US Census : BIA (1995)	23.4 73.0	5.7
Per Capita Income (\$,000)	5.7	14.9

Source: US Bureau of the Census, 1990 - Special Tribal Run.

US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1995 - Indian Population and Labor Force Estimates.

It can be observed that while timber and some fishing provide economic bright spots for YIN, as with neighbor tribes, the Yakama peoples' material prospects overall remain difficult.

6.10.4 Yakama Tribal Health

In 1992, the Center for Health Statistics of the Washington State Department of Health issued a report on People of Color in the state. They concluded:

Currently, the health status of Native Americans is very poor, with high rates of mortality, infectious disease, and limitation of major activities due to chronic health problems.³⁵²

The same report identified that death rates for Native Americans were significantly higher through age 59 than for Washington residents as a whole³⁵³.

These conclusions are generally supported by a 1993 analysis of American Indian health status in the State of Washington by the American Indian Health Care Association (AIHCA). The AIHCA study reported that, in Washington, the average Native American dying prior to age 65 loses 7.6 more years of life than his counterpart in the general Washington population - and that a Native American female dying prematurely (prior to age 65) loses 6.1 more years of life than her general population counterpart³⁵⁴. The study concludes:

The health status of Washington's American Indians can be illustrated by birth characteristics, disease prevalence and mortality. The findings on all these factors form a picture of American Indian health that is, in many ways, alarmingly poor.³⁵⁵

Both the studies cited previously identify poverty as a causal factor with respect to the unsatisfactory level of health of Native Americans living in Washington State³⁵⁶.

³⁵²Washington State Department of Health, 1992. People of Color. Center for Health Statistics. Olympia, p. 51.

³⁵³Supra at 61-64.

 ³⁵⁴American Indian Health Care Association, 1993a. Northwest Area American Indian Health Status and Policy Assessment Project: State of Washington Report. Saint Paul, p. 47.
³⁵⁵Supra at x.

³⁵⁶Washington State Department of Health, 1992. **Supra** at 4; American Indian Health Care Association, 1993. **Supra** at ix-x, 22-23, 54.

Data from the US Indian Health Service further confirms these findings. Based on data from 1989-91, the Native American age adjusted death rate in the Yakima Service Area³⁵⁷ was 1.9 times the rate for other races³⁵⁸. Table 21 provides comparative data on the five leading causes of tribal death in the Yakima Service Area.

Table 21

Leading Causes of Tribal Death - Yakima Service Area: 1989-1991

NT-Correct Automation		Ratio of NA
		to Other Races
deaths j	per 100,000 popula	ition
215.0	141.6	1.5
215.0	141.0	1.5
117.8	26.9	4.4
	,	
102.8	129.6	0.8
80.0	5.7	14.1
44.5	16.1	2.8
	215.0 117.8 102.8	deaths per 100,000 popula 215.0 141.6 117.8 26.9 102.8 129.6 80.0 5.7

Source: US Indian Health Service, 1994b. Supra at 214.

Diabetes are also a significant cause of Yakama death, accounting for 4.5% of mortalities³⁵⁹.

These types of statistical outcomes are consistent with the hypotheses advanced by both Trazfer (Note 73) and Bachtold (Note 66) - relating unsatisfactory levels of health to poverty and deprivation-related stresses. Discussion with Yakama health experts provides further insight regarding present health conditions on the Reservation - and with fish and fishing.

A lot of Yakama people don't have access to salmon on a daily basis. So that, of course, affects their health. They've lost a source of the type of protein that is very beneficial. Fish makes a positive contribution to the diet. Even giving the people an opportunity to eat fish two or three times a week

³⁵⁷The Yakima Service Unit serves Klickitat, Lewis, Skamania and Yakima counties.

³⁵⁸US Indian Health Service, 1994b. **Supra** at 136.

³⁵⁹Supra at 213.

would be beneficial. There is a real strong link between the fats salmon provide and preventing heart disease - and at present, heart disease is a major problem here.

What's been substituted for fish has the opposite effect on health. Hamburger and fried foods raise LDL's and cholesterol levels.

Diabetes is a problem at Yakama. The type we have here is Type II diabetes. Its onset has a strong link to poor diet and lack of exercise, which can lead to weight gain, which in turn exacerbates onset of diabetes at an earlier age. Diabetes in turn is linked with kidney and heart disease. Type II diabetes has a genetic component. But genes do not dictate destiny. Good diet and exercise will put off the onset of diabetes considerably.

The lack of traditional foods and the lack of traditional preparation of foods seems to have impacted worse than everything. The roots grounds are gone. The fishing grounds that sustained them through the whole year are largely gone. Its more than food. Its also loss of income - and there is a real spiritual component. Its part of their culture - part of their living.³⁶⁰

They don't consider what salmon really means to our people. When I was growing up, my whole life was centered around what we gathered - what we used. The fishing brought families close together - not only for the food, but also spiritually and for religion. That way the family was able to cure a lot of its own problems. Fishing is for the family as well as the food. When we lose the salmon, its not just one thing we've lost. You have to take everything into consideration.³⁶¹

My specialty is psycho-social nursing. From my perspective, everything is tied together. Nothing is separate. The health of the kids is impacted every day. We see kids come in who are grossly overweight, and they're laying the groundwork for the diabetes to come. The impact of the loss of the salmon, and the loss of the traditional grounds - the loss of the time with the elders to learn the ways and to feel as if they're part of this community, instead of feeling alienated not only from their neighbors and their families but also from the bigger community of humans - has a devastating effect on the kids. I have moms come in here eighteen years old who have been pregnant two or three times, who use substances and who don't teach their children the old ways because they don't know them. They don't feed their kids the old foods because they don't have any idea what they were. So the loss of the food and the salmon is monumental - and it is all tied together. Food is a really big part of the Yakama culture - as it is elsewhere. Anywhere you look in the world, food carries culture. So if you lose your foods, you lose part of your culture - and it has a devastating effect on the psyche. You also lose the social interaction. When we can fish, we can spend time together - you share all the things that impact your life - and you plan together for the next year. Salmon is more important that just food.

³⁶⁰Monicka Franz, Yakama Tribal Nutritionist. Personal communication at Toppenish. August 13, 1998.

³⁶¹Vivian George, Yakama Indian Nation. Personal communication at Toppenish, August 13, 1998.

In sum, there's a huge connection between salmon and tribal health. Restoring of salmon restores a way of life. It restores physical activity. It restores mental health. It improves nutrition and thus restores physical health. It restores a traditional food source, which as we know, isn't everything - but its a big deal. It allows families to share time together and build connections between family members. It passes on traditions that are being lost. If the salmon came back, these positive changes would start.³⁶²

Finally, health experts at YIN expressed concern regarding dumping and leaching of toxins into the waters of the Columbia/Snake system. A study by the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission (1994) identifies that CRITFC tribes, because of the material and cultural importance of fishing to them, consume about nine times more fish than national norms used by EPA to set health standards³⁶³. Subsequent work by Harris and Harper (1997) identifies that exposure levels for tribal members who target traditional foods is far higher³⁶⁴. This suggests that study tribes may face significant risk from deposition of toxins in Snake and Columbia waterways - particularly from consumption of resident fishes. Further analysis of potential toxin loadings of key fishes is being pursued by the tribes, in coordination with EPA. Results are expected during 1999.

6.10.5 Present Incidence of "Own Language" Speakers Among the Yakama

According to the 1990 Census, approximately 15 percent of Yakamas still speak their original language at home³⁶⁵.

6.10.6 A Diagrammatic Profile of Yakama Present Circumstances

Finally, present circumstances of the peoples of the Yakama Indian Nation are represented in Figure 9 using a Maslow-like diagram.

³⁶²Chris Walsh, Psycho-Social Nursing Specialist. Yakama Indian Nation. Personal communication at Toppenish, August 13, 1998.

³⁶³Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, 1994. A Fish Consumption Survey of the Umatilla, Nez Perce, Yakama, and Warm Springs Tribes of the Columbia River Basin. Technical Report 94-3.

³⁶⁴Harris, Stuart G. and Barbara L. Harper, 1997. "A Native American Exposure Scenario", in, **Risk Analysis**. Vol. 17, No. 6, pp. 789-795.

³⁶⁵US Bureau of the Census. 1990 CP-2-1A. **Supra** at 44.

7.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the Confederated Tribes of The Umatilla Indian Reservation

These sections provide information on the historic and related present circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR). Estimated impacts associated with Lower Snake River project alternatives will be discussed in a following section.

7.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Rounds of the CTUIR

The peoples who presently form the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR) originated from three tribes, the Walla Wallas, Cayuses and Umatilla - and a number of other bands³⁶⁶. Members of the Palouse peoples are included in these latter (Table 2).

Suphan (1974) has provided detail with respect to the traditional areas frequented by the peoples who are now the CTUIR. With respect to the **Umatillas**:

The permanent camps or villages of the Umatilla Indians...were strung along both shores of the Columbia River from about the Gilliam-Morrow county line in Oregon upstream to the mouth of the Umatilla River; two other sites were along the lower course of the Umatilla. ...

³⁶⁶Kappler, C.J. (ed.) 1972. Indian Treaties: 1778-1883. New York: Interland Publishing, p.694.
During the summer treks, the Umatilla crossed over the Blue Mountains into the Grande Ronde valley to numerous fishing, root-gathering, hunting and berrying areas. ...In none of these subsistence areas were the Umatilla the sole exploiters, Walla Walla, Cayuse and Nez Perce Indians visiting these same spots. ...

Just east of the Grande Ronde Valley, the Umatilla exploited a spot on the Minan River, together with the Cayuse, Walla Walla and Nez Perce Indians, while they also journeyed into the Wallowa River Valley to subsistence spots about the present towns of Wallowa, Lostine, Enterprise, Joseph, and Wallowa Lake. These areas were also frequented by the neighboring Walla Walla, Cayuse and Nez Perce.

Further southward, in what is now Baker County, the Umatilla and Cayuse fished and hunted on Eagle Creek and on Pine Creek two miles above Halfway with the Nez Perce. The only other spots in Baker County known to have been utilized by the Umatilla Indians were on Anthony Fork some 5-8 miles above the town of North Powder, and in Sumter Valley near Lockhart on the Powder River; both were shared with the Cayuse.

To the west and south of the Grande Ronde Valley, the Umatilla people spread out into various fishing, hunting, and gathering spots on Snipe Creek just north of Albee, along Camas Creek at Ukiah and Lehman Springs, and to the heads of Winom, Cable, and Big creeks south of Lehman Springs. South of these areas, in what is now Grant County, the Umatilla occupied various spots along the forks of the John Day River from about Monument eastward.... Virtually every one of these sites was shared with the Cayuse, while those along the John Day, Silvies, and the Malheur River were also visited and exploited by the Warm Springs (Tenino), Columbia River Indians, and the Paiute. ...

...it may be concluded that the Umatilla Indians had their permanent winter quarters or villages along the Columbia from Alderdale, Washington, to the Umatilla River, and on the lower course of the Umatilla. Here too, were many accustomed fishing areas which extended farther eastward to the Oregon-Washington state line. In summer and fall, the Umatilla wandered in the Blue Mountains, Wallawa and Grande Ronde valleys, and along the John Day River to numerous subsistence areas for hunting, fishing, and gathering. It is impossible to say with what frequency any one spot was visited; undoubtedly those nearer the winter supply quarters were the more intensely and regularly used, simply because of convenience. Yet the distant sites along the heads of the Silvies and Malheur rivers were said by informants to be of paramount importance to the Umatilla not only because of their plentiful natural resources, but also because of the trading and social activities carried on there with other Indian groups.³⁶⁷

With respect to the Cayuse, Suphan reports:

³⁶⁷Suphan, Robert J., The Socio-Political Organization and Land Use Patterns of the Umatilla, Walla Walla and Cayuse Indians. MA dissertation. Columbia University, pp. 128-134.

The Cayuse wintered in several local groups along the upper courses of the rivers lying between the Columbia River and the Blue Mountains in what is now Oregon and Washington.

...The Cayuse bands remained in these winter quarters until well into the spring, for salmon runs ascended the Umatilla and Walla Walla rivers and their tributaries, while roots and berries could be found close to these camp sites. Some families either then or later in the year, journeyed to the Columbia to fish at the mouth of the Umatilla River with the Umatilla Indians; some went as far as Celilo Falls to fish and trade. However, the Cayuse seem to have depended more heavily on the annual migrations of salmon into the headwaters of such streams as the Grande Ronde, Minam, and Wallowa rivers for their supplies of this staple than on the Columbia River fisheries. During the balance of the summer and in the fall, they were then found making their circuits through the mountains and valleys intercepting the fish as they arrived at various places. This, too, was the season for hunting, berrying, and root- digging....

Summing up, the Cayuse Indians were subdivided into seven or eight named local groups, collectively designated by themselves as Waiilatpu. Wintering along the northern foothills of the Blue Mountains from Butter Creek on the west to about where Walla Walla, Washington now stands, they spread out during summer and fall through the Blue Mountains, into Grande Ronde and Wallowa valleys, and as far as the John Day, Silvies and Malheur rivers.³⁶⁸

Suphan also provides some information with respect to the Walla Walla Indians.

The Walla Walla Indians, or Walula as they called themselves, spoke a Sahaptin dialect said to have been closely related to that of the Nez Perce.

Permanent sites of the Walla Walla were few in number, located on the Columbia near the entrance of the Walla Walla River. ...

Fishing sites considered to "belong" to the Walla Walla Indians were along the Columbia on the east bank from a point about where the Oregon-Washington state line intersects the river upstream to the Snake River junction; the only known point on the west bank in this region was directly across from the entrance of the Walla Walla River. On that river, fishing areas extended upstream about two miles. In keeping with general native practice, these were not exclusively used, however, for the Cayuse fished at least one, while the site at the Snake junction was fished by the **Palus** and Upper Columbia (Wanapum) as well. ...

Inland, the Walla Walla moved up both forks of the Walla Walla River and over into the country about the forks of the Wenaha River; subsistence spots along both these streams were used in

³⁶⁸Supra at 145-149.

conjunction with the Cayuse. In the Grande Ronde Valley, they journeyed to sites about the present location of the towns of Hilgard and La Grande to which the Umatilla, Nez Perce, and Cayuse also resorted. On the Minam River, they exploited in a region about opposite Cove, Oregon. Further eastward, they ascended the Wallowa River to favored subsistence areas near where the towns of Minam, Wallowa, Lostine, Enterprise, and Joseph now stand, and at Wallowa Lake; the Umatilla, Cayuse and Nez Perce were present at all of these. As in the case of the Umatilla Indians, it is impossible to say with what frequency any one such spot was visited; informants alleged that each would be visited at least once yearly by some members of the Walla Wallas.³⁶⁹

Lane & Lane and Nash (1981a) also point out that the Walla Walla "occupied territory downstream from the Nez Perce on the south bank of the Snake River and perhaps on the north bank as well"; and that the **Palouse** territory was centered at the confluence of the Palouse and Snake Rivers, and that they "lived on the north bank of the Snake River below Nez Perce territory"³⁷⁰.

As with neighbor tribes, salmon was the key resource for the tribal peoples now known as the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

Salmon has played the key role for the people of the CTUIR since earliest remembered time. Every CTUIR leader and elder who speaks reminds us that the salmon is at the core of their material and cultural wellbeing.³⁷¹

When God created Indians on the Earth, he gave us everything. Main thing was salmon and meat. And all the vegetables--the potatoes, celery--everything, you name it, that's what he gave to us. And that's what we were raised on.³⁷²

It's just that salmon was part of the country, they're part of the environment. They belong here as much as the Indians belong here. And in that way they complement each other. They've become a part of us because its what we depend on to live....³⁷³

The first catch, you know, the first spring salmon? We still have a big feast. Like in Celilo they do yet. They always did so our Creator would preserve it, help the Indian people to have more salmon

³⁶⁹Supra at 135-144.

³⁷⁰At Note 98.

³⁷¹Meyer Resources, 1995. Assessment of the Effect on Trust Resources of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation from Alternative System Operating Strategies (SOS) for Columbia/Snake River Flows. A Report to the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation. Davis, CA, p. v.

³⁷²Mary Lawyer, on the Umatilla Reservation, October 13, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 37.

³⁷³Antone Minthorn, on the Umatilla Reservation, October 13, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 38.

come up, and so they could get more fish to the Indians. Most of us people this way, we like fish. I know that's all I could eat; I can hardly eat meat anymore, but I can sure eat salmon. We're known this way as "salmon eaters" by the Montanas and the Dakotas; and they're meat eaters that way. That's what I hear. They tell me, "What do you like?" I say, "Salmon, of course. I'm from that way." So they call us "salmon eaters".³⁷⁴

7.2 Natural Assets and Annual Productive Yield of Original CTUIR Lands, Waters and Salmon

The lands, waters and salmon producing capability of the CTUIR traditional territory were the natural assets which allowed these tribal peoples to survive and prosper. These assets were responsible for the "annual harvests" of fish, game, roots, berries and edible plants upon which the CTUIR peoples depended. As noted, salmon was a key element for tribal wellbeing.

Hewes assumed that an average person living in the Columbia/Snake region in pre-contact times would have required 2,000 calories per day to survive³⁷⁵, on this basis, estimated that each Umatilla and Walla Walla person would have consumed 500 pounds of salmon annually - and that each Cayuse person would have consumed 365 pounds³⁷⁶. Hunn (1990) considers these estimates to be conservative³⁷⁷. Walker (1967) identified that the tribes also used salmon for other purposes, such as fuel, and adjusted Hewes' annual per capita consumption estimates upward by a median figure of 16.6 percent³⁷⁸. Finally, information from Swindell (1942) suggests that tribal families fishing in the mid-Columbia area would catch more than one-third more salmon for trade, after having taken care of their own needs³⁷⁹.

With respect to the population size of ancestors of CTUIR peoples, we follow estimates by Ray.

Dr. Verne F. Ray testified, without contradiction by the government's expert witness, that the population of the three tribes in 1790 was approximately 5,000. He estimated that by 1850, the tribal populations had been reduced by epidemics to 2,300, as follows: 1,000 Walla Wallas, 800 Cayuse, and 500 Umatillas.³⁸⁰

Using Hewes estimates, adjusted by Walker - and, per Swindell, increasing harvest estimates for Umatillas and Walla Wallas by one third, and Cayuses by one-quarter, to allow for trade - we obtain the following estimated CTUIR harvests in pre-contact and at Treaty times (Table 22).

³⁷⁴Carrie Sampson, on the Umatilla Reservation, October 13, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 42.

³⁷⁵Note 110.

³⁷⁶Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. **Supra** at 227.

³⁷⁷Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 148.

³⁷⁸Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 19.

³⁷⁹Swindell, Edward G., 1942. Supra at 165.

³⁸⁰Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1979. **Tribal History**. Mission, p.2.

Table 22

	Per Capit	a Harvest	Total	Annual Tr	ibal Harvest	<u>.</u> .
		Consumption	Pre-Contac	t Period	About 1	<u>850</u>
Tribe	Consumption	Plus Trade	Population		Population	
	pounds	per year		'000 lbs.		'000 lbs.
Walla Walla	583	775	2,200	1.7	1,000	0.8
Umatilla	583	775	1,100	0.9	500	0.4
Cayuse	426	532	1,700	0.9	800	0.4
Total CTUIR				3.5		1.6

Estimated Pre-Contact and Treaty Annual Salmon Harvests by Tribes of the CTUIR

Salmon was the principal, but not the sole food, for the pre-contact peoples of the CTUIR.

All of Indian groups of the Middle Columbia River depended on fish, and particularly upon anadromous fish for their sustenance. However, it is doubtful if any depended upon this source of food to a greater degree than did the Walla Walla and their close kin the Umatilla. Murdock has estimated that between 36 percent and 45 percent of the food of the Umatilla came from the fisheries. Murdock's estimates are generally conservative. For the Walla Walla, if not for the Umatilla, we would suggest that their dependence on fishing may have been greater than that.³⁸¹

Using these estimates, we assign the top of the range percentage to Walla Walla (45%), a median range percentage to Umatilla (40%), and adjust the Cayuse fish percentage proportionately downward (to 27%). We then apply these percentages to Hewes' estimates of "fish consumption only" from the previous page. These calculations estimate total annual annual food consumption by the three CTUIR tribes to be equivalent to 6.1 million pounds in pre-contact times, and to 2.8 million pounds around 1850.

Finally, if we were to utilize the US Bureau of the Census' present-day estimate that families on an economy budget spend one-third of their income on food³⁸² - we could infer that, at Treaty times, the CTUIR Tribes obtained food and non-food items from their usual and accustomed lands and waters equivalent to 8.4 million pounds of food each year - and equivalent to 18.3 million pounds in pre-

³⁸¹Lane & Lane and Nash, D., 1981c. **Indian Fishing and the Walla Walla River System** A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs. p. 52.

³⁸²Note 69.

contact times. These estimates are inferential. It may be that in historic times, the ratio of food to nonfood items obtainable by the tribes was greater than that used here. At the same time, however, the Census estimates are for "budget" families - and by the lights of the day, the CTUIR people lived well.

The Plateau region of the Umatilla, Cayuse, and Walla Walla may be fairly described as one of relative abundance. From a pure survival standpoint, none of these Indians were customarily threatened with starvation, yet the cyclical, rhythmical nature of their food quest determined by the annual runs of fish, the ripening of the roots and berries, and the life-habits of the game resulted in their existing in a semi-nomadic state for about eight months of the year, and meant that the problem of subsistence was always the dominant factor of their lives. Yet the problem was only one of securing sufficient supplies, provided only that they keep on the move.³⁸³

The horse was the key to expansion of the Sahaptian culture. Mobility of the horse brought the people into contact with other Indian cultures in Montana, Canada, California, Nevada, and the Pacific Northwest. The region was rich with food, materials for shelter, water, fish, game, and food and medicinal herbs. The geographical setting placed the people in the prime situation of being the middlemen of the trade between the Great Plains and the rich Pacific Coast cultures. The people were in essence the wholesalers and retailers between the two cultures.³⁸⁴

7.3 A Broader Perspective of CTUIR Living Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times

As Suphan notes, in pre-contact times, survival for the CTUIR peoples required only that they move with the natural food resources they depended on. The 1996 Comprehensive Plan of CTUIR provides further detail.

The numbers of salmon, lamprey, steelhead, sturgeon and other fish were infinite. The fisheries were the staple of all life on the Columbia Plateau. Eagles, Bears, Coyotes, Cougars and Indians were amongst those who relied on the Salmon. Elk, deer, antelope, and many other smaller mammals were abundant. The rivers and streams abounded with beaver and otters, seals and sea lions were known to venture up the Columbia River to the great fisheries at Celilo. Several kinds of grouse, quail, and multitudes of geese and ducks, as well as hawks, owls, badger, rabbits, and other wildlife shared the diverse wetland, steppe, desert and upland.

Roots, nuts berries, mushrooms, medicine, food, and fiber plants were seasonally available during the year. The hillsides were covered with lush bunch grasses, the timbered mountains were healthy, natural wildfires and floods were part of the cycle, the river vegetation was lush, and the water was cool and clean. The conditions were pristine and wildlife was naturally abundant. Survival was not easy for Indian people but the tools and resources were available to support Tribal life since time immemorial. ...

³⁸³Suphan. **Supra** at 75-76.

³⁸⁴Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1979. **Supra** at 7.

The abundance of Salmon in the Columbia and Snake Rivers gave wealth to the tribes who fished there. They dried and processed the salmon for their own subsistence and for trade to the other tribes of the Plateau and the surrounding regions. The vast grasslands and mountains populated with game, roots and berries were wealth for those tribes who occupied them. ...

Wealth was personal strength, family, community, comfort and happiness.³⁸⁵

Like other neighbor tribes, the peoples of the CTUIR were devastated by epidemics once contact occurred³⁸⁶, and more than half of their people lost³⁸⁷. Prior to that time, however, evidence suggests that the peoples of the CTUIR lived in a manner that was fully consistent with the hierarchical requirements for a satisfactory life identified by Maslow and cited by Bachtold³⁸⁸. This "fully functional" baseline condition is diagrammed in Figure 10.

³⁸⁵Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1996. **The Comprehensive Plan**. pp. 11-14.

³⁸⁶Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 27-32.

³⁸⁷Note 380.

³⁸⁸Note 66.

7.4 Umatilla, Walla Walla and Cayuse Circumstances, and the Treaty of 1855

The circumstances leading up to yet another "Stevens Treaty" in 1855 have been summarized in a recent CTUIR document.

Estimates from 1842 to 1849 indicate a total of 12,287 immigrants moved through tribal homelands. ...

Indian tribes were willing to live with the newcomers until relations were strained by continual immigration into their land, loss of resources, disease and other pressures. Certainly there were cultural differences between the Indians and non-Indians but in the beginning there was diplomacy, communication and consideration. After time non-Indians began to take land the U.S. Government had offered that it did not own. ...

As immigrations began to increase, the Tribes heard rumors that government representatives were plotting to steal the homelands. The Donation Act of 1850, and territorial approval of settlers in the Columbia Plateau without regard to tribal consent, made for a pressure-packed situation.³⁸⁹

In 1855, treaty discussions were held in the Walla Walla Valley between peoples from the Nez Perce, Cayuse, Walla Walla, Umatilla, Yakama, Palouse and other tribes, and a United States delegation headed by Isaac Stevens, Governor of Washington Territory.

The Umatilla Indian Reservation, the Yakama Indian Reservation and the Nez Perce Reservations were created during these negotiations.... The Umatilla, Walla Walla, and Cayuse tribes agreed to live on the Umatilla Indian Reservation.... The Cayuse, Walla Walla and Umatilla had ceded 6.4 million acres to the United States...and had reserved 510,000 acres to live. The Treaty was subsequently ratified by Congress on March 8, 1859.

In negotiating such treaties Stevens was successful in his drive toward opening up the Columbia River and the Washington Territory. The Indian people who traditionally lived along the rivers for a major part of the year were systematically removed, sometimes by military force, to the reservations. This was the actual beginning of non-Indian control of the land.³⁹⁰

While the peoples of the CTUIR ceded away vast land-based wealth in the Treaty of 1855, they remain clear about the rights they still reserved for themselves. Most notably, these included the Reservation, and the rights to continue to fish, hunt and gather at usual and accustomed places.

...The rights we reserved were the basis of our economy and the core of our culture and religion. These rights include the right to fish at our usual and accustomed fishing stations throughout the Columbia Basin, and the right to a sufficient quantity and quality of water to maintain these fish runs. The Treaty also reserved the right of continued Tribal access to certain lands for hunting, for

³⁸⁹Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1996. **Supra** at 17.

³⁹⁰Supra at 18.

gathering traditional foods and medicinal herbs, and for religious purposes. Without the promise that these rights and resources would be protected, our ancestors would not have signed the Treaty (our bolding).³⁹¹

The Treaty of 1855 between the United States and the Walla Wallas, Cayuses and Umatilla tribes, and bands of Indians, occupying lands partly in Washington and partly in Oregon Territories (now the CTUIR) defined and formalized the interests, rights and responsibilities of the signatories, and their successors, with respect to the natural and cultural resources of the Columbia River Basin. In the Treaty, the CTUIR ceded (**gave**) 6.4 million acres of land to the United States. In the Treaty, the CTUIR also specifically reserved, in perpetuity, rights to use, occupy and enjoy off-reservation lands and waters, to access them for the continuation of our traditional customs and practices, including plant, root and berry gathering, hunting for small and large game, and fishing at all usual and accustomed stations. ...

Tribal rights secured by the Treaty of 1855 (and others), including the right to take fish at all usual and accustomed stations, were **not** granted to the CTUIR and other sovereign Indian Nations by the United States. We **reserved**--retained--such pre-existing rights as part of our status as a prior and continuing sovereign.³⁹²

These rights, codified in the "Stevens Treaties", remain in full force today. For example, in a recent Washington State fishing case, the Court concluded:

The one significant promise for purposes of this litigation is the promise by the United States to the Indians that they would enjoy a permanent right to fish as they always had. This right was promised as a sacred entitlement, one which the United States had a moral obligation to protect. The Indians were repeatedly assured that they would continue to enjoy the right to fish as they always had, in the places where they had always fished.³⁹³

7.5 Further Allotment of CTUIR Lands - To Tribal Members and to Whites

Having obtained over 90 percent of the homelands of the Walla Wallas, Umatillas, Cayuse, Palouse and other represented tribes via the Treaty of 1855, non-Indian residents of the region immediately turned their attention to obtaining the rest.

The Reservation boundaries were under attack even before it was surveyed. Public meetings were held in La Grande, Pendleton, and Walla Walla by the late 1860's, to remove the Indians from the

³⁹²Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1995. Identification of Trust Resources: System Operation Review. Department of Natural Resources, April 27. pp. 6-7.

³⁹¹Statement of the CTUIR, in, Meyer Resources, 1995. Supra at 2.

³⁹³United States of America, et al. v. <u>State of Washington, et al.</u> United States District Court, Western Washington District. No. CV 9213, Sub-proceeding No. 89-3. "Memorandum Opinion and Order", pp. 23-24.

Umatilla Reservation. The settlers had discovered that Indian lands were capable of producing wheat, and the mountains were good for livestock grazing.³⁹⁴

If settlers could not immediately have all reserved land of the CTUIR Reservation, they got a good start via another one of the "**survey errors**" that seem consistently associated with the Stevens Treaties - and always against Tribal interest.

The (CTUIR) Tribes had reserved 510,000 acres for the Reservation in 1855. The actually surveyed Reservation totaled approximately 245,000 acres or approximately half of the Reservation reserved by the Treaty.³⁹⁵

Some non-Indians concluded that even this arbitrary reduction in Reservation size left too much land in CTUIR hands.

The Umatilla Reservation, though relatively small, was so extraordinarily rich in grazing land that, as early as August 15, 1870, Lieutenant W.H. Boyle could write from the Umatilla Agency that the amount of grass on the reservation was "without limit". "The horses and cattle," he observed, "are always in splendid condition, and scarcely need any care in winter, as grazing is good all year round, rendering it a very popular as well as profitable business to raise stock."³⁹⁶

As early as July, 1867, the Agent for the Umatilla Reservation reported that the Indians under his care, fearful of losing their reservation, were causing him no end of "trouble and vexation". "The reservation", he wrote, "is completely surrounded by white settlements." ...

So anxious are the white people in the vicinity to possess this land, that threats to remove the Indians by violence are not infrequently heard.³⁹⁷

Some desperate emigrants attempted to obtain treaty lands by goading Indians into hostile acts. Others circulated petitions to Congress and the State Legislature requesting that the Indians be relocated.³⁹⁸

 ³⁹⁴Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1996. Supra at 19.
³⁹⁵Supra.

³⁹⁶Oliphant, Orin J., "Encroachments of Cattlemen on Indian Reservations in the Pacific Northwest, 1870-1890", in, Agricultural History. pp. 43-44.

³⁹⁷Supra at 44.

³⁹⁸Kennedy, James B., 1977. The Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1855-1875: Factors Contributing to a Diminished Land Resource Base. Phd. dissertation. Oregon State University, pp. 77-78.

In 1881, rail and road easements began to appropriate remaining CTUIR $land^{399}$ - and these have continued to the present day. In 1882, Pendleton acquired 640 acres of CTUIR land - and another 200 acres in 1912^{400} .

The Slater Act, forerunner to the Dawes Act, was passed in 1885 and facilitated further transfer of CTUIR wealth in land to non-Indians.

Failure to persuade the Confederated Tribes to sell the reservation fostered a renewed interest in the policy of land allotment. The concept was relatively simple. Each Indian would receive or be assigned to a parcel of land as stipulated in Article 6 of the 1855 treaty. The remaining land would then be sold with the proceeds deposited to the credit of the Indians.⁴⁰¹

Implementation of the Slater Act provisions provided additional opportunity for sharp practices to alienate CTUIR wealth in land.

In 1892, Professor C.C. Painter vividly described the situation on the Umatilla reservation to the Board of Indian Commissioners. ...His remarks were generally substantiated by news items appearing in the Pendleton <u>East Oregonian</u> and in the records of resident agents. According to Professor Painter the resident agent arrived on the reservation in a state of intoxication and was in that condition a number of times during the process of allotment. Tribesmen protested that aliens were allowed land; that some members of the tribe received no allotment; that the same piece of land had been allotted to more than one person; and that surplus land belonging to the Indians had been possessed by whites. Government officials informed the professor that the complaints were too vague and indefinite to become the basis of official action. There was no lack of evidence. In March of 1891, the <u>East Oregonian</u> favored retaining the resident agent despite his drinking problem. His replacement later expressed shock in finding three full blood Norwegian children receiving the benefits of tribal membership. ...

The conduct of surplus land sales were no less surprising. Although the methods of obtaining land were not illegal, they were unethical. A writer for the <u>East Oregonian</u> was amused by a commotion staged to distract bidders from a McKay Creek land sale. The "clever trick" benefited a certain white rancher but constituted a loss to the Indians. ...it was not uncommon for several ranchers to pool their resources and outbid the independent rancher. Having outbid the independent, they would default on payment, and later obtain the land at appraised value. This was usually 25 percent less than real value.⁴⁰²

³⁹⁹Supra at 84.

⁴⁰⁰Supra at 83.

⁴⁰¹Supra at 86-89.

⁴⁰²Supra at 108-110.

As a result of the Slater Act, ensuing sharp practices, and widespread leasing of CTUIR land by Indian allottees, by 1895, ninety percent of the Reservation's arable land was farmed by non-Indians. Hunn, speaking of the allotment process, concludes:

In 1914 the allotment rolls were closed, but the damage had been done. The best agricultural lands of the reservation had become a checkerboard of Indian and white ownership with whites resident within the reservation boundaries outnumbering Indians ten to one. Whites now (1975) own the most productive 10 percent of all Yakima Reservation lands. The Umatilla Reservation has experienced even more severe erosion of its land base.⁴⁰³

Drawing chiefly on Kennedy (1977), a general outline of the diminishment of CTUIR wealth in land during this period is displayed in Table 23.

Table 23

Diminishment of CTUIR Land: 1855 to 1975

Original CTUIR homeland.	6.9 million acres
CTUIR Reservation under the 1855 Treaty.	510,000 acres
CTUIR Reservation after "survey error".	245,000 acres
CTUIR Reservation in 1975.	157,982 acres

Thus, in a little more than 100 years, the CTUIR's Treaty-based ownership of land, secured by the peoples of the CTUIR in 1855, was reduced by about 70 percent. These remaining lands (as of 1975) amounted to 2 percent of their original homeland.

7.6 CTUIR Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas

The substantial diminishment of CTUIR lands, in 1855 and thereafter, together with the ongoing adverse pressure from surrounding whites, severely restricted CTUIR access to usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas - even though such access had been guaranteed by Treaty.

Although the Treaty of 1855 provided for the gathering of native foods and pasturing of livestock off reservation, such activities were becoming increasingly difficult. Confrontation with the emigrants must have been anticipated with every journey off reservation.⁴⁰⁴

⁴⁰³Hunn, Eugene S., **Supra** at 279.

⁴⁰⁴Kennedy, James B., 1977. **Supra** at 79.

During the nineteenth century, the Plateau Indian population declined drastically. It might be argued that this would have taken pressure off the game resources. This was not the case, for the century brought thousands of non-Indians who, in the frontier tradition, also looked upon the game resources as a cheap supply of food. The end result of these changes was an intensification of fishing by Indians. ...

Native vegetable foods also declined in importance as they became less available during the nineteenth century. Here also the reason related to the advent of non-Indians. ... Some of the most important plants, whose tubers were used for food, grew in just those areas that were most suitable for non-Indian occupation and utilization. ... The native food plants were both reduced by the pasturing of stock and made inaccessible to the Indians as land was fenced off.

...The mountain basins and valleys at the edges of the arid or semi-arid regions of the Columbia Basin were very attractive to non-Indian settlers....

Such settlement, by converting the lands around traditional fishing places to leased or private property blocked access to innumerable fisheries. Until cars and trucks were used, the availability and character of campsites was an important consideration in choosing a fishery. Horses were used for transport and a campsite required adequate grass for the horses. Increasingly, traditional campgrounds were fenced off or otherwise barred to Indians. Often, although not always, there was hostility toward Indians on the part of the settlers. Often this hostility was part of the traditional anti-Indian prejudice of so many frontiersmen. It was usually bolstered by accusations of damage to fences, crops, and grass; and of gates left open and stock strayed or lost. Fishing at many traditional fishing places declined because of such opposition.

The Wallowa Valley was an example. ... The (Indian) agents placed the Wallowa Valley off limits (in 1881) and thus cut off access to a rich hunting, fishing and gathering region. ...

So far as we know, no legal challenge was made to this cutting off of traditional fishing places. The locations were usually minor fisheries and the loss of any one of them may have been annoying but may not have seemed a critical issue. The number of fishermen affected (by each action) might have been very small. The situation was different than that on the Columbia River where interference with access has critically affected larger numbers of (Indian) people and has been challenged.

When Sahaptin-speakers such as the Walla Walla, Umatilla, and Cayuse traveled away from their home communities on foraging expeditions, they rarely went for a single purpose. On hunting trips, a given campsite would be selected that was convenient to berrying or root digging grounds. Fishing sites were often selected in terms of access to hunting grounds as well. Consequently, people might cease to use a perfectly good fishing location because adjacent camas beds had been destroyed or because nearby hunting was no longer possible. **The net result of the interaction of all these conditions and events was that fishing became more and more restricted to large**

mainstream fisheries and to tributary fisheries still accessible to the permanent community bases of increasingly sedentary (Tribal) people. (our bolding)⁴⁰⁵

As usual and accustomed fishing, hunting and gathering areas were cut off from CTUIR peoples, and the Indians placed greater emphasis on fishing sites that were larger, and closer to their reservation, these larger sites also saw adverse pressure from whites. Initially, this involved direct competition for the fish. In 1866, Hapgood, Hume and Company located the first fishing cannery on the Columbia River⁴⁰⁶, heralding an era of technological intensification of fishing effort and the entry of non-Indians into large scale fishing and processing. Subsequently, gillnetters, fish traps and seiners expanded "out in front" of Columbia and Snake rivers tribal fishers. The fish wheels, capable of taking thousands of pounds of fish per day, greatly intensified fishing power until outlawed in 1926⁴⁰⁷. As a result of these commercial developments, CTUIR and other tribal fishermen fishing Columbia and Snake rivers stocks soon

faced massive technology-driven competition from non-Indian fishermen, who, by 1911, were taking the lion's share of salmon originating from the Columbia and Snake rivers⁴⁰⁸.

7.7 Changing the Production Function for CTUIR Lands, Waters and Salmon Producing Capability

As the 20th Century emerged, so did a new technique for taking Treaty wealth from the tribes. Non-Indians not only caught the lions share of salmon that were available, but began to **transform the rivers**. This transformation has, since its inception, increased production of irrigated crops and electricity - and reduced production of the salmon. Dams on the Columbia and the Snake rivers have played the greatest part in this transformation of the rivers' production function⁴⁰⁹. Some sense of the effect on salmon from this transformation is provided in Table 24.

⁴⁰⁵Lane & Lane and D. Nash, 1981c. **Supra** at 54-55.

⁴⁰⁶Smith, Courtland, 1979. Supra at 16.

⁴⁰⁷Supra at 35-36.

⁴⁰⁸Su**pra** at 91-100.

⁴⁰⁹Northwest Power Planning Council, 1986. **1987 Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program.** Appendix E.

Table	24
-------	----

Transformation of the Columbia/Snake River System from Salmon Production				
	Estimated			
Year	Harvest	Benchmark .		
	-millions of lb	S		
1872	17.0			
1900	25.8	Non-Indian fishing pressure increases.		
1911	49.5	Salmon harvest peaks, aided particularly by the salmon wheel.		
1927	37.7	The salmon wheel has been outlawed.		
1931	27.0			
1933	26.8	Rock Island Dam completed. First dam on the Columbia mainstem.		
1938	18.8	Bonneville Dam completed - First mainstem dam to impede Snake		
		stocks.		
1940	19.3			
1941	31.6	Grand Coulee Dam completed on the Upper Columbia.		
1950	13.3	Anderson Ranch Dam completed on the Snake.		
1952	10.7	Cabinet Gorge Dam completed on the Snake.		
		Hungry Horse completed on the Snake.		

1953	9.7	McNary Dam completed on the Columbia. Impedes Snake R. salmon.
1957	7.3	The Dalles Dam completed on the Columbia. Impedes Snake salmon.
1958	8.1	Brownlee Dam completed on the Snake.
1959	6.1	Priest Rapids Dam completed on Columbia. Impedes Snake salmon.
1961	5.4	Oxbow Dam completed on the Snake.
1961	5.4	Ice Harbor Dam completed on the Lower Snake River.
1967	9.4	Wells Dam completed on the Columbia. Impedes Snake salmon. Hells Canyon Dam completed on the Snake.
1968	5.6	John Day Dam completed on the Columbia. Impedes Snake salmon.
1968	5.6	Lower Monumental Dam completed on the Lower Snake River.
1970	12.6	Little Goose Dam completed on the Lower Snake River.
1974	6.3	Dworshak Dam completed on the North Fork of the Clearwater.
		-
1990	3.9	
1968 1968 1970 1974 1975	5.6 5.6 12.6 6.3 8.2	Hells Canyon Dam completed on the Snake. John Day Dam completed on the Columbia. Impedes Snake salmon. Lower Monumental Dam completed on the Lower Snake River.

Source: Smith, C.L., 1979. Supra at 110-112.

: Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife & Washington Department of Fisheries, 1991. **Status Report**, p. 67.

Salmon catches have continued to decline in the 1990's, until, at present, the existence of some Snake River salmon stocks are threatened and/or endangered⁴¹⁰.

Tribal spokespersons have not agreed with the transformation of the Columbia/Snake system into one which produces extensive wealth associated with electricity and crops - but fewer and fewer salmon. As with their neighbor tribes, their concerns with respect to their Treaty resources have been largely ignored.

The Indians didn't have no voice at all. Because I remember when they built the John Day Dam the fish wouldn't go up the fish ladders. And they said the fish down there just died by the thousands at The Dalles Dam, because they didn't know how to go up them ladders. Plus the water was several degrees warmer above than it was below, and they couldn't adjust to that. Everyone knew that, even white people.⁴¹¹

 ⁴¹⁰Bonneville Power Administration, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Bureau of Reclamation, 1994. Columbia River System Operation Review: Draft Environmental Impact Statement. Appendix C-1; Anadromous Fish. DOE/EIS-0170, p. 2.2.

⁴¹¹Denny Williams, at Mission, October 13, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 60.

On each reservation, the story is the same. Inadequate provision for salmon and steelhead during dam construction and operation--consequent decline of natural stocks--broken and discarded promises by hydroelectric interests respecting safeguards and compensation--and severe inroads into capability for tribal survival. These conditions have also spawned a present attitude of almost universal mistrust among Indian people, accompanied either by hopelessness or outrage--depending on the person involved.⁴¹²

The anguish associated with this transformation has been summarized by CTUIR elder Carrie Sampson.

My heart cries for my people, cuz we are no more Indians. We have taken up all the white man's ways. If we were still Indians, we'd be living peacefully and happily the way we used to. All our horses are gone. No more cattle. All the pasture, the land, the hillsides, taken up by the farmers, by the white man. Our horses don't roam no more; we don't have no more horses of our own like we did at one time. Every inch of the tillable ground is taken up. Where our houses used to be, they tear that down, and they put wheat in there or peas right on every inch of the ground. And they've taken down all of the fences, and they've plowed through there. These big farmers, they've got everything in the world. The (Indian) owners have nothing. And they've taken everything. Like I say, they've taken our land, they've taken our rivers, they've taken our fish. I don't know what more they want.⁴¹³

7.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams

As with neighbor tribes, the CTUIR peoples directly fished Snake River stocks as adult salmon returned upriver. They fished these stocks both at their usual and accustomed fishing stations along the mid-Columbia, and along the lower Snake River. Lane & Lane and Nash (1981a) report that, on the Lower Snake River, the Walla Walla tribe occupied territory downstream of the Nez Perce on the south bank⁴¹⁴, perhaps from below the mouth of the Tucannon River to the confluence of the Snake and the Columbia Rivers. Palouse peoples, many of whom now reside on the Umatilla Reservation, lived along the north bank of the lower Snake, at and below the mouth of the Palouse River⁴¹⁵. We consequently conclude that permanent cultural sites of the CTUIR peoples have been inundated by Ice Harbor and Lower Monumental Dams, and that Little Goose and Lower Granite Dams inundated Treaty fishing stations fished cooperatively by CTUIR peoples with the Nez Perce. These dams also

⁴¹²Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 71-72.

⁴¹³Carrie Sampson, at Mission, October 13, 1982; in, Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 62.

⁴¹⁴At Note 98.

⁴¹⁵Supra.

flooded associated areas depended on by CTUIR peoples for hunting, and for the gathering of roots, berries and plants.

In order to properly assess impacts associated with lower Snake River reservoirs on tribes, and following Court direction (Section 2.1.1.5), it is necessary to consider "cultural resource" impacts from a tribal as well as an archaeological perspective. These perspectives differ.

Tribes look at cultural resources differently than archaeologists do. King and Dodge (1996), working for Keepers of the Trust, speak about the differences between tribal and Euro-american (archaeological) worldviews in regard to cultural resources. Most generally, they note that (tribes consider that) a cultural resource is "any place that is valued by a tribe because of some sort of association with the tribe's ancestors" (p.2). They also point out that cultural resources can either be **places** or **practices**. The "practices" are centered around peoples' actions which may or may not require a special place. **It is the 'action' that is special to the cultural tradition or lifeway** (p.4). The "places are physical locations on the land that are important because something special is done there (vision questing, medicine gathering), because special things are located there (important plants, herbs, animals), because people did something there in the past (lived, buried the dead, etc.), or because they are associated with traditions (origin places, etc.)" (p.4). These places are generally considered under the archaeologist's term "site" or "traditional Cultural Property (TCP)". A final important general point Keepers of the Trust makes is that cultural resources "may be places where plants, animals, or minerals are found that are needed to maintain the ways of life passed down from the ancestors" (p.2).

The CTUIR agree with the Keepers' analysis. In Burney's analysis of why Hanford is a Traditional Cultural Property, he says;

"Cultural resources significant to the CTUIR world-view include such things as the Indian people themselves, their communities, and their way of life; native elders with their unique information regarding their personal histories as well as tribal histories; clean air; clean water where salmon and other fish, eels, and other riverine resources so highly prized by the tribes for their traditional subsistence live; the root grounds providing a multitude of edible roots traditional to their dietary needs; and the berry patches, especially huckleberries, scattered throughout the Blue Mountains." (1998:7)

The same is true for the reservoirs along the lower Snake River. Clearly, a crucial cultural resource for the CTUIR, as well as other Northwest tribes, is the salmon. Many of the archaeological sites within these reservoirs show evidence of the antiquity of the relationship between tribal members and these fish. Should this relationship be broken by the extinction of the salmon, the loss to the tribes' culture would be immeasurable.

Another important difference between the way archaeologists and tribal cultural resource managers look at cultural resources is in ranking. Historically, laws set up by the federal government to manage cultural resources, and many of the archaeologists who interpret them, focus on determining a site's eligibility for the National Register. Thus a site may be rated on whether it meets the criteria outlined in the National Historic Preservation Act. Sites that do not meet these criteria (these archaeologists say) do not warrant protection.

This is a foreign concept to tribal members, who prefer to see the interaction between cultural resource sites and landforms as a system. As the Keepers point out;

"Rather than ranking places against one another and deciding which can be most readily sacrificed to change, a traditional person may want to look at the relationship among all the parts of the interacting landscape system, and decide whether or not proposed changes will disrupt the system." (p.6)

Archaeologists in particular and Euroamericans in general often fail to appreciate the importance American Indians ascribe to cultural resources. People need to understand that these sites are a library of the Tribe's heritage. Euroamericans read books to learn about the past and what their ancestors did. Tribal members turn to archaeological sites to understand and connect to the past and to their ongoing lifeways.⁴¹⁶

A fuller discussion of legal and technical issues associated with cultural impacts and protection is provided in Appendix 2.

CTUIR cultural protection staff have focused their analytical attention for this project on the two lowest Snake River reservoirs, those associated with Ice Harbor and Lower Monumental dams. In general:

When the CTUIR looks at Ice Harbor and Lower Monumental reservoirs, they see a system of cultural resources that is entirely out of balance. The river is a lake, much of the land where their ancestors lived their daily lives is under water, and the salmon have great difficulty in their migrations. The current system is unacceptable.⁴¹⁷

A 1995 preliminary assessment by CTUIR staff identified approximately 150 sites of particular cultural significance within the Ice Harbor and Lower Monumental reservoirs (Table 25). These are believed to be only a portion of the sites along the Lower Snake where the ancestors of the CTUIR tribes lived, fished, hunted and/or gathered roots and plants⁴¹⁸.

Table 25

An "In Part" Summary of Sites of Particular Cultural Significance to the CTUIR

⁴¹⁶Dickson, Catherine, 1998. Cultural Resource Protection Associated with Lower Snake Drawdown. A Report to the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission. Pendleton, Oregon: Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, Department of Natural Resources, Cultural Resources Protection Program, pp. 1-2.

⁴¹⁷Supra at 2-3.

⁴¹⁸CTUIR Cultural Protection staff. 1995.

- Affected by Lower Snake River Reservoirs -

Reservoir	Number of Cultural Sites
Ice Harbor	73
Lower Monumental	77

Source: CTUIR Cultural Protection Staff, 1995.

Finally, the CTUIR, have seen their Treaty wealth in salmon risked, and then taken, as the Lower Snake dams were built. In more recent times, they have suffered further, as some biologists and river managers have reversed their approach to uncertain actions - and refused to restore salmon to the river unless they can be guaranteed high probabilities of success for any rebalancing actions they might take⁴¹⁹.

7.9 Post-Contact CTUIR Tribal Health

As Hunn has noted, pestilence followed contact with white explorers, trappers and settlers for the tribes of the CTUIR and their neighbors.

(T)he first wave of smallpox might have come from the west about 1775 from ships exploring for furs along the north Pacific coast... .

Smallpox again rampaged along the Columbia in 1801, attacking a new generation of susceptibles grown up since the first visitation. This likely carried off another 10 to 20 percent, reducing the original population to about one half by the time of Lewis and Clark's exploration.... Two more waves of smallpox may have afflicted Indian people on the mid- Columbia. An outbreak of disease reported in 1824-25 may have been smallpox. The epidemic of 1853 was documented in detail by the McClellan survey party....

...Though spared from malaria (which ravaged the lower Columbia tribes), the Plateau people next found themselves in the path of thousands of immigrants crossing the continent over the Oregon Trail. Seasonal respiratory disease had become commonplace among the Indians who congregated at fur trading posts each winter, a pattern repeated at the missions. In 1843 after a tour east, Marcus Whitman returned to his Walla Walla mission at the head of a train of one thousand settlers. This scene was to be repeated each subsequent year. With the immigrants came a potpourri of diseases against which the Indians had no resistance. In 1844 there was scarlet fever and whooping cough, in 1846 more scarlet fever, and so forth. ...

This coincidence of Whitman's hosting the hordes of settlers arriving late each fall from their arduous overland journey and the outbreak of new epidemics was not lost on the Indians. When

⁴¹⁹Also refer to Section 4.8.

measles erupted about the time of the immigrants' arrival in 1847, the Indians concluded that Whitman's murderous influence must be stopped.

...On November 29, a group of Cayuses attacked the mission, killing Whitman, his wife, and eleven other whites, and taking some fifty captives....

The (pre-Treaty) history of Indian-white relations in the Columbia Plateau has been first and foremost a history of the ravages of disease, for the most part inadvertently transmitted by Old World immigrants to defenseless New World populations, which drastically reduced aboriginal populations and disrupted the social and spiritual fabric of Indian life.⁴²⁰

These epidemics reduced the population of CTUIR tribes to 2,300 persons by 1855⁴²¹. Population continued a sharp decline through the balance of the 19th century - and then remained fairly constant through the mid-20th century (Table 26).

f CTUIR Tribes: 1892 to 1950
Population
1,081
1,013
1,065
1,117
1,111
1,135
1,128

Table 26

Source: Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981c. Supra at 31-32.

Trafzer (1997) concludes that pestilence continued to predominate among the tribes of the Columbia and Snake rivers until the 1930's when modern preventive medicines began to reach the reservations. He further hypothesized that by the 1950's degenerative and man-made diseases had become prevalent as principal causes of Indian mortality. Incorporated in this new set of problems were: loss of traditional diet from native foods, pressures and violence from whites, social and economic dislocation of reservations, loss of autonomy and control over lives, high poverty and low medical services⁴²². This

⁴²⁰Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. Supra at 27-32.

⁴²¹At Note 380.

⁴²²Note 159.

hypothesis is consistent with observations concerning devastation of the CTUIR traditional resource base, and with the conclusions reached by Bachtold⁴²³.

7.10 Present Circumstances of the CTUIR

This section reviews recent circumstances of the CTUIR - and particularly inquires whether recent circumstances have altered the cumulative adverse effects that CTUIR peoples have suffered.

7.10.1 Remaining CTUIR Lands

Enrolled CTUIR membership presently stands at 2,087 persons⁴²⁴. The present Treaty boundary of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation encompasses 292,744 acres. Only 95,136 acres (32 percent) are in Indian hands (Table 27). This represents 1.4 percent of their original tribal homeland.

Table 27

Present Reservation Landholdings of the CTUIR and its Members

Type of Holding	Acres
Tribal fee lands	9,360
Tribal allotment lands	68,771
Tribal Trust lands	17,005
Non-Tribal Owned Reservation lands	197,608
Total Lands within Reservation boundaries	292,744

Source: CTUIR Planning Office.

7.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon?

The peoples of the Yakama, Nez Perce, Umatilla and Warm Springs Reservations fish in common in Zone 6 on the mid-Columbia River. Catches roughly reflect human population sizes, and associated numbers of fishers, from each reservation - with the Yakama's securing the largest catch, followed by

⁴²³At Note 66.

⁴²⁴Debbie Croswell, Public Information Officer. Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation. **Personal communication**. August 3, 1998.

the Nez Perce, and then the Umatillas and Warm Springs. Aggregate statistics on all-tribes Zone 6 commercial catch are kept by CRITFC; the Yakamas and the Nez Perce keep their own Zone 6 catch subtotals, while the Umatilla and Warm Springs do not; and all tribes have some data on Ceremonial and Subsistence (C&S) catches in tributary rivers and streams. Given these circumstances, we have been able to approximate harvest levels for Nez Perce and Yakama peoples in previous sections of this report. However, such direct estimates are not available for either Umatilla or Warm Springs - and we have approximated **joint catch** for these two tribal groups as follows.

- 1. We use CRITFC catch data to estimate Zone 6 total tribal commercial catch of anadromous species at 820,000 pounds, the average for the years 1993-1997.
- 2. Based on data from the Yakama Indian Nation, we estimate Zone 6 commercial harvest by Yakama tribal members at 719,000 pounds.
- 3. Based on data from Nez Perce, we estimate that Nez Perce fishers take about 7.6% of Zone 6 tribal commercial harvest 62,000 pounds of the estimated 820,000 base all-tribes commercial harvest.
- 4. Subtracting the harvest results from Steps (2) and (3) from the all-tribes Zone 6 commercial harvest estimated in Step (1), we obtain a residual commercial harvest estimate for the **CTUIR and Warm Springs tribes, considered together**, of 39,000 pounds.
- 5. Using Ceremonial and Subsistence (C&S) harvest data from all tribes, we estimate that an additional 38,000 pounds of anadromous fish are taken by CTUIR and Warm Springs peoples considered together for C&S purposes, in Zone 6, and in other tributary rivers and streams within their usual and accustomed territories.
- 6. Adding results from Steps (4) and (5), we estimated that fishers from the CTUIR and the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation have been able to harvest approximately 77,000 pounds of anadromous species annually over the 1993-1997 period.

It will be apparent that these estimates are only approximate, and will change with decreases or increases in abundance of salmonid stocks. However, they are considered accurate within a reasonable range of magnitude, and are sufficient to indicate that present harvests by CTUIR peoples represent only a small fraction (3 percent for the CTUIR and Warm Springs taken together) of the harvests they believed they had protected in their Treaty with the United States.

7.10.3 A General Assessment of Present CTUIR Material Circumstance

Preceding Sections 7.10.1 and 7.10.2 indicate that the peoples of the CTUIR have lost 68 percent of their Treaty-protected lands and approximately 97 percent of Treaty protected harvests of salmon and other anadromous fish. This destruction of tribal Treaty assets and stripping of wealth from tribal lands

and rivers has had a predictable result - severe impoverishment for the peoples of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

Data from the US Bureau of the Census' 1990 Survey and from BIA (1995) provides a present- day comparison of CTUIR material circumstances, relative to those of non-tribal residents of Oregon (Table 28).

Table 28

Comparative Data Showing the Relative Circumstances of the CTUIR			
Economic Indicator	<u>CTUIR</u>	Oregon	
Families in Poverty (%)	26.9	12.4	
Unemployment: US Census (%) : BIA	20.4 21.0	6.2	
Per Capita Income (\$'000)	7.9	13.4	

Source: US Bureau of the Census - 1990 Special Tribal Run. US Bureau of Indian Affairs - 1995 Indian Population and Labor Force Estimates.

Recent Tribal economic activity and employment depends most heavily on government infrastructure, and on the CTUIR Wildhorse Casino and Hotel development - which also provides jobs for neighboring non-members. The Yellowhawk Health Clinic is also a significant employer of tribal members (Table 29). The Casino/Hotel complex has had a particularly positive impact in diminishing winter unemployment peaks - although overall unemployment rates remain unacceptably high.

Table 29	9
----------	---

Major Employment Sources for the CTUIR - 1998

Enterprise/Activity	Estimated Employment	
	<u>CTUIR</u>	Non-CTUIR
Tribal government	217	146
Wildhorse Casino & Hotel	108	259
Yellowhawk Health Clinic	36	29
Tribal Police	7	19

Source: CTUIR Public Information Office.

7.10.4 CTUIR Tribal Health

US Indian Health Service (1994b) reported that, for the 1989-1991 period, the age-adjusted death rate for Native Americans in the Umatilla Service Area exceeded that of non-Indians by 20 percent⁴²⁵. The Umatilla Service Area covers Umatilla and Union counties in Oregon. Table 30 provides comparative 1989-91 age-adjusted mortality data for the Umatilla Service Area and surrounding non-Indian residents - for the five leading causes of Native American death.

Table 30

Leading Causes of Tribal Death - Umatilla Service Area: 1989-91				
Cause of Death	Native American deaths	All Other Races per 100,000 popu	Ratio of NA to Other Races lation	
Malignant Neoplasms	126.7	104.7	1.2	
Heart Disease	104.5	101.3	1.0	
Cerebrovascular Disease	63.5	20.6	3.1	
Cirrhosis of the Liver	56.8	3.3	17.4	
Aids/HIV	18.0	0.9	20.6	

Source: US Indian Health Service, 1994b. Supra at 97.

While diabetes ranks slightly lower as a killer on the Umatilla Reservation than the causes of mortality listed in Table 30, it is still a substantial problem for CTUIR peoples. Hunn, writing about the peoples of the "Big River", makes the following comments with respect to potential relationships between diet and a new complex of tribal diseases, one of which is diabetes.

How are we to understand this sudden appearance of a complex of diseases that were previously unknown or rare among Native Americans? The essential clue in this instance may lie in dietary changes. Indian peoples today have ready access to an abundance of processed foods that are high in short-chain carbohydrates and animal fats but low in long-chain carbohydrates and fiber. Such

⁴²⁵US Indian Health Service, 1994b. Supra at 75.

processed foods are conspicuously marketed in our supermarkets and have now largely replaced traditional greens, roots, fish, and berries in the Indians' diet. Traditional foods had a high fiber content and were rich in essential vitamins and minerals well preserved by indigenous drying techniques. Healthy fish oils were the primary source of fats. Such foods provided all essential nutrients, including ample calories.⁴²⁶

The American Indian Health Care Association (1993) also evaluated Indian health status and services in the State of Oregon. Their findings tended to confirm the data from the Indian Health Service.

State of Oregon findings indicate that the status of American Indian health lags behind the general population, and that health care facilities available to American Indians are limited in scope and underfunded. Furthermore, researchers found that there were severe access problems for all American Indians, whether they live on or off reservations. ...

The health status of Oregon's American Indians can be illustrated by birth characteristics, disease prevalence, and mortality. The findings on all these factors form a picture of American Indian health that is, in many ways, alarmingly poor.⁴²⁷

As with other tribes, the CTUIR is making positive strides respecting tribal health. However, substantial challenges remain.

Today the CTUIR is taking a more positive role in directly managing their own health care. Indian health and healthcare needs to improve, and the CTUIR realize that we must do this ourselves. Poor water quality, pesticides, no fish, and changes in traditional diet to commodities has affected the health of the tribes. One hundred and fifty years of alcoholism, drug abuse, diabetes and high cholesterol introduced by the non-Indian world has also weakened and hurt the people. The health of the Indian people is the future and we need to care for our family using western medicine and traditional beliefs to heal ourselves. With the Tribes limited successes there has been opposition and there are many issues to attend to. The Columbia River fisheries are dwindling, the forests are sick, the water is polluted. Through our Country passes thousands of miles of roads, power lines, pipelines, extensive irrigated land, cattle issues, water issues, forest and mineral speculators, private industry, developers, county, state and Federal governments. Within the CTUIR aboriginal territories is the Hanford Nuclear Reservation, the most polluted place in the Western Hemisphere.⁴²⁸

Tribal fish Commissioner Jay Minthorn expressed further concern with respect to water pollution at a 1998 EPA Conference on the subject.

⁴²⁶Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 283.

⁴²⁷American Indian Health Care Association, 1993b. Northwest Area American Indian Health Status and Policy Assessment Project: State of Oregon Report. Saint Paul, Minn., pp. ix-x.

⁴²⁸Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1996. **Supra** at 24.

Water pollution affects many aspects of tribal life; our health, our source of food and our tribal heritage. Water quality takes precedence over all other resources, because it's the source of all living things. Of all the threats to our tribal life, water pollution is one of the most dangerous.

7.10.5 Languages of the CTUIR and Other Columbia/Snake River Tribes

With respect to the languages of the CTUIR, and neighbor study tribes, Hunn (1990) notes:

The mid-Columbia Indians speak a dialect of Sahaptin. The Sahaptin language includes three main dialect divisions set apart by distinctive vocabulary items, pronunciation, and grammatical paradigms. Bruce Rigsby, a linguistic anthropologist who studied Sahaptin in detail during the 1960's, describes fourteen extant dialects, which he classifies as follows:

The Northwest Cluster: Klikitat, Upper Cowlitz or Taitnapam, Yakima, and Kittitas or Pshwanwapam;

The Northeast Cluster: Priest Rapids or Wanapam, Walla Walla, Snake River, and Palus; and, *The Columbia River Cluster*: Umatilla, John Day, Rock Creek (Washington), Wayampam (Celilo), Tenino, and Tygh Valley.

Sahaptin is closely related to Nez Perce, spoken along the (lower) Snake River and its tributaries above the Palouse River junction, and the two languages together form the small Sahaptian language family.⁴²⁹

In previous methodological Section 2.1.4.4, we cited Hunn's conclusions concerning the importance of "own language" for tribes. We repeat his observations here.

Learning a foreign language such as Sahaptin involves more than learning a strange set of sounds, getting used to unfamiliar grammatical patterns, and memorizing a new vocabulary. It also requires learning a new way of thinking and adopting a different perspective on reality.... The hypothesis of linguistic relativity...was put strongly by Sapir when he asserted that people who grow up speaking different languages do not live in the same world with just the labels changed, but live in unique worlds.⁴³⁰

⁴²⁹Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 61.

⁴³⁰Supra at 78.

Because tribes place strong emphasis on experience in learning how to live effectively, language not only illuminates culture, but also protects Tribal knowledge - and hence, tribal power.

Human survival hinges on the outcome of such ecological events as finding food, eating, killing, escaping, meeting, mating, feeding and dying. With language we can describe, catalog, and analyze a very large number of such events as well as imagine, and perhaps create, new ecological realities. Language is thus not merely a means of self-expression but also a tool of survival, more powerful than the bow-and-arrow, net or plow. In language we construct our battle plan for our daily skirmish with hard reality. ...This knowledge must be acquired, remembered, and passed on.⁴³¹

Ridington (1990) adds:

Knowledge, the elders say, enables a person to live in this world with intelligence and understanding. They recognize that knowledge is a distinctly human attribute. **They recognize that knowledge is a form of power**. (emphasis added)... A person with power reveals what he or she knows through the ongoing story of his or her life. A person with power does not disclose knowledge without a purpose. He or she may use power to heal relatives who are ill. He or she may use it to feed people. A person who "knows something" may even be obliged to use power to defend against an attack. These circumstances reveal the times and places in which power may be revealed. They define knowledge and power in terms of experience.⁴³²

Thus, a persons' "own language" can keep knowledge from outsiders - and, in so doing, protect the power of tribal peoples.

Today, only a minority of members of the CTUIR, and of other tribes, speak their own language.

Sahaptin survives in the memories of several hundred elders because it has served its people well, and it may yet survive to serve their descendants in a world dominated by languages of empire, such as English, Spanish, Arabic, and Mandarin Chinese....

The extinction of languages such as Cayuse does not require that we imagine dramatic conflicts among linguistic "tribes" for domination over the Plateau populace. Hunter-gatherers do not create empires, they tend rather to mind their own business. Linguistic change is more likely a slow process whereby "successful" languages (that is, those learned by increasing numbers of people) spread at the expense of neighboring languages by *creeping*, not *leaping*⁴³³.

⁴³¹Supra at 81.

⁴³²Ridington, Robin, 1990. **Supra** at xvii.

⁴³³Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 64-65.

An estimated 9 percent of Native Americans living on or near the Umatilla Reservation speak their own language at home⁴³⁴. Strong efforts, led by Elders, continue to save the language and to teach it to younger members of CTUIR. Yet at present, the ability of CTUIR peoples to protect the power of their traditional knowledge through use of their own language must be judged to be endangered.

Finally, as with other tribes, we provide an outline of present CTUIR circumstances using a Maslowbased diagram (Figure 11).

⁴³⁴US Bureau of the Census. **1990 CP-2-1A**. p. 43.

8.0 Circumstances and Impacts on the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation

This section provides information on past impacts and related present circumstances of the tribal peoples now known as The Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon (hereafter, The Warm Springs). Expected future impacts on The Warm Springs will be identified in the following "impacts" section of this report.

8.1 Accustomed Tribal Areas and Seasonal Rounds of The Warm Springs Peoples

The Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation report that the ancestors of present-day Warm Springs came primarily from three tribal groupings: the Wasco bands living along the mid-Columbia - who spoke Chinookan; the Warm Springs bands who lived upstream of the Wascos along the Columbia and its tributaries, and spoke Sahaptin; and the Paiutes, who lived in southeastern Oregon and spoke a Shoshonean language⁴³⁵.

Over the centuries, the Warm Springs and the Wascos had developed an extensive economic network along the Columbia, a network that depended on the river and its resources, particularly the salmon. The Paiutes, who occupied a vast territory south and east of the Columbia River, subsisted largely on hunting.

⁴³⁵Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, 1984. The People of the Warm Springs. p. 15.

The Wascos were principally fishermen and traders. With the closely related bands of Wishram Indians on the north side of the Columbia River, they frequently came in contact with other Indians from without the region. From neighboring Sahaptin bands, they obtained surplus game food; from the Clackamas to the west, roots and trade shells; from more distant eastern peoples such as the Nez Perce, furs, clothing and horses. In exchange, the Wascos traded root bread, bear grass that could be used for basket-making, and salmon meal that could be stored for long periods in fish skin pouches.

While the Wascos remained in their village sites along the Columbia throughout the year, the Warm Springs bands moved between winter and summer villages. They depended more on game, roots and berries, so the Warm Springs Indians required a larger territory than the Wascos. But the salmon was also an important staple for the Warm Springs bands....Although the two tribes spoke different languages and observed different customs, they came in contact regularly and could converse with each other.

The lifestyle of the Paiutes was considerably different. Fish was not as important for the Paiutes as it was for the tribes nearer the Columbia River. Their high plateau country required that they migrate widely and frequently for the plants and game they relied on. Except for overlapping territories, the Paiutes had little in common with the Chinookan and Sahaptin bands. Contact between the Paiutes and the Wasco or Warm Springs Indians was infrequent and, in early timers, usually occurred during territorial skirmishes.⁴³⁶

Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon (1984) also describes the territorial extent of each tribe's usual and accustomed harvest rounds.

Although Paiute territory historically included a large area from southeastern Oregon into Nevada, Idaho, and western Utah, the Paiute bands which eventually settled at Warm Springs had lived in the area of Lake, Harney, and Malheur counties in Oregon.

The original territories of the Wasco and Warm Springs tribes extended from the slopes of the Cascades to the Blue Mountains in the east and from the Columbia River to an east-west line south of the present city of Bend. Located principally in the northwest corner of this area along the Columbia, the Wascos shared many hunting and gathering areas with the Warm Springs bands. In the western portion, both tribal groups gathered berries and other plants; occasionally they journeyed into the Willamette Valley to harvest eels along the rocky shores and cliffs of the Willamette River and its tributaries. In the north along the Columbia River and its tributaries they fished for salmon and steelhead. They hunted game in the southern parts of these lands, and they dug roots in the Cascade Mountain Range and nearby lands to the east.⁴³⁷

8.2 Natural Assets and Annual Productive Yield of Original Lands of the Peoples

⁴³⁶Supra at 15-17.

⁴³⁷Supra at 17-20.

of the Warm Springs Reservation

Hunn and French (1998) estimated that in 1805 the population of the bands that now reside on the Warm Springs Reservation approximated 4,150 persons.⁴³⁸ Estimates of populations in the mid-1800's are hampered by the fact that the ancestors of Paiute peoples now living at Warm Springs did not come to the reservation until later in the century⁴³⁹. Stowell (1987) has estimated that ancestors of present-day residents of the Warm Springs Reservation numbered between 1,000 and 1,400 persons at the time of the Treaty with the Confederated Tribes and Bands of Middle Oregon (1855)⁴⁴⁰. Lane and Lane Associates and D. Nash (1981d) cite Lee in estimating 962 persons on the Warm Springs Reservation in 1899⁴⁴¹. For this analysis, we will utilize an estimated population of ancestors of the peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation of approximately 1,200 persons at Treaty times.

Hewes (1947) estimated that tribes of the mid-Columbia area annually harvested between 500 pounds of salmon per capita for consumption (full time fishers) and 400 annual pounds per capita (substantial fishers)⁴⁴². He estimated per capita annual consumption for the Northern Paiutes at 50 pounds per capita⁴⁴³. Walker's median estimate of per capita consumption of fish for Plateau tribes is about 60 percent higher, and includes non-food consumption - for example, for fuel⁴⁴⁴. Swindell (1942) identifies that mid-Columbia tribes also caught salmon for trade - with perhaps one third more fish over "own consumption needs" taken for that purpose⁴⁴⁵.

For this analysis, we assign Hewes' upper mid-Columbia estimate of 500 pounds consumed per capita per year to the Wascos, his Yakima/Klikitat estimate of 400 annual pounds per capita to the Warm Springs, and his Northern Paiute estimate of 50 annual pounds per capita to the Paiute ancestors of present-day residents of the Warm Springs Reservation. We then increased the Wasco and Warm Springs estimates by sixty percent, to account for Walker's revised estimates. We further increased Wasco harvest estimates by one third, and Warm Springs by one sixth, to account for fish caught for trade. Finally, we arbitrarily assumed that, at Treaty times, about 45 percent of the ancestors of present-day Warms Springs Reservation members would be Wasco, 45 percent Warm Springs, and 10 percent Paiute. The results of these assumptions and calculations are displayed in Table 31.

Table 31

⁴³⁸ Hunn, Eugene S., and David H. French, 1998. "Western Columbia River Sahaptins", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau. Supra at 391.

⁴³⁹Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, 1984. **Supra** at 37-39.

⁴⁴⁰Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. Faces of a Reservation: A Portrait of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation. Oregon Historical Society Press, p. 128.

⁴⁴¹Lane and Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981d. Willow Creek Anadromous Fish and Indian Fishing. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs, p. 31.

⁴⁴²Hewes, Gordon W., 1947. Supra at 227.

⁴⁴³Supra.

⁴⁴⁴Walker, Deward E., 1967. **Supra** at 19.

⁴⁴⁵Swindell, Edward G., 1942. Supra at 165.

Members of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation - in 1855			
	Estimated	Annual	
Tribal Grouping	Population	Per Capita Harvest	Total Harvest
		in pounds	
Wasco	540	1,064	574,560
Warm Springs	540	747	403,380
Paiute	120	50	6,000
Estimated Total Harvest			983,940

Estimated Per Capita Annual Salmon Harvest by Ancestors of Present-Day

Lane & Lane and Nash (1981b) cite Murdock to estimate that fish made up between 46% and 55% of the diet of the Wishram and Chinookian peoples near the White Salmon River in pre- contact times⁴⁴⁶. We assume Murdock's upper range estimate (55%) to apply to the Wascos – and his lower range estimate (46%) to apply to the Warm Springs. We utilize the 27% of food as fish, estimated for the Cayuse in the previous chapter of this report, to estimate the percentage of "fish as food" for the Paiutes. Applying these percentages to an adjusted "food only" annual per capita consumption estimate for the Wasco (600 pounds), and revising our food consumption estimate for the Warm Springs proportionately (to 421 pounds), we are able to estimate a fish-equivalent "all foods" consumption estimate for the referent peoples of approximately 1.1 million pounds in the mid-1800's.

Finally, if we were to use a contemporary procedure of the US Bureau of the Census which estimates that families with economy budgets spend one third of their income on food, this would imply that ancestors of the Wasco, Warm Spring and referent Paiute peoples may have obtained natural production of edibles and non-edibles from their lands and waters equal to about 3.3 million pounds of food equivalents.

8.3 A Broader Perspective of Wasco, Warm Springs and Paiute Living **Circumstances in Pre-Contact Times**

As with neighbor tribes, the peoples of the Wasco and the Warm Springs, and to a lesser extent, the Paiutes, lived fairly well in pre-contact times.

For thousands of years, the ancestors of the people of Warm Springs lived comfortably in "Middle Oregon." A moderate climate, an abundance of nutritious plants, and plentiful fish and game made their lives comparatively easy. Perhaps as a result of living in a land of plenty, they developed the

⁴⁴⁶Lane & Lane and D. Nash, 1981b. **Supra** at 68.

characteristics displayed to the first white settlers. They welcomed non-Indians just as they had welcomed other Indian tribes to visit their land. They were generous, friendly and accommodating. The Indians had historically roamed freely through the ten million acres of central Oregon hunting, fishing, digging roots, gathering berries, and changing village locations.⁴⁴⁷

Undoubtedly, the Paiutes life was harder, and that of the Wascos and Warm Springs more comfortable. And these tribes, also like their neighbors, suffered greatly from the White man's epidemic diseases⁴⁴⁸ - so that, by Treaty times, their populations were greatly diminished from those that existed pre-contact. But prior to contact, all had enough to survive, many lived well, and they were generally at peace - and in full control of their land, waters, fish, game and the other resources upon which their life depended. This fully functional society is characterized in Figure 12 using a Maslow-like diagram.

⁴⁴⁷Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. Supra at xi.

⁴⁴⁸Hunn, Eugene S. **Supra** at 27-32.

8.4 Changes in Circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Due to the Treaty of 1855

As with other study tribes, the ancestors of the present Warm Springs peoples were pressured incessantly by the settlers in the early-to-mid 1800's. For example, in 1853, William Chinook, a Wasco, wrote:

We are tormented almost every day by the white people who desire to settle on our land and although we have built houses and opened gardens they wish in spite of us to take possession of the very spots we occupy. ... Now we wish to know whether this is the land of the white mans or the
Indians. If it is our land the white must not trouble us. If it is the land of the white man when did he buy it?⁴⁴⁹

This settler agitation resulted in government attempts, via treaty, to clear Indians from their productive lands. With respect to the Wascos and the Warm Springs, this meant moving them from their villages along the mid-Columbia - for the whites did not want tribal reservations established in close proximity to white settlement.

Joel Palmer, Superintendent for the Oregon Territory, received orders in 1855 to clear the Indians from their lands. He did so by negotiating a series of Indian treaties, including the one establishing the Warm Springs Reservation.

Meeting near the present city of The Dalles in June 1855, Palmer urged the tribes to move south of the Barlow Road - the main immigrant trail which paralleled the Columbia River into the Willamette Valley. During one negotiating session, Palmer is reported to have said:

I would like to accommodate him (Cush Kella, one of the chiefs of the Dalles band), but the great chief (U.S. President Pierce) knows this country. He has maps. He knows where the wagon road is. His instruction to me is to put the reservation off from the white settlement.

As the session progressed, it became increasingly clear to the Indians that they would be forced to move onto the reservation Palmer had selected for them. Chief Mark, another representative of the Dalles Band, objected to Palmer's proposal:

The place that you have mentioned I have not seen. There are not Indians or white men there yet, and that is the reason I say I know nothing about that country. If there were Indians and whites there, then I would think it was a good country.

Similar objections were voiced by other tribal representatives. Some expressed their preference for lands in the Tygh Valley, some for lands along the Columbia River, some for lands in the rootdigging areas east of the Deschutes River. But Palmer warned that unless the tribes agreed soon, they would lose everything. The tribal spokesmen recognized that they had much to lose, but little with which to negotiate. After three days, 89 Indian leaders signed Palmer's treaty. Included were members of the Walla Walla, the Tygh, the Wyam, the Tenino, and the John Day bands which collectively came to be known as the Warm Springs Tribe. Also present were members of The Dalles and Dog (Hood) bands of Wasco Indians.⁴⁵⁰

In this manner, the above designated peoples were removed from an approximately 10 million acre homeland⁴⁵¹ with villages stretched along the mid-Columbia River corridor, and resettled in a 578,000

⁴⁴⁹William Chinook, in, Stowell, Cynthia D. Supra at 121.

⁴⁵⁰Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, 1984. Supra at 23-24.

⁴⁵¹Supra at 24.

acre corner of their former homeland in the eastern foothills of the Oregon Cascades⁴⁵² - westerly of the present town of Madras. This land also lay in an area frequented by some bands of Northern Paiutes - traditional enemies of the Wascos and other Treaty signatories.

The Treaty was ratified by Congress in 1859. It followed the "Stevens" model, **guaranteeing the tribes noninterference within their reservation, the right to fish at their usual and accustomed off-reservation places, and to hunt and gather on unclaimed lands** - and made a number of other promises of material help and education for the Indian signers and their people.

In the mid-1860's the United States government attempted a treaty modification to terminate the Indians right to fish, hunt and gather foods off-reservation.

The treaty (modification) was so one-sided and its terms were so materially misrepresented to the Indians that it was never enforced. A federal court nullified it in 1969.⁴⁵³

In 1871, the Warm Springs Reservation boundaries were finally surveyed. As with other study tribes, a "survey error" - as usual, against Indian interest - occurred, reducing the size of the Warm Springs Reservation by 60,000 acres of valuable timberland⁴⁵⁴. One hundred years later, most, but not all, of this land was restored to the Reservation⁴⁵⁵.

Subsequent to 1879, several Paiute bands also moved onto the Warm Springs Reservation - despite the fact that they had previously conducted raids against Wascos and related peoples.

Some Paiutes had traveled as far as the reservation lands in pre-treaty times to hunt and gather food, but Paiute lands generally lay farther east and south than Wasco and Warm Springs territory. No Paiutes were present at the treaty council that established the Warm Springs Reservation.

Because their lands were more distant, the Paiutes in south-eastern Oregon had avoided contact with non-Indians longer than any tribes. By 1866, however, Paiute raids on neighboring Indian and non-Indian communities were increasingly frequent. The United States responded with military campaigns to subdue the Paiutes. Two years later, a peace treaty stopped the fighting but did little else. The treaty neither established a reservation for the Paiutes nor provided them with any goods or services. In 1872, President Grant set aside the Malheur Indian Reservation in southeastern Oregon for the Paiutes.

Six years later, Bannocks from the Fort Hall Reservation in Idaho urged the Paiutes to join them in fighting the U.S. Army. Many Paiutes did so: others fled the reservation. The Army forced many Paiutes to move to the Yakima Reservation, and it captured and imprisoned at Fort Vancouver a

⁴⁵²Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. **Supra** at 109.

⁴⁵³Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, 1984. **Supra** at 26.

⁴⁵⁴Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, 1984. Supra at 34.

⁴⁵⁵Supra at 37.

number of others who fought with the Bannocks. In 1882, because no Paiutes remained on the Malheur Reservation, President Garfield returned its lands to the public domain.

In 1879, the federal government released the 38 Paiutes imprisoned at Fort Vancouver. Many moved to the Warm Springs Reservation later that year. During the next five years they were joined by other Paiutes who had lived at Yakima. Most of the Paiutes from the Malheur Reservation who did not go to Warm Springs returned to southeastern Oregon, settling near the town of Burns.

Indian Agent John Smith described the Paiutes' arrival on the Warm Springs Reservation in a September 1879 letter:

I received...a request from Gen. O.O. Howard...to come to his headquarters at Vancouver Barracks...regarding a small band of Paiute prisoners held by him. Anticipating what his object might be, [tribal] members here voluntarily told me that if these Indians wanted to come here, to bring them home with me. ... My Indians will give them all assistance possible, and [will have] the most friendly feeling toward them which is remarkable since but a few years ago they were inveterate enemies.⁴⁵⁶

8.5 Further Changes in Circumstances of the Peoples of the Warms Springs Reservation

Conditions on the Warm Springs Reservation following the resettlement of Wasco, Warm Springs and Paiute peoples were difficult.

The whole relationship of the river tribes to the land was altered when the reservation was established. Not only did they have to transfer their allegiance to a parcel of land that figured little into their culture, history, and accustomed lifestyle, they also had to learn new ways of inhabiting and using their land.⁴⁵⁷

The land of the new reservation was not as rich as those the tribes had left along the Columbia River corridor - but it was not without significant natural resources.

The (new) land was hard to dislike. The reservation was, and is, a land of gentle, sage- covered hills, dramatic rock formations, steep canyons, hot mineral springs, pine and fir forests, mountain peaks, and clean, rushing water. The eastern half was a land given over to the brown tones of hot, dry summers and cold winters, but with a brief soft greening in spring and a yellow profusion of sage blossoms in the autumn. The timbered foothills and mountains to the west and north offer cool, green relief and watersheds for the streams.

⁴⁵⁶Supra at 37-39.

⁴⁵⁷Stowell, Cynthia D. **Supra** at 126.

The newcomers to the reservation found the game, roots and berries that had helped sustain them for millennia, although for many years they returned to their more familiar haunts to gather food. Trout, steelhead and salmon filled the reservation's rivers and streams, but nothing could match the flavor and volume of the Columbia River catch....⁴⁵⁸

Whether because of the relatively remote location of the new reservation, or due to tribal leadership - and likely both - the peoples of the Warm Springs were spared much of the adverse impact of the Dawes Act of 1887, and the following allotment process. Only about 20 percent of the Warm Springs Reservation was originally allotted - and most of this was not taken out of trust status⁴⁵⁹. Further, there was no "surplusing" of Reservation lands by the federal government⁴⁶⁰. Consequently, most lands of the Warms Springs Reservation remained in Indian hands.

8.6 Warm Springs Access to Usual and Accustomed Fishing, Hunting and Gathering Areas

The lands of the Warm Springs Reservation provided a rich array of fishing, hunting and gathering opportunities. However, as with other study tribes, the Warms Springs peoples encountered opposition when they attempted to travel off reservation to Treaty-guaranteed fishing, hunting and gathering locations. This was a particular problem as they attempted to continue harvesting the rich catches of Columbia and Snake River salmon passing their usual and accustomed fishing locations on the Columbia - leading to extreme poverty in early years.

While the people waited for the highly touted benefits of civilization, their traditional methods of providing for themselves was fast eroding. They sank further into poverty and dependence. In the early years, many families frequently exercised their off-reservation fishing rights, usually spending the salmon harvesting months on the Columbia and only wintering on the reservation, much to the exasperation of school superintendents and agricultural personnel. But their off-reservation rights were not always honored. In an 1890 letter to Washington, D.C., reservation agent J.C. Luckey reported:

The Indians were all but famishing. They raised no crops last year (weather prevented it), and had no supplies of fish, game to subsist upon; during the later winter months. The game is nearly all killed off and they were more than ever before denied the right to take salmon last summer at the Columbia river.

Apparently, non-Indians in the ceded area had objected to the traffic of Indians off the reservation, and when fences and warnings failed to keep hunting and gathering parties off their land and fishermen away from the river, they pressed for a second treaty. The so-called Treaty of 1865 was signed by a handful of Indians who agreed to give up all the tribes' hunting, fishing and gathering

⁴⁵⁸Supra.

⁴⁵⁹Supra at 135-136.

⁴⁶⁰Supra at 136.

rights in the ceded area and to submit to a pass system for leaving the reservation - all for the paltry sum of thirty-five hundred dollars, which was to be spent on agricultural tools and supplies. This treaty was never enforced and was repeatedly discredited in court decisions, until it was finally pronounced dead by a federal judge in 1969. It may have been bogus, but the Treaty of 1865 was an accurate measure of the feelings harbored by settlers who made it increasingly difficult for their roaming neighbors to gain access to their traditional sites. While the off-reservation rights are still valid today, they are sometimes moot in the face of barbed wire, gates, dams, and poor salmon runs.

In the late 1800's and early 1900's, whites competed directly with the tribes for salmon catch.

Well, I think Hoyt reaffirmed in 1873 or 1874, after the Modock War, when he put his hand out and said, "Water", and he said "yours" - that these are ours. And where the water comes from the mountains, the Indians recall at this time that means forest lands where the water comes from. So he said, "Water, streams, fish are yours on the main Columbia river. "Wa-la- wal-la" means a small tributary to the larger river, larger body. ... The (non-Indian) fishing started way back around 1876 when they (non-Indians) first started putting those fish wheels in there. As time went along, as long as the Indians were getting their share, whether it was their fair share or not, but the Indians harvested the salmon, so therefore they did not complain - looking at it as a gift from God that he had no control over. Live and let live.

Then the white man started harvesting - didn't say anything about it. We didn't say; "Hey, you're catching too much of my fish." Because we thought that these people were really utilizing a resource for benefit so that he could survive in this country. And for that reason, maybe was a mistake that the Indians did not complain about non-Indians catching salmon, which he held sacred within his house.⁴⁶¹

8.7 Changing the Production Function for Warm Springs Waters and Salmon Production Capabilities

As the twentieth century progressed, as early excesses of commercial harvest were brought under control, and when Warm Springs peoples were able to gain access to usual and accustomed fishing locations, too often they found the salmon diminished, or entirely gone. The peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation had their own mid-Columbia fishing territory, and fished cooperatively with CTUIR and Yakama peoples. It is therefore possible that they also fished from time to time along the Lower Snake River - but their usual fishing areas likely focused on the Columbia. While their fishing focus was the "lowest downstream" of our study tribes - the economic purposes for which whites transformed the lands and waters of the rivers were the same - power production and irrigated agriculture. With respect to dams:

⁴⁶¹Harold Culpus, October 6, 1982. Personal communication at Warm Springs, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 40-41.

I think at the time the dams built up, like the Bonneville Dam--we seen the structure of that dam go up--and the fisheries was troubled immediately. We know the result of it. It began to show up then. And even before then when the non-Indian commercial fishermen moved into the Columbia River and built wheels and rerouted the stream to catch salmon by wheels for commercial purpose.... And the dams in the Snake River, as well as the dams in the upper Columbia. I was there when Roosevelt dedicated the Grand Coulee Dam with no fishways in the dam. And we know that there was going to be damage from that dam because we visit the dam often and the people upriver found out that it had done away with all the upriver salmon that spawned in Canadian waters as well as in the upper Columbia. All the big salmon. And that damage we seen as it came along by the construction of dams in the Columbia River. No doubt that it was probably the greatest damage to the fishing resource at that moment. ...

It's definite that the dams had the first and the real major effect on the salmon runs. We know that because by experience fishing in the Columbia River we seen this, from the time there was no dams to the time there were dams in the river. We know that a problem existed. There were different problems that affected upstream as well as downstream migrants, by the falls of the dams on the water. And different changes in the life cycle of the salmon were seen. That was already interpreted by our people. That would be a cause of a major effect on the salmon run in the future. The changing into lakes from a free, cold running stream, tributaries on the Columbia and down the Columbia, you know, that was going to effect eventually the mainstream runs of our fish industry. And it came about - no doubt.

That's what our people said. They were not educated, but they knowed it was going to happen, in fact, in time to come. Because you don't fool with nature. That was their word. Whenever you fool with it you're going to cause a problem in the future. And it seemed like there was no real plan for it. Whenever they build a dam, they promise us; "We will enhance, the fishery loused up by dams upstream." The government didn't do that.⁴⁶²

The treaty between two sovereign nations is a court of law. Treaty was recognized to be the supreme law of the land between two nations. In that supreme law of the land it plainly tells us if I do any damage to a non-Indian the law will take care of me to make corrections for what I did wrong. The same applies to him, the other part of the sovereign nation. Now, we have a claim--as long as I served on that fish committee. You're doing it wrong by clearing off my fish - by bringing nitrogen super saturation below every dam that you have built up to now.

Now correct that wrong that you're doing me. Make possible a safer way for the adult fish to go back up to their spawning area. And the smolts that hatches in the usual spawning areas need to go back down to the ocean to grow. ...

⁴⁶²Delbert Frank Sr., Tribal Chairperson, at Warm Springs, October 6, 1982. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 70-71.

It's up to us, the Indians. "Say there Mr. Bonneville, you're the first dam below here that's killing the fish. Correct that now." We get up to the Dalles Dam, we do the same thing. John Day, and right on up the river... Let's correct this problem. Then we'll have fish for everyone. ...

We could tell you all about our tribal ways of preparing fish rules. But still, the damage is there below each dam. So the best we could do is work on that part. Work with the Army Engineers. They're willing to build a dam. They should be willing to get safer means of getting salmon back upstream. That's our problem. The biggest problem we face.⁴⁶³

As with other study tribes, progressively through the twentieth century, the lands and waters of the Columbia/Snake system - upon which the peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation depended for their Treaty-protected salmon - have been transformed - until today, they produce vast energy, agriculture, navigation and infrastructural wealth for non-Indian residents, but only sub-minimal amounts of wealth from the natural assets the tribal peoples believed they had ensured to themselves by the treaties of the mid-1800's.

8.8 Lower Granite, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Ice Harbor Dams

As downstream neighbors of the tribal peoples now resident at CTUIR, across-river neighbors of the Yakamas, and co-fishers at some sites with the Nez Perce, the peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation are fully affected by changes to Snake River salmon stocks caused by the lower Snake dams. It is also likely that from time to time they have fished along the lower Snake River, in common with their upstream neighbors. We have not encountered evidence that the people of the Warm Springs Reservation maintained permanent villages or other sites within the four reservoir areas of the lower Snake.

8.9 Post-Contact Warm Springs Tribal Health

The Wasco and Warm Springs peoples shared fully in the ravages of diseases spread by contact with white explorers and settlers⁴⁶⁴. In fact, their place as the most downstream of study tribes may have provided relatively greater exposure to epidemics raging "up from the coast". It is reasonable to assume that as with neighbor tribes, by treaty times, death had reduced the population of these tribal peoples to perhaps one-third or more of pre-contact numbers.

The wellbeing of the peoples relocated to the Warms Springs Reservation suffered for other reasons beside epidemics.

Native people uprooted from their land lose far more than the comfort of familiar surroundings. Displaced from a natural environment that has shaped and defined them for generations, they are apt to lose the whole focus of their economy, and ultimately, of their culture. This was true for the

⁴⁶³Linton Winishut, at Warm Springs, October 6, 1982. Personal communication, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 78-79.

⁴⁶⁴Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. **Supra** at 27-32.

people of the Columbia River and Great Basin when they were moved to the Warm Springs Reservation. With the disruption of seasonal cycles and well- established trade patterns, the whole rhythm and momentum of their culture was broken. And behind the cultural turmoil was the more basic problem of physical survival.

Life for the new inhabitants of the Warm Springs Reservation became characterized by poverty and a sedentary non-productivity. People dependent on wresting a living from the earth became dependent on barrels of flour, sugar, and crackers distributed from the commissary at the Warm Springs Agency. Poignant stories are still told about people's great- grandparents trying to make a palatable gravy or bread out of crushed pilot crackers, or fearing corn kernels because they look too much like the teeth of old people. And often there was not enough of these foods.

While it is unlikely that the U.S. Government intended for the people of the Warm Springs to starve, it is clear from the provisions of the Treaty of 1855 (the U.S. Government intended) that the tribes were to be utterly dependent on the government until such time as they were "civilized", i.e. schooled in the economic and social patterns of the white culture.⁴⁶⁵

The boarding school represented a very thorough effort at "civilizing", from the arguably humane delousing treatments to the irrelevant lessons in etiquette and the staff's refusal to acknowledge any value in Indian culture. Although the regimen relaxed somewhat and the content of the curriculum was updated through the years, the mission of the school remained the same until it was absorbed by the local school district in 1961 and the dormitories closed in 1967. People in their forties tell the same stories their parents and grandparents tell about having their braids cut, being punished for speaking their own language, and learning from the disdain of teachers and administrators to feel shame for their Indianness.⁴⁶⁶

These conditions of heightened mortality, inadequate supply of traditional foods, general poverty and loss of control over family and lifestyle seem generally consistent with the hypotheses of illness and stress advanced by Bachtold⁴⁶⁷ and Trafzer⁴⁶⁸. Consequently, and for a broad range of physiological and psychological reasons, the number of members living on the Warm Springs Reservation continued to decline into the 1940's (Table 32).

Table 32

Estimated Population of the Peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation Selected Years

Year

Population

⁴⁶⁵Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. Supra at 132.

⁴⁶⁶Supra at 174.

⁴⁶⁷Note 66.

⁴⁶⁸Note 73.

1855	1,200
1899	962
1910	780
1935	479
1940	477
1945	560
1972	1,683

Sources: Stowell, 1987. **Supra** at 128. Lane & Lane and Nash, 1981d. **Supra** at 31.

8.10 Present Circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation

Having reviewed the cumulative adverse effects that have impacted the peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation since early times, this section assesses the present circumstances of the tribes.

8.10.1 Remaining Lands of the Warm Springs Reservation

The Warms Springs Reservation represents only about 6.5 percent of the original homelands of the Wasco, Warm Springs and Paiute ancestors of present reservation residents. However, land approximately equivalent to that reserved the 1855 Treaty is still in Indian hands. The greatest part of the Reservation is in forest and range land (Table 33). Table 34 specifies land holdings of the Warm Springs Tribe and its members. Approximately 17,000 acres outside the reservation boundaries are also included in present day Warm Springs holding totals.

1 able 55	Ta	ble	33
-----------	----	-----	----

Categorization of Land Use on the Warm Springs Reservation - 1982

Land Use Type	<u>Acreage</u>
Commercial Forest	319,025
Range lands	244,677
Conditional Use Areas	66,381
Community Areas	7,495

Agriculture	2,660
Lakes and Reservoirs	1,783
Rural Housing	884
Total Acres	642,905

Source: CH2M Hill, 1982. Warm Springs Reservation Draft Comprehensive Plan. Developed for the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation, pp. xiv-15.

Table 34

Land Holdings of the Warm Springs Tribe and Its Members <u>- and Non-Tribal Reservation Holdings -</u>

Categorization of Land	Acres
Tribal lands	586,803
Tribal Allotted lands	54,246
Tribal Fee lands	15,844
Tribal Trust lands	999
Indian Fee lands	218
Non-Tribal lands (all categories)	2,102

Total Land Within Warm Springs Reservation 643,000

Source: Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation Planning Office.

It is these Treaty land-based resources and activities that have stood near the center of tribal economic development strategies in recent years.

8.10.2 What Remains of the Salmon?

While the tribes of the Warms Spring Reservation have retained the greatest portion of their treaty lands, transformation of the production function of the Columbia and Snake rivers has lead to the loss of almost all their salmon producing capability. We have previously estimated, based on all-tribes data for Zone 6 tribal commercial harvests, and data on ceremonial and subsistence catch from each CRITFC tribe, that present-day harvests for the Warm Springs and CTUIR peoples, taken together, have declined to approximately 77,000 pounds - 3 percent of the harvest they are estimated to have taken in Treaty times⁴⁶⁹.

Yet, while salmon are now scarce, they continue to play a key role in the life of the Warm Springs people.

Most sacred of the native foods is salmon.... Since the white settlers took an interest in the rivers and their resources, the salmon have had to contend with fish wheels, gillnets and concrete dams, suffering great declines in their populations. Now, where there was once plenty and trade flourished peacefully, Indian fishermen launch their motorboats and dip their nets into rivers of controversy.

Who among the generations of fishermen poised on the rocks with their spears and nets could have guessed that one day the rapids would lie still behind dams and that there would not be enough fish to feed their people or trade with their neighbors? Who could have envisioned courts instead of headmen telling the fishermen when to drop their nets into the river, and the fishermen sitting in jail for doing what their fathers had taught them to do? Who could imagine life without salmon?

Even the treaty, with its provision that the Indians would forever be able to fish "at all usual and accustomed grounds and stations...in common with all citizens", could not have anticipated the loss of salmon to generator turbines in four major mainstem dams and to overzealous ocean harvests. ...

Though only a few Warm Springs men are now dependent on the river for their livelihood, salmon still figures into reservation life in a profound way. It is the central ingredient of every cultural event, served and shared as a way of honoring a person or an occasion. At feasts, salmon itself is honored. Besides its tangible presence in the diet and ceremony of the people, salmon has become a symbol of cultural continuity, of the importance of planning cautiously today so that children and grandchildren may know the taste of the sweet pink meat. It is not just on behalf of the few remaining Warm Springs fishermen that the Tribal Council has fought for tribal fishing rights. It is in the interest of all who value the conservation of the salmon resource and the continuation of the tribal culture.⁴⁷⁰

⁴⁶⁹Recall prior Section 7.10.2.

⁴⁷⁰Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. **Supra** at 179-180.

(T)he law of the Treaty's never going to change. You're going to still be responsible for protecting what I reserved as a part of the Treaty agreement. ... (The Indian treaty negotiators) said, "You're going to be responsible forever, because that's my reserved right-- something that I reserved." Which was salmon; it's the most important one. So there's no question there that the people hold you responsible forever to manage the salmon and all of the foods that they reserved. ... I understand that now some people say, "Why, the fisheries resource's getting small, its so minor now. It isn't worth planning for any longer." The industrial and economic people saying, "Let's go another direction. To heck with good rivers, clean rivers and the salmon. Let's go another way." That's a question coming pretty close I understood. And that is not the case. We're going to be there to say, "You're going to keep your promise. Forever!"⁴⁷¹

8.10.3 A General Assessment of Present Warm Springs Material Circumstance

Today, the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation have 3,825 registered members⁴⁷². Utilizing their retained Treaty land base, the Warm Springs peoples have built a reputation as one of the most economically progressive Reservations in the United States⁴⁷³. Some of their most important industrial activities are based on their 398,466 acre timber resource.

The annual average volume of log purchases (from Warm Springs), 1971 to 1980, approximated 88 million board feet. In 1980, Warm Springs Forest Products, a tribal enterprise operating a sawmill and associated plywood and veneer facilities on the reservation, took over 80 percent of their logs from Indian contractors and paid them \$4.7 million. Stumpage of \$5.9 million was paid to the tribe, while \$2.1 million in mill wages was paid to Indian mill workers, and \$284,000 in dividends to the tribe itself.⁴⁷⁴

By 1990, the timber and sawmill operation were reported to be doing "about thirty million dollars in sales"⁴⁷⁵ per year. Present forest based-activity includes a revised forest plan to provide a sustainable cut of smaller diameter timber and a new processing capability to cope with these changed tree sizes. This adjustment will reduce revenue flows for the Warm Springs, but is necessary to accommodate both exhaustion of bigger-sized trees on the reservation, and the higher value demands of new wood products markets.

⁴⁷¹Delbert Frank Sr., Warms Spring Chairman, at Warm Springs, October 6, 1982, in, Meyer Resources, 1983. Supra at 30.

⁴⁷²Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation, Department of Vital Statistics.

⁴⁷³White, Robert H., 1990. **Tribal Assets: The Rebirth of Native America**. New York: Henry Holt and Co., p. 187.

⁴⁷⁴Meyer Resources, 1983. **Supra** at 24-25.

⁴⁷⁵White, Robert H., 1990. Supra.

The Tribes also own and operate Kah Nee Ta Resort, a first class tourism facility, net \$4 million annually from operation of a hydroelectric dam⁴⁷⁶, and have developed a capability for light manufacturing activities. Table 35 offers an employment profile for the Reservation based on White (1990), and present-day Warm Springs staff estimates. Numeric estimates are not available for some categories.

Table 35

Profile - Major Employers of Tribal Members - Warm Springs Reservation, 1990 and Today

Economic Activity	Estimated Employment 1990 Present da	
Tribal Government	600	594
Forest Products	340	142
Ka Nee Tah Resort	75-175*	50
Tribal Casino		24

⁴⁷⁶Supra.

Warm Springs Composite Produc	ts	24
Indian Health Service		
Bureau of Indian Affairs	50	
Native Arts and Crafts	- undetermine	d number -

*Employment varies between summer and winter.

Source: White, Robert H. **Supra** at 211. Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation, Department of Personnel.

In 1990, the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation were reported to be the largest employer in central Oregon⁴⁷⁷. Today, a casino has been added at Ka Nee Tah - providing jobs and revenue for the tribes. Yet data from the 1990 US Census strongly suggests that these promising initiatives have not been sufficient to make up for loss of salmon resources and other aspects of Warms Springs traditional lifestyle (Table 36).

Table 3

Comparative Data Showing	the Relative Material Circumstances	of the Warm Springs Peoples
Comparative Data Showing	, the restance is factorial chedinballees	of the Wallin Springs I copies

Economic Indicator	Warm Springs Tribes	State of Oregon
Families in Poverty (%)	32.1	12.4
Unemployment: US Census (%) : BIA	19.3 45.0	6.2

⁴⁷⁷Supra at 211.

Per Capita Income (\$'000)

13.4

4.3

*US Bureau of Census employs a more liberal "employment" standard - as BIA's measure incorporates employment over a longer period of time to qualify. The higher BIA unemployment figure is judged more accurate for winter months.

Source: US Bureau of the Census - 1990 Special Tribal Census Run. US Bureau of Indian Affairs - 1995 Indian Population and Labor Force Estimates.

8.10.4 Warm Springs Tribal Health

Following Bachtold⁴⁷⁸ and Trafzer⁴⁷⁹, the adverse impacts on material and cultural wellbeing experienced by the Warm Springs are also reflected in information on tribal health. The Warm Springs Service Unit of the Indian Health Service serves Clackamas, Harney, Jefferson and Wasco counties. The majority of Native Americans in this service area are members of the Warm Springs - and the data considered here provide a "reasonable indication" of health circumstances for the Warm Springs Reservation. The Indian Health Service (1994b) reports that for the 1989-91 period, the age-adjusted death rate for Indians in the Warm Springs Service Unit was 1.6 times the rate for "all other races"⁴⁸⁰. This is the highest comparative rate for all Oregon IHS units. Less than a decade ago, White wrote:

Despite all these (economic) efforts and the tribe's relative prosperity, the intractable problems of Warm Springs boil down to a single brute measurement: the average life expectancy within the Confederated Tribes is thirty-eight years. I asked every tribal official I met to verify that figure, and every one of them did. "Put it this way," said Ralph Minnick, "ninety percent of our people my parents' age, who would now be between fifty-five and sixty-five, are dead." ⁴⁸¹

Table 37 provides comparative data concerning the five leading causes of tribal death in the Warm Springs Service Area.

Table 37

Leading Causes of Tribal Death - Warm Springs Service Area: 1989-91			
			Ratio of NA
Cause of Death	Native American	All Other Races	to Other Races
	deaths pe	er 100,000 popula	tion
Heart Disease	145.6	120.1	1.2

⁴⁷⁸Note 66.

⁴⁷⁹Note 73.

⁴⁸⁰US Indian Health Service, 1994b. **Supra** at 75.

⁴⁸¹White, Robert H., 1990. **Supra** at 242.

Motor Vehicle Accident	90.0	18.6	4.8
Pneumonia/Influenza	70.0	13.3	5.3
All Other Accidents	45.7	11.9	3.9
Malignant Neoplasms	49.6	119.2	0.4

Source: US Indian Health Service, 1994b. Supra at 106.

Cerebrovascular disease (5.2%), cirrhosis of the liver (5.2%), SIDS (5.2%), diabetes mellitus (4.2%) and suicide (4.2%) are also significant killers of Warm Springs peoples⁴⁸².

The difficulties revealed by these data conform to the hypotheses of material and cultural loss postulated by Bachtold and Trafzer. Many tribal members, blocked at fundamental levels in meeting food, shelter and safety needs - and prevented from engaging in the worthwhile activities of their ancestors - see their self-worth underdeveloped or diminished. Yet they struggle on.

(W)hat of the young medical intern who spends two years on the reservation answering his pager or his doorbell at all hours? He knows people by their stab wounds, their diabetes- ravaged legs, or their children lost in car wrecks. Perhaps he has not had time to feast with the people at the longhouse or bathe with them at the sweathouses. It is common for people who come to Warm Springs with a nostalgic image of the Indian to leave pronouncing the culture dead. They see "remnants" - perhaps a bit of paid pageantry or a halfhearted beadwork demonstration - and they feel pity. Or they see the collision of white and Indian culture - a pop can flying out the window of a pickup overflowing with kids and powwow music - and they feel anger. What they do not stay long enough to see is the undercurrent of culture that still flows beneath these layers of visible loss. Deeprouted religious and cultural traditions still offer solace and a sense of pride to many tribal members seeking refuge from the confusion of the twentieth century or simply wanting to celebrate their Indianness. Yes, there are certain gaps in their cultural memories and disagreements over ritual. But the people of Warm Springs do not play at being Indian; there is a real continuity of customs and beliefs from the last century despite the interruption in their lifestyle.⁴⁸³

Tribal commentators on the Warm Springs Reservation emphasized the spiritual relationship between the salmon and the Indian people - and the need for sufficient tribal control over matters affecting salmon and tribal peoples⁴⁸⁴. They noted that the salmon was important for putting food on the table,

⁴⁸²US Indian Health Service, 1994b. **Supra** at 105.

⁴⁸³Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. **Supra** at 163-164.

⁴⁸⁴A tribal discussion was held on October 1, 1998 at Warm Springs, with Mrs. Janice Clements, Chair of the Warm Springs Health Committee, Mr. Stanley Simtustus, Chair of the Warm Springs Fish and Wildlife Committee, Ramona Baez and Mini Yahtin (Health Committee), Terry Courtney Jr. and Harold Blackwolf (Fish and Wildlife Committee), and Willy Fuentes,

but that it was far more than that - and played an important cultural and spiritual role in the continued survival of their members as tribal peoples⁴⁸⁵.

When you lose your traditional foods, you threaten your culture - and then you risk losing your values too. None of that is good for your health.⁴⁸⁶

Salmon is very important to our Indian lives. I have trouble with thinking of salmon only as dollars. You can't drink dollars. You can't eat dollars. Salmon is important to our spiritual life. It helps our spirit survive.⁴⁸⁷

Some of the relationships between salmon and the wellbeing of tribal members are subtle. Having regular places and times to fish and to hunt brings stability to our lives. It gives us some sense of control, and makes us feel better about ourselves. It helps us connect to a higher power. This, in turn, is good for our health - and results in less risky behavior.⁴⁸⁸

Protection of Warm Springs lifeways through use of "own language" is also difficult in the present day. Data from the 1990 US Census suggest that only 12 percent of Native Americans on or near the Warm Springs Reservation now speak their own language at home⁴⁸⁹.

The gradual silencing of the native languages on the reservation seems at times like an irreversible cultural loss.... Today, very few people, mostly elders, would consider Sahaptin, Wasco, or Paiute their first language; a few more, mostly the next generation, are bilingual. But the younger generations are usually exposed to the languages only at ceremonies or during school lessons.⁴⁹⁰

We employ a Maslow-based hierarchical diagram to profile present circumstances of the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation in Figure 13.

⁴⁸⁷Terry Courtney Jr., Warm Springs Fish and Wildlife Committee Member. Personal communication at Warm Springs, October 1, 1998.

General Manager for Human Services at Warms Springs.

⁴⁸⁵Supra.

⁴⁸⁶Janice Clements. Chair of the Warm Springs Health Committee. Personal communication at Warm Springs, October 1, 1998.

⁴⁸⁸Willy Fuentes, Human Services General Manager, Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon. **Personal communication**. October 1, 1998.

⁴⁸⁹US Bureau of the Census. 1990 CP 2-1A, p. 43.

⁴⁹⁰Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. Supra at 186.

9.0 A Summary of Historic and Present Circumstances for the Nez Perce Tribe,

Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, Yakama Indian Nation, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon.

9.1 Treaties Between the Five Study Tribes and the United States.

The Treaties signed between the five study tribes and the United States government establish that these tribes are sovereign entities, with rights to set their own priorities and develop and manage Tribal and trust resources. The principal Treaties signed between the five tribes and the United States are listed in Table 38. The first four listed are part of the group sometimes known as "the Stevens treaties".

Table 38

Treaties Between the Five Study Tribes and the United States

Treaty	Signing Date	Present Tribal Organization
Treaty with the Yakima Tribe	June 8, 1855	Yakama Indian Nation
Treaty with the Umatilla Tribe	June 9, 1855	Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Nation
Treaty with the Nez Perce Tribe	June 11, 1855	Nez Perce Tribe
Treaty with the Tribes of Middle Oregon	June 25, 1855	Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon
Fort Bridger Treaty	July 3, 1868	Shoshone-Bannock Tribes

These Treaties addressed the unique circumstances of each tribal grouping. With respect to the present study;

- * The five tribes ceded more than 60 million acres of lands to the United States encompassing most of the referent area affected by the present study.
- * The tribes agreed to move on to approximately 12.2 million acres of lands, termed "Reservations". The United States agreed that the Indians could live on these Reservations without interference from whites, and have an exclusive right to fish, hunt, gather and graze their animals within Reservation boundaries.
- * The CRITFC tribes reserved the right, **outside the Reservation boundaries**, of continuing to take fish at usual and accustomed places, in common with the citizens of the territory, and of erecting temporary buildings for curing them; together with the privilege of hunting,

gathering roots and berries, and pasturing their livestock upon open and unclaimed lands.

* The Shoshone-Bannock Tribes "reserved the right to hunt on the unoccupied lands of the United States as long as game may be found thereon" - and the Court in <u>State of Idaho v</u> <u>Tinno</u> asserted that the term "to hunt" also meant "to fish".

Treaties between each of the five Tribes and the United States are "high law". Court cases have affirmed that they cannot be overturned or contradicted by ordinary federal laws, by state laws, or by interagency agreements. The United States Supreme Court has further affirmed:

In construing any treaty between the United States and an Indian tribe...the treaty must...be construed, not according to the technical meaning of its words to learned lawyers, but in the sense they would be naturally understood by the Indians. (in US vs. Washington, 1974)

The Supreme Court has developed a set of rules, termed the **cannons of construction**, to govern the interpretation of the treaties. The three primary rules are:

- * Treaties are to be interpreted the way Indians would have understood them.
- * Ambiguous expressions must be resolved in favor of the Indians.
- * Treaties must be liberally interpreted.

The Canons of Construction are particularly important in defining Tribal entitlements to salmon. At Treaty times, tribal negotiators **reserved the right to harvest salmon at traditional locations throughout their ceded areas** <u>from a Columbia/Snake River system which was fully functional</u> <u>and productive.</u> If the tribal Treaty negotiators had perceived that they were bargaining to reserve "only a small fraction" of the salmon available in 1855 – the treaty negotiations would have been much different, if they had occurred at all. This reservation of natural assets from a "fully functioning river system", conditioned by the "fair share" provisions in <u>US v. Washington</u> and <u>US v.</u> Oregon, defines the tribal entitlement to salmon.

The Treaty signers, both tribal and non-tribal, were clear that the Treaties were designed to care for the needs of the tribal peoples into the future, without limit. Successive tribal leaders have reminded us of this intent. There is no date in time subsequent to 1855, nor level of tribal consumption, nor subsequent decline in salmon productivity of the rivers, that cuts off tribal Treaty entitlement – short of the "fair share from the fully functioning river system", perceived by the Treaty signers.

Finally, federal tribal trust responsibility includes, but is not limited to, treaty obligations. Its central thrust recognizes a federal duty to protect tribal lands, water, other resource assets, and the native way of life from the intrusions of the majority society. Each federal agency is bound by this trust responsibility, and must deal with tribes according to the "most exacting fiduciary standards".

For these reasons, treaties, and federal tribal trust responsibilities, set a high standard against which projects affecting resources and activities protected by treaty must be evaluated.

9.2 Changes in Treaty-Protected Resource Assets and Activities of the Five Study Tribes from Treaty Times to the Present.

9.2.1 Transfer of Tribal Assets in Treaty-Protected Lands to Non-Indians

In the treaties negotiated between the five study tribes and the United States in the mid-1800s, the tribes ceded more than 40 million acres of land to the United States – leaving themselves with approximately 12 million acres of Reserved lands – together with rights to fish, hunt and gather at traditional locations thoughout their ceded territories.

Today, the five study tribes own a total of 2.6 million acres of land within their original Reservation boundaries – only 22 percent of the Reservation lands they reserved for themselves in the treaties with the United States. The other 9.5 million acres of Reservation lands - together with the wealth they produce - are no longer in the hands of the tribes or their members. These lands have been primarily taken from the tribes by force; by "survey errors" of Reservation boundaries, seemingly always made in favor of non-Indian interest; by creation of "new" law, including post-facto legislation and pseudo-treaties to legalize prior illegal takings by non-Indians; and via subsequent laws that facilitate the transfer of tribal wealth from Reservation lands into non-Indian hands.

Particularly notable among these actions was the "steal" treaty with some Nez Perces in 1863, with took away almost 7 million acres from the Nez Perce Reservation, and the Dawes Severalty Act of 1887. The Dawes Act (together with the earlier Slater Act in 1885, and the Burke Act of 1906) privatized tribal lands, allotted a limited measure of these lands to each tribal member, and declared a substantial portion of Reservation lands "surplus" to tribal needs. It also provided that whites could purchase the tribal lands declared as "surplus", as well as tribal allotments, following a waiting period eventually amounting to 20 years. As a result of these and other actions, present tribal holdings of lands within reservation boundaries are greatly reduced, save on the Warm Springs Reservation; non-Indians usually hold the highest valued lands within each Reservation; and on four of the five study tribe Reservations, lands held by tribes or tribal members are interspersed in a "checkerboard" with lands held by nonmembers - further exacerbating difficulties associated with tribal Reservation resource protection and economic development.

Table 39 profiles the scope of tribal land ownership from contact times to the present. Estimates for the time of contact with whites consider only "home territory", and do not include the far greater area across which the ancestors of these tribes roamed. By "contact times", authorities generally refer to the period from about 1780 through 1805 or a little later.

Table 39

An Estimate of the Extent of Tribal "Own Lands" - Contact Times to the Present						
Benchmark	Nez Perce	Shoshone/ <u>Bannock</u> in	<u>Yakama</u> thousands o	<u>Umatilla</u> f acres	Warm Springs	
Contact times.	15,000.0	**	12,000.0	6,900.0	10,000.0	
Retained Treaty lands -1855.	7,500.0		1,600.0	510.0	578.0	
Land retained after boundary "survey error" (Umatilla only).				245.0		
Retained after 1863 "steal treaty" with Nez Perce.	760.0					
Retained after Fort Bridger Treaty of 1868.		(approx.) 2,000.0				
Lands owned today - after Dawes Act "surplusing" & sales/ right-of-way takings/ and other losses.	94.0	544.0	1,126.0	158.0	658.0	
: Percentage of Original Homeland now tribally owned*.	0.6%	na	9.4%	2.3%	6.7%	
: Percent of Treaty Lands now tribally owned*.	1.2%	27.2%	70.4%	31.0%	100.0%	

* Owned by the tribe, and/or by individual tribal members. Nez Perce percentage based on 1863 Treaty acreage.

** We have found no quantitative estimate of the area roamed by the Shoshone and Bannock peoples, nor the peoples now resident on the Duck Valley Reservation.

In sum, Table 39 shows that, since 1855, there has been a substantial trend inside the boundaries of most Reservations to transfer tribal wealth in Treaty-reserved assets into non-tribal hands. For the Nez

Perce, Treaty-reserved wealth in land has been almost wiped out. For the Shoshone- Bannock at Fort Hall and the peoples of the Umatilla Reservation, wealth has been drastically reduced. Substantial losses have also been incurred within the boundaries of the Yakama Reservation. In most instances, it has been the land that is most suitable for economic activity that has been targeted and obtained by non-Indians.

9.2.2 Transfer of Treaty-Protected Tribal Assets of the Rivers to Non-Indians

While transfer of tribal wealth in treaty-protected lands has had a drastic impact on four of the five study tribes, it is an insufficient indicator of the full seriousness of cumulative losses suffered by the tribes. Virtually all bands now represented in the five study tribes were originally "roaming" bands, to a greater or lesser extent. They followed their traditional foods to their sources, harvesting each food at its appropriate place and in its appropriate season. For four of the five tribes, **salmon** was the most important food. For the Shoshone-Bannock, salmon took an important place alongside the buffalo. This fact is affirmed by both tribal spokespersons and outside experts in the preceding narrative. For the few bands that did not roam, salmon and other near resources provided a substantial basis for year-round subsistence and trading.

The CRITFC tribes clearly understood their dependence on salmon - and in the treaties they signed with the United States in 1855 and 1868, they ceded vast amounts of land, **but were careful to reserve for their continued use <u>all</u> of their usual places where they were accustomed to going to harvest their foods - <u>both inside and outside their (new) Reservation boundaries</u>. Explicit in the treaties of the Nez Perce, Yakama, Umatilla and Warm Springs:**

Article 3: The exclusive right of taking fish in all streams, where running through or bordering said reservations, is further secured to said confederated tribes and bands of Indians, as <u>also the right of taking fish at usual and accustomed places</u>, in common with the citizens of the Territory, and of erecting temporary buildings for curing them; together with the privilege of hunting, gathering roots and berries, and pasturing their horses and cattle upon open and unclaimed land.

The Shoshone-Bannock peoples also sought to protect their access to the traditional areas where they gathered their foods. The Fort Bridger Treaty identifies these rights as follows:

Article 4: The Indians herein named...shall have the right to hunt on the unoccupied lands of the United States so long as game may be found thereon, and as long as peace subsists among the whites and the Indians on the borders of the hunting districts.

And State of Idaho v Tinno states that these rights include fishing.

Despite treaty protections, the food resources of the study tribes have been devastated over ensuing years. In the years immediately following the treaties, non-Indian encroachment into the reservations by force, often legalized retroactively, made it impossible for the tribes to retain exclusive jurisdiction over fishing, hunting and gathering activities **within** Reservation boundaries. Outside the Reservation

boundaries, hostility, racist behavior and cultural encapsulation by some whites, has made it difficult and sometimes dangerous for tribal members to pursue their Treaty-protected fishing, hunting and gathering activities. And in early times, settlers transformed camas grounds to pig rooting areas, cut off tribal salmon runs with fish wheels and weirs and fenced off areas from game - and from the tribal hunters and gatherers who depended on these areas.

Tribal losses of treaty-protected salmon resources initially resulted from the same causes as losses of land-based game, roots, berries and plants - direct preemption by competing non-Indian harvesters, and obstruction or denial of access to usual and accustomed fishing places, which were often fenced off by non-Indian property owners. With respect to fishing, most of these illegal acts were eventually challenged, and struck down by federal courts. But these preemptions of tribal fishing, which, year by year, effectively separated the tribes from their treaty-protected assets in salmon, continued into the 1970's, when the Boldt Decision in U.S. v. Washington, and the following settlement in U.S. v. Oregon, reaffirmed and provided some quantitative guidelines for tribal fishing rights. In the interim, non-Indian preemptions continued to take tribal Treaty-protected wealth from the river area, and tribal peoples suffered greatly.

With each Court affirmation of tribal Treaty-guaranteed access to fishing sites, the tribes looked forward to once again sustaining their people with the salmon. Over time, they have discovered this is increasingly difficult, if not impossible. For during the struggle to reaffirm the Treaty right to fish, **the Columbia/Snake system was being transformed - to produce electricity, irrigation for agriculture, navigation services, and waste disposal - but not salmon**. Economists term this "transformation of the production function" associated with the river. Simply put, when the tribes went to reclaim the salmon-related assets they had protected in their treaties, they found these assets had largely disappeared - transformed by actions to produce electricity, agricultural irrigation and navigation, primarily for the benefit of their non-tribal neighbors. Because salmon and its values are broadly distributed among tribal peoples⁴⁹¹, such adverse impacts resonate throughout the study tribes.

As each dam was constructed, the tribes objected, calling on the government to reconsider - pointing out that these actions were contrary to the treaties the United States had signed with them, and predicting adverse consequences for their tribal peoples. These tribal objections and concerns were ignored, given little weight, or actively opposed by non-Indians.

Transformation of the rivers' production function, the associated destruction of Treaty assets by non-Indian interest, and the resulting transfer of the rivers' wealth from Treaty tribes to non-Indians, in large part failed to honor the protections for the tribes contained in the Treaties. River agencies assured the tribes that while risks to salmon from dam construction and other river transformation activities were not well understood, the agencies were confident that "risk to salmon could be managed" and that technology could take care of the salmon as other economic development proceeded along the river. In

⁴⁹¹ i.e. Lane & Lane Associates and D. Nash, 1981c. **Supra** at 49ff.

fact, such assurances have been followed by the loss of the greatest part of the salmon resources of the Columbia and Snake River systems.

Today, dominant agencies continue to examine and test "technological breakthroughs" to protect salmon passing dams. But, in a 180 degree reversal – some of these same agencies now state they wish to "avoid uncertainty" associated with salmon restorative actions - and advise more technological manipulation, study and delay. The earlier "we can manage risk to salmon as we go" stance by dominant agencies facilitated transfer of river wealth from the tribes to non-Indians. Today, the same agencies' "we don't want to act until we're more certain" stance consolidates previous takings of tribal wealth - through delay and/or preemption of rebalancing to restore the Columbia and Snake Rivers' salmon-related wealth to tribal peoples.

Conversely, tribal leaders and experts conclude that substantial restoration of the salmon producing capabilities of the Snake River system cannot wait any longer.

Table 40 illustrates the losses in potential salmon harvests incurred by the five tribes due to these cumulative actions and agency policies. Today, most harvest for the four CRITFC tribes is taken below the lower Snake River dams. Contact-times (1780's through early 1800's) and treaty-times estimates (1855 for CRITFC tribes/ 1868 for Shoshone-Bannocks) are for salmonids only. Treaty-time estimates differ from "contact" estimates due to epidemic-driven declines in tribal populations between the two periods. Estimates of per capita consumption are assumed the same for the two periods. Tribal per capita consumption may have declined somewhat by 1855, where some tribal members where harassed by non-Indians - but there is no evidence that such a trend was yet universal. Finally, as noted, due to data limitations, present-day harvest estimates of present-day Tribal harvest needs represent the mathematical product of early 1800's/1855 per capita harvest estimates for tribal members and present-day tribal populations. Again, the reader is cautioned not to equate tribal harvest at any point in time with Treaty entitlement.

 α 1

1. /0

Table 40

<u>A Comparison of Estimated Tribal Harvests from the Columbia/Snake System</u>						
	Contact Tin	mes to the Pr	resent			
		Shoshone/				
Benchmark	Nez Perce	Bannock	Yakama	Umatilla	Warm Springs	
		harvest i	n thousand	s of pounds		
Estimated harvest in Contact Times.	2,800	2,500	5,600	3,500	3,400	
Percentage of fish in diet.	40%	28%	40%	38%	50%	
Estimated Harvest at Treaty Times.	1,600	1,300	2,400	1,600	1,000	

Current tribal harvest.*	160	1	1,100	77
Percentage Reduction from Treaty-period harvest.	90.0%	99.9%	54.0%	97.0%
Present Harvest as a Percentage of Present Need.	9.4%	0.04%	14.3%	1.7%

*Current harvest estimates for the Nez Perce, Shoshone-Bannock and Yakama peoples include some catch of non-salmonid species. Shoshone Bannock estimates include Sho-Pai Duck Valley peoples.

**Northwest Power Planning Council (1985) estimated potential annual tribal catches of salmon, pre-1800, for all system tribes, at approximately 42 million pounds (p.44).

These data, along with other information in this report, have been presented "tribe by tribe". This emphasizes the unique characteristics and history of each tribal people. At the same time however, it masks the considerable degree of intertribal cooperation that existed in Treaty times, and continues to exist today among the CRITFC tribes – and the adverse impacts that forced relocation to Reservations had on many tribal families and communities.

In our ancestors' time, we were all people of the river. We were known by the site of our village. We cooperated. We usually talked the same language. We intermarried, and had relatives in many different villages. In many ways, we were all one people.

When the Reservations came, one part of a family was sometimes sent to one reservation, and another part to another – just because we lived on different banks of a river.

(Eugene Greene, Sr. Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon)

9.2.3 Cumulative Effects from the Taking of Wealth from Study Tribes

A review of Tables 39 and 40 clearly shows that, cumulatively, from Treaty times to the present day, the five Treaty tribes have seen key Treaty assets destroyed, and much of their wealth taken from them - and transferred to non-tribal residents of the region.

Some non-Indians say; "All these things happened before I got here." But it was their forefathers who displaced the Indians - who raped our mothers and our daughters - who killed the children - and then forced us to go to different areas because of precious metals - because they wanted the water - because they wanted the forests. These are the ugly histories they say do not pertain to them - yet unfortunately some of us still carry the hurt and pain within our hearts.

(Hobby Hevewah, Shoshone-Bannock Councilor, at Fort Hall, July 17, 1998)

My heart cries for my people, cuz we are no more Indians. We have taken up all the white man's ways. If we were still Indians, we'd be living peacefully and happily the way we used to. All our horses are gone. No more cattle. All the pasture, the land, the hillsides, taken up by the farmers, by the white man. Our horses don't roam no more; we don't have no more horses of our own like we did at one time. Every inch of tillable ground is taken up. Where our houses used to be, they tear that down, and they put wheat in there or peas right on every inch of the ground. And they've taken down all of the fences, and they've plowed through there. These big farmers, they've got everything in the world. The (Indian) owners have nothing. And they've taken everything. Like I say, they've taken our land, they've taken our rivers, they've taken our fish. I don't know what more they want. (Carrie Sampson, CTUIR Elder, at Mission, October 13, 1982)

When the United States began building power dams in the Pacific Northwest, construction crews ruined several burials in canyons along inland rivers, including the Snake River. Sometimes archaeologists working for the federal government raided Indian burials to preserve choice specimens for university collections before water from a new dam inundated the locations.... The Yakama and their neighbors have faced a continued onslaught of ghouls, construction crews, and government agencies that disregard and discredit the spiritual beliefs of the Northwest Indians in reference to their dead. ...

The reservation system of the United States destroyed the native standard of living and introduced a host of viruses and bacilli to the Indians living on the Yakama Reservation. The result was poverty, ill health and death among the Yakama people.

(Clifford Trafzer, in, Death Stalks the Yakama. Michigan St. U. Press, 1997)

This targeting of "anything of value in Indian hands" by non-Indians continues today - where, for example, states attempt to appropriate revenue from cigarette sales, gambling, and any other small areas of hope on the bleak tribal economic landscape.

If one theme stands clear in the economic and social matrix of the Nez Perce it is loss of land and the mining of the remaining land for anything of cash value.

(Central Washington University, A Report to the US Minerals Management Service, 1991)

9.3 Present Circumstances of the Study Tribes

The devastating present-day results from this progressive destruction of tribal assets, and the associated taking of tribal wealth in lands, waters and salmon, are displayed statistically in Table 41. Data for the states of Washington, Oregon and Idaho are provided for comparison.

The reader is reminded that while such measures of relative wellbeing are commonplace in the dominant non-tribal culture – they do not always "fit well" or "sit well" with tribal peoples. The following quote from Nathan Jim, Sr., a Fish Commissioner from the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon, succinctly captures this tribal concern.

I don't much like this talk of unemployment and poverty. Before the white man came, we had no such thing as poverty. We lived off the land. We fished, we hunted, we gathered roots and berries. We worked hard all year round. We had no time for unemployment.

Poverty came with the Reservations. We were forced to live away from our salmon and our other resources. Our poverty is our lack of our Indian resources. These resources are being destroyed by the white man. That's what's causing our poverty.⁴⁹²

Whether discussed in tribal terms, or via standardized non-tribal statistics – the present severe difficulties of the tribes are inescapable.

Table 41								
<u> </u>	Present Ci	rcumstance	es of the H	Five Study	<u>y Tribes</u>			
		Shoshon	ne/		Wai	m	All Reside	nts
Indicator of Wellbeing N	lez Perce	Bannock	<u>Yakama</u>	<u>Umatilla</u>	Springs	<u>Idaho</u>	Oregon W	/ash.
Families in Poverty (%)	29.4	43.8	42.8	26.9	32.7	9.7	12.4	10.9
Unemployment (%)	19.8	26.5	23.4	20.4	19.3	6.	1 6.2	5.7
:In winter (%)	62.0	80.0	73.0) 21.0) 45.0)		
Per Capita Income (\$'00	0) 8.7	4.6	5.7	7 7.	9 4.	3 11	.5 14.9	13.4
Percent Who Can Speak their Tribal Language (%)		34-3	8 15	.0 9	9.0 12	2.0		
Ratio of Tribal Death Ra to Non-Tribal Death Rate		2.3	1.9) 1.2	2 1.0	5 -		

*Data is age-adjusted.

Even these stark data fail to capture the full seriousness of the present circumstances of the peoples of the Nez Perce Tribe, the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, the Yakama Indian Nation, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation. They are punctuated by premature death - particularly from deprivation-related causes,

⁴⁹² Nathan Jim, Sr., 1999. Warm Springs Commissioner to the Columbia River InterTribal Fish Commission. **Personal communication**. CRITFC Tribal Study Session on Tribal Impacts from Drawdown of Lower Snake River dams. March 10.

that have led both tribal and non-Tribal health service providers in the early 1990's to describe tribal health circumstances as "poor", and as "alarmingly poor". Table 42 identifies death causes that are particularly adverse for the tribes, relative to non-tribal neighbors. Tribal statistics are for slightly larger Indian Health Service geographical units.

Table 42						
Ratio of Tribal to Non-Tribal Deaths per 100,000 Population, for Health Areas Associated						
With Each Study Tribe - Selected Leading Causes of Tribal Death						
		Shoshone	:/			
Cause of Death	Nez Perce	Bannock	<u>Yakama</u>	<u>Umatilla</u>	Warm Springs	
Cirrhosis of the Liver	*	8.7	14.1	17.4	*	
Motor vehicle accidents	4.0	*	4.4	*	4.8	
All Other Accidents	2.3	5.2	2.8	*	3.9	
Diabetes mellitus	*	5.9	*	*	*	
Cerebrovascular disorders	3.0	*	*	3.1	*	
Pneumonia/ Influenza	*	*	*	*	5.3	
Heart disease	0.9	2.8	1.5	1.0	1.2	
Malignant Neoplasms	0.5	1.0	0.8	1.2	0.4	

*Comparative data not available in published form.

Too-high death rates for cirrhosis and accidental death are consistent with Bachtold (1983), who links loss of foods, impoverishment, and loss of meaningful activity, to tribal mistrust and despair - and with Trafzer (1997), who hypothesizes that tribal mortality in recent times is substantially linked to man-made pressures and events.

Central Washington University (1991) provides a useful encapsulation for Nez Perce, that is also appropriate to the present circumstances of the other impoverished study tribes.

The personal suffering and tragic lives of many (Nez Perce) people are not revealed in the cold reports of tribal and federal governments. It can, however, be seen and felt in the towns and the countryside--in the eyes of men and the despair of mothers with few or no options for change. When you can no longer do what your ancestors did; when your father or mother could not do these things either; when they or you found little meaning in and limited access to the ways of mainstream culture--the power of 70 percent winter time unemployment, and 46 percent of the population below the poverty level, is visible throughout the Nez Perce landscape.

(Central Washington University, A Report to the US Minerals Management Service, 1991.)

Salmon has played a central role in the lives of the peoples of the study tribes since time immemorial. Commentator after commentator identifies salmon at the center of tribal culture and material wellbeing - as do the tribes themselves. The CRITFC tribes took great pains to specifically reserve their Treaty right to take salmon at their "usual and accustomed places" in each of their treaties with the United States - and the Shoshone-Bannock have also established off reservation access to salmon, in their Treaty and in the courts.

Indians have consistently opposed subsequent transformations of the Snake and Columbia rivers that have been adverse to the system's capability to produce salmon.

Today, remnant salmon remain connected to the core of tribal material and cultural life. Faced with bleak present circumstances, and severely limited prospects for remedy, the tribal peoples still look first to the salmon with hope of a better future.

Traditional activities such as fishing, hunting and gathering roots, berries and medicinal plants build self-esteem for Nez Perce peoples - and this has the capacity to reduce the level of death by accident, violence and suicide affecting our people. When you engage in cultural activities you build pride. You are helped to understand "what it is to be a Nez Perce" - as opposed to trying to be someone who is not a Nez Perce. In this way, the salmon, the game, the roots, the berries and the plants are pillars of our world.

(Leroy Seth, Nez Perce Elder, May 6, 1998)

My specialty is psycho-social nursing. From my perspective, everything is tied together. Nothing is separate. The health of the (native) kids is impacted every day. We see kids come in who are grossly overweight, and they're laying the groundwork for the diabetes to come. The impact of the loss of the salmon, and the loss of the traditional grounds - the loss of the time with the elders to learn the ways and to feel as if you're part of the community, instead of feeling alienated, not only from their neighbors and their families but also from the bigger community of humans - has a devastating effect on the kids. I have moms come in here eighteen years old who have been pregnant two or three times, who use substances and who don't teach their children the old ways because they don't know them. They don't feed their kids the old foods because they don't have any idea what they are. So the loss of the food and the salmon is monumental - and its all tied together. Food is a really big part of the Yakama culture - as it is elsewhere. Anywhere you look in the world, food carries culture. So if you lose your foods, you lose part of your culture - and it has a devastating effect on the psyche. You also lose the social interaction. When you fish, you can spend time together - you share all the things that impact your life - and you plan together for the next year.

In sum, there's a huge connection between salmon and tribal health. Restoring salmon restores a way of life. It restores physical activity. It restores mental health. It improves nutrition and thus restores physical health. It restores a traditional food source, which as we know, isn't everything - but its a big deal. It allows families to share time together and build connections between family members. It passes on traditions that are being lost. If the salmon came back, these positive changes would start.

(Chris Walsh, Psycho-Social Nursing Specialist, Yakama Indian Nation, August 13, 1998)

Salmon are the centerpiece of our culture, religion, spirit, and indeed, our very existence. As Indians, we speak solely for the salmon. We have no hidden agenda. We do not make decisions to appease special interest groups. We do not bow to the will of powerful economic interests. Our people's desire is simple--to preserve the fish, to preserve our way of life, now and for future generations.

(Donald S. Sampson, Chair, CTUIR Board of Trustees, December 15, 1994)

If the dams are maintained in place, I'm not so sure we will find justice. We must restore the fish so they can multiply and get back to aboriginal numbers. They say they'll do this and do that, but so far, its been a one way street of decline. There's been no justice there.

(Hobby Hevewah, Shoshone-Bannock Councilor, at Fort Hall, July 17, 1998)

9.4 The Effect of the Lower Snake Dams on Study Tribes

The four lower Snake River dams have significant, but not sole, responsibility for the desperate present circumstances of study tribes. Their construction has transformed the production function of the Snake River, destroying Treaty-protected assets and taking wealth in salmon away from study tribes, while increasing the wealth of non-Indians through enhanced production of electricity, agricultural products, transportation services and other associated benefits. These impacts on Snake River salmon must be considered in context with the effects of other system dams - together with adverse effects from pollution, water diversion and other acts.

At the same time, creation of the four lower Snake reservoirs has directly inundated approximately 140 river miles of Tribal usual and accustomed areas - and these impacts can be considered the exclusive responsibility of Ice Harbor, Lower Monumental, Little Goose and Lower Granite dams.

9.4.1 Impacts of the Lower Snake Dams on Salmon

Beaty et.al. (1999) begin with Northwest Power Planning Council estimates of pre-contact salmon run sizes, and estimate cumulative losses of salmon due to loss of habitat and passage mortality as each US Army Corps of Engineers dam was constructed on the Columbia/Snake system – together with estimates of lost **potential** harvest returns resulting from these actions⁴⁹³. These loss figures, benchmarked for the year each dam was constructed, estimate substantial damages from the four lower Snake River dams – which significantly exceed PATH recovery estimates under any action alternative for these dams.

⁴⁹³ Beaty, Roy E., Henry J. Yuen, Philip A. Meyer and Michael A. Matylewich, 1999. Cumulative Impacts on the Peoples of the Nez Perce, Yakama, Umatilla and Warm Springs Indian Reservations from Construction and Operation of US Army Corps of Engineers' Dams in the Columbia River Basin Upstream of Bonneville Dam, Inclusive. Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission. A Report to the Administration for Native Americans.

Information provided previously in this report shows that the tribe farthest upriver - the Shoshone-Bannocks (and the Sho-Pai at Duck Valley) - have lost virtually all of their 1855 period anadromous harvest.

The Nez Perce Tribe has lost about 90 percent of their 1855 harvest, and this number substantially underestimates percentage losses in the Snake and Clearwater rivers, due to present-day Nez Perce participation in Zone 6 mid-Columbia tribal fisheries.

Several Snake River tributaries that historically produced significant salmon runs, including the Salmon, the Grande Ronde, and undamed portions of the Clearwater system, are located below the absolute anadromous fish barrier created by the three Hells Canyon dams. Consequently, one could expect that, if Lower Snake dams had little or no adverse effect on Snake River anadromous stocks, proportionate losses to harvests by the Shoshone-Bannock, Duck Valley Sho-Pai and Nez Perce tribes above the lower Snake dams would be much closer to losses experienced by tribal fishers in the mid-Columbia - who have also experienced substantial loss of traditional fisheries. Review of data from Table 40 indicates this is not the case (Table 43).

	Table 43				
Estimated Losses of Tribal Fishers - Ordered from Upstream to Downstream					
		Present Harvest as	Present Harvest as		
Tribal Group	Harvest Target Area	% of Treaty Times	% of Present Needs		
		in p	percent		
Shoshone-Bannock	Above lower Snake dams.	0.1	0.04		
Nez Perce	Above lower Snake dams.	1.0	1.0		
	Below lower Snake dams.	9.0	8.4		
	Total above and below dan	ns. 10.0	9.4		
Yakima, CTUIR,					
and Warm Springs	Below lower Snake dams.	23.5	9.6		
Consideration of this information leads to the following conclusions.					

- * Snake River anadromous stocks have been reduced significantly as a result of construction and operation of the four lower Snake River dams.
- * Losses of Treaty-protected tribal harvest are almost 100 percent for the Shoshone-Bannocks and Duck Valley Sho-Pai's.
- * The Nez Perce have lost virtually all of their traditional harvests above the lower Snake dams. This observation holds, even recognizing that the Nez Perce took some of their harvest from mid-Columbia sites in Treaty times. Considering harvest both above and below the four study dams, the Nez Perce have lost approximately 90 percent of their 1855-level harvests.

- * It follows that the lower Snake dams have had a substantial adverse effect on the upstream Treaty fisheries of the Idaho tribes even allowing for the presence of other upstream dams and salmon-adverse actions in the Snake River system.
- * Finally, adverse impacts from lower Snake dams on harvests of the Yakama Indian Nation, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs and upon Nez Perce fishers downstream of the four dams have also been substantial - as these tribes harvest Snake River stocks as they swim by. The impact of these losses of mid-Columbia harvest will be the product of the absolute losses incurred and the proportional role that Snake River stocks play in total fisheries along those reaches of the Columbia River.

9.4.2 Inundation Effects on the Tribes from the Four Lower Snake Dams

In addition to killing treaty salmon, the reservoirs created by the four lower Snake River dams have directly inundated approximately 140 miles of usual and accustomed living, fishing, hunting, gathering and ceremonial areas of (at least) three of the study tribes. The cultural resources approach of the tribes is holistic - and considers such things as the Indian people themselves, their communities and lifeways, the unique information of elders, clean air, clean water where salmon and other fish prized for their traditional subsistence live, hunting and gathering grounds, and other resources important to tribal life "all together".

The home territory of ancestors of the Nez Perce extended from upriver, through the lower Clearwater River in the vicinity of the present town of Lewiston, Idaho, and down the lower Snake River to about the confluence with the Palouse River on the north bank, and the confluence with the Tucannon River on the south bank.

Some bands of the Walla Walla peoples, now part of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR), lived downstream of the Tucannon River along the south bank of the Snake.

The Palouse people, who now reside within the Yakama Indian Nation and the CTUIR, as well as on the Colville Reservation, originally lived at the confluence of the Palouse and Snake Rivers, and downstream along the north bank of the Snake.

These tribes often fished in common with each other and with most of their neighbors, including the tribes that presently make up the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon. Other bands of Indians that are now represented by present-day treaty tribes may also have fished the lower Snake River - particularly as it neared its confluence with the Columbia. Table 44 outlines only the primary linkages between these study tribes, the home territories of their ancestors in the lower Snake area, and their relationship to the four reservoirs under study.

Table 44

The Relationship Between Present Tribal Treaty-Based Entities and Pre-Treaty Tribal Groups in the Lower Snake Reservoir Area

Present Organization	Original Tribal Groups in Lower Snake Territory	Inundation by Lower Snake Reservoirs
Nez Perce Tribe	Nez Perce Indians living along the Clearwater River, and downstream along the lower Snake to Palouse River (north side) and Tucannon River (south side).	Lower Granite. Little Goose. Lower Monumental.
Yakama Indian Nation	Palouse peoples living at the confluence of the Snake and Palouse Rivers and downstrean along the north riverbank. Possibly other bands near the mouth of the Snake.	Lower Monumental. Ice Harbor.
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation	 Palouse peoples living at the confluence of the Snake and Palouse Rivers, and downstream along the north riverbank. Walla Walla peoples living from the mouth of the Tucannon River downstream along the south bank of the Snake River. 	Lower Monumental. Ice Harbor.

Preliminary work suggests that there are between 600 and 700 sites of particular tribal material and cultural significance associated with the four lower Snake dams. This number may eventually prove to be an underestimate. In the words of CTUIR cultural protection staff:

When the CTUIR look at Ice Harbor and Lower Monumental reservoirs, they see a system of cultural resources that is entirely out of balance. The river is a lake, much of the land where their ancestors lived their daily lives is under the water, and the salmon have great difficulty in their migrations. The current situation is unacceptable.

Further, construction of the four lower Snake dams involved purchase of individual Indian allotments by the US Army Corps of Engineers along the river corridor from a number of Indians and others. During

the preparation of this report, several tribal respondents have stated that they consider the process associated with said purchases unfair, and against tribal interest.

Finally, transformation of the lower Snake River from "free flowing" to a series of reservoirs has also facilitated permitted discharge of potentially dangerous toxins into lower Snake waters. This raises serious concern, in the tribal view, regarding threats to water purity, to the anadromous fish and other creatures that depend upon that water, and for persons, tribal and non-tribal, who may also depend on said water, fish and game.

10.0 Assessment of Tribal Impacts on the Nez Perce, Shoshone-Bannock, Yakama, Umatilla and Warm Springs Tribes from Lower Snake River Dams

10.1 Project Alternatives Considered in this Analysis

Original identification of project alternatives by the agencies associated with this report was broad, and has been discussed elsewhere. As studies progressed, it became clear that PATH, the biologist group charged with estimating impacts on salmon and steelhead for each project alternative, would only develop quantitative impact estimates for Snake River spring/summer chinook, for fall chinook, and for steelhead - for three project general alternatives. These alternatives estimate the impact of changes at four lower Snake River dams: Ice Harbor, Little Goose, Lower Monumental and Lower Granite. The alternatives are generally defined as:

Alternative A1 (Base Case): Configuration and operation of lower Snake dams as they are today. Columbia and Snake rivers salmon flow augmentation as described in the 1995 Biological Opinion.

Alternative A2 (Transportation): The four lower Snake dams remain. Structural changes at dams and flow augmentation changes - as defined in other work groups - are made to enhance salmon survival over dams and in reservoirs.

Alternative A3 (Draw Down): Parts of each dam are removed to facilitate drawing the lower Snake River down to near natural river flow conditions - so that salmon and steelhead would not be blocked by the structures or impeded by reservoirs. Under A3, present levels of fish flow augmentation would be retained.

10.2 Criteria for Assessment of Impacts from Project Alternatives on Study Tribes

10.2.1 General Assessment Criteria

This tribal assessment focuses on whether or not each project alternative makes significant progress toward meeting the following responsibilities:

1. **Meet obligations under Tribal Treaties, or under tribal trust responsibility**. In particular, this assessment will focus on the tribal treaty right "of taking fish at usual and accustomed places", or at traditional fisheries and fishing areas more generally, and on tribal sites of material and cultural significance.

2. Meet Distributive Justice Standards, defined by EPA's Environmental Justice (EJ) Guidelines, as:

"The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations and policies. Fair treatment means that no group of people, including racial, ethnic, or socioeconomic group should bear a disproportionate share of the negative environmental consequences from industrial, municipal and commercial operations or the execution of federal, state, local, and tribal programs and policies."

These overarching considerations have both been discussed earlier in our report. Because the lower Snake dams are responsible for some, but not all, of the adverse circumstances experienced by the study tribes, our assessment here considers both **explicit project effects** from the three project alternatives posed, and the role of each project alternative with respect to **cumulative effects** experienced by the tribes from progressive transformation of the lower Snake River from producing salmon to producing hydroelectric power, water for irrigation, barge transportation and related purposes. We follow the EPA EJ guidelines in defining cumulative effects as:

"the incremental impact(s) of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions."

10.2.2 Benchmark Criteria for Assessing Impacts on Salmon and Steelhead

10.2.2.1 Contribution to Reestablishment of Tribal Treaty Fishery Assets

Each project alternative, A1, A2, and A3, will first be evaluated according to a common tribal benchmark – substantial recovery of treaty-protected Snake River salmon and steelhead production capabilities and harvests from the cumulatively depressed levels that have damaged the tribes through much of the twentieth century.

Tribal fishing of these stocks was guaranteed by the treaties of 1855 and 1868, between the tribes and the United States. Subsequent transformation of the lower Snake River to benefit electricity, irrigated agriculture, and river navigation interests has almost eradicated these stocks, contrary to the treaty-guarantees provided. The Treaty tribes consider that reestablishment of these tribal fishing opportunities is the only acceptable treaty remedy. Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission (1995) has
established performance goals by which to assess "fully fishable" stock levels on the Snake River system (Table 45). Taken in total, these salmon recovery goals suggest an all-species recovery figure of 11.3 million pounds of salmon, inclusive of spawning escapement requirements and tribal harvest, for the Snake River. These recovery goals are conditioned by judgements concerning 'feasible recovery', related to upstream Snake River dams. The Beaty et al. (1999) model⁴⁹⁴ estimates annual all-species salmon mortalities from the four lower Snake River dams alone of between 8.4 and 14.3 million pounds – or between 243 million and 410 million pounds of losses since they were constructed.

Table 45

Tribal Goals for Recovery of Selected Treaty-Based Runs of Salmonids in the Snake River System

System Component	Spring <u>Chinook</u> 	Summer <u>Chinook</u>	<u>Chinook</u>	Sockeye ands of salm	<u>Coho</u>	Steelhead
Snake River mainstem.			18.3			
Tucannon River	3.0		2.0			2.2
Clearwater River	60.0	50.0	50.0		14.0	93.0
Grande Ronde River	16.0		10.0	2.5	3.5	27.5
Salmon River	128.0	60.2		44.5		192.9
Imnaha River	5.7		3.0			4.3
Totals - Selected Species	212.7	110.2	83.3	47.0	17.5	236.2

Source: Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission, 1995. Wy-Kan-Ush-Mi Wa-Kish-Wit: Spirit of the Salmon. The Anadromous Fish Restoration Plan of the Nez Perce, Umatilla, Warm Springs and Yakama Tribes. Volume II - Subbasin Plans.

Each project alternative will be evaluated with respect to its contribution to these treaty-based recovery goals. This evaluation will include assessment of impacts respecting tribal harvest, associated opportunities for treaty fishing activities – and implications for tribal material wellbeing, health, and culture. An assessment by the tribes concerning the "significance" of impact gains or losses incurred is also presented.

⁴⁹⁴ At Note 493.

10.2.2.2 Contribution to Diminishing Risk of Treaty Fisheries Extinction

Snake River salmon stocks are in adverse condition, and several have been "listed" as threatened and/or endangered. Such listing reemphasizes the need for strong remedial action before these stocks become extinct. Work by Nehlsen, Williams and Lichatowich (1991)⁴⁹⁵, and present listing actions, indicate that such endangerment of Pacific salmonids is continuing.

This extreme level of risk to subject Snake River stocks is the joint product of "their present threatened and endangered condition", and "the length of time over which this condition is projected to continue". Tribal leaders and experts conclude that **the continuation of Snake River salmonid stocks as** "**listed species**" perpetuates the likelihood that, given normal variations in abundance, these stocks may eventually become extinct. Conversely, if Snake River salmon stocks can be "delisted" quickly, risk of extinction will be lessened. This provides an important risk-adverse distinction between lower Snake River project alternatives. Consequently, **rapidity of delisting** will be considered as an additional measure to distinguish between the risks that alternative project actions pose for salmon and for the tribes.

10.2.3 Criteria for Assessing Impacts on Usual and Accustomed Tribal Living Areas and Sites Within the Boundaries of the Four Reservoirs

Project impacts on the tribes in the area of the dams and reservoirs themselves will be direct. Principally, they will entail destruction, inundation and/or restoration of areas and sites where peoples from the study tribes lived; fished, hunted, and gathered roots, berries and plants; conducted important ceremonies; died and were buried. In some instances, construction of the dams entailed the taking of allotted lands from Indian peoples living along the river.

The effects of each project alternative on the material and cultural circumstances of the tribes within this "project area" will be generally discussed. Little in the way of specific assessment of impacts has been done, and significantly more work on "project area tribal impacts" will be required once a preferred project alternative has been selected. A preliminary outline of the scope and potential cost of such work is included in this report.

10.2.4 Reduction of the Pain and Suffering of Tribal Peoples

This report has documented the unacceptably high rates of poverty, unemployment and death presently suffered by peoples of the study tribes – and the cumulative linkage between these conditions and destruction of the salmon and other Treaty-protected resources. Tribal leaders point out that **tribal suffering is continuing in each future year that salmon recovery does not occur.** Their conclusion, and that of this report, is that if the federal government continues to "study" recovery, but

⁴⁹⁵Nehlsen, Willa, J.E. Williams and J.A. Lichatowich, 1991. "Pacific Salmon at the Crossroads: Stocks at Risk from California, Oregon, Idaho and Washington", in, **Fisheries** 16:2. pp. 4-21.

does not immediately institute actual measures that have a strong probability of facilitating substantial salmon recovery in the Snake River, **tribal suffering and death will continue**. In this context, the Tribes assert that they have no interest in NMFS salmon recovery benchmarks that are set 100 years into the future – and no such benchmarks are utilized in this report.

10.3 Estimates of Salmon Run Sizes and Tribal Harvests Under Each Alternative

PATH-based effects of each alternative action on total Snake River wild salmon run size are presented in Table 46. Initially, the A-Fish Team developed estimates for spring/summer chinook based on evaluation of PATH results by eminent Independent Experts. Subsequently, the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) directed its economic consultants to revise their analysis, and base estimates on PATH results prior to Independent Expert evaluation. This NMFS directive does not change the rank order of Alternative actions at lower Snake, but makes A1 and A2 look somewhat better, compared to Independent Expert conclusions.

CRITFC biologists conclude that this NMFS directive represents a "retreat from best science". Consequently, the estimates in Table 46 are based on the Independent Expert assessment of PATH findings. Alternative A3 estimates are based on a three year implementation period – and differ little from data based on an eight year implementation period.

The recovery forecasts in Table 46 are from Radke and Davis (1999), consultants to the A-Fish Team, not from CRITFC. Should further peer review identify required adjustments, the estimates presented here will change. These data may overestimate for two reasons. First, PATH analysis was built from a present-day status quo – which failed to incorporate any relevent long term negative trends in Columbia/Snake stock sizes⁴⁹⁶. Second, the Radke and Davis analysis uses "Year 0" stock starting point assumptions that likely exceed PATH's "present conditions" by approximately 34 percent for spring/summer chinook, and 43 percent for fall chinook.

Table 46

Estimates of Snake River Wild Salmon Recovery - Lower Snake River Dam Alternatives

Spring/S	Summer Cl	ninook .	Fall	Chinook	<u> </u>	Summer	r Steelhea	<u>d.</u>
A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .
	re	covery run	size in th	ousands	of wild ad	ult salmor	1	
11.7	11.7	11.7	2.0	2.0	2.0	21.2	21.2	21.2
15.4	14.9	15.2	3.6	3.6	2.2	23.6	23.3	23.5
21.7	20.3	21.3	5.5	5.5	8.0	27.2	26.4	27.0
	<u>A1</u> . 11.7 15.4	<u>A1 A2 </u> re	<u>A1 A2 A3</u> recovery run 11.7 11.7 11.7 15.4 14.9 15.2	A1 A2 A3 A1	A1 A2 A3 A1 A2	Image: 11.7 Image: 11.7 <thimage: 11.7<="" th=""> <thimage: 11.7<="" th=""></thimage:></thimage:>	A1 A2 A3 A1 A2 A3 A1 A1 A2 A3 A1 A1 <th< td=""><td>A1 A2 A3 A1 A2 A3 A1 A2 </td></th<>	A1 A2 A3 A1 A2 A3 A1 A2

⁴⁹⁶ For a discussion of adverse trends potentially leading to extinction for some Snake River stocks, see for example, Monday, Phillip R., 1999. Status and Expected Time to Extinction for Snake River Spring and Summer Chinook Stocks: The Doomsday Clock and Salmon Recovery Index Models Applied to the Snake River Basin. A Report to Trout Unlimited. Portland, Oregon.

15	27.5	26.0	31.8	6.4	6.4	26.7	29.9	29.2	31.9
20	31.6	30.5	42.6	7.0	7.0	39.3	31.5	31.0	35.9
25	30.2	28.5	47.2	7.2	7.2	42.0	31.0	30.3	37.4
30	31.3	29.0	49.5	7.2	7.2	43.3	31.5	30.5	38.0
50	32.3	29.2	54.5	7.1	7.1	43.5	31.9	30.6	39.5

Source: DREW Anadromous Fish Team, September 24, 1999.

The Anadromous Fish Team also calculated total salmon stock size for each alternative under a scenario that incorporated estimated hatchery operations. Total stock estimates, for both wild and hatchery fish are displayed in Table 47.

Table 47

Estimates of Snake River Wild Salmon Stock Recovery with Hatchery Supplementation -Three Lower Snake River Dam Alternatives-

Project	Spring/S	Summer C	<u>Chinook</u>	Fall	Chinook	<u> </u>	Summer	Steelhea	<u>d.</u>
Year	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .
	1	recovery 1	run size in	thousands	of wild a	nd hatcher	y adult salı	mon	
0	19.7	19.7	19.7	7.9	7.9	7.9	126.8	126.8	126.8
5	20.0	19.6	21.1	6.9	6.9	8.0	107.5	108.0	113.7
10	28.3	26.7	33.7	13.5	13.5	28.7	126.6	125.1	159.4
15	46.3	43.8	62.0	16.7	16.7	152.2	197.7	188.4	246.3
20	55.6	54.1	87.5	18.4	18.4	200.7	215.4	207.9	303.0
25	53.9	51.4	96.6	19.1	19.1	206.9	214.2	205.3	315.1
30	55.5	51.8	100.8	19.0	19.0	211.6	214.8	203.8	319.8
50	57.3	52.4	110.8	21.4	21.4	217.3	222.1	207.8	332.9

Source: DREW Anadromous Fish Team, September 24, 1999.

Estimates of tribal harvest under each alternative have also been provided by the DREW Anadromous Fish Team. These estimates are displayed, by alternative, for wild salmon in Table 48, and for wild and hatchery salmon combined in Table 49.

Table 48

Estimates of Tribal Wild Salmon Harvest of Snake River Stocks After Salmon Restoration Actions at the Four Lower Snake River Dams

Project	Spring/S	Summer (<u>Chinook.</u>	Fal	l Chinook		Summer	r Steelhead	<u>ł.</u>
Year.	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	<u>A3</u> .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .
				-numbers	of wild	adult salı	non		
0	522	522	522	100	100	100	1 500	1 500	1 500
0	533	533	533	466	466	466	1,529	1,529	1,529
5	721	723	667	571	571	353	1,821	1,799	1,811
10	1,401	1,332	1,359	880	880	1,289	2,235	2,169	2,218
15	2 166	1.021	2 951	1.026	1.026	1 700	2 602	2 5 2 0	0 770
15	2,166	1,921	2,854	1,026	1,026	4,288	2,603	2,539	2,778
20	2,703	2,500	5,689	1,118	1,118	6,323	2,903	2,857	3,308
25	2,593	2,285	6,851	1,158	1,158	6,769	10,867	10,595	13,082
30	2,721	2,296	7,429	1,149	1,149	6,970	11,009	10,671	13,310
50	3,102	2,400	8,689	1,126	1,126	6,994	11,151	10,720	13,836
20	5,102	_,	0,007	1,120	1,120	5,771	,	10,720	10,000

Source: DREW Anadromous Fish Team, September 24, 1999.

Table 49

Estimates of Tribal Wild and Hatchery Salmon Harvest of Snake River Stocks After Salmon Restoration Actions at the Four Lower Snake River Dams

Project	Spring/S	ummer Ch	ninook	Fal	l Chinook	<u>.</u>	Summer	Steelhead	<u>l .</u>
Year.	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .	<u>A1</u> .	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .
			numb	pers of wil	d and hat	tchery adu	ılt salmon		
0	1,026	1,026	1,026	1,893	1,893	1,893	30,087	30,087	30,087

5 10	940 1,826	951 1,757	929 2,144	1,094 2,158	1,094 2,158	1,265 4,604	25,386 32,040	25,573 31,758	27,160 41,920
15 20 25 30	3,647 4,759 4,623 4,825	3,242 4,432 4,125 4,101	5,570 11,682 14,009 15,138	2,662 2,946 3,062 3,045	2,946 3,062	24,417 32,332 33,311 34,066	53,398 62,106 74,979 75,186	· ·	67,648 89,296 110,373 111,940
50	5,511	4,297	17,662	3,408	3,408	34,976	77,723	72,740	116,518

Source: DREW Anadromous Fish Team, September 24, 1999.

Finally, PATH-based tribal harvest recovery estimates are converted into pounds, assuming average weights of 20.1 pounds per salmon for spring and summer Chinook, 19.1 pounds per salmon for fall Chinook, and 8.5 pounds per fish for Steelhead. Results for the 30 year and 50 year benchmarks are displayed in Tables 50 and 51.

Table 50

Estimated Tribal Harvest of Snake River Stocks in Pounds Following Restorative Action At the Four Lower Snake Dams, By Species

Project	Spring/S	Summer	Chinook.	Fal	l Chinoo	<u>k .</u>	Summe	r Steelhea	<u>d.</u>
Year.	A1 .	A2	. <u>A3</u> .	<u>A1</u> .	A2 .	<u>A3</u> .	<u>A1</u> .	A2 .	A3 .
			t	housands	of pound	ls of salmo	on		
Wild Sal	mon and	Steelhea	ad Only:						
0	10.7	10.7	10.7	8.9	8.9	8.9	13.0	13.0	13.0
10	28.2	26.8	27.2	16.8	16.8	24.6	19.0	18.4	18.9
30	54.7	46.1	149.3	21.9	21.9	133.1	93.6	90.7	113.1
50	62.4	48.2	174.6	21.5	21.5	133.6	94.8	91.1	117.6
Wild + H	latchery S	Salmon	and Steelho	ead:					
0	20.6	20.6	20.6	36.2	36.2	36.2	255.7	255.7	255.7
10	36.7	35.3	43.1	41.2	41.2	87.9	272.3	269.9	356.3

30	97.0	82.4	304.2	58.2	58.2	650.7	639.1	606.2	951.5
50	110.8	86.4	355.0	65.1	65.1	668.0	660.6	618.3	990.4

*Developed from data provided by PATH and the DREW Anadromous Fish Team.

Table 51

Estimated Tribal Harvest of Snake River Stocks in Pounds Following Restorative Action At the Four Lower Snake Dams – All Species Taken Together

Project Year		Vild Salmo	on .	Wild + Ha	atchery Sa	almon
	A1	A2 .	A3 .	A1 .	A2 .	A3 .
		j	in thousan	ds of pound	ls	
30	170.2	158.7	395.5	794.3	746.8	1,906.4
50	178.7	160.8	425.8	836.5	769.8	2,013.4

*Developed from data provided by PATH and the DREW Anadromous Fish Team.

Considering these data, several conclusions are apparent.

- 1. A2, the alternative that maximizes retrofiting of lower Snake River dams, is the poorest of the three alternatives considered. It offers lower salmon and steelhead stock levels than even A1, the approximate status quo alternative. From a biological perspective, it is unlikely to meet salmon recovery objectives within any reasonable timeframe. A2 provides only marginal recovery of tribal harvest, and offers little relief to the long term damages and associated suffering incurred by tribal peoples.
- 2. A1, the "status quo" NMFS Biological Opinion option, is little better. As with A2, it offers limited hope of salmon recovery within a timeframe that reasonably addresses the

ongoing suffering of the Treaty tribes. At the 30 year benchmark, it would support only 7 percent more tribal harvest on wild Snake River stocks than would A2, and about 6 percent more tribal harvest on hatchery and wild stocks taken together. These are very small improvements from presently impaired harvest levels.

3. A3, the drawdown alternative, would produce 2.4 times more tribal harvest of Snake River wild salmon and steelhead stocks, compared to Alternative A1 (2.6 times more harvest compared to A2). A3 is also significantly more likely to reach biological recovery goals for salmon within a reasonable time period. By Year 50, estimated A3 tribal Snake River harvests increase by 1.7 million pounds – increasing current diminished tribal harvests from all Columbia/Snake system steelhead stocks (Table 40) by 2.3 times.

Given the recovery estimates of PATH and DREW's Anadromous Fish Team, the A3 alternative falls significantly short of meeting either CRITFC's total recovery goals for Snake River stocks, or the estimated damages done to Treaty-protected tribal salmon by the Snake River dams in prior years.

However, of the alternatives considered in this Corps of Engineers process, A3 is the only Action that would signal a substantive change in the cumulative destruction of Snake River salmon, and redirect river actions toward significant improvement of the cultural and material circumstances of the tribes – with attendant reductions in the pain, suffering and mortalities suffered by tribal peoples.

10.4 Assessment of Tribal Impacts Associated with Tribally Important Riverside Areas from Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

The lower Snake River corridor - from Ice Harbor Dam upstream to slightly above Lewiston, Idaho on the Snake River, and for approximately four miles upriver on the Clearwater River from its confluence with the Snake - represents approximately 150 miles of ceded tribal river-bottom lands. Here, the ancestors of the Nez Perce Tribe, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and the Yakama Indian Nation lived, and conducted the full range of harvest, social and spiritual activities associated with their lifeways. The Nez Perce Tribe consider that upper riverside sections inundated by Lower Granite reservoir were alienated from the Nez Perce by actions of the United States and some Indians leading to the "steal treaty" of 1863 - and that this area should, in fact, be considered as part of the Nez Perce Reservation.

Tribal members continued to live along these river sections, practice their Treaty- protected fishing, hunting and gathering activities, conduct cultural and spiritual ceremonies, and bury their dead at usual and accustomed places, until construction of the four lower Snake dams and filling of their reservoirs progressively eliminated living tribal peoples from these areas, starting in the mid 1950's. Villages important to the tribes existed, particularly at the mouth of tributary rivers, such as the Tucannon, and the Palouse. Preliminary work has identified between 600 and 700 important tribal cultural sites in the

areas affected by the four dams and reservoirs - and this is considered by the tribes to be an underestimate, for the tribes lived and traveled <u>throughout</u> the referent river corridor.

Tribal members coexist with their rivers and streams, with the lands that surround them, with the other creatures who share them, and with their ancestors who rest in the lands. The rivers and streams are considered part of the land, and part of the people who live there. Many tribal commentators have described the river waters as "the blood that flows through the veins of our mother the Earth to give us life". Tribal peoples view the waters of the river and certain important resources such as the salmon as important elements of their religion - and hold them sacred. These relationships have been described as "pillars of tribal culture", which provide substantial comfort to tribal members, particularly during the adverse impacts that tribes have endured from contact times to the present.

10.4.1 Alternative A1 - Present Operations with 1995 Biological Opinion

The A1 Project Alternative maintains Lower Granite, Lower Monumental, Little Goose and Ice Harbor dams in place, and operates them within fish constraints established by NMFS's 1995 Biological Opinion. This alternative continues the separation of some members of the Nez Perce, CTUIR and Yakama Reservations from the grounds in which their ancestors are buried along the lower Snake River stream-sides - and renders it impossible to care for their graves⁴⁹⁷. The four reservoirs preempt 150 miles of Treaty-protected tribal fishing, hunting, and harvesting of roots, plants and berries at usual and accustomed stream-side locations. They prevent the subject tribes from holding religious and cultural ceremonies along these 150 miles of stream-side in the places the tribes were accustomed to hold them - and filter the spiritual relationship between the tribes, their ancestors and their spiritual places through many feet of reservoir waters. Effectively, the dams and reservoirs inundate most substantial aspects of cultural, material and spiritual life along the lower Snake River for affected tribal peoples - and separate the tribal peoples from them – impairing the close bond between these people and their lands.

The four lower Snake River dams were some of the last constructed in the Columbia/Snake system. It is possible to gain some insight into the magnitude of these inundations for tribal peoples by identifying that the four dams have a combined estimated surface area of about 33,890 acres⁴⁹⁸, and comparing this acreage to the total areas still retained by the Nez Perce, CTUIR and Yakama, from Table 39. Results are displayed in Table 52.

Table 52

A Comparison of Area Inundated by the Four Lower Snake Dams with

⁴⁹⁷Some graves were relocated outside the influence of the reservoirs when the dams were built. Tribal cultural protection experts report that many tribal graves remain under reservoir waters.

⁴⁹⁸US Army Corps of Engineers, 1994. Columbia River Salmon Mitigation Analysis System Configuration Study, Phase 1: Lower Snake Reservoir Drawdown Draft Technical Report. Appendix A. Walla Walla.

Tribe	Tribally <u>Owned*</u> in	4 Reservoir <u>Acreage</u> acres	Ratio of Reservoir Surface <u>Area to Tribal Acreage</u> . -in percent-
Nez Perce	108,000	33,890	31.4
CTUIR	158,000	33,890	21.4
Yakama	1,126,000	33,890	3.0

Remaining Tribal Ownership of Lands by the Nez Perce, CTUIR and Yakama

*Owned by the tribe and/or by individual tribal members.

We conclude that continued inundation of reservoir areas under A1 has a significant land-related adverse impact on tribal peoples of the Nez Perce, CTUIR and Yakama Reservations.

10.4.2 Alternative A2: Maintenance of the Four Lower Snake Dams at the A1 Standard, with Added Facilities to Transport Salmon by the Dams

Operation of the four lower Snake River dams under A2 will have the same inundation effects as for A1. We consequently conclude that Alternative A2 inundates lands that are significant for the peoples of the Nez Perce Tribe, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation and the Yakama Indian Nation. The nature of these losses of land for tribal peoples are discussed in the preceding section and in other parts of this report - and are incorporated here by reference.

10.4.3 Alternative A3: Permanent Drawdown of the lower Snake River Dams

Alternative A3 would permanently drain the four Lower Snake Reservoirs, returning flows to "near natural" conditions. This action would create substantial land-based benefits for the peoples of the Nez Perce Tribe and the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Reservation - and would also significantly benefit members of the Yakama Indian Nation. It would allow these tribal peoples to renew their close religious/spiritual connection with 33,890 acres of lands where their ancestors lived and are buried - and allow them to properly care for their grave sites. They could return to more than 600-700 locations where they are accustomed to live; fish; hunt; harvest plants, roots and berries; conduct cultural and religious activities and ceremonies; and pursue other aspects of their normal traditional lives. The area that would be unflooded is almost one-third as large as all lands that remain under Nez Perce ownership - and fully one-fifth as large as lands remaining under CTUIR ownership. So A3 offers substantial opportunity to improve the ongoing cultural and material lives of these tribal peoples.

Save for the disputed area under Lower Granite reservoir, these inundated lands lie outside formal Reservation boundaries. The magnitude of benefits associated with renewed tribal access under A3 would be principally conditioned by four factors:

1. Treaty-based required tribal access to Usual and Accustomed fishing places.

This requirement has been discussed extensively in the foregoing document. No further elaboration is provided here.

2. Treaty rights of the tribes to hunt and gather on off-Reservation ceded public lands.

Tribal treaty rights to hunt and to gather roots, plants and berries off-reservation are conditioned by the availability of public lands. If "uncovered lands" of the lower Snake River remain in the public domain, benefits for the tribes will be extensive. If uncovered lands are converted to non-Indian private ownership benefits to tribal peoples will be diminished.

3. Taking of tribal lands prior to construction of lower Snake River dams and reservoirs.

In order to construct the dams and reservoirs of the lower Snake River, the federal government obtained a number of individual allotments held by tribal peoples. Authority for such Indian allotments originated with the Dawes Act of 1887. If the lower Snake lands are uncovered, and these lands returned to individual tribal allottees, or to the tribes in general, tribal benefits will be significant. If these lands are utilized for other federal or non-tribal private purposes, potential tribal benefits would be reduced or eliminated. Further, action to convert lands taken from tribal allotees during the dam construction process to private non-tribal ownership might represent an inappropriate "conversion by process" of tribal lands.

4. Deed Uncovered Lands to the Tribes as Compensation for Treaty-related damages.

Tribal leaders assert that the federal government should deed lower Snake River lands uncovered under A3-Drawdown to the tribes – as in-part compensation for tribal losses incurred due to these dams over the approximately 40-year period of their operation - and/or as compensation for some of the other adverse actions detailed in this report. Such a deed of uncovered reservoir lands would substantially increase tribal benefits associated with drawdown, and assist tribal cultural and material recovery.

Impacts associated with land-based effects on study tribes from the A1, A2 and A3 lower Snake River alternatives are summarized in Table 53

Table 53

Tribal Flooding Impacts from Lower Snake River A1, A2 and A3 Project Alternatives

	A1	A2	A3
Impact	Dams Remain+Biop.	Dams+Added Fish Passage	Reservoirs Gone/Breach Dams
Fishing	Access to many salmon		Would reestablish usual and

sites.	fishing sites preempted. Some alternative sites available (principally, non-salmon).	Same as A1.	accustomed fishing locations along 150 miles of river.
Hunting/ gathering areas.	33,890 acres flooded.	33,890 acres flooded.	Up to 33,890 acres restored for tribal Treaty-based hunting and gathering of roots, berries and plants.
Tribal land base.	Eliminated 33,890 acres from tribal use.	Same as A1.	Would add land-based tribal opportunities up to one-third the size of present Nez Perce land holdings, or, up to one- fifth the size of present CTUIR land holdings.
Cultural activities.	Floods more than 600- 700 locations where cultural activities occurred.	Same as A1.	Would enable tribal peoples to to reestablish contact and use of over 600-700 usual and accustomed locations.
Religious/ Spiritual.	Floods numerous tribal graves. Involved violation and stealing of the bodies of some ancestors. Separates tribal peoples from their land, their rivers and their sacred and ceremonial places.	Same as A1.	Would reunite tribal peoples with the land, the river and the creatures of the lower Snake. Would allow tribes to care for the graves of loved ones. Would recover sacred and ceremonial places.
10.5 Cumulative Impacts from Lower Snake River Project Alternatives			

This section summarizes the trend over time of federal and other non-Indian actions and policies identified in this report, the cumulative effects of such actions and policies on the study tribes, and the role that each Project Alternative for the four lower Snake River dams would play with respect to such actions, policies and cumulative effects. Working from the information supplied in this report, we pay particular attention to four indicator areas: **cumulative effects on distribution of wealth between tribal and non-tribal peoples**; **effects on material wellbeing and health**; **effects on tribal culture and spiritual wellbeing**; and **cumulative effects on tribal self-sufficiency**, **self-control and self-empowerment**.

10.5.1 Cumulative Effects on Distribution of Wealth

The cumulative effects on distribution of wealth from dominant policies and actions in the Snake and mid-Columbia river regions are clear cut. Put simply, from treaty times to the present, non-Indians have followed a steady policy of appropriating for themselves virtually every tribal asset that was perceived to be of value - including assets reserved by the tribes in their treaties with the United States.

In the mid and late 1800's, these appropriations were achieved by application of force and violence: by non-Indians coming onto tribal Reservation lands and resisting any attempts to remove them; by harassing, threatening and exerting physical injury and outrage upon Indians who attempted to leave the Reservations to visit their Treaty-guaranteed off-reservation harvest locations; and by building weirs downstream of tribal harvest sites, that blocked passage of the salmon to these further upriver tribal locations. As the twentieth century progressed, harassing actions have diminished - although they have not disappeared in the present day⁴⁹⁹.

Following enactment of the Treaties in the mid-1800's, transfer of wealth from tribal to non-tribal hands was further facilitated by "laws (and agreements) of convenience". These "laws of convenience" took advantage of the disempowered status of treaty tribes, or ignored the tribes altogether. Some of these initiatives, such as the "steal treaty" with some Nez Perces in 1863, retroactively legalized previous "land grabs" of tribal treaty assets. Other actions, such as "tribal land surplusing" provisions in the Dawes Act of 1887, taking of tribal lands for railways and other right-of-ways, and substantial "surveying errors" in determining reservation boundaries (always with the effect of transferring tribal lands to non-Indians), acted to strip further valuable tribal Treaty assets away from the study tribes.

The Dawes Act also established and "legalized" a procedure which, whatever its intent, has over the years facilitated conversion of vast acreages of tribal Treaty land and its associated wealth to non-Indian ownership.

Only the peoples of the Warm Springs Reservation have been able to effectively resist these efforts to take tribal lands.

The four dams of the lower Snake River were built in the mid-twentieth century, and played no direct part in the actions cited above. However, these (largely) prior actions initiated and maintained a conversion of wealth from tribal into non-tribal hands by federal and associated dominant entities, which continues to the present day. Construction and operation of the four lower Snake River dams <u>have</u> played a significant role in continuing this cumulative taking of tribal treaty assets from the tribes, and in converting them to non-tribal hands, from the mid-twentieth century to the present.

A principal manner in which tribal treaty wealth has been taken in the twentieth century is by **transforming the production function of the river**. From construction of the earliest dams in the Columbia and Snake system through to the present, dams have changed what the lands and waters of the Columbia/Snake basin produce. This transformation has substantially increased production of

⁴⁹⁹ Greenfeld and Smith (1999, p.iii) identifies that violence against Native Americans occurs at more than twice the rate affecting other Americans – and that the violator is more likely to be of a different race, than for other ethnic subgroups.

hydroelectric energy, irrigated crops and associated infrastructures - but substantially reduced, and sometimes eliminated treaty-protected salmon resources; and inundated tribal sacred and ceremonial places and usual and accustomed harvesting and gathering locations, that have been at the core of tribal existence since earliest times.

Early actions by non-Indians to secure tribal lands and other assets, construction of hydroelectric facilities other actions in the first half of the twentieth century, and subsequent construction of the lower Snake River dams, have each played their role in sustaining this policy, cumulatively stripping Tribal assets from tribal hands, and in consequence, reducing tribal wealth.

Tribal and non-tribal peoples usually do not agree on exactly how to describe or measure the value of a salmon, or of other treaty-protected resources. However, Indians and non-Indians do agree that **the wealth that can be produced from the river and stream-side lands of the Snake River corridor is of <u>high value</u>. From an economic perspective, it is the struggle over what should be produced by the resources of the Snake River, and over how this production should be shared, that has characterized conflict between the tribes and other entities on the river.**

In this debate, the Treaty tribes have suffered substantial net losses - and the sustaining guarantees provided by the United States in the Treaties, and affirmed in subsequent court decisions, have usually been ignored and/or overridden. This has resulted, over time, in a cumulative injustice - the conversion of Treaty and other legally protected assets away from the tribes, to benefit non-Tribal peoples of the region.

Prior evidence in this report, by the PATH Scientific Review Panel (1998)⁵⁰⁰, and from DREW's Anadromous Fish Team, identify that selection of Project Alternative A1 (Status Quo with Biop.) will continue the cumulative trends and policies that have impoverished the tribes - through continued inundation of tribal Usual and Accustomed areas along the river – and by offering low probabilities of salmon recovery and delisting for at least another 48 years.

Selection of A2 (Status Quo + Added Fish Passage Facilities) also fails to remedy inundation of tribal lands and resources along the lower Snake River corridor, and indicates salmon recovery results which are inferior to A1. Consequently, A2 will also continue cumulative policies

detrimental to the tribes - for at least another half century with respect to salmon, and indefinitely with respect to flooding of tribal stream side areas and resources.

Exacerbating these conclusions is the fact that the "salmon recovery" estimates presented in PATH Scientific Review Panel (1998) refer to "delisting" of spring/summer chinook, **not to reestablishment of significant salmon harvests for the Treaty tribes**. In fact, examination of data from PATH and DREW suggests that reestablishment of substantial tribal fisheries is unlikely under either A1 or A2 on any schedule that will provide meaningful relief for the tribes.

⁵⁰⁰PATH Scientific Review Panel, 1998. Supra.

Consequently, under either of these two alternatives, one can expect continued cumulative net transfers of wealth potentially associated with the study area, from tribal to non-tribal hands.

Selection of Alternative A3 (Dam Breaching and Reservoir Drawdown to Natural River) would have an opposite cumulative effects impact from A1 and A2. It would remove the reservoirs presently covering important tribal usual and accustomed locations along approximately 150 miles of lower Snake riverside, and which currently prevent tribal fishing, hunting and gathering at traditional locations. Data from PATH Scientific Review Panel (1998) indicate that under A3, the probability of delisting salmon approaches 80 percent by the 48 year benchmark. DREW analysis of that PATH data also suggests an enhanced level of tribal fishing. From a cumulative impacts perspective, selection of A3 would reverse an almost century and one-half long trend to cumulatively strip tribes of their valued assets, even where such assets were treaty-protected - and move toward "rebalancing" of wealth distributions between the tribes and non-tribal peoples of the study area.

10.5.2 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Health and Material Wellbeing

Summary comparison of the cumulative effects of project alternatives on tribal health and material wellbeing is foreshadowed in the previous report section. Data on pre-treaty health and material circumstances of the subject tribes in the early to mid 1800's is limited - and their lifestyle, and that of non-Indian neighbors, did not much resemble lifestyles of today. But we do know that the tribes generally had ample resources for sustenance and trading - that for the most part, they lived stable peaceful lives - and that their command over the material and spiritual elements that secured their lifeways left them satisfied at family, societal and individual levels.

Epidemics of "white man's diseases" cut a huge swathe through the lives of tribal members - yet those who survived were still in control of their lands and other resources, and the ability to access and utilize them. Hence, they controlled the basic elements of their lifestyle.

While the tribes ceded vast amounts of land to the United States in their treaties, they were careful to retain for themselves the key elements by which they had always survived - the salmon, and the waters that sustained them; access to the lands over which they hunted; and the lands where they gathered roots, plants and berries. Tribal off-reservation hunting and gathering was to be limited to public lands, which could arguably have been expected to diminish in scope over time. No such limitation was agreed to in the Treaties, or in other discussions between the tribes and non-Indians, with respect to tribal fishing rights - and consequently, over time, fishing rights, always a central element of survival for the tribes, has come to have greater and greater relative importance.

Our report documents the cumulative erosion of tribal control of and access to key land elements required for their survival - and of the salmon and other food resources upon which they have always depended. Loss of salmon is also severe because today's tribes are isolated on distant reservations, where fishing provides one of the few potential activities where tribes posses a measure of comparative advantage in the modern highly competitive world.

Today, as a result of these losses, tribal families endure poverty at between two and four times the rates reported for non-tribal neighbors. Unemployment reaches as high as 80 percent in winter months. Tribal peoples have life expectancies far lower than for residents of Idaho, Washington and Oregon as a whole, and are dying at rates that are between 20 percent and 130 percent higher than for non-tribal neighbors, depending on the tribe considered. Deaths associated with risky behavior and poor diet are particularly noticeable. For example, tribal rates of accidental death in motor vehicles exceed those for non-tribal neighbors by 4 times or more. In general, the death profile for the tribes is consistent with socio-psychological predictors where peoples are progressively deprived of their basic means for providing their own foods, assuring their safety, and maintaining sufficient control over their own lives.

As we have noted earlier, much of this cumulative decline occurred before construction and operation of the four lower Snake River dams - and should not be directly related to them. But the four lower Snake dams represent important recent elements in this long line of actions - the cumulative effect of which has been extreme impoverishment and elevated levels of death for tribal peoples.

It follows from the information and discussion in this report that Alternative A1 (Status Quo with Biop) will continue the policies of the past. The four dams will continue to flood important tribal usual and accustomed activity areas and deny the tribes Treaty-protected harvests of salmon. In so doing, they will also continue to play a significant role in exerting the adverse pressures that cumulatively and increasingly threaten tribal subsistence, economic wellbeing and health.

As also noted earlier, Alternative A2 (Status Quo + Added Fish Passage Facilities) is reportedly more adverse for the tribes than A1. It also continues the inundation of 33,890 acres of tribal Usual and Accustomed area, and is more adverse for salmon. Its selection would therefore somewhat increase the adverse cumulative pressures resulting in tribal poverty, unemployment, ill health and death, over those to be expected if A1 is selected.

Selection of Alternative A3 (Dam Breaching with Drawdown to Natural River) would signal a directional change in the cumulative actions that have adversely affected the tribes over the past 140 years. It would restore access and opportunity for tribal members to their usual and accustomed locations throughout the 150 miles of inundated stream-side. It would also begin to restore the salmon - and eventually enable significant harvesting for tribal subsistence and/or economic purposes. Such actions may not result in immediate improvements to tribal material wellbeing and health - but over future years, as the salmon stocks became stronger, so to would the health and economic wellbeing of tribal members. These improvements would occur cumulatively over time, just as the prior string of adverse effects imposed on the tribes and on the river occurred cumulatively. Evidence cited in this report also indicates that these improvements would be broadly distributed among tribal peoples.

10.5.3 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Culture and Spiritual Wellbeing

When tribal respondents are asked about their survival, if the salmon is lost, they inevitably answer first in spiritual or religious terms. They tell us that the spirit of the salmon and the spirit of the tribal peoples are one. Sometimes they describe the river water and the salmon as *sacrament*. They are

careful to always place spiritual concerns first, before even material subsistence, in discussing the salmon.

This report provides extensive information on loss of tribal resources and activity opportunities. It also provides information concerning inundation of cultural sites along the lower Snake River. It is impossible to reduce religion or spirituality to an equation, or a numeric table. Yet, as noted, this spiritual/religious linkage with the salmon is evident in many statements from tribal respondents.

It is our perception that the linkage between tribal spirituality/religion and the salmon may not be much affected when salmon stocks are healthy and considered changes to stock size are relatively discreet. When the existence of salmon stocks are *threatened* or *endangered*, however, tribal commentary indicates that this threatens and endangers the spiritual and religious base of the peoples of the referent tribes as well.

Cumulatively over time, adverse impacts have reduced salmon abundances in the Snake River, until today, several key species are *endangered*. In this way, it may be fairly concluded that, today, a core element of tribal spiritual/religious belief and practice is also *endangered*.

While the four lower Snake dams contributed only their own discrete share of the total decline of Snake River salmon stocks, their impact on *endangerment* of salmon stocks, and on tribal religious practices and beliefs may be far more significant. Occurring relatively recently in the chain of events adverse to salmon and the tribes, both tribal perspective and review of PATH Scientific Review Panel (1998) suggests that these four dams may be the "straws that are breaking the salmon's back" for Snake River anadromous stocks – and in so doing, beaking the tribes' backs as well..

There is a probability of between 50% and 65% that selection of Alternative A1 will not result in recovery of Snake River salmon to "delisting" levels for at least 48 years. It is therefore concluded that selection of A1 continues the significant endangerment of these stocks - and **significantly endangers** a central element of spiritual/religious practice and belief for the Snake River tribes.

As noted previously, selection of Alternative A2 will result in more adverse impacts on salmon than for A1. Consequently, A2 is also more threatening to tribal spiritual/religious practices and beliefs than is A1.

Selection of Alternative A3 poses an almost 80% probability of recovery of referent salmon stocks to delisting levels within 48 years. Such removal of the stocks from endangered status would also remove the danger of substantial adverse impacts on religion and culture of the Snake River tribes - and restore to health one of their essential religious materials - the salmon.

10.5.4 Cumulative Effects on Tribal Self-Sufficiency, Self-Control and Self-Empowerment

Economic commentators have identified tribal self-sufficiency as a key required element to enhance tribal wellbeing⁵⁰¹. Bachtold (cited in prior sections of this report) has identified an adequate level of control over one's economic, social and psychological environment as essential for individual and communal health. Representatives of the Columbia/Snake study tribes have been consistent over the past several decades in reporting that Columbia Basin dams were killing salmon - and in opposing the progressive eradication of the salmon resources of the Snake and Columbia rivers and their tributaries. **At no time, from construction of earliest dams to the present, has their advice been sufficiently credited and acted upon by dominant hydroelectric authorities**. This disempowerment of the tribes is of continuing concern. Tribal commentators, in talking about tribal benefits from renewal of the salmon, again and again emphasize the need for greater consideration of tribal knowledge and recommendations in regional decision-making affecting survival of the salmon.

Throughout the process of examining alternatives at the four lower Snake River dams, the study tribes have been consistent in advising that only Alternative A3 (breaching of the dams and permanent drawdown to natural river) offers a substantial step toward salmon recovery. More recently, the findings of PATH Scientific Review Panel (1998) concur. Viewing the cumulative process of decision-making with respect to dams and salmon in the basin, selection of Alternatives A1 and A2 would continue to disregard tribal knowledge and advice concerning survival of the salmon – and with them, the Tribal Treaties. Conversely, selection of Alternative A3 would mark a rebalancing in favor of significant consideration of knowledge and recommendations provided by the tribes - and a feeling of reempowerment regarding conservation and management of salmon among the tribes themselves.

10.5.5 A Summary of Cumulative Impacts of Lower Snake Dams on the Study Tribes

Our findings with respect to cumulative impacts on the study tribes from project alternatives considered for the four lower Snake River dams are displayed in Table 54.

Table 54

⁵⁰¹For example, see: Task Force Seven, 1976. Report on Reservation and Resource Development and Protection. Final Report to the American Indian Policy Review Commission, Washington, D.C., p. 128; and; White, Robert H., 1990. Tribal Assets: The Rebirth of Native America. New York: Henry Holt & Company.

	A1	A2	A3
Impact	Dams Remain+Biop.	Dams+Added Fish Passage	Reservoirs Gone/Breach Dams
Wealth distribution.	Non-tribal interests continue to accumulate wealth. Tribes continue to lose valuable assets - particularly Treaty assets associated with the salmon.	-Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	Begins rebalancing of the river's production function. Some wealth transfers from non-Indian interests back to the tribes begin, as stream sides are unflooded and salmon harvests increase by 1.7 million pounds.
Tribal health and material wellbeing.	Will continue to preempt tribal subsistence and economic activity. Will continue adverse effects on tribal nutrition, self-perceptions and health.	-Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	Will begin to reverse cumulative conditions with respect to tribal nutrition and health. Will have a positive effect, over time, on tribal poverty. Will improve, on a broad basis, tribal subsistence, and where appropriate, tribal economies.
Spiritual/ religious wellbeing.	Continues to endanger the salmon, one of the key elements that provide religious, spiritual and cultural definition for the peoples of the study tribes.	-Same as A1, but slightly more adverse	Will restore salmon to the point where they are no longer endangered. This will generate major benefits for key elements of tribal religion and spirituality - which will be removed from endangerment as well.
Tribal empower- ment.	Continues to ignore the Treaties – and the knowledge and recommendations of tribal peoples concerning survival of Snake River salmon Disempowers the tribe		Credits tribal Treaties and knowledge. Would encourage feelings of empowerment and self-worth among tribal peoples.

Summary of Cumulative Tribal Impacts from Lower Snake River A1, A2 and A3 Alternatives

10.6 Overall Summary Assessment of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives

Finally, we apply our findings from previous sections of this report to answer two overriding questions.

- Does each alternative, A1, A2 and A3 comply with tribal Treaty and tribal trust obligations?
- Does each alternative, A1, A2 and A3 comply with EPA's environmental justice criteria?

10.6.1 Tribal Treaty and Trust Obligations

Extensive discussion in this report identifies that the salmon are "pillars of the tribal world". Salmon stand at the center of tribal culture, have strong linkage to tribal subsistence capabilities and health, and have significant spiritual meaning for the tribes. To this end, the study tribes each carefully preserved their right to fish for salmon in perpetuity – and the United States guaranteed those rights – in the treaties made between them in the mid-1800's.

Table 43 identifies that, today, despite Treaty guarantees, the salmon that were to provide the cornerstone for tribal material and cultural survival are almost eliminated. In the farthermost upriver areas salmon now reach, tribal harvests approximate one tenth of one percent of harvests in treaty times. Immediately above the four lower Snake River dams, Nez Perce salmon harvests stand at only one percent of treaty levels. Below the lower Snake River dams, in Zone 6 on the Columbia River, tribal harvests of all salmonid stocks today amount to less than ten percent of tribal needs.

Initially, these losses of tribal salmon harvests were most often associated with direct action by non-Indian interests competing with tribal fishers or denying tribal access to the usual and accustomed fishing locations guaranteed in the tribal Treaties. Over the past three quarters of a century, the primary cause of loss of tribal salmon has been transformation of the production function of the river – to produce substantial amounts of electricity, to irrigate agriculture, to facilitate water-borne commercial transportation, to better enable harvesting of forests, and to receive increasing amounts of waste.

Construction of dams has played the leading role in this transformation. In virtually all cases, tribal opposition to dam construction, and tribal concern over adverse effects on Treaty salmon, was ignored, or given negligible weight. Some proponents of dam construction recognized that effects on Treaty salmon were uncertain, but assured the tribes that modern technology would be able to effectively mitigate against adverse effects. The Treaty harvest information presented in this report identifies that such mitigation efforts have failed.

The four lower Snake River dams do not have sole responsibility for the devastation of tribal Treaty harvests. But they have played a significant role, and this role continues through inundation of spawning areas and via passage losses in each present year. Beaty, Yuen, Meyer and Matylewich (1999)

estimate the contribution of these four dams to losses of tribal Treaty salmon harvest at between 8.4 and 14.3 million pounds annually, benchmarked to their period of construction.

PATH, and its panel of independent experts, estimate that most of the beneficial effects on salmon from the three lower Snake River alternatives considered here (A1: Status Quo/ A2: Status Quo + Improved Transportation/ A3: Dam Breaching) will occur within 30 years (Table 51). Expected impacts on tribal harvests of salmon and steelhead are summarized by alternative at the 30 year benchmark in Table 55. Probability of removing wild spring/summer chinook salmon from the Endangered Species List is at the 48 year benchmark. Estimates of increased tribal harvests relate to present-day catch estimates from Table 40.

Table 55

<u>Summary of Impacts on Total Treaty Harvests of Salmon and Steelhead from</u> <u>Alternative Actions Affecting Lower Snake River – After 30 Years</u>

Project Alternative	Improved Total <u>Tribal Harvest</u> '000 lbs	Probability of Delisting <u>Wild Spring/Summer Chinook</u> -in percent-
A1: Status Quo	482	35-42
A2: Status Quo + Transportation	434	30-40
A3: Dam Breaching	1,594	80

The historical record indicates that agencies have been too optimistic concerning their ability to protect and recover Columbia/Snake system salmon. Considering that historic tendency, PATH's failure to specifically incorporate adverse stock trend data under status quo conditions in their model, and the small improvements forecast by PATH for A1 and A2 relative to A3, there also appears to be a significant risk that, over time, tribal Treaty-protected salmon stocks could become extinct if either A1 or A2 are selected as the preferred action.

We conclude that only selection Alternative A3 – breaching the lower Snake River dams – offers the Treaty tribes a reasonable prospect for significant reversal of losses to Treaty-guaranteed salmon and steelhead harvests, and for substantial relief from the risk of extinction of Treaty-protected stocks.

10.6.2 Environmental Justice for the Tribes

EPA's Environmental Justice (EJ) criteria require assessment of whether project actions, and associated cumulative effects, have impacted tribes and other identifiable groups of citizens more or less equally, when compared to affected citizens as a whole (Section 2.1.1.5). The EPA guidance poses two key questions to be addressed in Environmental Justice assessments⁵⁰².

- Does the potentially affected community include minority or low-income populations?
- •
- Are the environmental impacts likely to fall disproportionately on minority and/or low income members of the community and/or tribal resources?

The response to EPA's first question is self-evident. The five study tribes, by definition, include cultural minorities.

To assess whether the study tribes have/would be disproportionately affected by impacts from lower Snake River project alternatives, we select four generalized Environmental Justice (EJ) assessment factors relevant to tribal analysis, and identified by EPA⁵⁰³. We then utilize findings from this report to assess alternative effects for each factor (Table 56). Since impacts from Alternatives A1 and A2 are little different, we summarize their impacts together, and then summarize impacts from Alternative A3.

⁵⁰² US Environmental Protection Agency, 1998. Guidance for Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analyses. Washington, D.C. April, pp. 28-29.

⁵⁰³ **Supra** at pp. 21-24.

Table 56

Summary of Environmental Justice Effects for the Tribes from Lower Snake River Project Alternatives EJ Factors . Relative Effects on the Tribes .

Alternative A1 (Status Quo)/ Alternative A2 (Status Quo + Transportation):

Income Level/ Health.	 :Tribal families are impoverished and unemployed at 3-4 times levels of Washington/Oregon/Idaho residents as a whole (Table 41). Winter-time tribal unemployment reaches as high as 80 percent. :Tribal members are dying at from 20 percent to 130 percent higher rates than non-Indian residents. : Recent analyses describe tribal health and health care access as "poor". : Implementation of A1 or A2 would have no substantial effect in remedying these cumulative adverse conditions – and if recovery estimates are too optimistic, could make them worse.
Life-support Resources.	 Extensive information in this report places salmon at the center of the study tribes' cultural, spiritual and material world. Table 43 identifies that salmon guaranteed to the tribes by Treaty has almost entirely been lost. Tribal spokespersons and health experts cited throughout this report have identified the devastating effect these losses have had on tribal culture, health and material wellbeing. Beaty, et.al (1999) identify lower Snake River dams have contributed substantially to destruction of these life-support resources. Selection of A1 or A2 would not significantly change these cumulative conditions – and the pain, suffering and premature deaths of tribal peoples would continue for decades.
Economic base.	: The cumulative effects of dam construction have transferred potential wealth produced in the river basin from the salmon on which the tribes depend to electricity production, irrigation of agriculture, water transport services and waste disposal, these latter primarily benefiting non-Indians. These transfers have been a significant contributor to gross poverty, income and health disparities between the tribes and non-Indian neighbors.

	: Selection of A1 or A2 would continue these conditions and disparities.
Inconsistent Standards.	: Historically, agencies asserted confidence that they could manage uncertainty concerning adverse impacts on salmon during construction of the dams that facilitated wealth transfers from the tribes to non-Indians. Some of the same agencies now claim to be risk adverse, when considering more substantial remedial action which would recover salmon and result in some measure of rebalancing of wealth to improve the circumstances of tribal peoples. Cont'd. on p. 234
	Table 56 Cont'd.
	Summary of Environmental Justice Effects for the Tribes From Lower Snake River Project Alternatives
EJ Factors	Relative Effects on the Tribes

Alternative A3 (Dam Breaching):

Income Level/ Health	 : A3 will not be sufficient to fully restore tribal harvests to the levels obtained before the lower Snake River dams were built. But A3 is the only option that will substantially improve opportunities for tribal fishing – adding 1.6 million pounds to tribal harvests within 30 years. Tribal spokespersons and experts cited in this report inform us that as salmon recovery occurs, tribal health would improve, tribal incomes would increase, and the cultures of the five tribes would be strengthened. : Cumulatively, as salmon recovery progressed, A3 could be expected to significantly reduce the differences between tribal and non-Indian material wellbeing, cited in Table 41, and elsewhere in this report.
Life-support Resources.	 Despite severe damage to most stocks, salmon and water remain the central elements of tribal cultural, spiritual and material survival. Today, beset by a narrow on-Reservation resource base, and still coping with racial prejudice and limited opportunity off-Reservation, the tribes continue to first look to the salmon as they seek to build a more secure future. Selection of A3 would significantly reverse a 144 year post-Treaty cumulative trend that, to date, has resulted in endangerment of the salmon, and consequently, endangerment of tribal peoples - while peoples as a whole in the region have prospered.
Economic base.	: Selection of A3 would provide significant restoration for salmon. The tribes have harvested and processed salmon from pre-contact times, and possess an economic comparative advantage respecting such activities. A3 would allow

	significantly more tribal harvesting and processing; would facilitate extended distribution of salmon as food through extended families and to elders; and would expand the fundamental economic base for tribal wellbeing.
	: The positive economic effects discussed here would be expected, over time, to significantly reduce the differentials in poverty and unemployment levels between tribal members and their non-Indian neighbors.
Inconsistent Standards.	: Selection of A3 would reverse more than a century of cumulative regional takings of the Treaty-protected resources of the tribes – and provide a step toward more equitable sharing of potential wealth from the Columbia/Snake river basin between tribal and non-tribal peoples.

This report concludes that the study tribes have been unduly and adversely affected as hydroelectric construction and operation, including that at the four Lower Snake dams, has proceeded. Further, tribal peoples they have not benefited commensurately with citizens of the region as a whole, as new wealth from the transformed river have been produced and distributed. Selection of either Alternative A1 or A2 would do little or nothing to correct these cumulative inequities. Alternatively, **selection of Alternative A3 would provide a significant start to remedy of the Environmental Injustices that the four lower Snake River dams have vested on the tribes.**

10.6.3 Final Conclusions Concerning Treaty/Trust Obligations and Environmental Justice

Conclusions from the preceding two sections are summarized in Table 57.

Table 57

Comparison of Lower Snake River Project Alternatives with Respect to Tribal Treaty Obligations and Environmental Justice

Evaluative Criteria	A1 Dams Retained + <u>Biological Opinion</u>	A2 A1 + Added <u>Fish Passage</u>	A3 Dams Breached/ <u>Reservoirs Gone</u>
Meets tribal Treaty & trust responsibilities.	No	No	Yes
Meets Environmental Justice criteria.	No	No	Yes

10.7 Mitigation Associated with the Four Lower Snake Dams

The study tribes identify that **complete restoration of their salmon runs is the single most necessary step in mitigating the cumulative damages they have suffered.** Of the project alternatives considered here, only Alternative A3, which would breach the four Lower Snake River dams, offers such potential.

10.7.1 Mitigation Under Alternatives A1 and A2

As already identified, PATH results identify that neither Alternative A1 nor A2, both of which involve continued operation of the lower Snake River dams, can provide adequate mitigation of tribal salmon losses. This said, there are (at least) three elements of unfinished business with respect to the dams which need to be addressed.

* Some tribal respondents complain that they were subjected to "inappropriate practices" and "broken promises" by persons acting on behalf of the United States, during and subsequent to land acquisition and construction associated with the four lower Snake River dams and their reservoirs.

An independent audit of these complaints should be conducted - and if they are found to be substantive, appropriate mitigative action should be initiated.

* Construction of the four lower Snake River reservoirs has enabled temperature-related adverse discharge into section(s) of the Snake "River" that would not have been permitted, had the river section retained its undammed status. Preliminary findings from cooperative study by EPA and the CRITFC tribes also suggest that discharges of toxins may be resulting in deleterious effects on the health of tribal members and other fish eaters.

A careful assessment of these emerging data, and the effect that discharges into lower Snake River reservoir pools may have on such pollutant loadings, is required. Should such assessment identify risks for tribal health - appropriate remedial mitigation, both with respect to pollution pretreatment and control, and regarding water quality standards for receiving waters, should be undertaken.

* Present operating conditions at the four lower Snake River dams are creating adverse water quality conditions for the survival of anadromous fish. These adverse conditions have been identified by CRITFC and other scientists. CRITFC staff have developed a mitigative proposal in this regard, and it is presently under review by EPA.

Following EPA review, and concurrence with the Treaty tribes, these mitigative measures should be implemented under either Alternative A1 or A2.

10.7.2 Mitigation Under Alternative A3 - Breach of the Lower Snake River Dams

Alternative A3 represents a substantial step toward recovery of Snake River salmon stocks. At the same time, uncovering a substantial area that has been under flood waters for four decades will require careful mitigative efforts to protect and assist in the recovery of this streamside system. In this respect, we recommend the following.

* The United States should convey the river side lands uncovered under Alternative A3 to tribal ownership and control.

This would provide in-part mitigation/compensation for the extensive and cumulative damages to tribal treaty and trust resources, and the takings of wealth from tribal peoples, caused by the four dams in earlier years. It would also maximize protection of ongoing tribal Treaty rights, and of tribal spiritual and cultural areas along the lower Snake River.

* There are at least 600 to 700 sites of particular spiritual, religious and material importance to the tribes of the present-day Nez Perce, Umatilla and Yakama Reservations, that are presently flooded by the four lower Snake River dams. Uncovering this area would provide substantial opportunity for these tribes - but would also require particular care, so that burial sites, other sacred areas and areas important to the tribes material and cultural wellbeing would not be damaged or violated.

Action to manage, protect and restore these important Treaty and cultural properties should by led by the tribes. (See also the preceding recommendation concerning disposition of unflooded lands.) Such mitigation should involve two stages.

- : Development of a Tribal Management and Protection Plan with respect to uncovered tribal cultural properties along the river. The elements of such a Plan are identified in two appendices to this report, starting on page 250 one developed by Nez Perce staff for the upper segment of the affected streamside, and one developed by CTUIR staff for the lower streamside segment. These appendices envision a five year planning period, during which tribal cultural properties in the subject area would be more fully identified and a related implementation plan to protect and restore them developed. Estimated budget requirements for these tribally led planning activities are also provided in the two appendices.
- : Implementation of tribally-led action for the long term management, protection and restoration of tribal cultural properties along the lower Snake River streamside would follow, when the Tribal Management and Protection Plan was completed.

11.0 References

Albers, Patricia C., Jennifer Lowry and Gregory Smoak, 1998. The Rivers and Fisheries of the Shoshone-Bannock Peoples. American West Center, University of Utah.

Aguilar, Florence L., 1995. **Memorandum**, to Johnson Meninick. Yakama Indian Nation. Cultural Resources Program.

American Indian Health Care Association, 1993. Northwest Area American Indian Health Status and Policy Assessment Project: State of Oregon Report. Saint Paul, MN.

-----, 1993. Northwest Area American Indian Health Status and Policy Assessment Project: State of Washington Report. Saint Paul, MN.

Axtell, Horace P. and Margo Aragon, 1997. A Little Bit of Wisdom: Conversations with a Nez Perce Elder. Lewiston, Idaho: Confluence Press.

Bachtold, Louise M., "Destruction of Indian Fisheries and Impacts on Indian Peoples", in, Meyer-Zangri Associates, 1982. **The Historic and Economic Value of Salmon and Steelhead to Treaty Fisheries in 14 River Systems in Washington, Oregon and Idaho**. Davis, CA: A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs. Ballard, Joe N. (Lieutenant General), 1998. **Memorandum**. "Policy Guidance Letter No. 57, Indian Sovereignty and Government-to-Government Relations to Indian Tribes. US Army Corps of Engineers, CECW-AG.

Barnett, H.G. **Men Without a Country**. Mimeo at the Yakama Cultural Center. Toppenish, Washington.

Beaty, Roy E., Henry J. Yuen, Philip A. Meyer and Michael A. Matylewich, 1999. Cumulative Impacts on the Peoples of the Nez Perce, Yakima, Umatilla, and Warm Springs Indian Reservations from Construction and Operation of US Army Corps of Engineers' Dams in the Columbia River Basin Upstream of Bonneville Dam, Inclusive. Columbia River Inter-tribal Fish Commission. Report to the Administration for Native Americans, forthcoming.

Beckham, Stephen D., 1998, "History Since 1846", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau**. Vol. 12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 149-173.

Blumm, Michael C., 1986. Hydropower v. Salmon in the Columbia River Basin: A Compilation of Articles. Portland: Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.

Blumm, Michael C., Michael A. Schoessler and R. Christopher Beckwith 1997. "Beyond the Parity Promise: Struggling to Save Columbia Basin Salmon in the Mid-1990s", in, **Environmental Law**, Vol. 27, No.1, pp. 21-126.

Blumm, Michael C. and Andy Simrin, 1991. "The Unraveling of the Parity Promise: Hydropower, Salmon, and Endangered Species in the Columbia Basin", in, **Environmental Law**. Vol. 21, pp. 657-744.

Bonneville Power Administration, US Army Corps of Engineers and US Bureau of Reclamation, 1994. Columbia River System Operation Review: Draft Environmental Impact Statement. Appendix C-1: Anadromous Fish. DOE/EIS-0170.

Brendale v. Yakima Indian Nation. 106 L.Ed 2d 343 (1989).

Bush, R., 1992. Memorandum to P.A. Meyer. July 27.

Butler, Robert, 1986. "Prehistory of the Snake and Salmon River Area", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 127-134.

Central Washington University, 1991. **Potential Effects of OCS Oil and Gas Exploration and Development on Pacific Northwest Indian Tribes: Final Technical Report**. Washington, D.C.: US Minerals Management Service. OCS Study MMS 91-0056.

Chambers, Erve, 1985. Applied Anthropology. Inglewood Cliffs, N.J: Prentice Hall.

Clemmer, Richard O., and Omer C. Stewart, 1986. "Treaties, Reservations, and Claims", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution, pp. 525-557.

Cohen, Fay G., 1986. **Treaties on Trial: The Continuing Controversy over Northwest Indian Fishing Rights**. A Report to the American Friends Service Committee. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

Cohen, Felix S. Handbook of Federal Indian Law. 1982 Edition. Charlottesville, Virginia: The Michie Company.

Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Authority, 1990. **Integrated System Plan for Salmon and Steelhead in the Columbia River Basin**. Portland.

Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission, 1995. **Wy-Kan-Ush-Mi Wa-Kish-Wit: Spirit of the Salmon**. The Columbia River Anadromous Fish Restoration Plan of the Nez Perce, Umatilla, Warm Springs and Yakama Tribes. Portland. 2 Vols.

------, 1994. A Fish Consumption Survey of the Umatilla, Nez Perce, Yakama, and Warm Springs Tribes of the Columbia River Basin. Technical Report 94-3. Portland.

-----, 1985. A Compilation of Indian Treaty Fishing Rights Cases. Portland.

Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1996. **The Comprehensive Plan**. The Umatilla Reservation.

Resources: System Operating Review. Mission: Department of Natural Resources, April 27.

-----, 1979. Tribal History. Mission.

Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon. Integrated Resources Management Plan for the Forested Area: January 1, 1992 - December 31, 2001.

------, 1984. The People of Warm Springs. Warm Springs, Oregon.

Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima Indian Reservation, 1977. **The Land of the Yakimas**. Toppenish.

Conservation International, Ecotrust and Pacific GIS, 1995. The Rain Forests of Home: An Atlas of People and Place: Part 1 - Natural Forests and Native Languages of the Coastal Temperate Rain Forest. Portland.

Craig, Joseph A., and Robert L. Hacker, 1940. The History and Development of the Fisheries of the Columbia River. US Bureau of Fisheries, Bulletin No. 32. Washington, D.C.

DeLoach, Daniel B., 1939. The Salmon Canning Industry. Corvallis: Oregon State University.

Dickson, Catherine, 1998. **Cultural Resource Protection Associated with Lower Snake Drawdown**. A Report to the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission. Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, Department of Natural Resources. Cultural Resources Protection Program. Pendleton, Oregon.

Duro v. Reina. 109 L.Ed. 2nd 693 (1990).

Evans, Steven R., 1996. Voice of the Wolf: Lucullus Virgil McWhorter and the Nez Perce Indians. Pullman: Washington State University Press.

Fienup-Riordan, A. Navarin Basin Sociological Systems Analysis. US Minerals Management Service. Alaska OCS Socioeconomic Program Technical Report No. 70.

Fitch, James B., 1974. Economic Development in a Minority Enclave: The Case of the Yakima Indian Nation, Washington. Phd. Dissertation. Stanford University.

Fort Bridger Treaty, 1868.

Fort Hall Business Council, 1998. Fishery Management Notice. June 4. French, David H., and Kathrine S. French, 1998, "Wasco, Wishram and Cascade", in, Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau. Vol.12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution. pp. 360-377.

Fowler, Catherine S., and Sven Liljeblad, 1986. "Northern Paiute", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 435-465.

Greenfeld, Lawrence A. and Steven K. Smith, 1999. American Indians and Crime. US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. February 1999, NCJ 173386.

Griswold, Gillett, 1954. Aboriginal Patterns of Trade between The Columbia Basin and the Northern Plains. Masters Thesis. Montana State University.

Garcia, Terry D., 1998. Letter, from the US Department of Commerce, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere to Ted Strong, Executive Director, Columbia River Inter- Tribal Fish Commission, July 21.

Hannigan, Martin, 1949. Letter, to K.R.L. Simmons. August 9.

Hewes, Gordon Winant, 1947. Aboriginal Use of Fishery Resources in Northwestern North America. Phd. Dissertation. University of California.

Hughes, Richard E. and James A. Bennyhoff, 1986. "Early Trade", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 238-255.

Hunn, Eugene S., 1990. Nch'i-Wana; "The Big River": Mid-Columbia Indians and their Land. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

Hunn, Eugene S., and David H. French, 1998, "Western Columbia River Sahaptins", in, **Handbook** of North American Indians: Plateau. Vol.12. Washington D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 378-394.

Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, 1997. **Idaho Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System**. Boise: Center for Vital Statistics and Health Policy.

James, Caroline, 1996. **Nez Perce Women in Transition, 1877-1990**. Moscow: University of Idaho Press.

Johnson, Edward C., 1986. "Issues: The Indian Perspective", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution, pp. 592-600.

Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 18, 1990.

Kappler, C.J. (ed), 1972. Indian Treaties: 1778-1883. New York: Interland Publishing.

Kennedy, James B., 1977. The Umatilla Indian Reservation, 1855-1875: Factors Contributing to a Diminished Land Resource Base. Phd. Thesis. Oregon State University.

Knack, Martha C. 1986. "Indian Economies, 1950-1980", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution, pp. 573-591.

Lane, Robert B. and Barbara Lane, 1979. **Traditional Fisheries of the Walla Walla, Cayuse and Umatilla**. In files at the Cultural Resource Center, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

Lane and Lane Associates, and D. Nash, 1981a. **The Clearwater River: Indian Fisheries and Clearwater Dam**. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Fisheries and Condit Dam. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

River System. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

-----, 1981d. Willow Creek Anadromous Fish and Indian Fishing. A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Leland, Joy, 1986. "Population", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution, pp. 608-619.

Liljeblad, Sven, 1972. **The Idaho Indians in Transition: 1805-1960**. Pocatello, Idaho: The Idaho State University Museum.

Lohse, E.S. and Richard N. Holmer (eds.), 1990. Fort Hall and the Shoshone-Bannock. Pocatello, Idaho: Idaho State University Press.

Lothrop, Robert C., 1986. "The Misplaced Role of Cost-Benefit Analysis in Columbia Basin Fishery Mitigation", in, **Environmental Law**, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 517-554.

Madsen, Brigham D., 1996. The Bannock of Idaho.

Malouf, Carling I., and John M. Findlay, 1986. "Euro-American Impact before 1870", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution, pp. 499-516.

Maslow, A.H., 1968. Toward a Psychology of Being. Princeton, N.J: Nostrand.

McWhorter, Lucullus Virgil, 1920. The Discards. Yakama Nation Library. Toppenish, WA.

-----, 1913. **The Crime Against the Yakimas**. Yakama Nation Library, Toppenish, WA.

Meyer, Philip A., 1998. Niihau: Present Circumstances and Future Requirements in an Evolving Hawaiian Community. Niihau, HI: Hoomana Ia Iesu Church. January.

Meyer, Philip A., Richard Lichtkoppler, Robert A. Hamilton, Charles C. Borda and Paula M. Engel, 1995. Elwha River Restoration Project: Economic Analysis: Final Technical Report. A Report to The National Park Service, the US Bureau of Reclamation and the Lower Elwha

S'Klallam Tribe. Davis, CA., April.

Meyer Resources, 1996. An Analysis of FERC/DEIS-0103: Condit Hydroelectric Project - FERC 2342-005 Washington. Davis, CA: A Report to American Rivers and the Yakama Indian Nation.

-----, 1995. Assessment of the Effect on Trust Resources of the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation from Alternative System Operating Strategies (SOS) for Columbia/Snake River Flows. Davis, CA: A Report to the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation.

-----, 1983. The Importance of Salmon and Steelhead of the Columbia River to the Confederated Tribes of the Colville, Nez Perce, Umatilla, Warm Springs and Yakama Indian Reservations - With Particular Reference to Dams of the Mid-Columbia Area. Davis, CA: A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Meyer-Zangri Associates, 1982. The Historic and Economic Value of Salmon and Steelhead to Treaty Fisheries in 14 River Systems in Washington, Oregon and Idaho. Vol.1. Davis, CA: A Report to the US Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Monday, Phillip R., 1999. Status and Expected Time to Extinction for Snake River Spring and Summer Chinook Stocks: The Doomsday Clock and Salmon Recovery Index Models Applied to the Snake River Basin. A Report to Trout Unlimited. Portland.

Murphy, Robert F. and Yolanda Murphy, 1986. "Northern Shoshone and Bannock", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 284-307.

Nehlsen, Willa, J.E. Williams and J.A. Lichatowich, 1991. "Pacific Salmon at the Crossroads: Stocks at Risk from California, Oregon, Idaho and Washington", in, **Fisheries** 16:2, 4-21.

Nez Perce Tribe, 1998. **Cultural Resource Protection for Dam Removal or Breaching on the Lower Snake River**. Cultural Resource Program. A Report to the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission.

-----, 1997. Overall Economic Development Plan: 1997-1998. Lapwai.

-----, 1997. "State Challenges Nez Perce Gaming". Lapwai: Office of Legal Counsel.

Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission, 1980. Treaty Fishing Rights and the Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission. Olympia, WA.

Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board, 1995. **Improving Health Data for Northwest American Indians**. Portland: Health Statistics Project Report.

Northwest Power Planning Council, 1986. **1987** Columbia Basin Fish and Wildlife Program. Appendix E.

Steelhead Losses in the Columbia River Basin. Columbia River Basin Fish and Wildlife Program.

-----, 1982. Draft Fish and Wildlife Program. Portland.

Oliphant, J. Orin. "Encroachments of Cattlemen on Indian Reservation in the Pacific Northwest, 1870-1890", in, **Agricultural History**.

O'Neil, Floyd A., Allison Freedman and Gregory E. Smoak, 1995. **The Land Use Practices and Patterns of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 1804-1870**. Mimeo at the Shoshone-Bannock Tribal Offices, Fort Hall, Idaho.

Othus, P.M., 1954. **Statement to a Yakima Indian Tribal Committee**, during discussions associated with the Dalles Dam. Portland: April 22, Meeting Minutes.

Oregon Department of Vital Statistics. Annual Report.

Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife and Washington Department of Fisheries, 1991. **Status Report**.

Pacific Northwest River Basins Commission, 1974. Anatomy of a River. Portland.

Palmer, Tim, 1991. The Snake River: Window to the West. Washington, D.C: Island Press.

Parker, Patricia L. and Thomas E. King. Guidelines for Evaluating and Documenting Traditional Cultural Properties. US National Park Service. National Register Bulletin 38.

PATH Scientific Review Panel, 1998. Conclusions and Recommendations from the PATH Weight of Evidence Workshop, September 8-10. Vancouver, Canada.

Pearce, David W. (ed), 1992. **The Dictionary of Modern Economics**. Cambridge, Mass.: The MIT Press.

Petersen, Keith C., 1995. **River of Life - Channel of Death: Fish and Dams on the Lower Snake**. Lewiston, Idaho: Confluence Press.

President Clinton, 1994. Memo to the Heads of Departments and Agencies. April 29.

Radke, Hans D., Shannon W. Davis and Rebecca L. Johnson, 1999. Anadromous Fish Economic Analysis: Lower Snake River Juvenile Migration Feasibility Study. A Report to Foster Wheeler and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. September.

Relander, Click, 1962. Strangers on the Land. Yakima, Washington: Franklin Press.

Ridington, Robin, 1990. Little Bit Know Something. Vancouver: Douglas & McIntyre.

Sampson, Donald G. (Chairman, CTUIR Board of Trustees), 1994. **CTUIR's Comments on the System Operating Review Draft Environmental Impact Statement**. Memorandum to Bonneville Power Administration et al., December 15.

Schuster, Helen H., 1998, "Yakima and Neighboring Groups", in, **Handbook of North American Indians**. Vol.12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 327-351.

-----, 1990. The Yakama. New York: Chelsea House Publishers.

-----, 1975. Yakama Indian Traditionalism: A Study in Continuity and Change. Phd. Dissertation. University of Washington.

-----, undated. **The Yakimas: A Critical Bibliography**. American Indian Bibliographical Series. Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press.

Scott, Anthony, 1999. "Comments on Final Tribal Circumstances Draft, May 10, 1999", in, **Memorandum** to P. Meyer, July 12.

Selam, Leroy B., 1975. The Yakima Indians: Study and Analysis of the Yakima Water Rights. Masters Thesis. Oregon State University.

Shimkin, Demitri B., 1986. "Eastern Shoshone", in, **Handbook of North American Indians:** Great Basin. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 308-335.

Shoshone-Bannock Department of Fisheries, 1998. Draft 1998 Shoshone-Bannock Tribes Anadromous Fish Recovery and Management Plan. May 15.

Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 1990. The Shoshone-Bannock Tribes 1994 Treaty Rights Seminar. Pocatello, Idaho.

-----, 1956. Shoshone-Bannock Tribes: Fort Hall, Idaho. Shoshone-Bannock Tribes and The Center for Disease Control, 1997. Community Needs Assessment.

Slickpoo, Allen P., Sr. and Deward E. Walker, Jr., **Noon Nee-Me-Poo (We, the Nez Perces): Culture and History of the Nez Perces.** Mimeo at Nez Perce Tribal Offices.

Smith, Courtland L., 1979. Salmon Fishers of the Columbia. Corvallis: Oregon State University Press.

Sprague, Roderick, 1998, "Palouse", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau**. Vol.12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 352-359.

State of Idaho v. Tinno. 94 Idaho (1992).

Stern, Theodore, 1998, "Cayuse, Umatilla and Walla Walla", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau**. Vol.12. Washington D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp.395-419.

Stevens, Isaac, 1854. Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs.

Stowell, Cynthia D., 1987. Faces of a Reservation: A Portrait of the Warm Springs Indian Reservation. Oregon Historical Society.

Strong, Ted, 1992. Hearings before the Columbia River Fisheries Task Force. Portland, October 28.

Sue, Derald Wing and David Sue, 1990. Counseling the Culturally Different: Theory and Practice. New York: John Wiley and Sons.

Suphan, Robert J., 1974. Ethnological Report on the Umatilla, Walla Walla and Cayuse Indians. Commission Findings. New York: Garland Publishing.

------. The Socio-Political Organization and Land Use Patterns of the Umatilla, Walla Walla and Cayuse Indians. Masters Thesis. Columbia University.

Swindell, Edward G., 1942. Report on Source, Nature and Extent of the Fishing, Hunting and Miscellaneous Related Rights of Certain Tribes in Washington and Oregon together with Affidavits Showing Locations of a Number of Usual and Accustomed Fishing Grounds and Stations. Los Angeles: US Department of the Interior, Office of Indian Affairs.

Task Force Seven, 1976. **Report on Reservation and Resource Development and Protection**. Final Report to the American Indian Policy Review Commission, Washington: D.C.

The Independent Scientific Group, 1996. **Return to the River: Restoration of Salmonid Fishes in the Columbia River Ecosystem** A Report to the Northwest Power Planning Council. Thomas, David Hurst, Lorann S. Pendleton and Stephen C. Cappannari, 1986. "Western Shoshone", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Great Basin**. Vol. 11. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 262-283.

Totus, Watson, 1952. **Presentation on Behalf of the Yakima Tribe**, to the US Senate Sub-Committee on Civil Functions of the Army. May 12.

Trafzer, Clifford E., 1997. **Death Stalks the Yakama: Epidemiological Transitions and Mortality on the Yakama Indian Reservation, 1888-1964**. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University Press.

Treaty of the Nez Perces, 1859.

Treaty of the Nez Perces, 1863.

Treaty of the Yakamas, 1859.

Treaty with the Confederated Tribes and Bands of Middle Oregon, 1867.

Treaty of Fort Bridger, 1868.

Ubelacker, Morris, 1984. **Time Ball: A Story of the Yakima People and the Land**. Yakima: The Yakama Indian Nation.

United States v. State of Washington, 1974. United States District Court, Western District of Washington. Reprinted from: 384 Fed. Supp. 312; 459 Fed. Supp. 1020; 476 Fed. Supp. 1101; and 626 Fed. Supp. 1405. St. Paul, Minn: West Publishing.

United States et al. v. State of Washington, et al., 1994. <u>Memorandum Opinion and Order</u>. No. CV 9213, Sub-proceeding No. 89.3.

United States v. Winans, 1905. 198 US 371.

United States Claims Commission, 1967. The Nez Perce Tribe of Indians v. The United States of America. Findings of Fact, Preliminary Statement. Docket No. 175, March 21.

US Army Corps of Engineers, 1994. **Columbia River Salmon Mitigation Analysis System Configuration Study: Phase I.** Lower Snake Reservoir Drawdown Technical Report. Appendix A. Walla Walla District. Draft.

US Army Corps of Engineers, Bonneville Power Administration and US Bureau of Reclamation, 1995. Columbia River System Operating Review: Final Environmental Impact Statement. Main Report. Portland.

US Bureau of the Census, 1991. **Poverty in the United States: 1991**. Current Population Reports Series P-60, No. 81.

-----, 1990. Census of Population and Housing - Summary Social, Economic and Housing Characteristics.

-----, 1990. Census of Population: Social and Economic Characteristics - American Indian and Native Alaska Areas. CP-2-1A.

-----, 1990. Special Tribal Run from the 1990 Census.

US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1995. **Indian Service Population and Labor Force Estimates**. Washington, D.C.

US Commission on Civil Rights, 1981. Indian Tribes: A Continuing Quest for Survival. Washington, D.C.

US Environmental Protection Agency, 1998. **Reviewing for Environmental Justice: EIS & Permitting Resource Guide**. EPA Region 10 - Environmental Justice Office.

Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analyses. Washington, D.C., April.

------, 1997. Interim Final Guidance for Incorporating Environmental Justice Concerns in EPA's NEPA Compliance Analysis. EPA Office of Federal Activities, September 30.

US Indian Health Service, 1994a. Trends in Indian Health. Rockville, MD.

-----, 1994b. American Indian and Alaska Native Mortality: Idaho, Oregon and Washington - 1989-1991. Portland: Division of Research, Evaluation and Epidemiology.

-----, 1996. Regional Differences in Indian Health. Rockville, MD.

US Secretary of the Interior, 1993. Order No.3175. November 8.

US Water Resources Council, 1983. Economic and Environmental Principles and Guidelines for Water and Related Land Resources Implementation Studies. Washington, D.C: Superintendent of Documents.

University of Minnesota, Adolescent Health Program, 1992. **The State of Native American Youth Health**. Minneapolis, MN: Division of General Pediatrics and Adolescent Health. Walker, Deward E. Jr., 1998, "Nez Perce", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau.** Vol.12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 420-438.

-----,1978. Indians of Idaho. Moscow, Idaho: University of Idaho Press.

------, 1967. Mutual Cross-Utilization of Economic Resources in the Plateau: An example from Aboriginal Nez Perce Fishing Practices. Pullman: Washington State University Laboratory of Anthopology, Report of Investigations No. 41.

Walker, Deward E., Jr., and Roderick Sprague, 1998, "History Until 1846", in, **Handbook of North American Indians: Plateau**. Vol.12. Washington, D.C: The Smithsonian Institution, pp. 138-148.

Washington State Department of Health, 1992. People of Color. Olympia.

Washington State Indian Affairs Task Force, 1978. Are You Listening Neighbor? and The People Speak - Will You Listen? Olympia: The Governor's Office.

Washington State House of Representatives, 1977. The Legal Relationship Between Washington State and its Reservation-Based Indian Tribes. Olympia: OPR.

Webster's Third New International Dictionary, 1971. G. & C. Merriam Co.

White, Richard, 1995. **The Organic Machine: The Remaking of the Columbia River**. New York: Hill and Wang.

-----, 1993. "Report and Direct Testimony", in, **United States of America, et al., v. State of Washington, et al.** United Sates District Court, Western District of Washington. Civil No. 9213 - Phase I, Subproceeding No. 89-3 (2 Vols.).

-----, 1991. "It's Your Misfortune and None of My Own": A New History of the American West. Norman. Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press.

White, Robert H., 1990. Tribal Assets. New York: Henry Holt and Company.

Wolfley, Jeanette, 1994. Treatymaking. Fort Hall, Idaho: Shoshone-Bannock Tribes.

Wood, Christina M., (forthcoming). Columbia River Salmon Crisis and Tribal Treaty Rights: Enforcing the First and Fundamental Environmental Laws". Draft Work in Progress.

-----, 1998. "Reclaiming the Natural Rivers: The Endangered Species Act as Applied to Endangered River Ecosystems", in, **Arizona Law Review**, March.

-----, 1995. "Fulfilling the Executive's Trust Responsibility Toward the Native Nations on Environmental Issues: A Partial Critique of the Clinton Administration's Promises and Performance", in, **Environmental Law**, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 733-800.

Yakama Indian Nation, The Land of the Yakamas.

-----, 1996. 1996 OEDP Report.

-----, 1978. 1855 Yakima Treaty Chronicles.

Yakima Indian Nation and US Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1993. Yakima Indian Reservation Forest Management Plan, 1993-2002.

CULTURAL PROTECTION APPENDICES